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Important Notice 
The Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors, directors, supervisors, and senior 

management of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as “the 
Bank”) hereby undertake that this Annual Report contains no false record, misleading 
statement or material omission, and they assume joint and several liabilities for the 
authenticity, accuracy and completeness of the information herein. 

Compiled in accordance with China Accounting Standards, all financial figures 
and indicators contained in this Annual Report, unless otherwise specified, are 
consolidated figures of domestic and overseas institutions presented in CNY. 

KPMG Hua Zhen LLP (special general partnership), official auditor of the Bank, 
conducted an audit on the 2020 Financial Statements of the Bank prepared in 
accordance with China Accounting Standards, and issued a standard unqualified audit 
report thereon. 

Mr. Wang Xiaojian, the Bank’s chairman, Ms. Tsoi Lai Ha, the chief accountant 
and Mr. Zheng Bingzhang, head of the accounting department, hereby ensure the 
authenticity, accuracy and completeness of the financial report contained herein. 

Notes on Major Risks: The Bank has not identified any major foreseeable risk. 
During its operation, the key risks faced by the Bank include credit risks, market risks, 
operation risks, liquidity risks, compliance risks, country risks, information technology 
risks, and reputation risks, etc. The Bank has taken measures to effectively manage and 
control all kinds of business risks. For details, please refer to Chapter II “Discussion and 
Analysis of Business Performance”. 

Risk Disclosure Regarding Forward-looking Statements: This Report includes 
several forward-looking statements with respect to the financial position, operating 
performance and business development of the Bank, which can be identified by words 
such as “will”, “may”, “aim for”, “endeavor”, “plan to”, “goal” and other comparable 
words used herein. Such statements are based on current plans, estimates and forecasts 
and they do not constitute substantial commitment of the Bank. Please maintain 
adequate awareness of risk and understand the differences among plans, forecasts and 
commitments. 
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Definitions 
In this Annual Report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms 

and expressions shall bear the following meanings: 
 

Term and Expression Definition 

The Bank, the Company and 

Xiamen International Bank, XIB 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 

The Articles of Association, the Bank’s 
Articles of Association and the 
Company’s Articles of 
Association 

The Articles of Association of Xiamen 
International Bank Co., Ltd. 

CBRC China Banking Regulatory Commission 

CBIRC China Banking and Insurance Regulatory 
Commission 

CBIRC Xiamen Xiamen Office of China Banking and 

Insurance Regulatory Commission 

Yuan CNY 

Institutions in Mainland China All offices that XIB has established in 
Mainland China, including the head office of 
Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 

Overseas Institutions Luso International Banking Ltd. (LIB), Chiyu 
Banking Corporation Limited (CYB), Xia men 
International Investment Co., Ltd. and other 
subsidiaries included in the Bank’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

Luso International Bank, LIB Luso International Banking Ltd. 

Chiyu Bank, CYB Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. 

The Fourth Five-Year Plan The Fourth Five-Year Plan (2016–2020) of Xiamen 
International Bank Co., Ltd. 

The Fifth Five-Year Plan The Fifth Five-Year Plan (2021–2025) of Xiamen 
International Bank Co., Ltd. 

The reporting period January 1, 2020 – December 31, 2020 
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Chapter I Company Profile and Major Financial Indicators 
 

I. Basic Information 
1. Legal Chinese name: 厦门国际银行股份有限公司（“厦门国际银行” 
for short） 

Legal English Name: Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
2. Legal person: Wang Xiaojian 
3. Secretary of the Board of Directors: Zhu Jianwu 

Address: Xiamen International Bank Building, No. 8-10 Lujiang Road, Xiamen 
Zip Code: 361001 
Tel.:（86-592）207 8888 
Fax:（86-592）298 8788 
E-mail: xib@xib.com.cn 

4. Registered address: Floors 1-6, Xiamen International Bank Building, 
No. 8-10 Lujiang Road, Xiamen 

Business Address: Xiamen International Bank Building, No. 8-10 Lujiang Road, 
Xiamen 

Zip Code: 361001 
Internet Website: www.xib.com.cn 

5. Place where the Annual Report can be obtained: Board Office of 
XIB 
6. Other relevant information of the company: 

Initial registration date: August 31, 1985 
Initial registration location: No. 52 Lujiang Road, Xiamen 
Date of registration alteration: December 28, 2020 
Location of registration after alteration: F1-6, Xiamen International Bank Building, 
No. 8-10 Lujiang Road, Xiamen, Fujian Province 
Unified Social Credit Code: 91350000612017727Q 
Scope of business: acceptance of deposits from the public; issuance of short, 

medium and long-term loans; domestic and foreign settlement; acceptance of bill and 
bill discounting; financial bond issuance; issuing, accepting and underwriting 
government bonds as broker; purchasing and selling government and financial bonds; 
Inter-bank borrowing; purchasing and selling foreign exchanges for itself or as an agent; 
provide direct or intermediate letter of credit services; agency collection and payment 
business as well as insurance business; safe deposit box services; fund selling; other 
businesses approved by the banking regulatory and management authorities of the State 
Council of P.R.C. 

Customer service and complaint hotline: 4001-623-623 
 
CPA firm engaged by the Company: KPMG Hua Zhen LLP (special general 

partnership) 
Business address of the CPA firm: Floor 8, KPMG Tower, Oriental Plaza, No. 1 

East Chang’an Street, Beijing 
Signing CPAs: Ye Yunhui, Hu Shushan 

mailto:xib@xib.com.cn
http://www.xib.com.cn/
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Service term of the CPA firm: For consecutive four years as of the end of 2020. 
 
 

II. Company Profile 
Founded on August 31, 1985, Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. (hereinafter 

referred to as “the Bank” or “XIB”) was the first Sino-foreign joint venture bank with its 
head office located in Xiamen. In 2013, XIB was transformed from a limited liability 
company to a joint stock limited company and was restructured from a Sino-foreign 
joint venture bank to a Chinese funded commercial bank. 

For over 30 years since its establishment, the Bank has been staying true to its 
original aspiration and keeping forging ahead as it is dedicated to providing quality 
financial services to its clients and setting a benchmark for Chinese small and medium-
sized banks. In the “Top 1,000 Global Banks of 2020” ranking list published by the 
Banker, a British magazine, the Bank ranked 153rd in terms of total assets, up by 5 
places compared with 2019; and 189th in terms of tier I capital, up by 4 places compared 
with 2019, representing its ranking was on the rise. 

As one of the very few banks in China owning affiliated institutions in Hong Kong 
and Macao, XIB has developed the strategic layout with a focus on Mainland China and 
two flanks in Hong Kong and Macao, respectively. Based on this, it has over 120 
business institutions in Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Hangzhou, Zhuhai, 
Xiamen, Fuzhou, Quanzhou, Hong Kong and Macao etc., forming a strategic layout 
acrossing domestic and overseas regions. Luso International Bank (“LIB”), one of 
XIB’s affiliated institutions outside mainland China, ranking among the top 3 banks in 
Macao in terms of key indicators, has 13 branches in Macao, and Guangzhou Branch, 
Hangzhou Branch, Dongguan Sub-branch, Foshan Sub-branch and Huizhou Sub-branch 
in mainland China. Chiyu Bank (“CYB”), XIB’s another affiliated institution outside 
mainland China, is a licensed bank in Hong Kong established by overseas Chinese 
leader Mr. Chen Jiageng in 1947. In Hong Kong it has 24 branches, and subsidiaries 
including Chiyu International Capital Co., Ltd. and Chiyu Capital Management Co., 
Ltd., and in the mainland China it has Shenzhen Branch, Fuzhou Branch, Xiamen 
Branch and two sub-branches in Xiamen. 

Taking serving the real economy as its mission and adhering to the technology-led 
managerial philosophy of “characteristic development and green development”, XIB  
has been intensifying its support for the real economy in various aspects, including 
small and micro-sized enterprises, private enterprises, inclusive finance, green finance, 
etc., to fulfill its corporate social responsibility, as it always did. Meanwhile, with cross-
border financial service as bond, XIB promotes the economic and financial connection 
between mainland China and Hong Kong and Macao and makes ongoing contribution to 
the “Belt and Road Initiative”, the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area”, 
the cause of Fujian Province’s all-around promotion of high quality development & 
transcendence, and the construction of the free trade pilot zone. 

Looking ahead, XIB will strive to provide customers with more considerate, 
convenient, safe and professional high quality services, as well as diversified, tailor-
made and internationalized financial products and solutions, and create good returns for 
shareholders, the society and employees. 

 
III. Honors and Awards 

1. In the “Top 1,000 Global Banks of 2020” ranking list published by the Banker, 
a British magazine, XIB, ranked the 153rd by total capital and 189th by tier I capital, has 
been rated as one of the top 200s for 4 years consecutively.  
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2. The Bank was awarded as one of the “Top 100 Banks in Inter-bank RMB 
Foreign Exchange Market in 2020”, one of the “Top 300 Banks in Inter-bank Domestic 
Currency Market Transactions in 2020”, and the “2020 Annual Active Inter-bank 
Domestic Currency Market Transactor” by the China Foreign Exchange Trade System 
& National Interbank Funding Center. 

3. The Bank was titled as one of the “Top 100 Outstanding Dealers in Settlement 
Services” in the Comprehensive Evaluation of 2020 on ChinaBond Members organized 
by China Central Depository & Clearing Co., Ltd. (CCDC). 

4. In the 2020 Contest of China Banking Fintech Application Achievements, the 
Bank won the award of “Outstanding Achievement” with its “Practice of Smart Outlet 
Construction of Small and Medium-sized Commercial Banks”. 

5. Based on the UnionPay card business development of its major bank members 
in 2020, the Bank has been given the "Award of Outstanding Contribution in UnionPay 
Card Product Promotion" honorary award by the China UnionPay. 

6. The Bank was certified and awarded the honor of "Kindness for People, Good 
Deeds for All" by the Wuhan Charity Association, in recognition of the Bank’s 
substantial support to Wuhan’s charitable and public welfare causes in the prevention 
and control work against COVID-19 Pandemic in early 2020, including a one-million 
donation to the Wuhan Charity Federation directed for the front-line prevention and 
control battle. 

7. The Bank was awarded the honorary title of "2020 Xiamen Municipal 
Advanced Organization in Financial Support to 'Six Stables' and 'Six Guarantees'" at the 
Joint Conference of Xiamen Financial Work. The conference was co-sponsored by the 
Xiamen Central Sub-branch of the People's Bank of China (PBOC), the Xiamen 
Regulatory Bureau of the Ministry of Finance, the Xiamen Regulatory Bureau of the 
China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission (CBIRC), the Xiamen 
Regulatory Bureau of the China Securities Regulatory Commission (CSRC), and the 
Xiamen Municipal Financial Supervision and Administration Bureau. 

8. The Bank was awarded the honorary title of "Excellent Financial Services 
Institution for Small-Micro Enterprises Among Banking Financial Institutions in 
Xiamen City" by jointly the Xiamen Municipal Bureau of Industry and Information 
Technology, the Xiamen Municipal Finance Bureau, the Xiamen Central Sub-branch of 
the PBOC and the Xiamen Regulatory Bureau of the CBIRC. 

9. The Bank was awarded honorary titles of the "2019 Annual Advanced 
Organization for The Comprehensive Management of Payment and Settlement Among 
Banking Financial Institutions in Xiamen City" and the "2019 Annual Advanced 
Organization for RMB Bank Settlement Account and Internet Verification Management 
Among Banking Financial Institutions in Xiamen City" by the PBOC Xiamen Central 
Branch. 

10. The Bank was awarded the honorary title of "Class-A Bank" in the annual 
assessment of bank’s foreign exchange and cross-border RMB business in 2019, 
organized by the Bank's Self-Regulatory Organization for Foreign Exchange and Cross-
Border RMB Business in Xiamen. 

11. The Bank's "XIB E Enterprise Profit", an integrated service platform for small 
and medium-sized enterprises, won the 2020 "Top 10 Projects for Financial Science and 
Technology Innovation in Xiamen City", which was jointly awarded by the PBOC 
Xiamen Central Sub-branch, the Xiamen Regulatory Bureau of the Ministry of Finance, 
the CBIRC Xiamen Regulatory Bureau, the CSRC Xiamen Regulatory Bureau, and the 
Xiamen Municipal Financial Supervision and Administration. 

12. Luso International Banking Ltd., an affiliate of the Bank, was awarded the 
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honorary title of “Advanced Organization” by the Liaison Office of the Central People's 
Government in the Macao SAR for its extraordinary work in fighting against the 
COVID-19. 

13. LIB was awarded the honorary title of “Family-friendly Employer” by the 
Macau Women’s Federation (Associação Geral das Mulheres de Macau). 

14. The Guangzhou Branch of LIB was awarded the honorary title of “The Largest 
Progress-making Comprehensive Member of the Interbank Foreign Exchange Market in 
2019” and the “2020 Top 100 Banks in Settlement - Excellent Dealer” by the CCDC. 

15. Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited, an affiliate of the Bank, was awarded the 
honorary title of “5 Year Plus Caring Company” by the Hong Kong Council of Social 
Service. 

16. The Fuzhou Branch of CYB was titled as one of the “2019 Annual Excellent 
Institutions in the Enterprise Credit Information System for Data Quality-related Work” 
in the 2019 annual assessment on the credit information system data quality work led by 
the Credit Reference Center of the PBOC. 

17. The Fuzhou Branch of CYB was titled as “Level A” in the annual taxpayer 
credit rating organized by the Tax Bureau of Fuzhou High-tech Industrial Development 
Zone, the State Taxation Administration of The People's Republic of China. 

18. The Xiamen Branch of CYB was titled as “Class A Bank” in the annual 
assessment of Xiamen’s banks in their foreign exchange and cross-border RMB 
business development in 2019, organized by the Bank's Self-Regulatory Organization 
for Foreign Exchange and Cross-Border RMB Business in Xiamen, and was rated as 
“Excellent” in the “2020 annual assessment and evaluation of Bank's Self-Regulatory 
Organization for Foreign Exchange and Cross-Border RMB Business in Xiamen” by the 
same organizer. 

19. The Labor Union Committee of the XIB Beijing Branch was awarded the 
honorary title of "Advanced Workers' Home of the Financial System of Beijing" by the 
Beijing Municipal Financial Trade Union. 

20. The Labor Union Committee of the XIB Shanghai Branch was awarded the 
honorary award of “Extraordinary Organizer” in the 2019 Annual Shanghai Financial 
Workers Contest of Merits, co-held by the Shanghai Financial Trade Union Working 
Committee and the Shanghai Financial Work Committee of the Communist Youth 
League. 

21. The XIB Xiamen Branch was awarded the title of “2019-2020 National 
Financial System Advanced Organization in Cultural Construction” by the Research 
Association of Ideological and Political Work of China Financial Institutions 
(RAIPWCFI). 

22. The XIB Zhuhai Branch was awarded the title of “Class A Bank” in the 2019 
annual financial consumer rights and interests protection evaluation organized by the 
PBOC Zhuhai Central Sub-branch. 

23. The XIB Zhuhai Branch was rated as Class A with an excellent performance in 
the 2020 annual foreign exchange business compliance and prudent operation 
evaluation organized by the State Administration of Foreign Exchange (SAFE) Zhuhai 
Central Sub-branch. 

24. The XIB Zhuhai Branch was rated as “Excellence” in the 2020 annual 
assessment of Guangdong’s banks in their self-regulatory and self-monitoring in foreign 
exchange and cross-border RMB business. 

25. The XIB Fuzhou Branch was awarded the honorary title of "Gulou District 
Poverty-Alleviation Caring Company" and "Gulou District 20 Years of Merit 
Enterprise" jointly by the Communist Party of China (CPC) Gulou District Committee 
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and the Gulou District People's Government. 
26. The Labor Union Committee of the XIB Fuzhou Branch was awarded the 

honorary title of “Home of Model Employees in Fujian” by the Fujian Federation of 
Trade Union. 

27.  The XIB Nanping Branch was awarded the “Excellent Organization for Anti-
COVID-19 Work" by the Nanping Banking Association. 

28. The XIB Nanping Branch was awarded the honorary title of "Class A 
Institution" in the 2020 credit work appraisal of the PBOC Nanping City Center Sub-
branch. 

29. The XIB Longyan Branch was awarded the honorary title of “Level A 
Institution” in the 2019 financial consumer protection assessment organized by the 
PBOC Longyan Center Sub-branch. 

30.  The XIB Putian Branch was awarded the “A-level” honorary title in the 2019 
assessment of the financial consumption rights and interests protection of banking 
financial institutions in the Putian area, organized by the PBOC Putian Central Sub-
branch. 
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IV. Summary of Accounting and Business Figures 

(I) Key Financial Figures and Indicators 
1. During the reporting period 
（1） Business performance indicators 

Unit: CNY 1,000             

Item 2020 2019 

Increase or 
decrease in 
2020 over 

2019 

2018 

Net interest income1 14,027,548 13,034,981 7.61% 10,145,389 

Net non-interest income 3,684,559 3,848,903 -4.27% 3,092,290 

Operating income 17,712,107 16,883,884 4.91% 13,237,679 

Operating and administration 

expenses 
4,819,416 4,300,334 12.07% 3,380,914 

Asset impairment losses - 5,106,790 - 2,810,028 

Credit impairment losses  6,134,010 N/A N/A N/A 

Operating profit 6,224,281 7,238,006 -14.01% 6,880,118 

Profit before income tax 6,250,529 7,231,519 -13.57% 6,839,756 

Net profit 5,727,953 6,315,056 -9.30% 5,824,128 

Net profit attributable to parent 

shareholders 
4,513,428 5,152,486 -12.40% 4,907,040 

Net profit attributable to 

shareholders of the parent 

company net of non-recurrent 

gains and losses 

4,487,181 5,158,973 -13.02% 4,947,402 

Net cash flows from operating 

activities 
-5,366,849 47,655,162 -111.26% -36,674,291 

            Note:  The Bank implements the new financial instruments standards from January 1st, 2020, and the statement items are listed 
in accordance with the requirements for the classification and measurement of the new financial instruments standards specified in 
the Notice on The Revision and Issuance of the 2018 Financial Statement Format for Financial Enterprises issued by the Ministry 
of Finance in December 2018, and we do not restate the comparative period data. 

 
 

                                                
1net interest income, also known as "net interest income ". 
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（2） Per-share indicators 
Unit: CNY/share 

Item 2020 2019 
Increase or 
decrease in 

2020 over 2019 
2018 

Basic EPS2 0.49  0.61 -19.99% 0.59 

Basic EPS after non-recurring 

gains and losses 
0.49  0.62 -21.74% 0.59 

Net cash flow from operating 

activities per share 
-0.58  5.68 -110.22% -4.37 

 
 

（3） Profitability indicators 

Item 2020 2019 
Percentage 
Change in 

2020 over 2019 
2018 

Average gross asset return 0.61% 0.73% -0.12  0.77% 

Average return on net assets3 8.69% 10.82% -2.13  11.52% 

Average return on net assets after 

deduction of non-recurring gains 

and losses 

8.65% 10.83% -2.18 11.60% 

Cost-income ratio 27.21% 25.47% 1.74  25.54% 
 

                                                
2
 The Bank completed a capital increase of 4.874 billion yuan on December 28, 2020, of which the new registered capital 

of 861 million yuan, and the remaining amount of RMB 4.013 billion yuan is counted as a equity premium into the 
capital reserve. Excluding the impact of new registered capital, in 2020 the Bank's basic earnings per share is 0.54 yuan / 
share. 
3
 Excluding the impact of the capital increase on December 28, 2020, the Bank's average return on net assets in 2020 is 

9.03%. 
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2. As of the end of the reporting period 
（1） Scale indicators 

Unit: CNY 1,000 
 

Item 2020 2019 
Increase or 

decrease in 2020 
over 2019 

2018 

Total assets 950,146,413 915,524,768 3.78% 806,104,632 

Loans and advances to customers 526,204,503 466,813,981 12.72% 359,858,558 

Total liabilities 880,372,382 853,501,402 3.15% 751,389,772 

Deposits from customers 649,631,819 634,681,571 2.36% 537,158,076 

Equities attributed to 
shareholders of the parent 
company 

57,408,168 50,245,918 14.25% 44,460,674 

Net assets per share attributed 
to shareholders of the parent 
company (CNY/share) 

6.21  5.99 3.64% 5.30 

 
（2） Asset quality indicators 

 

Item 2020 2019 Percentage change 
in 2020 over 2019 2018 

Non-performing loan ratio 0.84% 0.71% 0.13 0.73% 

Provision coverage ration 259.80% 323.47% -63.67 310.59% 
 

（3） Capital adequacy indicators 
 

Item 2020 2019 
Percentage  

change in 2020 
over 2019 

2018 

Capital adequacy ratio 12.06% 12.26% -0.20  12.77% 

Tier I capital adequacy ratio 9.49% 9.41% 0.08  9.23% 

Core tier I capital adequacy ratio 9.15% 9.04% 0.11  8.86% 

Ratio of total share capital to 

total assets 
7.34% 6.77% 0.57  6.79% 

Note:  
1. Average return on total assets = net profit/average of opening and closing balances of total assets. 
2. Average return on net assets = net profit/average of opening and closing balances of owners’ equities. 
3. Cost-income ratio = business and administration expenses/net operating income. 
4. Non-performing loan ratio = non-performing loan balance/loans and advances to customers. 
5. Provision coverage ratio = loan impairment provision/non-performing loan balance. 
6. Capital adequacy ratio is calculated pursuant to the Administrative Measures for the Capital 
Management of Commercial Banks (for trial implementation) issued by the CBRC in June 2012. 
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(4) Leverage rate indicators 

Item 2020 2019 
Percentage 

change in 2020 
over 2019 

2018 

Leverage rate 5.10% 4.81% 0.294 4.90% 

Net tier I capital 61,931,881 55,225,334 12.14% 48,173,613 

Balance of assets on and off the 

balance sheet after adjustment 
1,214,998,600 1,147,462,034 5.89% 983,639,151 

 
 

(II) Supplementary Financial Figures and Indicators 
 
 

Main indicators 2020 2019 
Percentage 

change in 2020 
over 2019 

2018 

Liquidity ratio 104.97% 88.45% 16.52 80.14% 

Loan-to-deposit ratio 79.42% 70.87% 8.55 63.27% 

Proportion of funds borrowed 3.59% 3.10% 0.49 4.54% 

Loan concentration ratio of individual client 2.77% 3.37% -0.60 4.83% 

Credit concentration ratio of a single group client 6.20% 7.16% -0.96 10.01% 

Loan ratio of top ten clients 21.49% 25.31% -3.82 30.11% 

Note:  
1. Regulatory indicators are calculated in pursuance of relevant provisions of the regulations of the 
banking industry in China. 
2. Loan concentration ratio of an individual client = total loans of the largest individual client/net 
capital. 
3. The credit concentration ratio of a single group client = total credit amounts (net of the margin 
deposit provided by the customer, the pledged bank deposit certificate and the amount of national 
debt) of the largest group client/net capital. 
4. Loan ratio of top ten clients=Total loans of top ten clients/net capital. 

 
(III) Composition of and Changes to Capital 

Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item 2020 2019 
Increase or 
decrease in 

2020 over 2019 
2018 

Net capital 78,743,367 71,943,942 9.45% 66,663,405 
Including: Net core 
tier I capital  62,669,583 55,972,128 11.97% 49,164,785 

Other tier I capital 2,191,159 2,175,034 0.74% 1,937,741 
Secondary capital 16,811,486 16,718,608 0.56% 18,489,792 
Capital deduction 
items 2,928,861 2,921,828 0.24% 2,928,914 

                                                
4 The change of leverage rate is counted by percentages. 
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Risk-weighted assets 652,673,447 586,704,828 11.24% 521,873,306 
Credit risk-weighted 
assets 601,316,605 537,234,004 11.93% 469,992,659 

Market risk-weighted 
assets 22,878,165 23,946,390 -4.46% 27,278,771 

Operational risk-
weighted assets 28,478,677 25,524,435 11.57% 24,601,877 

 
 

(IV) Changes in Shareholders' Equities 
Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item 2020 2019 
Increase or 

decrease in 2020 
over 2019 

2018 

Share capital 9,247,397 8,386,260 10.27% 8,386,260 

Capital reserves 21,568,377 17,800,651 21.17% 17,815,563 

Other comprehensive 

income 
-1,056,393 736,935 -243.35% 89,265 

Surplus reserves 3,015,545 2,564,203 17.60% 2,048,954 

General risk reserves 5,549,525 5,549,525 0.00% 5,549,525 

Retained earnings 19,083,717 15,208,344 25.48% 10,571,107 

Total share capital 

attributable to owners of 

parent company 

57,408,168 50,245,918 14.25% 44,460,674 

Non-controlling 

interests 
12,365,863 11,777,448 5.00% 10,254,186 

Total shareholders' 

share capital 
69,774,031 62,023,366 12.50% 54,714,860 
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Chapter II Discussion and Analysis of Business Performance 
I. Review on Business Performance during the Reporting Period 

(I) Financial Analysis 
In 2020, the Bank produced an operating income of CNY 17.712 billion, 

representing a year-on-year growth of CNY 828 million or 4.91%. The main 
components in the operating income include: net interest income CNY 14.028 billion, 
representing a year-on-year growth of CNY 993 million or 7.61%; net non-interest 
income CNY 3.685 billion, a year-on-year decrease of CNY 164 million or 4.27%, 
including an income from processing fees of CNY 1.519 billion, down by CNY 314 
million or 17.12% from 2019; an investment income of CNY 3.116 billion, up by CNY 
952 million or 44.02% from 2019. 

In 2020, the Bank’s total operating and administration expenses amounted to CNY 
4.819 billion, up by CNY 519 million from 2019, representing a year-on-year growth of 
12.07%; taxes and surtaxes reached CNY 273 million, up by CNY 75 million from 2019, 
representing a year-on-year growth of 37.64%. 

In 2020, the Bank income tax expenses amounted to CNY 523 million, 
representing a year-on-year decrease of CNY 394 million or 42.98%. 

The following table shows the Bank’s major profit/loss items and variations: 
Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item 2020 2019 Changes 

Operating income 17,712,107 16,883,884 4.91% 

Including: Net interest income 14,027,548 13,034,981 7.61% 

Net non-interest income 3,684,559 3,848,903 -4.27% 

Operating expenses 11,487,825 9,645,878 19.10% 

Including: business and 

administration expenses 
4,819,416 4,300,334 12.07% 

Taxes and surtaxes 273,491 198,699 37.64% 

Asset impairment losses - 5,106,790 - 

Credit impairment losses 6,134,010 N/A N/A 

Other operational costs 260,908 40,056 551.36% 

Operating profits 6,224,281 7,238,006 -14.01% 

Profit before income tax 6,250,529 7,231,519 -13.57% 

Less: Income tax expenses 522,576 916,463 -42.98% 

Net profits 5,727,953 6,315,056 -9.30% 

Including: net profit attributable to 

shareholders of the parent 

company 

4,513,428 5,152,486 -12.40% 
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1. Net interest income 
During the reporting period, the Bank had a net interest income of CNY 14.028 

billion, up by CNY 993 million or 7.61% on a year-on-year basis. 
（1） Interest income 

Unit: CNY 1,000 
 

Item 2020 2019 Changes 

Loans and advances 26,781,919 22,391,686 19.61% 

Financial investments 8,064,007 10,817,652 -25.46% 

Deposit with the Central Bank 663,931 608,886 9.04% 

Deposit with other banks and financial 

institutions 
452,117 1,972,405 -77.08% 

Financial assets held under resale 311,189 395,798 -21.38% 

Placements with banks and other financial 

institutions 
58,007 244,896 -76.31% 

Other 11 31 -64.52% 

Subtotal of interest income 36,331,181 36,431,354 -0.27% 

Note: The Bank implements the new financial instruments standards from January 1, 2020, 
and the interest income table consolidates the "Receivables Investment" and "Bonds and 
Other Investments" in the 2019 Annual Report into the "Financial Investment" herein. 

 
（2） Interest expenses 

Unit: CNY 1,000 
Item 2020 2019 Changes 

Deposits from customers 16,818,883 16,112,234 4.39% 
Financial assets sold under repurchase 
agreements 526,654 632,722 -16.76% 

Deposits from other banks and financial 
institutions 1,528,265 2,434,647 -37.23% 

Bonds payable 2,871,396 3,568,864 -19.54% 
Placements from banks and other financial 
institutions 525,549 643,354 -18.31% 

Borrowing from the Central Bank 30,734 203 15039.66% 
Other 2,152 4,348 -50.52% 
Subtotal of interest expenses 22,303,633 23,396,372 -4.67% 
 
 

2. Net non-interest income 
During the reporting period, the Bank had a net non-interest income of CNY 3.685 

billion, down by CNY 164 million or 4.27% on a year-on-year basis. 
Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item 2020 2019 Changes 
Net fee and commission 
income 1,519,165 1,833,063 -17.12% 
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Other net non-interest income 
2,165,394 2,015,840 7.42% 

Total 3,684,559 3,848,903 -4.27% 
 
 

（1） The main components of income from processing fees and commission 
During the reporting period, the Bank's net fee and commission incomes was CNY 

1.519 billion, recording a year-on-year decrease of CNY 314 million, or 17.12 %, of 
which income from processing fees and commissions amounted to CNY 2.182 billion, 
representing a year-on-year increase of CNY 113 million, or 5.44%. 

 
Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item 2020 2019 Changes 
Advisory services and 
consulting fees 530,613 490,207 8.24% 

Processing fee income from 
financial management business 83,074 181,697 -54.28% 

Settlement and liquidation fees 173,506 168,654 2.88% 

Agency business processing 
fees 575,014 649,164 -11.42% 

Income from capital 
management business 32,651 64,419 -49.31% 

Income from bond 
underwriting business 155,105 85,161 82.13% 

Income from electronic 
banking business 72,067 63,462 13.56% 

Income from acquiring 
business 71,234 66,982 6.35% 

Income from security 
operations 61,474 22,451 173.81% 

Income from bond lending 38,348 9,058 323.39% 
Other 389,341 268,515 45.00% 
Total 2,182,427 2,069,770 5.44% 
 
 

（2） Other net non-interest income 
Unit: CNY 1,000 

 
Item 2020 2019 Changes 

Investment income 3,115,777 2,163,414 44.02% 
Net loss on changes in fair value -553,019 -158,049 N/A 
Exchange losses -453,954 -37,796 N/A 
Other operating income 56,589 48,271 17.23% 
Total 2,165,393 2,015,840 7.42% 
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3. Operating and administration expenses 
Unit: CNY 1,000 

Project 2020 2019 Changes 
Employee expenses 3,268,646 2,909,340 12.35% 
Office rental expenses 350,487 323,107 8.47% 
Business promotion 
expenses 211,988 157,541 34.56% 

Depreciation and 
amortization expenses 254,194 200,452 26.81% 

Professional and 
consultation fees 102,911 92,462 11.30% 

Travel expenses 45,016 71,294 -36.86% 
Security expenses 54,735 44,963 21.73% 
Other 531,439 501,175 6.04% 
Total 4,819,416 4,300,334 12.07% 
 

4. Credit impairment and asset impairment loss 
Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item 2020 2019 Changes 
Loans and advances 1,456,242 3,129,572 -53.47% 
Placements with other banks and financial 
institutions 

3,243,351 1,018,493 218.45% 

Investments receivables  N/A 486,696 N/A 
Available-for-sale financial assets N/A 238,833 N/A 
Impairment loss of investments in debt 1,068,256 N/A N/A 
Other impairment loss of investments in debt  

458,335 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
Off-balance-sheet credit extension assets -130,026 38,643 -436.48% 
Other 37,852 194,553 -80.54% 
Total 6,134,010 5,106,790 20.11% 
 
 

5. Income tax expenses 
Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item 2020 2019 Variation 

Profit before income tax 6,250,529 7,231,519 -13.57% 
Income tax expenses calculated at 
the applicable tax rate 1,387,322 1,647,930 -15.81% 

Implications of tax-free income and tax benefits -1,109,139 -976,271 13.61% 
Implications of the income tax rate difference 
among overseas subsidiaries 152,133 188,159 -19.15% 

Expenses and losses not to be deducted 96,081 53,277 80.34% 
Adjustment to the taxes in 
previous reporting period -3,821 3,368 -213.44% 

Total income tax expenses 522,576 916,463 -42.98% 
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Net profits 5,727,953 6,315,056 -9.30% 
 
 

(II) Asset Quality Analysis 
1. Concentration of borrowing industries 

Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item 
Loan balance 
at the end of 

2020 

Proportion 
at the end 

of 2020 

Loan balance at the 
end of 2019 

Proportio
n at the 
end of 
2019 

Corporate loans and advances     
- Wholesale and retail 140,969,869 26.79%  124,460,043  26.64% 
- Water resources, environment 
and public facilities 
management 

64,215,480 12.20%  52,842,062  11.32% 

- Real estate 53,115,087 10.09% 44,628,981  9.56% 
- Leasing and commercial 

services 40,032,269 7.61% 37,117,759  7.95% 

- Financial industry 31,100,775 5.91% 34,899,490  7.48% 
- Construction industry 27,590,934 5.24% 34,178,910  7.32% 
- Manufacturing 24,834,901 4.72% 25,621,184  5.49% 
- Neighborhood services, 
repairs, and other service 
industries 

7,248,335 1.38% 10,024,291  2.15% 

- Hotel and catering industry 6,413,993 1.22% 6,199,972  1.33% 
- Information transmission, 
computer services and software 4,611,452 0.88% 5,323,898  1.14% 

- Electric power, heating 
power, fuel gas and water 
production and supply 
industries 

4,535,548 0.86%  8,085,908  1.73% 

- Transport, warehousing and 
postal services 4,117,116 0.78% 3,957,882  0.85% 

- Scientific research and 
technology services 3,454,860 0.66% 2,871,239  0.62% 

- Culture, sports and 
entertainment 2,043,821 0.39%  729,575  0.16% 

- Agriculture, forestry, 
livestock and fisheries 1,359,028 0.26%  672,235  0.14% 

- Mining 1,184,755 0.23%  588,213  0.13% 
- Health care and social work 1,111,822 0.21%  1,134,424  0.24% 
- Education 196,620 0.04%  174,870  0.04% 
Notes on discount 5,125,327 0.97%  2,650,591  0.57% 
Subtotal corporate loans and 

advances 423,261,992  80.44%  396,161,526  84.86% 

Personal loans and advances 102,942,511  19.56% 70,652,455  15.14% 
Total 526,204,503       100.00% 466,813,981 100.00% 
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2. Regional concentration 
Unit: CNY1,000 

Item 
End 2020 End 2019 

Loan balance Proportion Loan balance Proportion 
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan 97,736,595 18.57% 101,871,715 21.82% 
Jiangsu and Zhejiang 85,498,106 16.25% 83,254,734 17.83% 
Fujian 113,699,786 21.61% 75,630,109 16.21% 
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei 61,690,677 11.72% 53,529,764 11.47% 
Guangdong 66,080,059 12.56% 44,851,689 9.61% 
Sichuan-Chongqing 28,178,864 5.36% 22,961,964 4.92% 
Yunnan, Guangxi and Guizhou 8,794,612 1.67% 10,757,464 2.30% 
Northeast provinces 2,375,625 0.45% 2,955,258 0.63% 
Other areas 62,150,179 11.81% 71,001,285 15.21% 
Total 526,204,503 100.00% 466,813,981 100.00% 
 

3. Categories and proportions of loan guarantee method 
Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item 
End 2020 End 2019 

Amount Proportion Amount Proportion 
Loans on credit  124,633,651  23.68% 93,078,847 19.94% 
Loans on guarantee   89,819,502  17.07% 90,562,660 19.40% 
Loans on mortgage  160,159,660  30.44% 112,342,593 24.07% 
Loans on pledge  151,591,691  28.81% 170,829,881 36.59% 

Total  526,204,503  100.00% 466,813,981 100.00% 
 
 

4. Five-tier classification of loans 
Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item 
End 2020 End 2019 

Amount Proportion Amount Proportion 
Normal loans 521,810,250 99.16% 463,480,998 99.29% 

Normal 513,926,557 97.66% 457,346,068 97.97% 
Concerned 7,883,693 1.50% 6,134,930 1.31% 

Non-performing 
loans 4,394,253 0.84% 3,332,984 0.71% 

Secondary 1,217,229 0.24% 1,955,956 0.42% 
Suspicious 3,006,153 0.57% 1,212,816 0.26% 

Loss 170,871 0.03% 164,212 0.04% 
Total 526,204,503 100%.00 466,813,981 100.00% 

 
5. Overdue loans 

Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item 
End 2020 End 2019 

Amount Proportio
n Amount Proportion 

Loans overdue for 
1-90 days (inclusive)   6,677,883  61.58% 10,845,566 83.37% 

Loans overdue for more than 90 days but 
less than 1 year 
(inclusive) 

  1,547,787  14.27% 957,996 7.36% 
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Loans overdue for 1 to 3 years 
(inclusive)   2,422,993  22.34% 859,672 6.61% 

Loans overdue for over 3 years     196,837  1.81% 345,660 2.66% 
Total 10,845,500  100.00% 13,008,894 100.00% 
 

6. Variations of loan impairment provision 
Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item 2020 2019 
Balance at the beginning of the year 10,781,077 8,121,184 
Changes in accounting policies 16,845 N/A 
Withholding /(reversing) of the year 1,456,242 3,129,572 
Collected write-offs of the year 102,985 254,276 
Loans write-off in the year -1,054,213 -810,509 

Reversing due to appreciation of discounted value - -23,967 

Exchange rate variation and other adjustments 113,368 110,521 
Balance at year end 11,416,304 10,781,077 
 
 

7. Non-performing loans and countermeasures 
By the end of 2020, XIB has a non-performing loan balance of 4.394 billion yuan, 

representing a non-performing loan rate of 0.84%, up by 0.13% from the end of 2019, 
yet this figure is still lower than the average non-performing loan rate of 1.84% among 
commercial banks in the same period. Under the downward pressure on the 
macroeconomics, the Bank's asset quality is facing certain challenge. During the 
reporting period, the Bank was on high alert against all kinds of risk potentials and 
exposures, continuously strengthened asset quality control, intensified non-performing 
loan disposal and write-off, conducted comprehensive and thorough investigations, 
ascertained the risk base, increased reserves and provisions, and improved risk resistance 
capabilities. In the meantime, XIB developed risk management promotion programs, 
firmly consolidated the foundation of its asset quality. The Bank's non-performing loan 
rate continuously maintained at a good level, with a provision coverage sufficient to 
meet regulation requirements. 

 
 

 

 
II. Business Review 

(I) Corporate business 
In 2020, XIB actively fulfilled its social responsibilities. Adhering to the “Six 

Stables” and “Six Guarantees” requirements, XIB kept assisting financially in the 
COVID-19 prevention and control and work&production resumption. XIB 
conscientiously executed the reloan, rediscount, inclusive finance and other monetary 
and credit policies. Accurately and firmly, XIB supported the real economy, especially 
private, small and medium-sized enterprises, and maintained a good momentum of high-
quality development in four aspects: firstly, adhering to the strategy of co-development 
with the real economy, and co-growth with SMEs, XIB achieved synchronous growth of 
enterprise deposits and credit business, and significant progress towards localization and 
decentralization; secondly, while strengthening the "debt quality improvement" strategy 
and focusing on customer group building, XIB has broadened its deposit product lines, 
made significant progress in customer base, and continuously optimized the debt 
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structure; thirdly, to actively promote the transformation toward a trading bank, XIB 
successfully launched the trading bank brand "XIB E Home", initiated three platforms, 
i.e., "Rongsheng" for innovative credit business, "Huisheng" for payment and settlement, 
and "Yingsheng" for channel service, and successfully launched brand new businesses, 
such as "XIB Credit E Finance", "XIB E Bidding" and "XIB Chain E Finance"; and 
fourthly, responding positively to the national cause of "Belt and Road" and the national 
strategy of RMB internationalization, XIB has given full play to its unique advantage of 
branches in mainland China, HK and Macau, provided comprehensive and innovative 
cross-border financial solutions for domestic enterprises to "go out" and to "bring in" 
overseas enterprises, and had its advantage of being an international bank strengthened. 

 
(II) Retail business 
In 2020, the Bank actively implemented its social responsibilities, and stepped up 

its efforts to support the Chinese real economy during the period of fighting against 
COVID-19 Pandemic. The Bank tilted credit resources to inclusive micro-loans, 
enriched financial products and life scenarios, and gradually lifted customer stickiness 
and satisfaction. In detail: firstly, responding positively to the national call for fighting 
against COVID-19 financially, XIB increased inclusive micro-loans, contributed to the 
"Six Stables and Six Guarantees", helped SMEs to resume production and work in an 
orderly manner, and fully achieved all inclusive financial regulatory targets; secondly, 
XIB explored a diversified development of wealth businesses, actively introduced high-
quality cooperation institutions and products, and enhanced customer experience via 
online processing; thirdly, by innovatively weaving offline and online customer digging 
and activating tools, XIB introduced a new customer related marketing management 
model, achieved the stage goal of 1 million+ retail customers; fourthly, XIB 
successfully obtained the license for VISA online acquiring business, which made it an 
interbank first-mover, and by which XIB improved its cross-border e-commerce 
financial service ecology, and contributed more to the great cause of "Belt and Road". 

In 2020, the Bank continued to promote its service for small and micro businesses 
with its 12 branches and 69 sub-branch-level outlets in China. In total, the Bank issued 
inclusive-type loans totaling CNY 30.803 billion to 31,961 small and micro-enterprises 
throughout the year. By the end of 2020, there were 31,842 small and micro-enterprise 
loanees, an increase of 24,618 from the beginning of the year, marking a great lift of the 
Bank’s financial service for those enterprises. Meanwhile, the balance of inclusive loan 
for small and micro-enterprises was RMB 36.933 billion, an increase of 64.68% over 
the beginning of the year, which was significantly higher than the Bank's overall loan 
growth rate; the average interest rate on the inclusive loans to small and micro-
enterprises for the year was 6.34%, down by 5BP from the previous year, further 
reducing the financing costs of the small and micro enterprises. The Bank will continue 
to respond positively to the policies of the country to support real economy by a set of 
multi-dimensional measures, such as optimizing the organizational structure, improving 
the appraisal mechanism, actively practising policies, perfecting business processes, and 
developing innovative products, so as to keep providing more convenient and efficient 
financing services to small and micro-enterprises. 

 
(III) Financial market business 
In 2020, XIB adhered to the principle of liquidity priority for its financial market 

business. Specifically, the Bank accelerated business transformation and upgrading, 
optimized organizational structure, continuously strengthened its investment teams’ 
research capacity, adjusted investment strategy flexibly according to market situations, 
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actively captured market trading opportunities, further optimized and restructured its 
assets and liabilities, enhanced the profitability of innovative businesses. Its financial 
market business has achieved a sound development, and its market trading activity 
constantly improved. In 2020, the local currency transaction volume of XIB was 9.70 
trillion yuan, increased by 2.44 trillion yuan from last year. The China Foreign 
Exchange Trading Center & National Interbank Lending Center awarded XIB with 
honorary titles of "2020 Annual Active Dealer of Interbank Local Currency Market", 
"2020 Top 300 Trader of Linterbank Local Currency Market", and "2020 Top 100 
Trader of Interbank RMB Foreign Exchange Market"; the CCDC awarded XIB with the 
honorary title of "Top 100 Settlement - Excellent Self-employed Dealer", both marking 
an unremitting improvement of XIB’s market influence. 

 
(IV) Investment banking and asset management business 
In 2020, XIB accelerated the integrative development of its investment banking 

business and asset management business. It adjusted and established investment bank 
and asset management departments in the Head Office and branches, forming an 
investment banking-capital management business matrix, and laying the foundation for 
business transformation and evolvement. The investment banking business has made a 
breakthrough through new product R&D, horizontal integration of business lines and 
resources, and customizing multiple service programs. The investment banking business 
will continue to develop into a frontier for the Bank’s group linkage, and also a vital 
section for the Bank to serve Chinese real economy. The asset management business 
conformed to the new regulations on capital management, and firmly reformed, 
innovated and transformed. The pace of net worth transformation has accelerated so that 
XIB has covered the main types of net worth financial products in the market. 
Proportion of net worth products has exceeded 98% among all the non-insurance 
financial products. 

 
III. Capital Management 

(I) Actively broadening the channels for capital supplementation 
According to the medium and long term capital management plan, XIB actively 

broadened the channels for external capital supplementation. In 2020, the Bank 
completed a capital increase of 4.874 billion yuan, of which the total new registered 
capital of 861 million yuan, and the rest 4.013 billion yuan was used as a capital 
premium and counted into the capital reserve. After this capital increase, the Bank's 
registered capital is RMB 9.247 billion yuan. 

XIB subsidiary Chiyu Bank Co., Ltd., or “CYB”, completed the capital increase of 
HK $3.332 billion in 2020, a further supplemented capital strength. Among them, 
Xiamen International Investment Co., Ltd., another XIB subsidiary, contributed HK 
$1.935 billion capital to CYB on September 25, 2020, and then it contributed another 
HK $1.29 billion to CYB on December 28, 2020. The total contribution was HK $3.225 
billion. As of December 31, 2020, through its subsidiary Xiamen International 
Investment Co., Ltd., XIB held 69.63% of CYB shares. 

 
(II) Improving capital management 
While actively broadening the channels to supplement capital, the Bank also drove 

the reform of operation and management models and business transformation, and took 
the initiative to optimize risk asset structure in order to improve capital utilization 
efficiency. The Bank’s capital adequacy ratio as of December 31, 2020 was listed as 
follows: 
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Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item Value 
1. Total net capital 78,743,367 
1.1 Core tier I capital 62,669,583 
1.2 Deduction of core tier I capital 2,928,861 
1.3 Net core tier I capital 59,740,722 
1.4 Other tier I capital 2,191,159 
1.5 Deduction of other tier I capital - 
1.6 Net tier I capital 61,931,881 
1.7 Tier II capital 16,811,486 
1.8 Deduction of tier II capital - 
2. Credit risk weighted assets 601,316,605 
3. Market risk weighted assets 22,878,165 
4. Operational risk weighted assets 28,478,677 
5. Total risk weighted assets 652,673,447 
6. Core tier I capital adequacy ratio 9.15% 
7. Tier I capital adequacy ratio 9.49% 
8. Capital adequacy ratio 12.06% 

Note: The scope of calculation of capital adequacy ratio for the Bank’s 
consolidated financial statements included Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. and 
related financial institutions which met the requirements for capital adequacy ratio 
calculation for consolidated financial statements in Section I, Chapter II of the Measures 
on Capital Management of Commercial Banks (Trial), namely, the banking group 
jointly constituted by Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. and Luso International Banking 
Co., Ltd. 

 
IV. Risk Management 

(I) Credit risk management 
As the highest decision-maker with respect to the Bank's credit risk management, 

the Board of Directors formulates the Bank's credit risk strategies and policies, 
determines the risk preference and risk tolerance, monitors and evaluates the 
comprehensiveness and effectiveness of credit risk management; urges senior 
management to take necessary measures to effectively manage credit risk, and 
supervises the performance of the senior management. The Risk Management 
Committee of the Board of Directors studies and puts forward policy advice, and makes 
suggestions on adjusting the credit risk management policies as reference for the 
Board’s decision making. The Bank's senior management: assumes the executive 
functions of credit risk management strategies and policies; formulates and regularly 
reviews and supervises the implementation of the policies, procedures and operating 
instructions for credit risk management; formulates, and organizes the implementation 
of, credit risk management strategies; determines the customer limits and concentration 
limits for credit risk within the total limits approved by the Board; learns the credit risk 
level and its management status in a timely manner, effectively identifies, measures, 
monitors and controls all kinds of credit risks undertaken by our various businesses, and 
ensures the normal operation of the Bank’s credit risk management system. In addition, 
the Bank's management annually examines and adjusts credit business strategies, 
clarifies the business directions and approaches, the basic responsibilities of each 
business frontline, the implementation road maps and the risk control measures, etc., to 



 

 
24 

ensure that the business development matches with the risk management level. 
In the face of the dual impact of the complex and rough external economic 

circumstances and the COVID-19 Pandemic in 2020, and under the leadership of the 
CPC committee of the Bank, the Board of Directors and the management, the Bank: 
adhered to the CPC’s guidance, had in-depth study of the economic and financial 
situations, dynamically re-examined, combed and optimized the risk compliance system; 
unremittingly tried to innovate, change, solve problems in high-quality development, 
and adhered to the concept of quality first; took the initiative to implement the 
approaches of forward-looking and front-loading into all aspects of quality management, 
constantly strengthened social responsibility, upgraded support for epidemic prevention 
and control, played an active role in risk preventing and resolving, and ceaselessly 
optimized the asset quality; actively adjusted risk tolerance, improved risk foresight and 
expectation management to achieve the steady development of the Bank. In the light of 
the internal and external situations, business objectives and risk management strategies, 
the Bank kept promoting a regulation-based risk management on its credit business, 
adhered to the “steady” risk preference type, issued risk preference statements for 2020, 
formulated risk management policy guidelines, prepared and continuously improved 
relevant risk management systems, and intensified the basic codes on risk management; 
improved the effectiveness of credit risk management by perfecting the risk control 
processes such as review-loan separation and graded approval. In 2020, in accordance 
with the CBIRC's Measures for the Management of Large Risk Exposure of Commercial 
Banks, the Bank kept propelling the management of large risk exposure, carried out 
measurement, monitoring and supervision in an orderly manner, and actively built a 
large risk exposure management system, which greatly enhanced the Bank’s capabilities 
in managing large risk exposure. During the reporting period, indicators of the Bank's 
large risk exposure quota are in line with regulations. By the end of 2020, XIB had a 
balance of non-performing loans 4.394 billion yuan, or a 0.84% non-performing loan 
rate, and a concerned loan rate 1.50%. As a whole, the credit risk of the Bank was 
controllable. 

In accordance with the requirements relevant to the weighting method specified in 
the Measures for Capital Management of Commercial Banks (Trial), the Bank 
calculates the credit risk weighted assets (CRWA) of the on-balance and off-balance 
assets of the bank accounts, the CRWA of the bank accounts’ and transaction accounts’ 
counterparty accounts; and the CRWA of the bank accounts for asset securitization 
business (which reflecting the asset securitization business transaction accounts’ risk in 
the market rick). The following table shows the bank's credit risks: 

 
Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item Risk exposure 

Risk exposure 
after risk 

mitigation is 
considered 

Risk weighted 
assets balance 

On-balance CRWA  944,088,700   582,686,554   582,686,554  
 Including: On-balance CRWA for asset securitization  4,695,150   4,695,150   939,030  
Off-balance risk weighted assets  251,205,265   152,221,288   17,205,020  
Risk weighted assets exposed through counterparty credit risk  4,186,985   4,186,985   1,425,031  
 

 
(II) Market risk management 
In 2020, XIB took the initiative to analyze domestic and foreign macroeconomic 
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and market conditions as well as the debt market in order to further optimize its 
portfolio, reinforced market research and daily marking to market, made timely 
investment strategy adjustments according to market volatility, and effectively 
controlled profit and loss on investment. 

As of the end of 2020, all the Bank's market risk indicators met regulatory 
requirements, and the overall market risks were under control, with a relatively stable 
development trend. The compound indicators of interest rates and exchange rates 
showed a low level of market risk throughout the Bank. The total capital requirement 
for market risk calculating by the standardized approach was CNY 1.83 billion, 
accounting for 2.32% of the net assets of the Group. It included the interest rate risk of 
CNY 63 million; foreign exchange risk of CNY 1.767 billion; the total market risk 
weighted assets was CNY 22.878 billion. 

Unit: CNY 1,000 

Item Capital Requirements by Market Risk 
Standard Method 

1. Interest rate risk 63,493.34 
1.1 Specific risks 30,403.15 
1.2 General market risk 33,090.18 

2. Stock risk - 
3. Foreign exchange risk 1,766,759.86 
4. Commodity risk - 
5. Option risk - 
6. Specific risks exposed by the transaction account asset 
securitization risk 

- 

7. Total market risk capital requirements using 
the standardized approach 

1,830,253.19 

 
 

1. Bond investment 
From the perspectives of integrated liquidity expectations, the macroeconomic 

situation, credit risks, market risks and profitability, the Bank continuously refined the 
classified management of bond portfolios. Based on its asset and liability management 
and its own business development needs, by complying with the principles of safety, 
profitability and liquidity, the Bank was prudently engaged in the bond investment 
business, forming a multi-level, multi-dimension, classified management system with 
timely warnings. The nature of the business basically accommodated its operational 
scale and risk tolerance level, and the structure of bond positions held was effectively 
optimized. As of the end of 2020, bond investment portfolios of the Bank were robust. 

2. Interest rate and exchange rate risks 
The Bank assesses its interest rate and exchange rate risks by sensitivity analysis, 

i.e., regularly calculating the difference (gap) between the interest-bearing assets which 
would be due in a certain period or need to be re-priced and the interest-paying 
liabilities, and conducting sensitivity analysis using the gap data whenever there was a 
change to the benchmark interest rate, market interest rate or exchange rate, so as to 
provide guidance for the Bank in adjusting the re-pricing period structure of interest-
bearing assets and interest-paying liabilities. The Bank has established forecasting, 
monitoring and reporting systems to summarize sensitivity analysis results on a regular 
basis and notify relevant departments in a timely manner. On the basis of the sensitivity 
analysis, the Bank controls its interest rate risk by controlling the distribution of loan 
and deposit maturity dates, the repricing date, and the balance of assets and liabilities at 
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the time of repricing. 
（1） Interest rate risk 
The Bank’s interest rate risk stems from the gap between the agreed maturity dates 

and repricing dates of interest-bearing financial assets and interest-paying liabilities. 
According to the results of the Bank’s stress test on the interest rate repricing risk, 
assuming that the yield curve in each currency shifts by 100 benchmark points at the 
end of the year, the Bank’s net interest income in the following year will be potentially 
impacted in an amount of CNY 10 million, accounting for 0.01% of the net capital, and 
therefore in general the interest rate risk is controllable. 

（2） Foreign exchange risk 
The Bank avoids exchange rate risks mainly by taking quota management and risk 

hedging measures with the aim of preventing, evading, transferring or eliminating 
foreign exchange business operation risks, thus avoiding possible economic losses. In 
2020, the Bank's foreign currency business was mainly as follows: 

Domestic institutions were mainly engaged in RMB business using RMB as the 
base currency, with an overall foreign exchange exposure position of CNY 528 million 
and the exchange rate risk was low. 

Luso International Bank uses Macao Pataca (MOP) as its base currency. At present, 
its deposit is mainly constituted by HKD and MOP, and loans and investment in HKD, 
MOP and USD accounted for a large proportion, while other foreign currencies took a 
small proportion, with an overall foreign exchange exposure being CNY 15.14 billion. 
Under the pegged exchange rate system, LIB’s foreign exchange rate risk was low. With 
RMB internationalization and increasing off-shore RMB deposits of Macao citizens, 
LIB will further participate in RMB business. In the current stage, the principle LIB 
follows in handling RMB liability and asset business is to match RMB liabilities and 
asset business so as to reduce direct exchange rate risks. 

Chiyu Bank uses Hong Kong Dollar (HKD) as its base currency, with an overall 
foreign exchange exposure being CNY 12.191 billion equivalently. Chiyu Bank also 
adopts the principle of matching RMB liability and asset business to reduce direct 
exchange rate risks. 

 
(III) Operational risk management 
The Bank strictly abides by the Guidelines for Operational Risk Management at 

Commercial Banks promulgated by the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory 
Commission and the Operational Risk Management Policy of Xiamen International 
Bank Co., Ltd. formulated by the Bank to standardize the Bank's operational risk 
management. The Bank strives to raise its overall operational risk management level 
continuously through the active application of operational risk management tools to 
conduct risk investigation for all its businesses, and to enhance the identification, 
monitoring, mitigation and reporting of operational risks. 

XIB established an operational risk indicator system. By the end of 2020, it has set 
up 92 key risk indicators to monitor key business areas and segments which were 
vulnerable to operational risks in a dynamic way. For any indicator which triggered 
early warnings as monitored, it conducted rectification work in a timely manner until it 
returned to normal. By setting up an operational risk event reporting and loss data 
collection mechanism, XIB and its departments at the headquarters, branches and sub-
branches were able to record and report operational risk events in everyday running of 
the Bank, and data and information of the related losses, probe into the causes of the 
events, compile targeted prevention and rectification measures, improve relevant 
systems and procedures accordingly and in a timely manner, thus preventing operational 
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risks from happening again, In 2020, no major operational risk event was found in the 
Bank and all of its businesses were operated smoothly and stably. 

The Bank actively promoted the forward-thinking concept for operational risk 
prevention. Before formulating a system of rules and regulations or launching a new 
product, the Bank carefully looks into its products or business processes from the 
perspective of preventing operational risks and internalize its operational risk prevention 
requirements into its existing regulations and processes, so as to avoid or reduce 
operational risks caused by any confusion or ambiguity in the requirements or imperfect 
processes. 

In accordance with the requirements of the Measures for Capital Management of 
Commercial Banks (Trial), the Bank applies the basic index method to measure the 
capital requirements on operational risk (“CROR”). By the end of 2020, the operational 
risk weighted assets of the Bank was 28.479 billion yuan, as follows: 

Unit :1,000 yuan 

Item Capital requirements by Indicator Method 

1. CROR measured by the basic indicator method 2,278,294 
2. CROR 2,278,294 
3. Operational risk-weighted assets 28,478,677 

 
 
(IV) Liquidity risk management 
Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Bank is not able to obtain adequate funds  

at a reasonable cost and in a timely manner to repay its debts, fulfill any payment 
obligations, or satisfy financial needs of normal businesses. The Bank's liquidity risk 
management is aimed to establish a sound and healthy liquidity risk management 
system in order to carry out effective identification, measurement, monitoring and 
control of liquidity risks at the legal entity and group level, and for each affiliated 
organization, branch and sub-branch, and each line of business. In this way, it will be 
able to ensure that liquidity requirements can be met at a reasonable cost in a timely 
manner and the level of liquidity risk can be kept within a bearable range. 

The Bank’s liquidity risk is managed and controlled by the Head Office in a 
centralized way. Based on a well-established liquidity risk management system, XIB 
comprehensively used a wide array of tools and means, such as cash flow measurement 
and analysis, liquidity risk limit management, financing management, daytime liquidity 
risk management, liquidity stress test, liquidity risk emergency plan, supreme liquidity 
asset management, and consolidated liquidity risk management, to effectively identify, 
measure, evaluate, monitor, control or mitigate liquidity risk and maintain sufficient 
liquidity level to satisfy all kinds of fund needs and deal with adverse market conditions, 
thus controlling liquidity risk level within the Bank’s bearable range. Upon approval of 
the Board of Directors, the Bank has set a wide range of liquidity risk limit indicators 
and stress testing scenarios, and has the implementation of these indicators, the stress 
tests of liquidity risk monitored by the liquidity management department on a regular 
basis. In adherence to the principle of prudence, the Bank prudently evaluates the 
impact of credit risks, market risks, operational risks, country risks, compliance risks 
and reputation risks on the Bank’s liquidity, and paid close attention to the conversion 
and transmission among different risks. In addition, the Bank intensified forward-
looking control and pre-problem-solving work to prevent liquidity risks.  

As of the end of 2020, the Bank's consolidated liquidity coverage ratio was 
384.92%, its consolidated liquidity ratio 104.97%, and consolidated net stable capital 
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ratio 109.14%, all maintained at a good level and satisfying regulatory requirements; the 
domestic institutions loan-to-deposit ratio was 116.93%, and the RMB excess reserve 
rate 2.24%, both in compliance with regulatory requirements. 

 
 
(V) Compliance risk and country risk management 
Compliance risk refers to the risk that the Bank may be subject to legal sanctions, 

regulatory punishments, major financial losses and reputation losses incurred as a result 
of its failure to comply with laws, rules and norms. The Bank's Board of Directors bears 
final responsibility for the compliance of business activities, and the Risk Management 
Committee under its authority carries out supervision of compliance risk management. 

The Bank has continuously deepened its compliance risk management and 
compliance inspection work by promoting and implementing the Compliance 
Management Policy of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. and the Compliance 
Management Work Book of Domestic Institutions of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
to improve employees' compliance awareness. By following requirements and 
reminders of regulatory authorities, it took the initiative to compare and organize 
regulatory compliance indicators and prudence indicators to make sure that compliance 
standards were met, and that prudent regulatory indicators were continually optimized. 

Through all kinds of routine, specialized or provisional compliance inspections, the 
compliance management departments of every business lines at the Bank’s Head Office  
are able to discover possible problems that exist during business development at all 
institutions in a timely manner, and supervise the rectification work to ensure violations 
are corrected. In 2020, XIB carried out a bank-wide specialized compliance education 
activity, typical case learning activity “Discussion of Compliance with Cases”, visiting 
activities to prison and clean governance education, themed lecture on compliance, 
compliance specialty contest and training sessions on compliance education such as the 
specialized training on case prevention and control. The diversified compliance 
publicity, guidance and education raised the compliance risk awareness of employees at 
every level across the Bank and enhanced compliance risk management. 

Based on regulatory requirements and after careful review of actual conditions, the 
Bank defined country risk management framework and assignment of responsibilities, 
and organized a business process to monitor and control country risk exposure and 
provision conditions. As of the end of 2020, the Bank's country risk assets 5  were 
equivalent to CNY 152.429 billion, mainly concentrated in low-risk countries or regions 
including Hong Kong (country risk assets CNY 88.218 billion) and Macao (country risk 
assets CNY 37.806 billion); country risk asset scale in other countries was small and 
scattered, thus the overall country risk is controllable, and the corresponding special 
reserve for country risk was CNY 53 million. 

 
 
(VI) Information technology (IT) risk management 
The Bank continued to enhance its IT risk management system and regulations, 

paying high attention to risk prevention and control in IT systems, and incorporated 
these efforts into the Bank's internal control management system. Establishing an IT 
governance organizational structure with clear structure and clarified responsibilities, 
the Bank endeavored to strengthen risk management in IT systems and effectively 

                                                
5 Including: country risk assets of LIB, the Bank's affiliate, of CNY 93.581 billion and Chiyu Bank’s country risk 
assets of CNY 48.736 billion. 



2020 Annual Report of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
 

 
29 

prevent, control and resolve risks. According to relevant national IT laws, regulations 
and technological standards and by combining the Bank's actual situations, the Bank 
built and continuously improved its IT management measures and operating regulations 
in each and every link of project life-cycle management, including safety management, 
demand management, development management, testing management and project 
management, as well as operation and maintenance management. Besides, XIB took 
various measures, including on-site/off-site methods, baseline evaluation and detailed 
evaluation methods to evaluate IT risks in the following aspects: IT risk governance, 
life-cycle phase-by-phase risks, operation and maintenance stage risks, dynamic 
monitoring indicators, outsourcing risks, key supervision and evaluation, and 
technological emergency response drills. In this way, risks involved in IT activities were 
revealed and control measures were put into effect in IT project building, system 
operation and maintenance, and outsourcing services, providing guarantee for the 
security, smooth and stable operation of the Bank's IT systems. 

 
(VII) Reputation risk management 
In accordance with the Guidelines for Reputation Risk Management of Commercial 

Banks promulgated by CBIRC, the Bank incorporated reputation risk into its overall risk 
management framework, formulated the Reputation Risk Management Measures of 
Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., the Reputation Risk Emergency Response Plan of 
Xiamen International Bank, the regulations on public opinion and other relevant 
supporting rules and regulations, kept improving the reputation risk management and 
prevention mechanism, and optimizing the organizational structure. The Bank has been 
devoted to the concept of good faith and established the ideology of “credit is the 
foundation of the bank, reputation is the foundation of survival, and reputation 
management creates value”, so as to enable the employees to correctly understand the 
relationship between business development and reputation risk. 

 
(VIII) Money laundering risk management 
Strictly abiding by anti-money laundering laws and regulations, the Bank earnestly 

implemented the anti-money laundering regulatory requirements, fulfilled its legal 
obligations and social responsibilities for anti-money laundering, drove the construction 
of the anti-money laundering system from all aspects and continuously improved its 
money laundering risk management.  

In 2020, the Bank thoroughly implemented the “risk-based” anti-money laundering 
work approach, placing the improvement of the anti-money laundering work 
effectiveness and the strict prevention of money laundering risk cases as the core 
objective. The Bank continuously optimized and improved the money laundering risk 
management mechanism from the aspects of anti-money laundering organization 
structure, management policy, procedural methods, information systems, inspection and 
auditing, assessment and evaluation, coordination with regulatory authority, training 
publicity, so as to promote the implementation of relevant work arrangements and 
requirements. Specifically, the work included: further exerted the effectiveness of the 
main responsibility bodies, improved organizational mechanisms, increased resource 
investment in anti-money laundering and the construction of anti-money laundering 
personnel, continuously strengthened the anti-money laundering internal control system, 
and embedded anti-money laundering control requirements in business processes; taking 
money laundering risk assessment as the grisp, the Bank promoted the assessment and 
strengthened the management and control of money laundering risks in new products 
and new businesses, in particular, strictly controlled the accessibility of customers, 
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products and businesses; by constructing a smart and efficient anti-money laundering 
information system, enhanced the supporting of information technology on anti-money 
laundering; intensified anti-money laundering supervision, inspection and evaluation, 
continuously examined the risk points, effectively enhanced its ability and sense of duty; 
carried out multi-level anti-money laundering theory research, had more exchanges with 
its peers and learned more experiences; held comprehensive and targeted anti-money 
laundering training sessions and publicity campaigns, innovated and enriched its 
working approaches, and eventually, improved its work effectiveness. 

 
V. Internal Control Compliance and Case Prevention and Control 

(I) Continuously strengthening the internal control compliance mindset 
education on staff 

During the reporting period, the Bank further reinforced employees' awareness of 
systems and internal controls, dealt with various businesses by rules and procedures, 
improved employees' awareness about the internal control system, so much so that 
employees have become an integral node of business operations in the implementation 
of internal control. In 2020, through carrying out a bank-wide specialized compliance 
education activity, typical case learning activity “Discussion of Compliance with Cases”, 
clean governance visiting&education activities, themed lecture on compliance, 
compliance specialty contest and training sessions on compliance education such as the 
specialized training on case prevention and control, XIB continuously carried out 
internal control compliance publicity, guidance and education to improve employees’ 
awareness about internal control compliance, case prevention and control as well as risk 
prevention to further foster a sound internal control and compliance atmosphere in the 
Bank. 

 
(II) Improving the effective and systematic internal control mechanism 
XIB managed its internal control system in a dynamic way by reviewing and 

amending regulations and systems every year, and organized and improved all effective 
regulations and systems of all lines in a systematic way in order to address regulatory 
requirements and adapt to changes in internal and external situations. With modification 
and improvement of the systems, the Bank’s businesses were put under the supervision 
and control of the internal control system all the time. The Bank continuously improved 
post setup and the design of business operational procedures, further clarified the 
responsibilities, authority and relevant restriction and control measures of each post so 
that each employee and each service can be brought under the supervision and control 
of the internal control system, so much so that “control vacuum” was prevented. The 
Bank established different extents of authority between levels, departments and posts 
based on different categories of business and job duties in order to realize mutual check 
and balance and enhancement of overall control capability. 

 
(III) Improving the internal control supervision and inspection mechanism 
In 2020, while adhering to the “risk-based” auditing approach and closely 

observing the regulatory requirements, coupled with the Bank’s management 
characteristics and targets in key risk areas, the Bank’s internal audit department, 
through intensifying internal control supervision, implementing a digital-based auditing 
work mechanism, etc., continuously improved risk warning and internal audit quality 
and efficiency. The Bank’s internal audit department conducted comprehensive audit of 
the Bank’s key risk areas, covering comprehensive businesses of its branches, 
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outgoing/economic liability and special audits in significant areas such as credit risk 
management, market risk management, liquidity risk management, operational risk 
management, information technology risk management (including outsourcing), 
financial support for epidemic control, consolidated management, related party 
transaction management, capital management, anti-money laundering management, 
wealth business management, consumer interests protection, non-performing asset 
write-off management and so on. By establishing a branch operation and management 
monitoring mechanism, continuously using off-site audit system to develop audit 
models, effectively applying digital audit methods, and establishment of the 
"model+system+labor" parallel risk detection model, the Bank continuously improved 
the effectiveness of internal audit supervision and help improve the Bank’s risk 
management and its internal control mechanism, urged the auditee to perform duties 
effectively, marking a visible implementation of the high-quality development concept. 

In 2020, the Bank continued to strengthen the building of its internal audit system 
to further improve the standardization and effectiveness of its internal audit. In the work 
of drafting and amending its internal audit charter and medium-long term audit 
standards, XIB formulated and issued 8 internal audit standards, including the Work 
Standards and Operating Guidelines for Domestic Institutions of Xiamen International 
Bank Co., Ltd. on the Green Credit Loans Audit Project, revised and improved 2 
existing internal audit standards, including the Work Standards and Operating 
Guidelines for Domestic Institutions of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. On the 
Outgoing/Economic Responsibility Audit Project, thus continuously improved its policy 
system; based on the internal audit duties and characteristics of audit projects, the Bank 
formulated and issued the Quality Assessment Implementation Rules for Domestic 
Institutions of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. On the Internal Audit Project, thus 
systematically clarified the appraisal requirements for audit projects, and improved the 
management quality and standardization for its audit projects. 

 
(IV) Enhancing the risk early warning and monitoring mechanism 
XIB kept reinforcing the management and application of big data for risk early 

warning and monitoring, improved the smart risk warning and management system, 
uplifted the intelligence and foresight level of the Bank’s risk early warning & 
observation, and carried out ceaseless risk monitoring. In 2020, the "Sky Eye" (Phase I), 
a risk pre-warning system created by efforts of the whole Bank, was launched for 
service. It widely draws on the domestic and foreign experiences, fully integrates big 
data, artificial intelligence and other new technologies. The system marks that the 
Bank's risk control model has shifted from the previous labor-based mode to a new 
mode of "machine control-based, human control as a supplement", helping the Bank's 
smart risk control construction. 

 
(V) Furthering case prevention and control work 
During the reporting period, the Bank continued to advance its case prevention and 

control work and build a long-term mechanism for case prevention and control 
involving the entire staff. In 2020, the Bank enhanced its guidance and supervision of 
the whole bank's case prevention and control work, formulated the Bank’s case 
prevention and control work plan of 2020 and supervised its implementation to enhance 
effectiveness; it formulated the annual work plan on compliance and case prevention 
and control education and organized diversified training sessions on case prevention and 
control education with rich content; it organized the Bank's case prevention and control 
work personnel to participate in special training and examinations to improve their 
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expertise, and the departments and branches of the Head Office to sign the 
responsibility statement on case prevention and control to clarify related duties and 
ensure implementation of the requirements; it organized case risk investigation of 
counters, credits, official seal management, important post rotations and abnormal 
behaviors of employees, prepared case prevention and control reports, and closely 
monitored the implementation of case risk management to ensure that case risk 
investigations would be carried out in a coherent and orderly manner. 

 
VI. Consolidated Management 

(I) Consolidated management work 
In 2020, the Bank revised its Consolidated Management Measures for Xiamen 

International Bank Co., Ltd. to strengthen the responsibility and obligation execution of 
the Bank's consolidated management departments and subsidiaries, and to clarify the 
scope of reporting and approval of major matters. Continuously the Bank improved its 
consolidated management capabilities, followed regulatory regulations and guidance, and 
sticked to the substantive principles of risk management. Placing control as the basis, it 
fully considered the relevance of financial business and financial risks, determined the 
Bank’s consolidated management organization structure, and ceaselessly strengthened 
consolidated management. 

The Head Office, of and for the Bank, coordinates the consolidated management 
work, formulates relevant policies and systems, establishes and improves the 
consolidated management organizational structure and reporting routes, sets up the 
comprehensive risk control system, It has established a comprehensive system for risk 
management, and a consolidated management information system that gathers together 
the Group's consolidated information, and gives guidance and carries out inspection and 
assessment of the risk management and financial management work of the affiliated 
institutions. 

According to the requirements of regulatory authorities and the group consolidated 
management, the affiliated institutions of the Bank report to the Group: relevant 
information about business operation, risk management, corporate governance, annual 
audit, and major consolidated management events and updates; also, via communicating 
actively with small shareholders, the affiliated institutions of the Bank gather their 
support for the Board’s and the Shareholder meeting’s resolutions about major 
consolidated management events. 

 
 
(II) Transactions between XIB and its subsidiaries in 2020 
The transactions between XIB and its subsidiaries mainly included the business 

transactions with Luso International Banking Limited, Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. 
and Xiamen International Investment Limited. 

The outstanding balances at the end of the period between the Bank and its 
subsidiaries are listed as follows: 

                                                 Unit: CNY 1,000 
Item End 2020 End 2019 

Deposits in peer banks and other financial institutions 
Deposits in LIB 2,580,733 353,107 
Deposits in CYB 89,182 838,816 
Deposits by peer banks and other financial institutions 
Deposits by LIB  3,452 344,040 
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Item End 2020 End 2019 
Deposits by CYB 274 60,236 
Interests receivable 
Interests receivable from LIB 4,205 20 
Interests receivable from CYB - 10,333 
Interests payable   
Interests payable to LIB 06 1 
Interest payable to CYB 07 845 
Loans to other banks 
CYB - 1,547,261 
Letter of Guarantee issued 
LIB 5,725,587 20,227,691 
CYB - 126,900 
Other assets   
Xiamen International Investment Co., Ltd 225,313 239,818 
LIB 266 1,417 
CYB 2,124 1,699 
Other liabilities 
Xiamen International Investment Co., Ltd 9,406 9,493 
CYB 1,880 - 
 
 

                                                
6 On December 31, 2020, the Bank's interest payable to LIB was RMB 153. 
7 On December 31, 2020, the Bank's interest payable to CYB was RMB 31. 
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Amounts involved in the transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries 
included in the current income statement are listed as follows: 

                                                  Unit: CNY 1,000 
Item 2020  2019 

Interest income   
LIB 6,295 15,652 
CYB 13,896 87,608 
Interest expenses   
LIB 140 189 
CYB 1,182 4,623 
Fees and commission income   
LIB 4 4 
CYB - 08 
Other operating income   
LIB 54,540 - 
CYB 16,220 - 
Exchange gains   
LIB 1 1 

 
 

(III) Business performance of LIB in 2020 
By the end of 2020, the registered capital of LIB was MOP 2.61 billion. XIB, the 

largest shareholder of LIB, held 49.04% of LIB shares. In 2020, LIB continuously 
enriched its marketing means, accelerated business expansion, achieved a good profit 
growth momentum in each business, and realized a steady and quality development. 
According to the statement based on China Accounting Standards, by the end of 2020, 
the total assets of LIB was equivalent to CNY 182.591 billion yuan, liabilities 
equivalent to CNY 171.629 billion yuan, owner's share capital equivalent to CNY 
10.962 billion yuan, deposit balances equivalent to CNY 132.083 billion yuan, loan 
balance equivalent to CNY 98.698 billion yuan, and a net profit of CNY 1.513 billion 
yuan. 

 
 
(IV) Business performance of CYB in 2020 
By the end of 2020, the registered capital of CYB was MOP 6.578 billion. XIB, the 

largest shareholder of Chiyu, held 69.63% of CYB shares. In 2020, CYB deployed its 
domestic businesses in an active way, boosted the strong growth of all major business 
indicators and achieved healthy and steady development. Meanwhile, it furthered the 
reform of its business management mode and drove the continuous improvement of its 
business management. According to the statement under China Accounting Standards, 
as of the end of 2020, the total assets of CYB was equivalent to CNY 137.411 billion, 
liabilities equivalent to CNY 122.395 billion, shareholders' share capital equivalent to 
CNY 15.016 billion, all deposit balances equivalent to CNY 102.982 billion, all loan 

                                                
8 The Bank's processing fee and commission income from Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. in 
2019 was 189 yuan. 



2020 Annual Report of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 

 

 
35 

balances equivalent to CNY 66.471 billion and the annual net profit equivalent to CNY 
0.879 billion. 

 
VII. Dividend distribution 

(I) Development of dividend distribution policy 
The Bank has set forth its dividend distribution policy explicitly in its Articles of 

Association explicitly: the Bank can distribute dividend in cash or shares. In the case of 
distributing dividend in shares, a resolution shall be made on the general meeting of 
shareholders before being submitted to the banking regulatory authority of the State 
Council for approval. The Bank implements a sustainable and sound dividend policy 
according to regulatory requirements, and the after-tax profits, after covering losses, 
withholding the statutory accumulation fund, general provision and discretionary 
accumulation fund, shall be distributed as per the shareholding proportion of the 
shareholders. 

 
(II) Implementation of dividend distribution policy 
The Bank implemented a sustainable and prudent dividend policy and formulated 

its dividend distribution plan in strict accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association. 
During the reporting period, the Bank’s dividend distribution plan for 2019 was 
reviewed and approved by the 2019 annual general meeting of shareholders: taking the 
total capital stock of 8,386,260,000 shares as of December 31, 2019 as the base, 
distributing a cash dividend of RMB 1.8431884332(tax included) (rounded up) for 
every 10 shares to all shareholders registered on the share registration date. After the 
approval of the Bank's general meeting of shareholders, the above dividend distribution 
plan has been reported to regulatory authorities for approval, and related procedures are 
still in progress by the end of 2020. 

 
VIII. Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests 
In 2020, the Bank conscientiously observed the spirit of supervision departments at all 

levels on epidemic prevention and control and protection of consumer rights and 
interests, further optimized the system and mechanism to this end, strengthened the 
review, and strictly standardized its products and services. Focusing on creating a 
service brand featuring "excellent service and warm heart for you", the Bank improved 
service quality and customer experience, deepened staff training and education, 
reinforced forward-looking and emergency management over the risk of complaints. 
The Bank continued to open channels for customer communication, and provided a 
convenient way for consumers to express their opinions and demands. In 2020, 
domestic institutions of the Bank processed 738 customer complaints (39 of which were 
about customer suggestion, 208 complaints without responsibility, 192 complaints 
withdrawn, and 299 valid complaints), mainly involved in loan business and bank card 
(debit card) business in Shanghai and Fuzhou regions. The Bank processed customer 
complaints efficiently and properly - 100% of which well handled. The Bank satisfied 
consumer demands and drove the landing of rationalization proposals. The Bank 
actively practiced its social responsibility, cared for special consumer groups, carried 
out online and offline financial knowledge publicity activities, helped consumers raise 
awareness of risk prevention, and contributed to the harmonious financial consumption 
environment. 
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Chapter III Changes to Capital Stock and Shareholders 
 

I. Major Changes to Shareholding during the Reporting Period 
As of December 31, 2020, the Bank’s total capital stock was 9,247,397,400 shares 

and its registered capital was RMB 9,247,397,400, with the total number of 
shareholders at 163. As the Bank had capital increase and share expansion during the 
reporting period, the total capital stock increased from 8,386,260,000 shares to 
9,247,397,400 shares, and registered capital from RMB 8,386,260,000 yuan to RMB 
9,247,397,400 yuan. 

 
II. Top Ten Shareholders and Shareholding Information by the end 
of the Reporting Period 

The top ten shareholders of XIB and their shareholdings by the end of the 
reporting period are as follows: 

 

SN Name 
Number of shares held 
at the end of the period 

(Share) 

Sharehol
ding 
Ratio 

Change during 
the reporting 

period 
(share) 

1 Fujian Futou Investment Co., Ltd.  1,113,979,520  12.05% — 
2 Minxin Holdings Limited  818,789,600  8.85% — 
3 Industrial and Commercial Bank of China 

Limited 
 400,860,000  4.33% — 

4 Fujian Investment & Enterprise Holding 
Corporation 

 388,032,480  4.20% — 

5 Xiamen C&D Corporation Limited  360,774,000  3.90% — 
6 Fujian Expressway Development Co., Ltd  297,718,549  3.22% 31,718,549 
7 Xiamen International Trade Holdings 

Limited 
 282,685,512  3.06%  282,685,512  

8 Suzhou SND Co. Ltd  282,000,000  3.05%  282,000,000  
9 Deluxe Family Holdings Limited  270,000,000  2.92% — 

10 Zhuhai Huachuang Investment 
Management Co., Ltd. 

 223,848,533  2.42% 23,848,533 

Total 4,438,688,194 48.00% 620,252,594 
 
 

III. Major Shareholders and Their Related Information 
The Bank has no controlling shareholders or actual controllers; its major 

shareholders and their related information are as follows: 
(I) Information of the major shareholders and their controlling shareholders, 

actual controllers, related parties, concerted actors and ultimate beneficiaries 
1. Fujian Futou Investment Co., Ltd. 
Fujian Futou Investment Co., Ltd. is the major shareholder of the Bank. It is 100% 

owned by Fujian Investment & Development Group Co., Ltd.9, actually controlled by 
the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the Fujian 

                                                
9 Fujian Investment & Development Group Co., Ltd. is a wholly state-owned company approved and established by the 
Fujian Provincial People's Government which authorized the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration 
Commission of the Fujian Provincial People's Government as a contributor to perform the responsibility to the company. 
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Provincial People's Government, and with Fujian Futou Investment Co., Ltd. as the 
ultimate beneficiary. As of the end of 2020, Fujian Futou Investment Co., Ltd. did not 
pledge any shares of the Bank. Fujian Futou Investment Co., Ltd., Min Xin Holdings 
Limited, Fujian Investment & Enterprise Holding Corporation (Fujian Investment & 
Development Group Co., Ltd. was reorganized from Fujian-based enterprises including 
Fujian Investment & Enterprise Holding Corporation in 2009, and its business 
registration was not canceled) and Fujian Huatou Investment Co., Ltd. co-hold a total of 
2,420,801,600 shares of the Bank, with a total shareholding ratio of 26.18%. 

 

2. Min Xin Holdings Limited 
Min Xin Holdings Limited is listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock 

Exchange. Its controlling shareholder is Guixin Co., Ltd., whose controlling shareholder 
is Fujian Investment & Development Group Co., Ltd., whose actual controller is the 
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the Fujian 
Provincial People's Government and whose ultimate beneficiary is Min Xin Holdings 
Limited. As of the end of 2020, Min Xin Holdings Limited did not pledge any shares of 
the Bank. 

 
3. Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited 
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited was established with the 

approval of the State Council. The controlling shareholder is Central Huijin Investment 
Ltd., the actual controller is the State Council, and the ultimate beneficiary is the 
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited. As of the end of 2020, the Industrial 
and Commercial Bank of China Limited did not pledge any shares of the Bank. The 
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited does not have any affiliated 
relationship or concerted action relationship with the existing shareholders of the Bank. 

 
4. Fujian Investment & Enterprise Holding Corporation 
According to the spirits of the approval of the Fujian Provincial Government and 

the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of Fujian Province, 
seven Fujian-based enterprises, including Fujian Investment and Development 
Corporation and Fujian Investment Enterprise Group Corporation, were merged and 
reorganized into Fujian Provincial Investment and Development Group Co., Ltd. The 
business registration of Fujian Investment Enterprise Group Co., Ltd. has not been 
canceled, used only for clearing up unsettled matters after the enterprise was merged.  
As of the end of 2020, Fujian Investment & Enterprise Holding Corporation did not 
pledge any shares of the Bank. 

 
5. Xiamen C&D Corporation Limited 
Xiamen C&D Corporation Limited was funded, established and 100% owned by 

the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of Xiamen 
Municipal People's Government, and the ultimate beneficiary is Xiamen C&D 
Corporation Limited. As of the end of 2020, Xiamen C&D Corporation Limited did not 
pledge any shares of the Bank. Xiamen C&D Corporation Limited does not have any 
affiliated relationship or concerted action relationship with the existing shareholders of 
the Bank. 

 
6. Fujian Provincial Communication Transportation Group Co., Ltd. 
Fujian Provincial Communication Transportation Group Co., Ltd. was funded, 

established and 100% owned by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration 
Commission of the People's Government of Fujian Province, and the ultimate 
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beneficiary is Fujian Provincial Communication Transportation Group Co., Ltd. As of 
the end of 2020, Fujian Provincial Communication Transportation Group Co., Ltd. did 
not pledge any shares of the Bank. Fujian Provincial Communication Transportation 
Group Co., Ltd. does not have any affiliated relationship or concerted action 
relationship with the existing shareholders of the Bank. 

 
7. Shanghai Shangshen Investment Co., Ltd. 
The controlling shareholder of Shanghai Shangshen Investment Co., Ltd. is Lin 

Shangde and the ultimate beneficiary is Shanghai Shangshen Investment Co., Ltd. As of 
the end of 2020, Shanghai Shangshen Investment Co., Ltd. did not pledge any shares of 
the Bank. Shanghai Shangshen Investment Co., Ltd. does not have any affiliated 
relationship or concerted action relationship with the existing shareholders of the Bank. 

 
 
(II) Related-party transactions with major shareholders and their 

controlling shareholders, actual controllers, related parties, concerted actors 
and ultimate beneficiaries 

As of the end of 2020, all credit balance of related-party transactions between the 
Bank and the major shareholders and their controlling shareholders, actual controllers, 
related parties, concerted parties and ultimate beneficiaries conformed to the indicator 
requirements on concentration as specified in the Administrative Measures on Related-
party Transactions of Commercial Banks and Insiders and Shareholders and the Interim 
Measures for the Equity Management of Commercial Banks. During the reporting 
period, the credit standings and contract performance of the Bank's major shareholders, 
its controlling shareholders, actual controllers, related parties, concerted parties and 
ultimate beneficiaries were normal, and the five-category loan classification was normal. 

 
IV. Directors and Supervisors Nominated by Shareholders 

As of December 31, 2020, the Bank's directors and supervisors nominated by 
shareholders are listed as follows: 

SN Name Directors nominated Supervisors nominated 
1 Fujian Futou Investment Co., Ltd. Wang Xiaojian (Chairman) N/A 

2 Industrial and Commercial Bank of China 
Limited 

Song Hanyi 
(Shareholder Representative 

Director) 
N/A 

3 Fujian Investment & Enterprise Holding 
Corporation 

Peng Jinguang 
(Shareholder Representative 

Director) 
N/A 

4 Xiamen C&D Corporation Limited 
Huang Wenzhou 

(Shareholder Representative 
Director) 

N/A 

5 Fujian Provincial Communication 
Transportation Group Co., Ltd N/A 

Chen Le 
(Shareholder Representative 

Supervisor) 

6 Shanghai Shangshen Investment Co., Ltd 
Wang Xiaohong 

(Shareholder Representative 
Director) 

N/A 
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Chapter IV Overview of Directors, Supervisors, Senior Officers and 
Employees 

I. Basic Information of Directors 
(I) Basic information of directors 

Name Position Gender Year of birth 
Whether receiving 

remuneration from the 
Bank 

Wang Xiaojian Chairman Male 1973 Yes 
Lyu Yaoming Vice-Chairman Male 1954 Yes 

Huang Wenzhou Shareholder Representative 
Director 

Male 1965 No 

Peng Jinguang Shareholder Representative 
Director 

Male 1962 No 

Song Hanyi Shareholder Representative 
Director 

Male 1971 No 

Xu Ye10 Shareholder Representative 
Director 

Male 1975 No 

Wang Xiaohong Shareholder Representative 
Director 

Male 1976 No 

Zheng Zhenlong Independent Director Male 1966 No 
Lin Cangxiang Independent Director Male 1955 No 
Chen Hanwen Independent Director Male 1968 No 
Zhang Dechun Executive Director Male 1963 Yes 

Jiao Yundi Executive Director Male 1958 Yes 
Zheng Wei Executive Director Male 1967 Yes 

Lyu Xiaoting Executive Director Female 1964 Yes 
 
Outgoing Directors 

Name Position Gender Year of birth 
Whether receiving 

remuneration from the 
Bank 

Weng Ruotong11 Chairman Male 1954 No 
Wang Fei12 Shareholder Representative 

Director 
Male 1966 No 

 
 

(II) Basic information of supervisors 
 Name  Position Gender Year of birth Whether receiving 

remuneration from the 
Bank 

Ye Qiming Chief Supervisor Male 1951 Yes 

                                                
10 Mr. Ye Xu has submitted to the Board of Directors his resignation as a director of the Bank and a member of the 
relevant committee of the Board of Directors due to changes in his employment. His resignation took effect upon delivery 
of his resignation to the Board on January 25, 2021. 
11 Due to his age, Mr. Weng Ruotong has resigned as a director of the Bank, the head and a member of the Strategy 
Committee of the Board of Directors, and has resigned as the Chairman of the Bank with effect from September 14, 2020. 
12 Mr. Wang Fei has submitted his resignation as a director of the Bank to the Board of Directors on September 27, 2020, 
effective upon delivery of the resignation to the Board of Directors, and has resigned as a member of the Risk 
Management Committee. 
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 Name  Position Gender Year of birth Whether receiving 
remuneration from the 

Bank 
Chen Le Shareholder Representative 

Supervisor 
Male 1959 No 

Huang Wei External Supervisor Male 1972 No 

Li Changqing External Supervisor Male 1968 No 

Zhang Qi Employee Supervisor Female 1972 Yes 

Zhuang Xi Employee Supervisor Male 1972 Yes 

 
 

(III) Basic Information of senior officers 
Name Position Gender Year of birth Whether or not to be 

paid at the Bank 
Zhang 

Dechun Governor (President) Male 1963 Yes 

Jiao 
Yundi 

Vice-Governor (Vice-President) 
& General Manager of LIB Male 1958 Yes 

 
Zheng 
Wei 

Vice-Governor (Vice-President) 
& Chief Executive Officer of CYB Male 1967 Yes 

 
Huang 
Daqing 

Vice-Governor (Vice-President) 
& General Manager in China Male 1969 Yes 

Lyu 
Xiaoting Vice-Governor (Vice-President) Female 1964 Yes 

Zou 
Zhiming 

Assistant Governor (Assistant 
President) Male 1974 Yes 

Tsoi Lai 
Ha 

Chief Accountant 
(CFO) Female 1963 Yes 

Lee Fai 
Ming 

Chief Audit Officer Male 1964 Yes 

Wang 
Pengju 

Chief Information Officer Male 1964 Yes 

Huang 
Zhiru 

Director of Human Resources Male 1974 Yes 

Zhu 
Jianwu 

Secretary of the Board of Directors Male 1967 Yes 
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Chapter V Corporate Governance 
 

I. Company Organizational Structure Chart 
 

Note: The above chart illustrates the organizational structure of the Bank by the end of December 2020. 
For details of the subsidiaries included in the Bank’s consolidated financial statements as of December 
31, 2020, please refer to the Notes to the Financial Statements of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. - 
“5. Enterprise Merger and Consolidated Financial Statements”. 

 
II. Corporate Governance 

XIB College of 
Finance 

Investment Banking & 
Asset Management 

Dept. 

 
 
 

Chiyu Bank has 24 
branches in Hong Kong 

and 3 branches in 
Mainland China 

Nomination Committee 

Related-Party Transaction 
Control and Audit Committee 
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(I) Shareholders and shareholders’ meetings 
During the reporting period, XIB effectively implemented the procedures of general 

meetings of shareholders, including convening, holding and matter-discussing, in 
accordance with relevant laws, regulations, the Articles of Association of the Bank and 
the Rules and Procedures of Shareholders’ Meeting of Xiamen International Bank Co., 
Ltd. to protect shareholders’ legitimate rights and interests. Besides, the Bank kept 
improving investor relationship management and proactively considered shareholders’ 
opinions and suggestions to ensure that shareholders exercise their right to know, 
participate and vote regarding the Bank’s major matters. 

The Bank convened 4 shareholders’ meetings in 2020: 
1. On January 16, 2020, the Bank's first special shareholders’ meeting in 2020 was 

held. The meeting deliberated and approved the Proposal on the Amendment of Articles of 
Association of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., the Proposal on the Amendment of  
Rules and Procedures of Shareholders’ Meeting of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., 
the Proposal on the Amendment of Rules and Procedures of the Board of Directors of 
Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., the Proposal on the Amendment of Rules and 
Procedures of the Board of Supervisors of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., and the 
Proposal on Implementing Equity Trusteeship of the Bank. 

2. On May 15, 2020, the Bank's 2019 annual shareholders’ general meeting 
deliberated and approved the 2019 Work Report of the Board of Directors, the 2019 Work 
Report of the Board of Supervisors, the 2019 Annual Report, and the Financial Report of 
2019, the Financial Budget for 2020, the Proposal on Dividend Distribution of 2019, the 
Proposal on Accounting Firm Hiring for 2020, the Evaluation Report by the Board of 
Supervisors on the Performance of the Board of Directer and Its Members in 2019, the 
Proposal on Payment of Directors' Remuneration for 2019, the Evaluation Report on the  
Performance of the Board of Supervisors and Its Members in 2019, the Proposal on 
Payment of the Supervisors’ Remuneration for 2019, the Evaluation Report by the Board of 
Supervisors on the Performance of Senior Management and Its Members in 2019, the 
Proposal on Share Increasing and Capital Raising Plan of Xiamen International Bank Co., 
Ltd. in 2020. The meeting also heard the Report on Implementation of Related Transaction 
Regulations and Related Transactions in 2019. 

3. On September 3, 2020, the Bank's second special shareholders’s meeting in 2020 
considered and approved the proposal on electing the shareholder representative director, 
and elected Mr. Wang Xiaojian as the shareholder representative director of the Bank. 

4. On November 29, 2020, the Bank's third special shareholders’s meeting in 2020 
considered and approved the Proposal on the Investors List for the 2020 Capital Raise and 
Share Increase and the Number of Shares to be Subscribed, the Proposal on the Change of 
Bank’s Registered Capital and the Amendment of Articles of Association, the Proposal on 
the Amendment of Articles of Association of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., the 
Proposal on the Amendment of Rules and Procedures of Shareholders’ Meeting of Xiamen 
International Bank Co., Ltd., the Proposal on the Amendment of Rules and Procedures of 
the Board of Directors of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., and the Proposal on the 
Amendment of Equity Management Measures of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., as 
well as the Proposal on Adjustment of the 2020 Financial Budget. 

 
(II) Board of Directors 
1. Members of the Board of Directors 
As of December 31, 2020, the Bank’s Board of Directors consisted of 14 directors, 

including 6 shareholder representative directors, 3 independent directors and 5 
executive directors classified by category. 
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2. Special committees under the Board of Directors 
There are 5 specialized committees of the Board of Directors of the Bank, i.e., the 

Strategy Committee, the Related-party Transaction Control and Audit Committee, the 
Risk Management Committee, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the 
Consumer Right Protection Committee. Except for the Strategy Committee, the person-
in-charge positions of the other four committees were all taken by independent directors. 
By the end of 2020, the leaders and members of the committees were as follows: 

 

 
Strategy 

Committee 

Related-
Party 

Transaction 
Control and 

Audit 
Committee 

 
Risk 

Managemen
t Committee 

Nomination 
and 

Remuneration 
Committee 

Consumer 
Right 

Protection 
committee 

Responsible 
person Wang Xiaojian Zheng Zhenlong Lin Cangxiang Zheng Zhenlong Chen Hanwen 

Membership 

Huang Wenzhou Chen Hanwen Song Hanyi Wang Xiaohong Zheng Zhenlong 
Peng Jinguang Lyu Xiaoting Xu Ye Lin Cangxiang Lyu Xiaoting 

Zheng Zhenlong - Jiao Yundi Zhang Dechun - 
Zheng Wei - - - - 

 
(1) Strategy Committee 
The Strategy Committee has the following main duties: 
Researching and drafting suggestions on the development strategies, business 

objectives, risk management strategies, capital management strategies and medium and 
long-term development plans of XIB and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; 
inspecting and evaluating the process of strategy implementation and giving suggestions 
to the Board of Directors; putting forth suggestions on strategic adjustment based on  
any change to the operational environment and reporting to the Board of Directors for 
review; providing opinions and suggestions on the deployment and plans proposed by 
the senior management and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; performing 
regular assessment on and offering suggestions on the improvement of the governance 
of the Company and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; inspecting the 
implementation of annual operational plans and major investment plans of XIB, offering 
suggestions on major investment matters of the Bank and reporting to the Board of 
Directors for review; providing suggestions on the coordination of relevant committees 
as well as human capital, risk management, organizational structure and processes, 
capital and institutional planning with the development strategies of the Bank as a  
whole for consistency and unification, and reporting to the Board of Directors for 
review; making its annual working plans, holding meetings to discuss matters within its 
extent of authority on a regular basis and reporting its work to the Board of Directors on 
a regular basis; proposing to amend its duties and rules of procedure and submitting 
them to the Board of Directors; in case that any matter to be reviewed by the Board of 
Directors falls into the areas of responsibilities of the Committee, it shall review and 
provide suggestions first and then submit relevant proposals and results to the Board of 
Directors for review; other matters as authorized by the Board of Directors. 

 
(2) Related-Party Transaction Control and Audit Committee 
The Related-Party Transaction Control and Audit Committee has the following 

main duties: 



 

 
44 

Researching and drafting the Banks’ related-party transaction management system, 
and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; approving general related-party 
transactions in accordance with the Bank’s internal approval authority and procedures, 
and putting on records on a case-by-case basis; examining significant related-party 
transactions that need to be submitted for review and approval of the Board of Directors 
or the general meeting of shareholders, and reporting to the Board of Directors for 
review; reviewing and confirming the list of related-party and reporting the list of 
confirmed related-party to the Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors, and relevant 
functional departments of the Bank in a timely manner; monitoring the control status of 
the Bank’s related party transactions, the implementation of related-party transaction 
control systems by the Bank’s directors, supervisors, and providing opinions and 
recommendations to the Board of Directors; monitoring the Bank’s accounting policy, 
financial situation, and financial reporting procedures, as well as the Bank’s risk and 
compliance situation, and providing opinions and recommendations to the Board of 
Directors; reviewing the Bank’s annual audit report, and providing opinions and 
recommendations on the authenticity, completeness and accuracy of the audited 
information contained in the financial report, and reporting to the Board of Directors for 
review; reviewing the Bank’s medium and long-term audit plan, annual audit work plan, 
and internal audit system, internal audit budget, and internal auditing staff remuneration, 
and providing opinions and recommendations to the Board of Directors; providing 
opinions and recommendations about the internal auditing department’s work processes 
and outcomes, and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; debriefing the 
regulatory report on the Bank issued by the State Council Banking Regulatory Authority 
and reviewing the report on the Bank’s rectification; reviewing the outgoing audit 
reports of non-director members of the senior management and providing 
recommendations and opinions to the Board of Directors; evaluating the work 
conducted by external auditors, providing recommendations on the engagement and 
replacement of external auditors and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; 
making the annual work plans for the Committee, holding meetings to discuss matters 
within its scope of responsibilities on a regular basis, and reporting its work to the 
Board of Directors on a regular basis; proposing amendments to the Committee’s duties 
and rules of procedure, and reporting to the Board of Directors; in case that any matter 
to be reviewed by the Board of Directors falls into the scope of responsibilities of the 
Committee, the Committee shall review it first and then submit relevant proposals and 
results to the Board of Directors for review; other matters as authorized by the Board of 
Directors. 

 
(3) Risk Management Committee 
The Risk Management Committee has the following main duties: 
Making researches and providing recommendations in a timely manner on  

adjusting the Bank’s risk management guidelines and policies based on changes to 
international and domestic economic and financial situations, or policies and regulations, 
as well as the needs of the development of banking business; inspecting and monitoring 
internal control over the Bank’s credit risks, market risks, operational risks, liquidity 
risks, legal risks, reputation risks, technological risks and country risks, conducting 
regular assessments of the risk management conditions and level and capability of the 
Bank’s risk management, and researching and providing timely recommendations for 
adjusting the Bank’s risk management guidelines and policies; reviewing and approving 
the Bank’s case prevention and control work, and advancing the construction of the 
Bank’s case prevention and control management system; stipulating the responsibilities 
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and limits of authority of senior management’s relevant litigation protection and control 
to ensure senior management take necessary measures to carry out effective monitoring, 
as well as give early warnings and handle case risks;  formulating  the overall 
requirements for the Bank’s case prevention and control work, examining the report on 
case prevention and control work, evaluating the effectiveness of the Bank’s case 
prevention and control work, and ensuring that the Bank’s internal audit involves 
auditing and supervision of the case prevention and control work; evaluating the 
working procedures and working outcomes of the Bank’s internal audit department and 
providing recommendations on improving the Bank’s risk management and internal 
controls; researching and providing recommendations on drafting the Bank’s basic 
policies of risk management and internal control, inspecting the completeness and 
effectiveness of the Bank’s risk control guidelines and policies, and reporting to the 
Board of Directors for review; understanding the risk assessment methods, models and 
prerequisite assumptions applied by the Bank, and reviewing risk assessment results; 
researching and providing relevant recommendations to the Board of Directors on 
improving and perfecting the risk management information system to promote the 
continuous improvement of the Bank’s credit risk identification and control; reviewing 
major issues or plans regarding guidelines, policies and procedures related to capital 
management that are to be submitted to the Board of Directors for approval, providing 
recommendations and opinions to the Board of Directors; offering recommendations 
regarding the information disclosure of the Bank’s capital adequacy to the Board of 
Directors; making annual work plans of the Committee, holding meetings to discuss 
matters within its scope of responsibilities on a regular basis, and reporting its work to 
the Board of Directors on a regular basis; proposing to amend the Committee’s duties 
and rules of procedure and submitting these to the Board of Directors; in cases that any 
matter to be reviewed by the Board of Directors falls into the scope of responsibilities of 
the Committee, the Committee shall review first and then submit relevant proposals and 
results to the Board of Directors for review; other matters as authorized by the Board of 
Directors. 

 
(4) Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has the following main duties: 
Conducting annual review on the structure, number and composition of the Board 

of Directors, and providing suggestions on the scale and composition of the Board of 
Directors to the Board of Directors based on strategic planning, business activities, asset 
size and equity structure of the Bank; carrying out the following jobs in pursuance of 
relevant laws and regulations as well as relevant provisions of the Articles of 
Association, screening criteria and nomination procedures of the Bank: reviewing the 
resumes, basic information, job qualification and conditions of nominated candidates  
for director and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; nominating candidates 
for the secretary of the Board of Directors and reporting to the Board of Directors for 
review; reviewing the job qualification and conditions of the president, chief auditing 
officer, and members and heads of specialized committees under the Board of Directors 
of the Bank, and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; reviewing the job 
qualification and conditions of the senior officers who are nominated by the President 
and appointed or dismissed by the Board of Directors, and reporting to the Board of 
Directors for review; researching and providing suggestions on drafting basic policies of 
remuneration management of the Bank and reporting to the Board of Directors for 
review; researching and providing suggestions for drafting the criteria of remunerations 
and allowances for directors of the Bank and evaluation methods of their performance 
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of their duties, providing suggestions on the evaluation of directors’ performance of 
their duties and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; researching and 
providing suggestions for drafting assessment methods and remuneration plans for the 
senior officers who are appointed or dismissed by the Board of Directors, providing 
suggestions on the assessment and evaluation of these officers and reporting to the 
Board of Directors for review; making annual working plans of the Committee, holding 
meetings to discuss matters within its areas of responsibilities on a regular basis and 
report its work to the Board of Directors on a regular basis; proposing to amend the 
Committee’s duties and rules of procedure and submitting them to the Board of 
Directors; in cases that any matter to be reviewed by the Board of Directors falls into 
the scope of responsibilities of the Committee, the Committee shall review first and  
then submit relevant proposals and results to the Board of Directors for review; other 
matters as authorized by the Board of Directors. 

 
(5) Consumer Right Protection Committee 
The Consumer Right Protection Committee has the following main duties: 
Developing strategies, policies and goals for the consumer right protection work of 

the Bank, incorporating consumer legal right protection into bank governance, corporate 
culture building and operation development strategies, considering consumer right 
protection work as an important part of information disclosure, and urging the senior 
management to execute and put into place related work effectively; being responsible 
for evaluating the comprehensiveness, timeliness and effectiveness of the Bank’s work 
in consumer right protection and fulfillment of duties of the Bank and reporting them to 
the Board of Directors; regularly debriefing special reports on the Bank’s work in 
consumer right protection from the Bank’s senior management and submitting reports 
on consumer right protection work to the Board of Directors on a regular basis; driving 
forward the execution of the Bank’s work in consumer right protection in a positive and 
orderly way; making annual work plans of the Committee, holding meetings to discuss 
matters within its scope of duties on a regular basis and report its work to the Board of 
Directors regularly; proposing suggestions on modification of the Committees’ duties 
and rules of procedure and reporting to the Board of Directors for review; in cases that 
any matter to be reviewed by the Board of Directors falls into the scope of 
responsibilities of the Committee, the Committee shall review first and then submit 
relevant proposals and results to the Board of Directors for review; other matters under 
authorization of the Board of Directors. 

 
3. The Board of Directors’ routine work in the reporting period 
(1) Meetings of the Board of Directors 
In 2020, in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Rules and 

Procedures of the Board of Directors of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., the Bank 
organized and held 42 meetings of the Board of Directors in total, including 5 on-site 
meetings, in which 55 proposals were debriefed or reviewed; it also held 37 
telecommunication meetings, where 37 proposals, centering on development strategies, 
risk management and annual work goals of the Bank, were reviewed. These meetings 
provided strategic guidance, and instructed and urged the senior management to push 
forward the Bank’s businesses for remarkable progress. 

 
(2) Implementation of resolutions of shareholders’ meeting by the Board of 

Directors 
In 2020, the Board of Directors convened 4 shareholders’ meetings. Based on the 
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resolutions adopted at the meetings, the Board of Directors actively implemented 
resolutions related to dividend distribution for 2019, instructed the senior management 
to report to and communicate with regulatory authorities, and will complete the cash 
dividend distribution in 2019 after obtaining the approval of the regulatory authorities. 
The Board also: had the articles of association of the Bank approved by the regulatory 
authority, the rules of procedure checked and perfected, and issued and implemented 
them according to the standard procedures; instructed and pushed the senior 
management to complete the equity custody work and the capital increase and share 
expansion in 2020; implemented and adjusted the financial budget for 2020. 

 
(3) Performance of duties by specialized committees under the Board of 

Directors 
In 2020, the five specialized committees under the Board of Directors, i.e., the 

Strategy Committee, the Related-party Transaction Control and Audit Committee, the 
Risk Management Committee, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the 
Consumer Right Protection Committee, provided professional opinions to the Board of 
Directors, made decisions on professional matters based on authorization of the Board 
of Directors, and communicated with the senior management and departments of the 
Head Office regarding the operation of commercial banks and risk conditions on an 
irregular basis and gave opinions and suggestions. In 2020, according to the Articles of 
Association, the responsibilities of each committee and their rules of procedures, the 
specialized committees under the Board of Directors of Xiamen International Bank Co., 
Ltd. organized 36 committee-level meetings in total, including 17 on-site meetings and 
19 communication meetings, which had in total 90 proposals studied as a support for the 
resolution of the Board of Directors.  

 
4. Performance of duties by independent directors 
(1) Independent directors’ attendance in the meetings of the Board of 

Directors during the reporting period 
In 2020, the average attendance rate of the independent directors of the Bank in 

person in the meetings of the Board of Directors was 95%. 
 
(2) The independent directors of the Bank had no objection to the proposals 

of the Board of Directors and other non-Board proposals during the reporting 
period 

 
(3) Establishment, improvement and main content of the working systems 

related to independent directors, and performance of their duties 
The Related-Party Transaction Control and Audit Committee, the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee, the Risk Management Committee and the Consumer Right 
Protection Committee under the Bank’s Board of Directors were all in the charge of 
independent directors. Two-thirds of the directors in the Related-Party Transaction 
Control and Audit Committee and Consumer Right Protection Committee were 
independent directors (including one accounting professional), and a half of the 
directors in the Nomination and Remuneration Committee were independent directors. 

 
The independent directors of the Bank performed their duties as required,  

including attending the meetings of the Board of Directors and providing professional 
opinions. While abiding by the principles of being objective, independent and discrete, 
fully following laws and regulations, regulatory instructions and the Articles of 
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Association, giving full play to their rich expertise and experiences in professional fields 
such as economics, finance and accounting, and safeguarding the interests of investors 
and all stakeholders, they provided objective and impartial opinions and suggestions on 
operation and management, risk management, etc. of the Bank. In addition, they 
effectively fulfilled their duties of organizing and participating in relevant work of the 
specialized committees under the Board of Directors, paid attention to the legitimacy 
and fairness of major related-party transactions, as well as a series of matters, including 
dividend distribution plans, appointment of directors, consumer right protection and 
others. 

 
(III) Board of Supervisors 
1. Members of the Board of Supervisors 
The Board of Supervisors of the Bank consists of 6 supervisors at present, 

including 1 shareholder representative supervisor, 2 external supervisors and 3 
employee supervisors. The Board of Supervisors of the Bank, attaching importance to 
the benefits of shareholders and the entire benefits of the Bank and taking close 
consideration of the macro-economic and financial situations and requirements of 
regulatory authorities, earnestly performs its function of supervision according to law 
and continues to do well in the supervision of duty performance, finance, internal 
control and risk management. 

 
2. Special committees under the Board of Supervisors 
The Board of Supervisors of the Bank has two specialized committees, i.e., the 

Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. Both of the two committees are in the 
charge of external supervisors. 

 
3. The convening of meetings of the Board of Supervisors and the attendance 

during the reporting period 
(1) Convening meetings of the Board of Supervisors and its specialized 

committees, reviewing or debriefing related proposals 
In 2020, the Board of Supervisors and its specialized committees, according to the 

Articles of Association of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. and the Rules and 
Procedures of the Board of Supervisors of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., held 5 
on-site meetings of the Board of Supervisors where 11 proposals were reviewed and 42 
reports were debriefed; it held 2 on-site meetings of the Nomination Committee of the 
Board of Supervisors, where 4 proposals were reviewed and 1 report debriefed; it held 3 
meetings of the Audit Committee of the Board of Supervisors, where 2 proposals were 
reviewed and 25 reports were debriefed. At these meetings, comprehensive and timely 
review and examination were given to the Bank’s operation and management report, 
financial conditions report, risk management report and internal control report in 2020, 
and evaluations were conducted on the duty performance of the Board of Directors and 
its members, of the Board of Supervisors and its members, and of the senior 
management and its members. At these meeting, the Board of Supervisors and its 
specialized committees objectively and impartially expressed their opinions on various 
proposals, gave tips and suggestions on related work, and earnestly performed their 
supervisory duties. 

 
(2) Presenting at related meetings, continuously refining supervisory duties 

and improving supervisory effectiveness 
In 2020, the Board of Supervisors of the Bank, according to the relevant 
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regulations in the Work Guidance for the Board of Supervisors of Commercial Banks 
and the Articles of Association of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., and through 
presenting at general meeting of shareholders, and meetings of the Board of Directors 
and the Senior Management, focused on the process of review of major  decision-
making matters of the Bank. On the one hand, it effectively supervised the meeting 
attendance of directors and senior management and had full understanding of their duty 
performance and due diligence, and supervised the Bank’s Board of Directors and 
senior management and their members in the compliance with laws, regulations and 
articles of association of the Bank, the implementation of the resolutions of the general 
meeting of shareholders, the exercise of functions and powers and the performance of 
duties, etc.; on the other hand, by debriefing the review of related proposals, it in a 
timely manner grasped the situations in the operational management, finance and risk 
management of the whole bank, and improved the supervisory effectiveness of the 
Board of Supervisors on the finance, internal control and risk management of the Bank. 

 
4. The supervision work of the Board of Supervisors during the reporting 

period 
(1) Supervision on duty performance 
In 2020, the Board of Supervisors of the Bank, by presenting at meetings, reading 

materials, debriefing business and supervision reports and putting forward opinions and 
suggestions, paid close attention to the review process of major decision-making matters, 
the rectification requirements and opinions put forward by the regulatory authorities 
during inspections and their implementation in the Bank, supervised the compliance of 
the Board of Directors, senior management and its members with laws and regulations 
and the articles of association of the Bank, the implementation of resolutions of the 
General Meeting of Shareholders, the exercise of their functional authorities and the 
performance of their duties. It also in a standard manner conducted evaluations on the 
duty performance of the Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors, senior management 
and their members, a well exertion of its supervisory functions. In addition, it paid close 
attention to the membership changing progress of the Board of Directors and the Board 
of Supervisors, and again urged the Bank to carry out re-elections for the two boards as 
soon as possible, so as to have the regulatory rectification requirements effectively 
implemented. 

 
(2) Supervision on finance 
In 2020, the Board of Supervisors and its specialized committees of the Bank at 

regular intervals debriefed reports on operation, financial budget and budget 
implementation, debriefed the 2019 Work Report and the Work Plan of 2020, the 
Financial Report of 2019, the Financial Budget for 2020, the Work Report of the First 
Half of 2020 and the Work Plan of the Second Half of 2020, the Financial Report of the 
First Half of 2020, the Work Report of the Third Quarter of 2020 and the Work Plan of 
the Fourth Quarter of 2020, the Financial Report of the Third Quarter of 2020 among 
other proposals, and reviewed and approved the 2019 Annual Report and the Proposal 
on Dividend Distribution of 2019, etc. It effectively strengthened its supervision on 
important financial decisions and other executions of the Board of Directors and senior 
management. The Board of Supervisors paid attention to the selection and hiring of 
external auditing firms by debriefing the Proposal on Accounting Firm Hiring for 2020. 
By carrying out process supervision and strengthening the communication with auditors, 
the Board of Supervisors ensured the independent and effective work of external audit 
institutions and fully fulfilled its financial supervision responsibilities.  
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(3) Supervision on risks and internal control 
In the face of the unexpected COVID-19 Pandemic and its profound impact, the 

Board of Supervisors attached great importance to the overall risk management and 
internal control of the Bank, actively learned every new change of national 
macroeconomic and financial policies and regulatory requirements, as well as their 
impact, and strived to improve its capability to supervise the Bank’s risk management 
work. 

In 2020, with a close eye on the main potential risks to the Bank, the Board of 
Supervisors debriefed the Risk Management Report of 2019, the Report on 
Implementation of Related-Party Transaction and Related-Party Transaction 
Regulations in 2019, the Proposal on Implementation  of Group Risk Preference in 
2019 and Group Risk Preference Statement of 2020, the Report on the 2019 Evaluation 
Report of Internal Control, the 2019 Work Report and the 2020 Work Plan of Internal 
Audit, the Consolidated Capital Adequacy Assessment Report of 2019, the Proposal on 
Assessment and Summary Report on Business Continuity and Relevant Rectification 
Work Report of 2020, the Risk Management Report of the First Half of 2020, the 
Internal Audit Work Report in the First Half of 2020, the Risk Management Report in the 
Third Quarter of 2020, the Internal Audit Work Report in the Third Quarter of 2020, the 
2019 Case Prevention Annual Report, and the Case Prevention Annual Report of the 
First Half of 2020, among other proposals. In its service within the year, the Board of 
Supervisors learned the related-group transaction management, the statement-
consolidation management, and the capital adequacy assessment of the Bank, timely 
informed the risks and challenges in credit, liquidity, market, law compliance, public 
opinion, and so on. The Board of Supervisors strengthened its observation over the 
management of new business and new products of the bank, the case prevention and 
control and other internal control works. It urged the Bank to devote more resources into 
risk management, to take effective control measures against various kinds of risks, and 
to ensure the compliance of main regulatory indicators. It digested the regulatory 
inspection opinions and window guidance instructions, focused on the execution of such 
regulatory advice. Substantially, it performed its supervision duties over risk 
management and internal control.  

The Board of Supervisors paid high attention to the COVID-19 Pandemic and 
reminded the Bank of the impact of the pandemic  on the bank's operation and 
management, especially on its risk management and business development. It urged the 
Bank to: plan, predict and prepare response measures in advance, and to do the risk 
management with a forward-looking vision; pay more attention to the balance between 
risk management and business development, and fully understand the guidance and 
regulatory requirements; conduct comprehensive screening on credit risk and other risks 
and have a classified management mode; intensify quality management and reinforce 
the risk gateways; strengthen the compliance work and risk prevention and control of 
supply chain financing and other major businesses, manage risk independently and 
authoritatively, intensify the education and publicity of risk awareness of all staff, and 
instill risk awareness into every employee; be aware of the lag of risk exposure, use 
technological means, such as big data system, to improve the effectiveness of risk 
management and control, and adopt new means and ideas for a better identification and 
control over risks. The Board of Supervisors also observed the risks of the online loan 
business, and reminded the Bank to continuously optimize its risk control rules, identify 
and resolve potential risks in a forward-looking manner. It also drove the Bank to have 
an eye on the legal compliance when cooperating with platform institutions, so as to 
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prevent the risks from spreading from platform institutions to the Bank. 
The Board of Supervisors highly concerned about the impact of interbank risk 

events on the Bank, the peers’ work of risk prevention and resolution, the progress of 
peer institutions in recovering assets from its shareholders and the repayment to the 
Bank. It required the Bank to keep intensifying the risk management over interbank 
business, continuously and dynamically assess the risks of it as a creditor, and 
recommended that provision be made adequately in accordance with regulatory 
requirements and in the context of peer practice. 

In addition, in terms of data governance, the Board of Supervisors suggested that 
the Bank should pay high attention to the quality of basic data, the construction of a data 
standard system, and to constantly improve its data governance work. In terms of case 
prevention and control, it required the Bank to actively carry out relative supervision, 
attach more efforts on supervision and rectification of problems and deficiencies in case 
prevention and control, and constantly improve the effectiveness in the regard. In terms 
of anti-money laundering work, it suggested the Bank give more efforts in lifting the 
anti-money laundering work standards, and propelling the anti-money laundering 
system construction, so as to continuously improve the effectiveness of anti-money 
laundering. 

 
(4) Supervision on Development Strategies 
In 2020, through presenting at the general meeting of shareholders and meetings of 

the Board of Directors, the Board of Supervisors paid attention to the implementation of 
the Bank’s medium and long-term development plans, strategic goals, operation 
concepts, market positioning, capital supplement, risk management, talent strategies and 
information technology strategies in a timely manner. In the face of the impact of the 
COVID-19 Pandemic, and to ensure that the Bank develops stably and soundly, it 
prompted the Bank to attach close attention to the uncertainties of periphery situation 
and the lag of risk exposure, to take forward-looking risk control and financial security 
measures, to intensify its transformation and transition, to adhere to the road of high 
quality development, to ensure that its financial services are for the real economy, 
especially the local economy, and to constantly consolidate the foundation for its 
development. 

In addition, the Board of Supervisors debriefed the Report on the Development of 
Financial Technology of XIB and other proposals. With its attention paid to the 
construction of key science and technology projects and the use of budgets for science 
and technology purpose in the Bank's 4th Five-Year Plan period, it prompted the Bank 
to ensure that key projects are completed as planned, and to accelerate its pace toward 
the goal of "science and technology leadership"; While debriefing the Report on the 
Development of Online Retail Business of XIB, and the Report on the Development of 
XIB in Finance-for-real-economy-and-SMEs, it learned the inclusive finance businesses 
and relative indicators, had understood the overall proportion of online and offline retail 
loans in the inclusive financial loans, and suggested that the Bank study the business 
development model of future retail online loans under the premise of conforming to 
regulatory guidance, and strive to a well risk control and compliance operation. 

 
5. Work performance of external supervisors 
The Bank had 2 external supervisors, a legal professional and an accounting 

professional respectively. In 2020, while following the principles of objectiveness, 
independence and prudence, the external supervisors gave play to their specialties and 
actively took part in all work, special researches and work exchange of the Board of 
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Supervisors. It organized the work of the specialized committees under the Board of 
Supervisors and independently expressed opinions and suggestions, and played a 
positive role in duty performance in according to the law of the Board of Supervisors. 
No circumstances that external supervisors shall not or were not suitable to take their 
office as required by laws, regulations or the Bank’s Articles of Association were found. 

 
(IV) Senior management 
The Bank’s Senior Management is composed of the governor, vice governor, and 

CFO, among others. The governor, in accordance with laws and regulations, as well as 
the Bank’s Articles of Association and the authorization of the Board of Directors, 
organizes and conducts operations management activities, implements the Board of 
Directors’ resolutions, reports to the Board of Directors. The governor submits annual 
business plans and investment programs to the Board of Directors and executes them 
upon approval. The governor decides the Bank’s specific management systems and 
regulations, represents the Bank in its external dealings, and negotiates and signs 
relevant documents within the limits of his authority. The governor, in accordance with 
the plans approved by the Board of Directors, makes decisions about the set-up of the 
Bank’s internal management bodies, branches and sub-branches, the Bank’s headcount 
and makes decisions about hiring and dismissals, except for the decisions that should be 
made by the Board of Directors, and appoints the directors and senior officers of the 
Bank’s wholly-owned subsidiaries. 

 
III. Assessment, Incentive and Restriction Mechanisms for Directors, 

Supervisors and the Senior Management 
Remuneration of the Bank’s directors, supervisors, and senior officers is based on 

the provisions of internal and external service standards and procedures, and is checked 
and paid after going through a standard approval process. The directors and supervisors 
receive an allowance in accordance with standards; the remuneration items entitled to 
senior officers are included in the overall remuneration system framework of the Bank, 
which consists of four parts, namely basic remunerations, performance-related 
remunerations, medium and long-term benefits, and social welfare contributions. 
Performance-related remuneration is linked to several important indicators, such as 
compliance and social responsibility indicator, risk management indicator and operation, 
development and transformation indicator; and the deffered payment of performance-
related remuneration is implemented at a stipulated ratio to ensure the stable and 
orderly operation and management of the Bank. 

 
IV. Internal Controls 

(I) Internal audit 
The Bank has established an independent and vertical internal audit system, and set 

up Internal Audit Department to perform the duty of internal audit. The Board of 
Directors takes final responsibility for the independence and effectiveness of the internal 
audit, and is responsible for approving the charter for internal audit, medium and 
long-term auditing plans and annual internal audit work plans, etc. It provides necessary 
safeguards for the development of independent, objective internal auditing work, and 
carries out checking and assessing the auditing work through the Related Party 
Transaction Control and Audit Committee. The Board of Supervisors instructs the 
independent performance of auditing and supervising functions of internal audit and 
guarantees the effective implementation of banking business management and 
performance assessment. 
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The Bank has a relatively complete and professional internal auditing team. The 
Bank continues to encourage internal auditors to strengthen their studies and to get 
professional certificates such as CIA (international certified internal auditor), CISA 
(international certified information systems auditor), CPA (certified public accountant), 
ACAMS (Association of Certified Anti-Money Laundering Specialists), FRM (financial 
risk manager) and National Judicial Examination certificate through exams. In 2020, the 
internal audit department deployed more internal audit teams to branches to strengthen 
the internal audit department's work and organization construction at the branch end. 

Risk-oriented, the Bank's internal audit work urges the Bank's staff to effectively 
perform their duties via a comprehensive audit of the activities in the Bank's operation 
and management. On a quarterly basis, the Chief Audit Officer of the Bank reports to 
the Related Party Transaction Control and Audit Committee, the Board of Directors and 
the Board of Supervisors on the audit work, inform the senior management and 
communicate with the main persons in charge on the important findings and 
recommendations for the internal audit work, so as to supervise, speed up and improve 
the rectification. In 2020, the internal audit work was centered on intensifying risk 
management and improving internal control, in which the control of key risk areas were 
practically followed up, the internal audit plans, the supervision spirits and the risk 
management needs of the Bank were effectively and orderly implemented; the internal 
control supervision was strengthened, the digital audit work mechanism promoted, the 
risk pre-warning ability and internal audit work efficiency improved, and the stable 
operation and value lifting of the Bank was pushed forward jointly for the strategic 
objectives of the Bank. 

 
(II) Establishment and improvement of the internal control system 
The internal control system of the Bank includes the control systems for a wide 

variety of risks, such as credit risks, market risks, liquidity risks, operational risks, 
information technology risks, strategy risks, reputation risks and country risks. XIB has 
kept improving its internal control systems and has established an internal control 
institutional system covering all businesses and management of the Bank, which gives 
full play to balancing and supervision and guarantees the effective progress of business 
operation. 

The Bank updated the internal control system in a timely manner in accordance 
with relevant state laws and regulations, departmental rules and regulatory requirements, 
as well as the needs of business development and internal control and management of 
the Bank to ensure the soundness and effectiveness of the internal control system. 
Meanwhile, in compliance with the internal control evaluation system, it executed 
ongoing backtracking and reviewing of the applicability, integrity and implementation of 
the internal control system, and modifies and improves the internal control system based 
on evaluation results. 

 
(III) Law and compliance management 
The Bank’s compliance management organizational structure includes the Board of 

Directors, the Board of Supervisors and special committees thereunder, senior 
management, and the vice (assistant) presidents in charge of various business lines; the 
Internal Audit Department; the management departments of various business lines at 
Head Office, the various affiliated organizations, and various levels of employees. Each 
compliance department performs its duties in accordance with the provisions of the 
Compliance Management Policy of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. and the 
Compliance Management Work Book of Domestic Institutions of Xiamen International 
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Bank Co., Ltd.. 
The Bank implemented the Compliance Management Policy of Xiamen 

International Bank Co., Ltd. and the Compliance Management Work Book of Domestic 
Institutions of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. in an all-around way to ensure that 
the organization and personnel were in place, the duties clear and clarified, the truth 
could be sought from facts, the concerted efforts exerted unremittingly, the management 
tracked and effectiveness achieved. The Bank has continuously developed and refined 
its rules and regulations, based on the changes to relevant external laws, regulations and 
policies, the bank’s business developments, and the Bank’s various rules and regulations. 
It has carried out a comprehensive cleanup and refinement of the Bank’s current rules, 
regulations and normative documents to safeguard the Bank’s orderly and complying 
business expansion, and ensure that the management of routine work is evidence-based 
and carried out according to a set of rules. 

During the reporting period, with implementation and practice of compliance 
management policies, development and modification of rules and systems, the bank held 
compliance, case prevention and anti-money laundering inspections, policy publicity 
campaigns and training sessions etc., advocated the compliance culture, which helped 
foster the right values and professional morality of employees. 

 
V. The Bank’s Overall Evaluation of Corporate Governance 

In 2020, under the instruction and strong support of regulatory authorities, the 
Bank further improved its corporate governance working mechanism, actively pushed 
forward the organic integration of CPC’s leadership and the Bank’s corporate 
governance, and effectively play the core role of CPC committee’s leadership and 
political core. In general, the Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors and senior 
management could perform their duties diligently and carry out their obligations to 
uphold the entire benefits of the Bank and the benefits of shareholders, in accordance 
with the Company Law, the Guidance for Corporate Governance of Commercial 
Banking Companies and other laws and regulations, and the Articles of Association of 
the Bank and various rules of procedure.  

In accordance with the regulatory opinions and requirements, the Bank will keep 
improving its corporate governance organizational structure, enhancing the normativity 
and prudence of the shareholder and equity management and intensifying the normative 
and professional performance of the Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors and 
senior management. 

 
VI. Institutions 

As of the end of 2020, XIB had 128 business institutions inside and outside 
Mainland China. There were 12 branches inside Mainland China, respectively located in 
Beijing, Shanghai, Zhuhai, Fuzhou, Xiamen, Ningde, Longyan, Quanzhou, Zhangzhou, 
Putian, Sanming and Nanping, with 69 sub-branches thereunder. The Bank had 
subsidiary companies — Xiamen International Investment Co., Ltd. and Chiyu Banking 
Corporation Ltd. in Hong Kong, and Luso International Banking Limited in Macao. 
Luso International Banking Limited had 13 branches in Macao, 1 branch in Guangzhou, 
1 branch in Hangzhou, 1 sub-branch in Dongguang, 1 sub-branch in  Foshan, 1 sub-
branch in Huizhou, and 1 representative office in Hengqin, Zhuhai; Chiyu Bank had 24 
branches in Hong Kong and 5 branches in Shenzhen, Fuzhou and Xiamen. 

 
No. Name of institution Business address 
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Institutions in Mainland China 
1 Head Office 1-6th Floor, Xiamen International Bank Building, No. 8-10 

Lujiang Road, Siming District, Xiamen 

 
2 

 
Beijing Branch 

South side of the 1st Floor (Service Hall) and Units 03, 05-11 on 
the 11th Floor, China Commerce Tower, No. 5 Sanlihe East 
Street, Xicheng District, Beijing 

3 Beijing Chaoyang 
Sub-branch 

East side of the 1st floor of the Top New Tower, Building 2, No. 
15 Guanghua Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing 

 
4 

Beijing Zhongguancun 
Sub-branch 

Rooms 104, 105 on the 1st Floor and Rooms 902, 903 on the 9th 
Floor, No. 58, North Fourth Ring West Road, Haidian District, 
Beijing 

5 Beijing Xicheng Sub-branch Unit 101 on the 1st Floor, No. 83 Ande Road, Xicheng District, 
 

 
6 

Beijing Dongcheng 
Sub-branch 

Shops 05, 06, 07, 08, 10, 11 on the 1st Floor, Shou Dong 
International Tower, Building 3, 
Guangqu Jiayuan, Dongcheng District, Beijing 

7 Beijing Shijingshan 
Sub-branch 

Room 116 on the 1st Floor and Room 202 on the 2nd Floor, 
Building 3, No. 6 Zhengda Road, Shijingshan District, Beijing 

8 Beijing Asian Games 
Village Sub-branch 

14-01, Anwai Xiaoguandongli, Chaoyang District, Beijing 

 
9 

 
Beijing Fengtai Sub-branch 

Room 106 on the 1st Floor and Room 206 on the 2nd Floor, 
Building 31, Section I, No. 188 South Fourth Ring West Road, 
Fengtai District, Beijing 

10 Beijing Haidian Sub-branch South side of the 1st Floor, Xinxing Hotel, No. 17 West Third 
Ring Middle Road, Haidian District, Beijing 

11 Beijing Gongti Sub-branch Room 103 in the east side of the 1st Floor, Building 40, Xingfu 
Village II, Chaoyang District, Beijing 

12 Beijing Liangmaqiao 
Sub-branch 

Rooms 03, 05 & 06 of 101, 1st Floor, Tower 1, 21st Century 
Building, No. 40, Liangmaqiao Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing 

13 Beijing World Trade 
Sub-branch 

Rooms 103, 105 & 106, 1st Floor, No. 10 East Third Ring Road, 
Chaoyang District, Beijing 

14 Beijing Jiuxianqiao 
Sub-branch 

Room 101, 1st Floor, Buidling 6-1, No. 13 Jiuxianqiao Road, 
Chaoyang District, Beijing 

15 Beijing Xizhimen 
Sub-branch 

Units 107, 108, 109, 1st Floor, Building 1, No. 140 Xizhimenwai 
Street, Xicheng District, Beijing 

16 Shanghai Branch Floors 1 & 2, No. 88 Yangshupu Road, Hongkou District, 
Shanghai 

17 Shanghai Xuhui Sub-branch No. 183-191, Nandan East Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai 

18 Shanghai Jing'an 
Sub-branch 

Unit 105, Annex Building, Hengli International Plaza, No. 233 
Weihai Road, Jing’an District, Shanghai 

19 Shanghai Changning 
Sub-branch 

Room 104, 1st Floor & Room A2, 5th Floor, No. 333 Xianxia 
Road, Changning District, Shanghai 
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20 Shanghai Huangpu 
Sub-branch 

1st Floor, No. 266 Hankou Road, Huangpu District, Shanghai 

21 Shanghai Yangpu 
Sub-branch 

Room 108, Kaidi Finance Building, No. 1088 Xiangyin Road, 
Yangpu District, Shanghai 

22 Shanghai Beiwaitan 
Sub-branch 

Rooms 105, 106 & 107, No. 950 Dalian Road, Hongkou District, 
Shanghai 

23 Shanghai Minhang 
Sub-branch 

Unit 01B, 1st Floor, No. 6088 Humin Road, Minhang District, 
Shanghai 

24 Shanghai Zhabei 
Sub-branch 

Rooms 101-05, 101-06, 201-03 & 201-04, No. 299 Hengfeng 
Road, Zhabei District, Shanghai 

25 Shanghai Putuo Sub-branch Room 102, 1st Floor & Room 202, 2nd Floor, Oasis Middle Ring 
Business Center Plaza 1, 1628 Jinshajiang Road, Putuo District, 
Shanghai 

26 Shanghai Hongqiao 
Sub-branch 

No. 1163, Wuzhong Road, Minhang District, Shanghai 

27 Shanghai Luwan 
Sub-branch 

East area of the 1st Floor, Annex Building, No. 555, Xujiahui 
Road, Huangpu District, Shanghai 

28 Shanghai Daning 
Sub-branch 

Floors 1 & 2, No. 1051, Pingxingguan Road, Zhabei District, 
Shanghai 

29 Shanghai Baoshan 
Sub-branch 

Room 76, 1st Floor, E-Region, Anxin Commercial Plaza, No. 
1233, Mudanjiang Road, Baoshan District, Shanghai 

30 Shanghai Jiading 
Sub-branch 

Room 116, Building 2, Darongcheng, No. 1, Lane 68, South 
Yumin Road, Jiading District, Shanghai 

31 Shanghai Jinqiao 
Sub-branch 

East Area, 1st Floor, No. 1398, Jinqiao Road, Pudong New Area, 
Shanghai 

32 Shanghai Hongkou 
Sub-branch 

Room 32, 1st Floor, No. 1851, Sichuan North Road, Hongkou 
District, Shanghai 

33 Shanghai West Sub-branch Rooms 106-107, 1st Floor, No. 360, Changshou Road, Putuo 
District, Shanghai 

34 Shanghai Yangjing 
Sub-branch 

Room 101, 1st Floor, Tianxin Building, No. 1 Lingshan Road, 
Pudong New District, Shanghai 

35 Shanghai Lujiazui Sub-
branch 

Room 102, No.1 Pudong Avenue, Pudong New District, Shanghai 

36 Xiamen Branch Units 1A, 1B, 2A & 2B, Xingang Square, No.10, Hubin North 
Road, Siming District, Xiamen 

37 Sub-branch Directly under 
Xiamen Head Office 

1st-3rd Floor, Xiamen International Bank Building, No. 8-10 
Lujiang Road, Siming District, Xiamen 

38 Xiamen Dongqu 
Sub-branch 

Room C & Compartment Rooms A and B, No. 7-7 to 7-9, 
Huachang Road, Huli District, Xiamen 

39 Xiamen Jiahe Sub-branch Storefronts A4, A5-1, A5-2 & A6-2 on the 1st floor, Lianhua 
Building, No.188, Jiahe Road, Huli District, Xiamen 

40 Xiamen Wenyuan 
Sub-branch 

Units 147-150, No. 61 Wenyuan Road, Siming District, Xiamen 
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41 Xiamen Xinglin Sub-branch Units 154 & 155, No. 1, Ninghai Liuli, Jimei District, Xiamen 

42 Xiamen Huli Wanda 
Sub-branch 

Units 108-110, No. 3, Jinzhong Road, Huli District, Xiamen 

43 Xiamen Haicang 
Sub-branch 

Room A01, No. 156, Canghong Road, Haicang District, Xiamen 

44 Xiamen Tong'an 
Sub-branch 

Shops 11-12, Tower Building A, Xiangping Xindu Gardens, 
Tong’an District, Xiamen 

45 Xiamen Hexiang 
Sub-branch 

Room 102, No. 905, Hexiang West Road, Siming District, 
Xiamen 

46 Xiamen Wuyuanwan 
Sub-branch 

Units 112, 113 & 114, No. 3 Mucuo Road, Huli District, Xiamen 

 
47 

Xiamen Jimei Sub-branch No.334, Lehai Beili, Jimei District, Xiamen 

 
48 

Xiamen 
University Sub-
branch 

No. 19; No. 21; Room 92, No. 23; No. 25; Room 89, No. 29; 
Room 88, No. 31; Room 90, No. 33; Room 86, No. 35; Rooms 
87 & 91, No. 15-69, Yanwu Road, Siming District, Xiamen 

 
49 

Xiamen Free Trade Pilot 
Zone Sub-branch 

Unit 101, Building 1, Wanxiang International Business Center, 
No. 1696, Gangzhong Road, Xiamen Area of China (Fujian) 
Free Trade Pilot Zone 

50 Xiamen Convention and 
Exhibition Center 
Sub-branch 

No. 137, 138, 139 & 140, 1st Floor, No. 1803, Huandao East 
Road, Siming District, Xiamen 

51 Xiamen Jimei New Town 
Sub-branch 

Room 108, 109, No.528 Xinlinwan Road, Jimei District, 
Xiamen 

52 Fuzhou Branch No. 162, Wuyi Road, Gulou District, Fuzhou 
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Fuzhou Gulou Sub-branch 1st Floor, Block B, Zhongshan Building, No. 152, Hudong Road, 

Gulou District, Fuzhou 
54 Fuzhou Taijiang Sub-branch No. 1-3, 1st Floor, Maotai Century Building, No. 2 Wuyi South 

Road, Fuzhou 
55 Fuzhou Minjiang 

Sub-branch 
Unit 02, 01 Concentrated Business, 1st Floor, Affiliated Business 
Building to Shenglong Tower, No. 1, Guangming Road, Aofeng 
Sub-district, Taijiang District, Fuzhou 

56 Fuzhou Fuqing Sub-branch Shops 106-109, Building 1, No. 39, Qingchang Avenue, Fuqing, 
Fuzhou 

57 Fuzhou Hualin Sub-branch Shop No. 02, 1st Floor, Hualin Building, No. 201, Hualin Road, 
Wenquan Sub-district, Gulou District, Fuzhou 

 
58 

Fuzhou Changle Sub-branch No. 01, 1st Floor, Longzhi Building, South Side, Wuhang Road, 
Hangcheng Sub-district, Changle, Fuzhou 

 
59 

Fuzhou Nanmen 
Sub-branch 

Storefront 01, 1st floor, Yuyang Building, No. 98, Bayiqi Middle 
Road, Antai Sub-district, Gulou District, Fuzhou 
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60 

Fuzhou 
Cangshan Sub-
branch 

Shops 01-03, 1st Floor and Shop 01 (for assistant use), 2nd 
Floor, C-Region, Cangshan Wanda Plaza, No. 216, Pushang 
Avenue, Jinshan Sub-district, Cangshan District, Fuzhou 

 
61 

Fuzhou Lianjiang 
Sub-branch 

Part of the 15th Floor and Storefronts L, M and N on the 1st 
Floor, Jingjiang Hotel, No. 33, East Danfeng Road, Fengcheng 
Town, Lianjiang County, Fuzhou 

62 Fuzhou Free Trade Pilot 
Zone Fuzhou District 
Branch 

Shops 1-8, 1st Floor, Building 95, Plot J, Mingcheng Harbor, No. 
68, East Jiangbin Avenue, Mawei District, Fuzhou 

63  
Fuzhou Jinan Sub-branch 

Shop 103, Block C1, Plot C, east area of the Taihe City Plaza, 
East Second Ring Road, north side of Huagong Road, Yuefeng 
Town, Jinan District, Fuzhou 

64 Fuzhou Minhou Sub-branch Shop 103, 1st Floor, Fortune Building 1, Wanfu Center, No. 9, 
East Keji Road, High-tech Zone, Fuzhou 

65 Zhuhai Branch Floors 1-2, CATIC Building, No. 1195, East Jiuzhou Avenue, 
Jida, Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai 

66 Zhuhai Gongbei Sub-branch Shops 5 & 6, No. 111, Shuiwan Road, Gongbei, Xiangzhou 
District, Zhuhai 

67 Zhuhai Xinxiangzhou 
Sub-branch 

Shops 8-01, 9 & 10, Building 1, No. 856, West Renmin Road, 
Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai 

68 Zhuhai Port Sub-branch No. 90, Gangchang Road, No. 317, Qiaoguang Road, Gongbei, 
Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai 

69 Zhuhai Nanping Sub-branch Shops 240, 242 & 244, Xianqiao Road, Xiangzhou District, 
Zhuhai 

70 Zhuhai Fenghuang North 
Sub-branch 

Shops 9-11, 1st Floor, Jingdu Building Annex, No. 144, Huahai 
Road, Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai 

71 Zhuhai Qianshan 
Sub-branch 

Shops 115 & 117, and Room 202-Shop 1 on the 1st Floor, No. 
125, Jinji Road, Qianshan, Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai 

 
72 

Zhuhai Gaoxin Sub-branch Shops 1-1 & 1-3, Tangyi Hotel, No. 19, Jintang Road, 
Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai 

73 Zhuhai Wuzhou Sub-branch A storefront, No. 2, Shipai Street, Wuzhou, Zhuhai 
74  

Ningde Branch 
Rooms 101 & 201, Building 7, No. 1, North Funing Road 
(Dongcheng Shui’an), Dongqiao Economic Development Zone, 
Jiaocheng District, Ningde 

75 Longyan Branch Tower D (Longyan City Chamber of Commerce Building), No. 
284, Longyan Avenue, Xipo Town, Xinluo District, Longyan 

76 Quanzhou Branch Floors 1-2, No. 288, Baozhou Road, Fengze District, Quanzhou 
 

77 
Quanzhou Jinjiang 
Sub-branch 

Units 01 & 02, 1st Floor Shops, Jinshan Building, No. 269, 
Chongde Road, Qingyang Sub-district, Jinjiang, Quanzhou 

78 Zhangzhou Branch D01-D02, Dushi Yangguang, Yuehua Business Plaza, No. 70, 
Middle Nanchang Road, Xiangcheng District, Zhangzhou 
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79 Zhangzhou 
Longhai Sub-
branch 

Storefronts 1-2, Economic Building, Headquarters of Longcheng 
Group, No. 42 Ziwei Road, Shima Town, Longhai City, 
Zhangzhou city 

80 Putian Branch 1st Floor, Zoulu B Building, Mingbang Community, No. 899, 
South Licheng Avenue, Chengxiang District, Putian 

81 Sanming Branch Shops 9-13, Tower 11, Xubiyicun 1, Meilie District, Sanming 
82 Nanping Branch (Basement 3, Floors 1-2, Zhoujinfang Annex Building) No. 117, 

Middle Binjiang Road, Yanping District, Nanping City 
Institutions in Hong Kong and Macao 

83 Xiamen International 
Investment Limited (Hong 
Kong) 

 
Floor 7, No. 78, Des Voeux Road Central, Central, Hong Kong 

84 LIB Head Office Av. Dr. Mario Soares, No. 47, Macao 
85 LIB Head Office, Main 

Branch 
Av. Dr. Mario Soares, No. 48, Macao 

86 
 
LIB Sam Chun Tang 
Branch 

Rotunda de Carlos da Maia, No. 8, Kam Lok Building, A1R/C, 
Macao 

87 
 
LIB Pun Cheong Tong 
Branch 

Rua S. Domingos, No. 15, Macao 

88 
 
LIB Hac Sac Van Branch Estrada Marginal do Hipódromo, No. 15, Youxin Building, 

AR/C, Macao 
89 

 
LIB Kin Heng Long Branch Stores I and J, R/C, Edif. Kin Heng Long, No. 238-286, Alameda 

Dutor Carlos d’Assumpção, NAPE, Macao 
90 

 
LIB San Kiu Branch Stores CK, CJ and P, Flourishing Garden, Avenida do Almirante 

Lacerda, Macao 
91 

 
LIB Toi San Branch R/C, IN1 and IO1, No. 20, Xin Cheng Shi Commercial Centre, 

Ba Bo Sha Road, Taishan, Macao 
92 

 
LIB Hung Kai Si Branch Kwong Hon Building, AR/C, No. 128, Avenida de Horta e 

Costa, Macao 
93 

 
LIB San Hao Ngon Branch DR/C, Edificio Da Associacao Comercial De Macau, No. 185, 

Shanghai Street, Macao 
94 

 
LIB Fai Chi Kei Branch Rua Do Comandante Joao Belo, Edif. Wang Hoi, Bloco 3, BR/C, 

No. 53-55, Macao 
95 

 
LIB Taipa Branch Supreme Flower City, Loja F, Avenida De Gumaraes, 152 E 158, 

Taipa, Macao 

 
96 

 

 

LIB Pou Lei Tat Branch Avenida do Nordeste No. 507-511, Polytec Garden, R/C AG & 
AH, Macao 

 
97 

 

 

LIB Wai Tsui Branch R/C H, No. 222, Nanjing Street, Taipa, Macao 
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98 

 

 

 
LIB Guangzhou Branch 

Room 104, Floor 1, Room 3401, Floor 34 and Room 3501, Floor 
35, Hejing International Financial Plaza, No. 8, Huaxia Road, 
Zhujiang Xincheng, Tianhe District, Guangzhou 

99 
 

 
LIB Dongguan Sub-branch 

Storefronts 11-13, 1st Floor & Room 201, 2nd Floor, No. 8, 
Middle Dongcheng Road, Dongcheng Sub-district, Dongguan 
City, Guangdong Province 

100 

 

 
LIB Foshan Sub-branch 

Units A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, J, K, Actual Floor 23 (Nominal 
Floor 26), Building 2, AIA Financial Center, No. 1, East Denghu 
Road, Guicheng Sub-district, Nanhai District, Foshan City, 
Guangdong 
Province 

101 

 

LIB Hangzhou Branch Room 2906, Building 1, Room 101-101, Building 3, GT Land 
Center, Jianggan District, Hangzhou 

102    LIB Huizhou Branch  

103  LIB Zhuhai Hengqin 
Representative Office 

Room 2906, Building 2, No.88 Gangao Revenue, Hengqin New 
Area, Zhuhai, Guangdong Province 

104 

 

Head Office of Chiyu Bank No. 78, Des Voeux Road Central, Central, Hong Kong 

105 Central Region Branch of 
Chiyu Bank 

No. 78, Des Voeux Road Central, Central, Hong Kong 

106 North Point Branch of Chiyu 
Bank 

Underground, No. 390-394, King’s Road, North Point, Hong 
Kong 

107 Wanchai Branch of Chiyu 
Bank 

Shops C and D, Underground, No. 323-331, Hennessy Road, 
Wanchai, Hong Kong 

  
108 Sheung Wan Branch of 

Chiyu Bank 
Shop 3, Underground, No. 315-319, Queen’s Road Central, 
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong 

109 West Region Branch of 
Chiyu Bank 

Shop 13, Underground, No. 443-445, Queen’s Road West, West 
Region, Hong Kong 

110 Quarry Bay Branch of 
Chiyu Bank 

Unit C, Underground, Eastern Centre,1065, King's Road, Quarry 
Bay, Hong Kong 

111 Aberdeen Branch of Chiyu 
Bank 

Underground, No. 138-140, Aberdeen Main Road, Hong Kong 

112 Hung Hom Branch of Chiyu 
Bank 

Underground, No. 23-25, Gillies Avenue South, Hung Hom, 
Kowloon 

113 Kwun Tong Branch of 
Chiyu Bank 

Unit A, Underground, No. 398-402, Kwun Tong, Kowloo 

114 Sham Shui Po Branch of 
Chiyu Bank 

Underground, No. 235-237, Lai Chi Kok Road, Sham Shui Po, 
Kowloon 

115 San Po Kong Branch of 
Chiyu Bank 

Underground, No. 61-63, Hong Keung Street, San Po Kong, 
Kowloon 
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116 Yau Ma Tei Branch of 
Chiyu Bank 

Underground, No. 117-119, Shanghai Street, Yao Ma Tei, 
Kowloon 

117 Castle Peak Road Branch of 
Chiyu Bank 

Underground, No. 226-228, Castle Peak Road, Sham Shui Po, 
Kowloon 

118 Kowloon Bay Branch of 
Chiyu Bank 

Shops 10 and 10A, Underground, Kai Lok House, Kai Yip 
Estate, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon 

119 To Kwa Wan Branch of 
Chiyu Bank 

Shops 11-13, Underground, No. 78-80W, To Kwa Wan Avenue, 
Kowloon 

120 Tsz Wan Shan Branch of 
Chiyu Bank 

Shop 703A, Floor 7, Tsz Wan Shan Center, Kowloon 

121 Tuen Mun Branch of Chiyu 
Bank 

Shop N-125, Floor 1, Areas H, A, N, D & S, Ting On Estate, 
Tuen Mun, New Territories 

122 Kwai Hing Estate Branch of 
Chiyu Bank 

Shop 1, Underground, Hing Yee House, Kwai Hing Estate, Kwai 
Chung, New Territories 

123 Tai Po Tai Wo Estate 
Branch of Chiyu Bank 

Shops 112-114, Underground, Wo House, Tai Wo Estate, Tai Po, 
New Territories 

124 Belvedere Garden Branch 
of Chiyu Bank 

Shop 5A, Underground, Belvedere Plaza, Phase III, Belvedere 
Garden, Tsuen Wan, New Territories 

125 Tsuen Wan Branch of 
Chiyu Bank 

Underground, No. 131-135, Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen Wan, New 
Territories 

126 Shatin Sui Wo Yuan Branch 
of Chiyu Bank 

Shop F7, Floor 1, Sui Wo Court, Sui Wo Yuan, Shatin, New 
Territories 

127 Ma On Shan Plaza Branch 
of Chiyu Bank 

Unit 313, Floor 3, Ma On Shan Plaza, Hoi Po Garden, Ma On 
Shan, New Territories 

128 Sheung Tak Estate Branch 
of Chiyu Bank 

Shop 238, Floor 2, Sheung Tak Shopping Centre, Sheung Tak 
Estate, Tseung Kwan O, New Territories 

129 Fuzhou Branch of Chiyu 
Bank 

Floor 30, 32,33, Sansheng International Center, No. 118, Wusi 
Road, Fuzhou City 

130 Xiamen Branch of Chiyu 
Bank 

Units 101, 102, 103, 202, No. 90, Hubin South Road, Siming 
District, Xiamen 

131 Jimei Sub-branch of Chiyu 
Bank 

No. 68-71, Lehai Beili, Jimei District, Xiamen 

 
132 

Siming Sub-branch of 
Chiyu Bank 

Rooms 112-123, No.182 Jiahe Road, Siming District, Xiamen 

133 Shenzhen Branch of Chiyu 
Bank 

Unit 01, 1st Floor, Building A, Rongchao Business Center, No. 
6003, Yitian Road, Futian District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong 
Province 
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Chapter VI Major Events 
 

I. Major Related-Party Transactions13 
In 2020, the Bank had no major related-party transaction. 

 
II. Major Acquisitions, Mergers and Sales of Assets 

The Bank’s subsidiary Xiamen International Investment Limited increased capital 
of HKD 1.935 billion (RMB 1.701 billion) to its subsidiary Chiyu Banking Corporation 
Ltd on September 25, 2020; Xiamen International Investment Limited increased capital 
of HKD 1.29 billion (RMB 1.091 billion) to its subsidiary Chiyu Banking Corporation 
Ltd on December 28, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, through its subsidiary, Xiamen 
International Investment Limited, the Bank’s shareholding ratio in Chiyu Banking 
Corporation Ltd. was 69.63%. 

 
 
 

                                                
13 Major related-party transaction refers to a transaction between the bank and a related party in which the 
transaction amount accounts for over 1% of the Bank's net capital, a transaction between the bank and a related 
party after which the transaction balance accounts for over 5% of the Bank's net capital. When calculating the 
transaction balance between a natural related person and a commercial bank, the transactions between his/her close 
relatives and the bank shall be calculated on a consolidated basis; when calculating the transaction balance between 
an associated legal person or another organization and the Bank, the transactions between the legal person or 
another organization that constitutes the client of the group and the Bank shall be calculated on a consolidated basis. 
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Chapter VII Financial Statements 
 

Please refer to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report of Xiamen 
International Bank Co., Ltd. 2020 (KPMG Hua Zhen Auditing No. 2101603). 
 
 

Chapter VIII List of Documents for Reference 
 

I.  Annual Report text with the signature of the legal representative of the Bank. 
II. Written confirmation opinions on the Annual Report with signatures of directors and 

senior managers of the Bank. 
III. Financial Statements with the signatures and seals of the Chairman, the chief 

accounting officer of the Bank, and the leaders of relevant accounting departments. 
IV.The original of the Auditor’s Report with the seal of the CPA firm and the signatures 

and seals of CPAs. 
V.The Bank's Social Responsibility Report 2020. 

 
 



  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ENGLISH TRANSLATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR 1 JANUARY 2020 TO 31 DECEMBER 2020 

IF THERE IS ANY CONFLICT BETWEEN THE CHINESE VERSION AND ITS 
ENGLISH TRANSLATION, THE CHINESE VERSION WILL PREVAIL 
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AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
KPMG Huazhen Shen Zi No.2101603 

 
The shareholders of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd.: 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Xiamen International Bank Co., 
Ltd. (“Xiamen International Bank”) set out on pages 1 to 162, which comprise the consolidated 
and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2020, the consolidated and company income 
statements, the consolidated and company cash flow statements, the consolidated and 
company statements of changes in owners’ equity for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated and company financial position of Xiamen International Bank as at 31 
December 2020, and the consolidated and company financial performance and cash flows of 
Xiamen International Bank for the year then ended in accordance with Accounting Standards 
for Business Enterprises issued by the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with China Standards on Auditing for Certified Public 
Accountants (“CSAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We 
are independent of Xiamen International Bank in accordance with the China Code of Ethics for 
Certified Public Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued) 

 
KPMG Huazhen Shen Zi No.2101603 

 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises, and for the design, 
implementation and maintenance of such internal control necessary to enable that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing Xiamen 
International Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless Xiamen 
International Bank either intends to liquidate or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing Xiamen International Bank’s 
financial reporting process.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with CSAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with CSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Xiamen International Bank’s internal 
control.  
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.  
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AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued) 

 
KPMG Huazhen Shen Zi No.2101603 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on Xiamen 
International Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause Xiamen 
International Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within Xiamen International Bank to express an opinion on 
the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
 
 
 
KPMG Huazhen LLP Certified Public Accountants 
 Registered in the People’s Republic of China 
 
 
 
 
 
 Ye, YunHui 
 
 
 
 
 
Beijing, China Hu, ShuShan 
 
 31 March 2021 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Consolidated Balance Sheet  
as at 31 December 2020 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
 Note 2020 2019 
Assets    
    

Cash on hand and deposits with the 
Central Bank 6 54,673,639,292 71,263,686,891 

Deposits with supervisory authority 
outside Mainland China 7 2,807,295,329 4,383,155,990 

Deposits with banks and other 
financial institutions 8 28,321,674,778 39,921,807,874 

Placements with banks and other 
financial institutions 9 23,014,004,899 13,729,542,042 

Derivative financial assets 10 1,383,200,961 179,041,220 
Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 11 10,275,506,192 12,363,298,489 
Loans and advances to customers  12 516,620,947,074 456,032,904,123 
Financial investments    

- Trading financial assets 13 45,859,814,958 N/A 
- Debt investments 14 71,325,363,925 N/A 
- Other debt investments 15 178,414,465,736 N/A 
- Investments in other equity  

instruments 16 22,290,807 N/A 
- Financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss 17 N/A 3,380,280,463 
- Available-for-sale financial  

assets 18 N/A 225,013,985,882 
- Held-to-maturity investments 19 N/A 30,761,354,231 
- Investment classified as  

receivables 20 N/A 41,484,381,665 
Investment properties 22 100,161,405 179,097,040 
Fixed assets 23 3,262,445,693 3,151,632,818 
Construction in progress 24 1,182,927,376 1,190,965,016 
Intangible assets 25 331,329,397 334,490,950 
Goodwill 26 2,753,649,201 2,753,649,201 
Long-term deferred expenses 27 56,911,024 50,085,184 
Deferred tax assets 28 3,527,427,656 2,036,042,982 
Other assets 29 6,213,356,911 7,315,365,721 

  
    

Total assets  950,146,412,614 915,524,767,782 
  

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Consolidated Balance Sheet  
as at 31 December 2020 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
 Note 2020 2019 
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity    

    
Liabilities    

Borrowing from the Central Bank 30 7,388,970,227 - 
Deposits from banks and other 

financial institutions 31 73,955,316,721 63,887,177,503 
Placements from banks and other 

financial institutions 32 23,306,907,578 19,697,935,153 
Trading financial liabilities 33 18,347,094 N/A 
Financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss 34 N/A 18,953,436 
Derivative financial liabilities 10 1,728,975,382 332,784,137 
Financial assets sold under 

repurchase agreements 35 24,771,602,786 34,992,380,115 
Deposits from customers 36 655,411,475,927 634,681,570,813 
Employee benefits payable 37 1,423,230,632 1,781,806,805 
Taxes payable 4(3) 1,596,369,190 1,509,349,855 
Dividends payable  38,125,946 38,147,791 
Debt securities issued 38 85,484,007,849 88,257,475,354 
Other liabilities 39 5,249,052,481 8,303,820,935 

  
    

Total liabilities  880,372,381,813 853,501,401,897 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Consolidated Balance Sheet  
as at 31 December 2020 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
 Note 2020 2019 
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity 

(continued)    
    

Shareholders’ equity    
Share capital 40 9,247,397,400 8,386,260,000 
Capital reserve 42 21,568,377,292 17,800,650,743 
Other comprehensive income 43 (1,056,393,446) 736,935,270 
Surplus reserve 44 3,015,545,453 2,564,202,611 
General risk reserve 45 5,549,525,381 5,549,525,381 
Retained earnings 46 19,083,716,126 15,208,343,814 
  

    

Total equity attributable to 
shareholders of the Bank  57,408,168,206 50,245,917,819 

    
Non-controlling interests 41 12,365,862,595 11,777,448,066 

  
    

Total shareholders’ equity  69,774,030,801 62,023,365,885 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  950,146,412,614 915,524,767,782 
  

    

 
 
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank on 31 March 
2021. 
 
 
 
 
       

Wang, Xiaojian 
Chairman 

 Tsoi, Laiha  
Financial Controller 
 

 Zheng, Bingzhang 
Head of Accounting 
Department 

 (Company’s stamp) 

(Signature and stamp)  (Signature and stamp)  (Signature and stamp)   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Company Balance Sheet 
as at 31 December 2020 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
 Note 2020 2019 
Assets    
    

Cash on hand and deposits with the 
Central Bank 6 48,230,084,253 64,680,495,747 

Deposits with banks and other 
financial institutions 8 19,118,081,799 31,370,133,184 

Placements with banks and other 
financial institutions 9 1,400,146,289 2,047,260,805 

Derivative financial assets 10 1,206,414,164 14,663,299 
Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 11 10,275,506,192 11,370,216,000 
Loans and advances to customers  12 353,599,943,361 285,227,040,628 
Financial investments    

- Trading financial assets 13 34,112,767,195 N/A 
- Debt investments 14 51,788,734,766 N/A 
- Other debt investments 15 100,208,295,990 N/A 
- Financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss 17 N/A 102,489,118 
- Available-for-sale financial  

assets 18 N/A 145,837,393,214 
- Held-to-maturity investments 19 N/A 10,922,602,377 
- Investment classified as  

receivables 20 N/A 41,484,381,665 
Long-term equity investments 21 5,634,344,616 4,259,755,384 
Fixed assets 23 1,544,557,287 1,475,488,741 
Construction in progress 24 1,182,564,802 1,185,037,495 
Intangible assets 25 239,144,518 236,493,523 
Long-term deferred expenses 27 30,701,988 30,726,620 
Deferred tax assets 28 4,158,225,121 2,611,739,639 
Other assets 29 4,246,771,100 4,462,098,635 

  
    

Total assets  636,976,283,441 607,318,016,074 
  

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Company Balance Sheet 
as at 31 December 2020 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)   
 
 
 Note  2020 2019 
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity    

    
Liabilities    

Borrowing from the Central Bank 30 7,388,970,227 - 
Deposits from banks and other 

financial institutions 31 49,634,608,085 42,386,775,070 
Placements from banks and other 

financial institutions 32 9,580,397,739 5,308,217,144 
Derivative financial liabilities 10 1,489,023,192 285,696,624 
Financial assets sold under 

repurchase agreements 35 9,210,984,897 24,829,740,000 
Deposits from customers 36 419,596,907,394 396,189,420,125 
Employee benefits payable 37 1,171,286,871 1,591,405,514 
Taxes payable 4(3) 1,350,693,553 1,069,484,079 
Dividends payable  37,786,340 37,786,340 
Debt securities issued 38 82,538,272,097 85,211,471,474 
Other liabilities 39 3,022,181,189 5,394,569,324 

  
    

Total liabilities  585,021,111,584 562,304,565,694 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Company Balance Sheet 
as at 31 December 2020 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
 Note  2020 2019 
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity 

(continued)    
    
Shareholders’ equity    

Share capital 40 9,247,397,400 8,386,260,000 
Capital reserve 42 21,715,721,343 17,702,821,059 
Other comprehensive income 43 (768,366,042) 650,064,882 
Surplus reserve 44 3,015,545,453 2,564,202,611 
General risk reserve 45 5,549,525,381 5,549,525,381 
Retained earnings 46 13,195,348,322 10,160,576,447 

  
    

Total shareholders’ equity  51,955,171,857 45,013,450,380 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  636,976,283,441 607,318,016,074 
  

    

 
 
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank on 31 March 
2021.   
 
 
 
 

       

Wang, Xiaojian 
Chairman 

 Tsoi, Laiha  
Financial Controller 
 

 Zheng, Bingzhang 
Head of Accounting 
Department 

 (Company’s stamp) 

(Signature and stamp)  (Signature and stamp)  (Signature and stamp)   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Consolidated Income Statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2020 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
Item Note 2020 2019 
    
Operating income    
    

Interest income 47 36,331,181,262 36,431,353,595 
Interest expense 47 (22,303,633,038) (23,396,372,307) 
  

    

Net interest income  14,027,548,224 13,034,981,288 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------- 

    
Fee and commission income 48 2,182,427,449 2,069,770,387 
Fee and commission expense 48 (663,262,572) (236,707,533) 
  

    

Net fee and commission income  1,519,164,877 1,833,062,854 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------- 

    
Investment income 49 3,115,777,119 2,163,414,075 

Including: income from 
derecognition of financial assets  
at amortised cost  5,065,043 N/A 

Losses from changes in fair value 50 (553,018,852) (158,049,178) 
Losses on foreign exchange  (453,953,870) (37,796,362) 
Other operating income  37,936,585 40,583,908 
Losses from asset disposals  (7,293) (913,155) 
Other income 51 18,659,734 8,600,697 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------- 

Total operating income  17,712,106,524 16,883,884,127 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------- 

Operating expenses    
    

Taxes and surcharges 52 (273,491,496) (198,699,045) 
Operating and administrative 

expenses 53 (4,819,415,718) (4,300,333,545) 
Credit impairment losses 54 (6,134,010,488)  N/A 
Impairment losses on assets 55 - (5,106,789,590) 
Other operating expenses  (260,907,726)  (40,055,901) 
  

    

Total operating expenses  (11,487,825,428) (9,645,878,081) 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Consolidated Income Statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
Item Note 2020 2019 
    
Operating profit  6,224,281,096 7,238,006,046 

    

Non-operating income 56 35,296,023 9,589,440 
Non-operating expenses 56 (9,048,245) (16,076,532) 
  

    

Profit before income tax  6,250,528,874 7,231,518,954 

    

Income tax expenses 57 (522,576,074) (916,462,711) 
  

    

Net profit for the year  5,727,952,800 6,315,056,243 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------

- 
Net profit classified by continuity of  

operations:    
1. Net profit from continuing 

operations  5,727,952,800 6,315,056,243 
2. Net profit from discontinued 

operations  - - 
    

Attributable to shareholders of the 
Bank  4,513,428,416 5,152,485,809 

Non-controlling interests  1,214,524,384 1,162,570,434 

    
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 58 (2,073,452,056) 1,077,986,741 
    

Other comprehensive income that 
may be subsequently reclassified to 
profit or loss    

- Changes in fair value of other debt 
investments  (1,325,156,611) N/A 

- Provision for impairment of other 
debt investments  (51,556,552) N/A 

- Changes in fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets  N/A 885,014,226 

- Translation differences of financial 
statements denominated in 
foreign currencies  (696,738,893) 192,972,515 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------

- 
Total comprehensive income for the year  3,654,500,744 7,393,042,984 
  

    

Total comprehensive income 
attributable to shareholders of the 
Bank  2,919,636,337 5,800,156,014 

Total comprehensive income 
attributable to non-controlling 
interests  734,864,407 1,592,886,970 

 
 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 



9 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Company Income Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
Item Note 2020 2019 
    
Operating income    
    

Interest income  27,204,128,057 26,848,911,010 
Interest expense  (16,702,075,863) (17,425,487,884) 
  

    

Net interest income 47 10,502,052,194 9,423,423,126 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------

- 
    
Fee and commission income  999,293,610 1,104,200,316 
Fee and commission expense  (601,424,939) (166,259,674) 
  

    

Net fee and commission income 48 397,868,671 937,940,642 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------

- 
    
Investment income 49 2,336,009,068 1,712,888,664 

Including: income from 
derecognition of financial assets  
at amortised cost  5,918,260 N/A 

Losses from changes in fair value 50 (297,470,560) (237,098,418) 
(Losses) / gains on foreign exchange  (440,183,005) 166,175,933 
Other operating income  72,501,337 7,015,524 
Losses from asset disposals  - (700,886) 
Other income 51 17,533,671 4,935,574 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------

- 

Total operating income  12,588,311,376 12,014,580,159 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------

- 
Operating expenses    
    

Taxes and surcharges 52 (202,730,136) (135,896,654) 
Operating and administrative 

expenses 53 (3,074,793,992) (2,817,531,459) 
Credit impairment losses 54 (5,319,487,652) N/A 
Impairment losses on assets 55 - (4,211,785,001) 
Other operating expenses  (249,095,575) (29,584,165) 

  
    

Total operating expenses  (8,846,107,355) (7,194,797,279) 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------

- 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Company Income Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
Item Note 2020 2019 
    
Operating profit  3,742,204,021 4,819,782,880 

    
Non-operating income 56 34,264,227 3,889,033 
Non-operating expenses 56 (6,802,131) (12,500,321) 
  

    

Profit before income tax  3,769,666,117 4,811,171,592 
    

Income tax expenses 57 (143,495,333)  (491,160,651) 
  

    

Net profit for the year  3,626,170,784 4,320,010,941 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------

- 
Net profit classified by continuity of  

operations:    
1. Net profit from continuing 

operations  3,626,170,784 4,320,010,941 
2. Net profit from discontinued 

operations  - - 
    
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 58 (1,086,701,246) 209,363,856 

Other comprehensive income that 
may be subsequently reclassified to 
profit or loss    

- Changes in fair value of other debt 
investments  (1,209,125,219) N/A 

- Provision for impairment of other 
debt investments   122,423,973 N/A 

- Change in fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets  N/A 209,363,856 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------

- 

Total comprehensive income for the year  2,539,469,538 4,529,374,797 
  

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2020 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
Item Note 2020 2019 
    
Cash flows from operating activities:    
Net increase in borrowings from the 

Central Bank  7,384,890,000 - 
Net decrease in deposits with the 

Central Bank  - 609,536,119 
Net increase in deposits from banks and 

other financial institutions  10,068,139,218 - 
Net decrease in deposits with banks and 

other financial institutions  21,080,975,648 20,716,870,075 
Net increase in placements from banks 

and other financial institutions  3,507,549,072 - 
Net decrease in placements with banks 

and other financial institutions   11,680,516 674,184,545 
Net increase in financial assets sold 

under repurchase agreements   - 29,640,783,705 
Net increase in deposits from customers  14,935,440,183 97,501,175,419 
Cash receipts from interest  40,193,397,160 36,510,895,474 
Cash receipts from fee and commission  2,244,317,442 2,114,072,189 
Cash receipts from other operating 

activities  2,936,242,050 1,147,783,527 
  

    

Sub-total of cash inflows from operating 
activities  102,362,631,289 188,915,301,053 

  
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------

- 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 



12 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
Item Note 2020 2019 
    
Cash flows from operating activities 

(continued):    
Net increase in loans and advances  (60,324,940,190) (107,401,134,643) 
Net increase in deposits with the 

Central Banks  (6,835,904,372) - 
Net decrease in deposits from banks 

and other financial institutions  - (2,338,340,830)  
Net decrease in placements from 

banks and other financial institutions  - (2,658,551,708)  
Net decrease in financial assets sold 

under repurchase agreements  (10,260,242,430) - 
Cash payments to interest  (20,010,696,157) (19,295,513,351) 
Cash payments to fee and commission  (663,262,572) (236,707,533) 
Cash payments to and for employees  (3,627,222,065) (2,828,661,823) 
Cash payments of various taxes  (3,282,855,561) (2,896,899,304)  
Cash payments for other operating 

activities  (2,724,356,833)  (3,604,329,926)  
  

    

Sub-total of cash outflows from 
operating activities  (107,729,480,180)  (141,260,139,118)  

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net cash (outflows) / inflows from 
operating activities 59(1) (5,366,848,891)  47,655,161,935 

   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
Item Note 2020 2019 

    
Cash flows from investing activities:    
Cash receipts from returns from 

investments   1,865,912,042 1,595,872,685 
Cash receipts from disposal of 

investments  671,217,820,603 488,955,577,772 
Net Cash receipts from disposal of 

fixed assets  5,388,270 2,076,535 
  

    

Sub-total of cash inflows from investing 
activities  673,089,120,915 490,553,526,992 

   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

    

Cash payments for acquisition of 
investments  (648,354,176,302)  (495,239,889,991) 

Cash payments for acquisition of fixed 
assets, intangible assets and other 
long-term assets  (234,351,949) (1,491,319,809) 

  
    

Sub-total of cash outflows from 
investing activities  (648,588,528,251)  (496,731,209,800) 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net cash inflows / (outflows) from 
investing activities  24,500,592,664 (6,177,682,808) 

   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
Item Note 2020 2019 

    
Cash flows from financing activities:    
Cash receipts from capital contributions  4,968,868,523 446,841,456 
Cash receipts from issuance of bonds 

and interbank certificate of deposits  82,630,000,000 139,840,000,000 
  

    

Sub-total of cash inflows from financing 
activities  87,598,868,523 140,286,841,456 

   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

    

Cash repayments for bonds and 
interbank certificate of deposits  (85,780,000,000) (160,709,548,896) 

Cash payments for distribution of 
dividends and settlement of bond 
interest expenses  (3,097,984,233) (3,848,107,305) 

  
    

Sub-total of cash outflows from 
financing activities   (88,877,984,233) (164,557,656,201) 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net cash outflows from financing 
activities  (1,279,115,710) (24,270,814,745) 

   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 
on cash and cash equivalents  (3,131,679,597) 696,742,102 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 59(2) 14,722,948,466 17,903,406,484 

    
Add: Cash and cash equivalents  

at the beginning of the year  81,300,666,025 63,397,259,541 
  

    

Cash and cash equivalents  
at the end of the year 59(3) 96,023,614,491 81,300,666,025 

  
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Company Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
Item Note 2020 2019 

    
Cash flows from operating activities:    

Net increase in borrowings from the 
Central Bank  7,384,890,000 - 

Net increase in deposits from banks 
and other financial institutions  7,247,558,917 - 

Net decrease in deposits with the 
Central Bank  - 2,378,396,169 

Net decrease in deposits with banks 
and other financial institutions  19,380,529,873 21,422,762,484 

Net increase in placements from 
banks and other financial 
institutions  4,272,741,201 2,091,881,305 

Net decrease in placements with 
banks and other financial 
institutions  1,547,260,805 467,834,313  

Net increase in financial assets sold 
under repurchase agreements  - 24,032,640,000 

Net increase in deposits from 
customers  18,640,809,607 42,121,365,865 

Cash receipts from interest  29,698,368,264 27,158,247,451 
Cash receipts from fee and 

commission  1,058,931,644 1,146,808,631 
Cash receipts from other operating 

activities  1,549,858,309 309,791,276 
  

    

Sub-total of cash inflows from 
operating activities  90,780,948,620 121,129,727,494 

  -------------------------- -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Company Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
Item Note 2020 2019 

    
Cash flows from operating activities 

(continued):    
Net increase in loans and advances  (68,569,885,801)  (75,637,958,650) 
Net increase in deposits with the 

Central Banks  (6,299,473,528) - 
Net decrease in deposits from banks 

and other financial institutions  - (13,368,724,784) 
Net decrease in financial assets sold 

under repurchase agreements  (15,621,931,731) - 
Cash payments to interest  (14,033,370,190)  (13,897,552,862) 
Cash payments to fee and 

commission  (601,424,939)  (166,259,674) 
Cash payments to and for 

employees  (2,484,319,001) (1,868,216,605) 
Cash payments of various taxes  (2,611,881,595)  (2,481,724,090) 
Cash payments for other operating 

activities  (2,558,114,040)   (3,965,485,495) 
  

    

Sub-total of cash outflows from 
operating activities  (112,780,400,825)   (111,385,922,160) 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net cash (outflows) / inflows from 
operating activities 59(1) (21,999,452,205) 9,743,805,334 

   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Company Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
Item Note 2020 2019 

    
Cash flows from investing activities:    

Cash receipts from returns from 
investments   1,472,021,803 2,229,913,982 

Cash receipts from disposal of 
investments  488,227,510,589 341,927,713,354 

Net Cash receipts from disposal of 
fixed assets  6,461,728 2,072,021 

  
    

Sub-total of cash inflows from 
investing activities  489,705,994,120 344,159,699,357 

   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Cash payments for acquisition of 
investments  (467,650,110,528)  (319,967,877,456) 

Cash payments for acquisition of 
fixed assets, intangible assets and 
other long-term assets  (238,081,973)  (1,384,579,361) 

Cash payments for acquisition of 
subsidiaries  (1,374,589,232) - 

  
    

Sub-total of cash outflows from 
investing activities  (469,262,781,733)  (321,352,456,817) 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net cash inflows from investing 
activities  20,443,212,387 22,807,242,540 

   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Company Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued) 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)  
 
 
Item Note 2020 2019 

    
Cash flows from financing activities:    

Cash receipts from capital 
contributions  4,874,037,684 - 

Cash receipts from issuance of 
bonds and interbank certificate of 
deposits  82,630,000,000 139,840,000,000 

  
    

Sub-total of cash inflows from 
financing activities  87,504,037,684 139,840,000,000 

   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Cash repayments for bonds and 
interbank certificate of deposits  (85,780,000,000) (160,710,000,000) 

Cash payments for distribution of 
dividends and settlement of bond 
interest expenses  (2,211,220,653) (3,184,706,862) 

  
    

Sub-total of cash outflows from 
financing activities  (87,991,220,653) (163,894,706,862) 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net cash outflows from financing 
activities  (487,182,969) (24,054,706,862) 
   --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 
on cash and cash equivalents  (674,722,113) 51,500,281 

  
 --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and 
cash equivalents 59(2) (2,718,144,900) 8,547,841,293 

    
Add: Cash and cash equivalents  

at the beginning of the year  47,813,582,295 39,265,741,002 
  

    

Cash and cash equivalents  
at the end of the year 59(3) 45,095,437,395 47,813,582,295 

  
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ equity  
for the year ended 31 December 2020 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
   Attributable to shareholders of the Bank   Non-controlling interests   

 Note Share capital Capital reserve 

Other 
comprehensive 

income Surplus reserve 
General risk 

reserve Retained earnings 
Owners of  

ordinary share 
Owners of other 

equity instruments Total 

           
Balance of 31 December 2019  8,386,260,000 17,800,650,743 736,935,270 2,564,202,611 5,549,525,381 15,208,343,814 8,172,927,737 3,604,520,329 62,023,365,885 
   --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------- 
Changes in accounting policies  - - (199,536,636) - - (186,713,262) 116,644,552 - (269,605,346) 
Balance of 1 January 2020  8,386,260,000 17,800,650,743 537,398,634 2,564,202,611 5,549,525,381 15,021,630,552 8,289,572,289 3,604,520,329 61,753,760,539 
           
Changes for the year           
           

1. Net profit  - - - - - 4,513,428,416 966,829,595 247,694,789 5,727,952,800 
2. Other comprehensive 

income 43 - - (1,593,792,080) - - - (479,659,976) - (2,073,452,056) 
  

                  

Total comprehensive income  - - (1,593,792,080) - - 4,513,428,416 487,169,619 247,694,789 3,654,500,744 
   --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------- 

3. Capital increase to 
subsidiaries  - (245,173,735) - - - - 340,004,574 - 94,830,839 

4. Contribution from owners 
of other equity 
instruments 41 - - - - - - - - - 

5. Contribution from 
shareholders  861,137,400 4,012,900,284 - - - - - - 4,874,037,684 

6. Profit distribution           
 - Appropriation for surplus 

reserve 44 - - - 451,342,842 - (451,342,842) - - - 
 - Appropriation for general 

risk reserve 45 - - - - - - - - - 
 - Dividends  - - - - - - (355,404,216) - (355,404,216) 
 - Distributions to owners of 

other equity 
instruments  - - - - - - - (247,694,789) (247,694,789) 

  
                  

Subtotal of 3 to 6  861,137,400 3,767,726,549 - 451,342,842 - (451,342,842) (15,399,642) (247,694,789) 4,365,769,518 

   --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------- 

Balance of 31 December 2020  9,247,397,400 21,568,377,292 (1,056,393,446) 3,015,545,453 5,549,525,381 19,083,716,126 8,761,342,266 3,604,520,329 69,774,030,801 
  

                  

 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements.   
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 
   Attributable to shareholders of the Bank   Equity of Non-controlling   

 Note Share capital Capital reserve 

Other 
comprehensive 

income Surplus reserve 
General risk 

reserve Retained earnings 
Owners of  

ordinary share 
Owners of other 

equity instruments Total 

           
Balance of 1 January 2019  8,386,260,000 17,815,563,311 89,265,065 2,048,954,030 5,549,525,381 10,571,106,586 6,649,665,458 3,604,520,329 54,714,860,160 

  
 --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------

- 
 --------------  --------------  -------------- 

Changes for the year           
           

1. Net profit  - - - - - 5,152,485,809 911,322,924 251,247,510 6,315,056,243 
2. Other comprehensive 

income 43 - - 647,670,205 - - - 430,316,536 - 1,077,986,741 
  

                  

Total comprehensive income  - - 647,670,205 - - 5,152,485,809 1,341,639,460 251,247,510 7,393,042,984 

  
 --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------

- 
 --------------  --------------  -------------- 

3. Capital increase to 
subsidiaries  - (14,912,568) - - - - 461,754,024 - 446,841,456 

4. Contribution from owners 
of other equity 
instruments 41 - - - - - - - - - 

5. Profit distribution           
 - Appropriation for surplus 

reserve 44 - - - 515,248,581 - (515,248,581) - - - 
 - Appropriation for general 

risk reserve 45 - - - - - - - - - 
 - Dividends  - - - - - - (280,131,205) - (280,131,205) 
 - Distribution to owners of 

other equity 
instruments  - - - - - - - (251,247,510) (251,247,510) 

  
                  

Subtotal of 3 to 5  - (14,912,568) - 515,248,581 - (515,248,581) 181,622,819 (251,247,510) (84,537,259) 

   --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------
- 

 --------------  --------------  -------------- 

Balance of 31 December 2019  8,386,260,000 17,800,650,743 736,935,270 2,564,202,611 5,549,525,381 15,208,343,814 8,172,927,737 3,604,520,329 62,023,365,885 
  

                  

 
 
 
 

The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Company Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ equity  
for the year ended 31 December 2020 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 

 Note Share capital 

Capital  
reserve 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
Surplus  
reserve 

General  
risk reserve 

Retained  
earnings Total 

         
Balance of 31 December 2019  8,386,260,000 17,702,821,059 650,064,882 2,564,202,611 5,549,525,381 10,160,576,447 45,013,450,380 
   -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 
Changes in accounting policies   - - (331,729,678) - - (140,056,067) (471,785,745) 
Balance of 1 January 2020  8,386,260,000 17,702,821,059 318,335,204 2,564,202,611 5,549,525,381 10,020,520,380 44,541,664,635 
         
Changes for the year         
         

1. Net profit  - - - - - 3,626,170,784 3,626,170,784 
2. Other comprehensive 

income 43 - - (1,086,701,246) - - - (1,086,701,246) 
  

              

Total comprehensive income  - - (1,086,701,246)  - - 3,626,170,784 2,539,469,538 
   -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

         
3. Contribution from 

shareholders 
  

861,137,400 4,012,900,284 - - - - 4,874,037,684 
4. Profit distribution         
 - Appropriation for surplus 

reserve 44 - - - 451,342,842 - (451,342,842) - 
  

              

Subtotal of profit distribution  - - - 451,342,842 - (451,342,842) - 

  
 -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

Balance of 31 December 2020  9,247,397,400 21,715,721,343 (768,366,042) 3,015,545,453 5,549,525,381 13,195,348,322 51,955,171,857 
  

              

 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Company Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 

 Note Share capital 

Capital  
reserve 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
Surplus  
reserve 

General  
risk reserve 

Retained  
earnings Total 

         
Balance of 1 January 2019  8,386,260,000 17,702,821,059 440,701,026  2,048,954,030 5,549,525,381 6,355,814,087 40,484,075,583 
   -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 
Changes for the year         
         

1. Net profit  - - - - - 4,320,010,941 4,320,010,941 
2. Other comprehensive 

income 43 - - 209,363,856 - - - 209,363,856 
  

              

Total comprehensive income  - - 209,363,856 - - 4,320,010,941 4,529,374,797 
   -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

3. Profit distribution         
 - Appropriation for surplus 

reserve 44 - - - 515,248,581 - (515,248,581) - 
 - Appropriation for general 

risk reserve 45 - - - - - - - 
 - Dividends  - - - - - - - 
  

              

Subtotal of profit distribution  - - - 515,248,581 - (515,248,581) - 

  
 -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

Balance of 31 December 2019  8,386,260,000 17,702,821,059 650,064,882 2,564,202,611 5,549,525,381 10,160,576,447 45,013,450,380 
  

              

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on page 23 to 162 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 
 
 

1 Bank status 
 
Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Xiamen International Bank, hereinafter 
referred to as the “Bank”), was established pursuant to the approval of the People’s Bank of 
China (the “PBOC”) [85] Yin Fu No.200, the PBOC Fujian Branch (Min Yin [85] No.260), and 
was a Sino-foreign joint venture (Limited Liability Company). The Bank obtained its business 
license (Gong Shang Qi He No.0001) granted by the State Administration of Industry and 
Commerce of the PRC on 31 August 1985. The bank was licensed as a financial institution by 
the former China Banking Regulatory Commission (the “CBRC”) (No.00000233). 
 
Pursuant to the document “Approval for Xiamen International Bank’s new shareholders and 
additional capital injection” ([2012] No.627) approved by the CBRC on 30 October 2012, 
together with the agreement signed by its founders and the resolution of shareholders’ 
meeting, the Bank was converted into a joint stock company. The Bank obtained its new 
business license (No.350000400002013) granted by the Fujian Provincial Administration of 
Industry and Commerce. According to the latest policy announced by State Administration of 
Industry and Commerce of the PRC in 2015, Industrial and Commercial Business License, 
Organisation Code Certificate and Tax Registration Certificate have been combined into one 
certificate, the business license registration number has been changed to the unified social 
credit identification No. 91350000612017727Q. The CBRC issued the No.00545106 financial 
license of the Bank on 15 April 2013. 
 
The branches of the Bank in Mainland China as at 31 December 2020 are as follows: 
 

Name of Branch 
Date of approval by  
the regulatory body 

Date of business  
license granted Operating period 

    
Fuzhou Branch 28 September 1992 28 October 2020* From 22 October 1992 to long term 
Zhuhai Branch 23 November 1995 18 January 1996 From 18 January 1996 to long term 
Shanghai Branch 13 May 2005 9 June 2005 From 9 June 2005 to long term 
Beijing Branch 13 June 2007 18 June 2007 From 18 June 2007 to long term 
Ningde Branch  17 December 2013 9 January 2018* From 19 December 2013 to long term 
Longyan Branch 23 January 2014 27 January 2014 From 27 January 2014 to long term 
Quanzhou Branch 30 October 2014 31 October 2014 From 31 October 2014 to long term 
Zhangzhou Branch 11 February 2015 12 February 2015 From 12 February 2015 to long term 
Putian Branch 17 February 2016 19 February 2016 From 19 February 2016 to long term 
Xiamen Branch 25 April 2016 5 May 2017* From 25 January 2008 to long term 
Sanming Branch 25 July 2016 13 October 2016 From 13 October 2016 to long term 
Nanping Branch 28 February 2017 15 July 2020* 2 March 2017 to long term 

 
The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) include corporate 
and private deposits, loans, payment and settlement, treasury business and other financial 
services as approved. 
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* The original business license of Fuzhou Branch was valid from 22 October 1992 to 30 
August 2020, and the person in charge of the branch changed in 2020. Therefore, the date 
of business license granted was updated. 

 
* The original business license of Ningde Branch was valid from 19 December 2013 to long 

term, and the person in charge of the branch changed in 2018. Therefore, the date of 
business license granted was updated. 

 
* The original business license of Xiamen Branch was valid from 25 January 2008 to long 

term. And it was upgraded from Siming Branch to Xiamen Branch in 2017. Therefore, the 
date of business license granted was updated. 

 
* The original business license of Nanping Branch was valid from 2 March 2017 to long term, 

and the person in charge of the branch changed in 2020. Therefore, the date of business 
license granted was updated. 

 
2 Basis of preparation of financial statements 

 
The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis. 
 

(1) Statement of compliance 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises or referred to as China Accounting Standards 
(“CAS”) issued by the Ministry of Finance (“MOF”). These financial statements present truly 
and completely the consolidated financial position and financial position of the Bank as at 31 
December 2020, and the consolidated financial performance and financial performance and 
the consolidated cash flows and cash flows of the Bank for the year then ended. 
 

(2) Accounting period 
 
The accounting period is from 1 January to 31 December. 
 

(3) Functional currency 
 
The Bank’s functional currency is RMB Yuan and these financial statements are presented in 
RMB Yuan. Functional currency is determined by the Group and its subsidiaries based on the 
currency in which major income and costs are denominated and settled. Some of the Bank’s 
subsidiaries have functional currencies that are different from the Bank’s functional currency. 
Their financial statements have been translated based on the accounting policy set out in Note 
3(2). Unless otherwise specified, the financial statements are presented in RMB Yuan. 
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3 Significant accounting policies and accounting estimates 
 

(1) Business combinations and consolidated financial statements 
 
(a) Business combinations involving entities not under common control 

 
A business combination involving entities not under common control is a business 
combination in which all of the combining entities are not ultimately controlled by the 
same party or parties both before and after the business combination. Where (1) the 
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred (including the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree), liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity 
securities issued by the acquirer, in exchange for control of the acquiree, exceeds (2) 
the acquirer’s interest in the acquisition-date fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets, the difference is recognised as goodwill. If (1) is less than (2), the difference is 
recognised in profit or loss for the current period. Acquisition-related costs are expensed 
when incurred. The acquiree’s identifiable asset, liabilities and contingent liabilities, if the 
recognition criteria are met, are recognised by the Group at their acquisition-date fair 
value. The acquisition date is the date on which the acquirer obtains control of the 
acquiree. 
 

(b) Consolidated financial statements 
 
The scope of consolidated financial statements is based on control and the consolidated 
financial statements comprise the Bank and its subsidiaries. Control means the Group 
has power over investee. The Group receives variable returns from its involvement with 
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
investee. The financial position, financial performance and cash flows of subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences 
until the date that control ceases. 
 
Where a subsidiary was acquired during the reporting period, through a business 
combination involving entities not under common control, the identifiable assets and 
liabilities of the acquired subsidiaries are included in the scope of consolidation from the 
date that control commences, based on the fair value of those identifiable assets and 
liabilities at the acquisition date. 
 
When the accounting period or accounting policies of a subsidiary are different from 
those of the Bank, the Bank makes necessary adjustments to the financial statements of 
the subsidiary based on the Bank’s own accounting period or accounting policies. Intra-
group balances and transactions, and any unrealised profit or loss arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated when preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are recognised as losses if 
there is evidence that the unrealized loss is related to impairment losses. 
 
Non-controlling interests are presented separately in the consolidated balance sheet 
within shareholders’ equity. Net profit or loss attributable to non-controlling shareholders 
is presented separately in the consolidated income statement below the net profit line 
item. Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling shareholders is 
presented separately in the consolidated income statement below the total 
comprehensive income line item. When the amount of loss for the current period 
attributable to the non-controlling shareholders of a subsidiary exceeds the non-
controlling shareholders’ share of the opening equity of the subsidiary, the excess is still 
allocated against the non-controlling interests. Where there is no loss of control, changes 
in non-controlling interests are recognised in equity. 
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(2) Translation of foreign currencies  
 
When the Group receives capital in foreign currencies from investors, the capital is translated 
to RMB Yuan at the spot exchange rate at the date of the receipt. Other foreign currency 
transactions shall be translated into RMB Yuan at the spot exchange rate on the date of initial 
recognition. 
 
Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated to RMB Yuan at the spot 
exchange rate at the balance sheet date. The exchange differences are generally recognised 
in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in foreign currencies 
are translated to RMB Yuan using the spot rate at the transaction date.  
 
In translating the financial statements of foreign operation, assets and liabilities of foreign 
operation are translated to RMB Yuan at the spot exchange rate at the balance sheet date. 
Equity items, excluding retained earnings and the translation differences in other 
comprehensive income, are translated to RMB Yuan at the spot exchange rates at the 
transaction dates. Income and expenses of foreign operation are translated to RMB Yuan at 
the approximate exchange rates of spot exchange rates at the transaction dates. The resulting 
translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. The translation 
differences accumulated in shareholders’ equity with respect to a foreign operation are 
transferred to profit or loss in the period when the foreign operation is disposed. 
 

(3) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits available for payment at any time 
and short-term and highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 

(4) Long-term equity investments 
 
Long-term equity investments of the Bank are investments in subsidiaries 
 
In the Group’s consolidated financial statements, subsidiaries are accounted for in accordance 
with the policies described in Note 3(1)(b). 
 
In the Bank’s separate financial statements, for long-term equity investment obtained through 
a business combination not involving entities under common control, the initial cost comprises 
the aggregate of the fair value of assets transferred in exchange for control of the acquiree, 
liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity securities issued by the Bank. 
 
In the Bank’s separate financial statements, long-term equity investments in subsidiaries are 
accounted for using the cost method for subsequent measurement unless the investments 
meet the criteria of assets held for sale. Except for cash dividends or profit distributions 
declared but not yet distributed that have been included in the price or consideration paid in 
obtaining the investments, the Bank recognises its share of the cash dividends or profit 
distributions declared by the investee as investment income for the current period. The 
investments in subsidiaries are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses (see Note 3(14)). 
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(5) Financial instruments 
 
Financial instruments include cash on hand, investments in debt and equity securities other 
than those classified as long-term equity investments (see Note 3(4)), receivables, payables, 
loans and borrowings, bond payable and share capital, etc. 
 
The following accounting policies for financial instruments are applicable to 2020. For relevant 
accounting policies for 2019, please refer to the financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2019. 
 
(a) Recognition and initial measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
A financial asset or financial liability is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially at fair value. For financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, any related transaction 
costs are charged to profit or loss; for other categories of financial assets and financial 
liabilities, any related transaction costs are included in their initial costs.  
 

(b) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets 
 
(i) Classification of financial assets 
 

The classification of financial assets is generally based on the business model in 
which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics.  On 
initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost, at fair 
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), or at fair value through profit 
or loss (“FVTPL”). 
 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the 
Group changes its business model for managing financial assets in which case all 
affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period 
following the change in the business model. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 
 
- It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect 

contractual cash flows; and 
 
- Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
A financial asset is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and 
is not designated as at FVTPL: 
 
- It is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 
 
- Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group 
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in 
other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-by-investment 
basis. Relevant investments conform to the definition of equity instrument from the 
perspective of the issuer. 
 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as 
described above are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Group may 
irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be 
measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
 
The business model refers to how the Group manages its financial assets in order to 
generate cash flows. That is, the Group’s business model determines whether cash 
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both. 
The Group determines the business model for managing the financial assets 
according to the facts and based on the specific business objective for managing the 
financial assets determined by the Group’s key management personnel. 
 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. For the 
purposes of this assessment, ‘Principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial 
asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of 
money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during 
a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as a 
profit margin. The Group also assesses whether the financial asset contains a 
contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows 
such that it would not meet this condition. 
 

(ii) Subsequent measurement of financial assets 
 

- Financial assets at FVTPL 
 
These financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and 
losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss 
unless the financial assets are part of a hedging relationship. 

 
- Financial assets at amortised cost 

 
These financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. A gain or loss on a financial asset that is measured at 
amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship shall be recognised in profit 
or loss when the financial asset is derecognised, reclassified, through the 
amortisation process or in order to recognise impairment gains or losses. 

 
- Debt investments at FVOCI 

 
These financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income 
calculated using the effective interest method, impairment and foreign exchange 
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and losses 
accumulated in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

 
- Equity investments at FVOCI 
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These financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are 
recognised as income in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised 
in other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated 
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to retained earnings. 

 
(c) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities 

 
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at FVTPL or amortised cost. 
 
- Financial liabilities at FVTPL 

 
A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading 
(including derivative financial liability) or it is designated as such on initial recognition. 
 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value and net gains 
and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss, unless the 
financial liabilities are part of a hedging relationship. 

 
- Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

 
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 

 
(d) Offsetting 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are generally presented separately in the balance 
sheet, and are not offset. However, a financial asset and a financial liability are offset 
and the net amount is presented in the balance sheet when both of the following 
conditions are satisfied: 
 
- the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; 

and 
 
- the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the financial asset and 

settle the financial liability simultaneously. 
 

(e) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset when one of the following conditions is meet: 
 
- the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; 
 
- the financial asset has been transferred and the Group transfers substantially all of 

the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset; or 
 
- the financial asset has been transferred, although the Group neither transfers nor 

retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, it 
does not retain control over the transferred asset. 

 
Where a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety meets the criteria for derecognition, 
the difference between the two amounts below is recognised in profit or loss: 
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- the carrying amount of the financial asset transferred measured at the date of 
derecognition; 

 
- the sum of the consideration received from the transfer and, when the transferred 

financial asset is a debt investment at FVOCI, any cumulative gain or loss that has 
been recognised directly in other comprehensive income for the part derecognised. 

 
The Group derecognises a financial liability (or part of it) only when its contractual 
obligation (or part of it) is extinguished. 
 

(f) Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Group recognises loss allowance for expected credit loss (ECL) on: 
 
- financial assets measured at amortised cost; 
 
- Loans and advances to customers and debt investments measured at FVOCI; 
 
- Loans commitments, etc. 
 
Financial assets measured at fair value, including debt investments or equity securities 
at FVTPL, equity securities designated at FVOCI and derivative financial assets, are not 
subject to the ECL assessment. 
 
Measurement of ECLs 
 
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured 
as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due 
to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects 
to receive). 
 
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual 
period (including extension options) over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.  
 
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of a financial instrument.  
 
12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible 
within the 12 months after the balance sheet date (or a shorter period if the expected life 
of the instrument is less than 12 months).  
 
Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECL. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix 
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are 
specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general 
economic conditions at the balance sheet date. 
 
Except for trade receivables, the Group measures loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL for the following financial instruments, and at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL for all other financial instruments: 

 
- If the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the balance sheet 

date; or 
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- If the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition. 

 
Financial instruments that have low credit risk 
 
The credit risk on a financial instrument is considered low if the financial instrument has 
a low risk of default, the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow 
obligations in the near term and adverse changes in economic and business conditions 
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil 
its contractual cash flow obligations. 
 
Significant increases in credit risk 
 
In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly 
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial 
instrument assessed at the balance sheet date with that assessed at the date of initial 
recognition. 
 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly 
since initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and 
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort, 
including forward-looking information. In particular, the following information is taken into 
account: 
 
- failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually due dates; 
 
- an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s external or 

internal credit rating (if available); 
 
- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; 

and 
 
- existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or legal 

environment that have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its 
obligation to the Group. 

 
Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant 
increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. 
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are 
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit 
risk ratings. 
 
The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if 
it is more than 30 days past due. 
 
Credit-impaired financial assets 
 
At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at 
amortised cost and debt investments at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 
‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial 
asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 
 
- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
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- a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal 

payments; 
 
- for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, the 

Group having granted to the borrower a concession that would not otherwise consider; 
 
- it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 

or 
 
- the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 

difficulties of the borrower or issuer. 
 
Presentation of allowance for ECL 
 
ECLs are remeasured at each balance sheet date to reflect changes in the financial 
instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is 
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an 
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to 
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for financial investments 
that are measured at FVOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. 
 
Write-off 
 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to 
the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. A write-off constitutes 
a derecognition event. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the 
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash 
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are 
written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the 
Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due. 
 
Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a 
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs. 
 

(g) Equity instrument 
 
The consideration received from the issuance of equity instruments net of transaction 
costs is recognised in shareholders’ equity. Consideration and transaction costs paid by 
the Bank for repurchasing self-issued equity instruments are deducted from 
shareholders’ equity. 
 

(h) Asset securitisation 
 
Asset securitisation generally refers to the sale of credit assets to a special purpose 
vehicle (SPV), which then issues securities to investors. The equity of a securitised 
financial asset is expressed in the form of priority asset-backed securities or 
subordinated asset-backed securities, or other residual equity (“retained equity”). 
Retained equity is stated at fair value in the Group’s balance sheet. The gains or losses 
on securitisation are determined by the book value of the financial assets transferred and 
are allocated between the fair value the derecognised financial assets and the retained 
equity at the date of the transfer. 
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In applying the policy of securitised financial assets, the Group has considered the 
degree of risk and reward of assets transferred to another entity and the degree of control 
exercised by the Group over the entity. 
 

(i) Assets and liabilities transferred with continuing involvement 
 
In the process of issuing asset-backed securities, the Group has neither retained nor 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, and the Group has not 
relinquished control of the asset. The relevant financial assets shall be recognised to the 
extent to which the Group has a continuing involvement in the asset, and the relevant 
liabilities shall be recognised accordingly.  
 

(6) Financial assets held under resale agreements and financial assets sold under repurchase 
agreements 
 
Financial assets held under resale agreements are transactions where the Group acquires 
financial assets which will be resold at a predetermined price at a future date under resale 
agreements. Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements are transactions where the 
Group sells financial assets which will be repurchased at a predetermined price at a future 
date under repurchase agreements. 
 
Financial assets held under resale agreements and financial assets sold under repurchase 
agreements are recorded according to the actual payment or receipt when the business occurs 
and reflected in the balance sheet. Assets held under resale agreements are not recognised. 
Assets sold under repurchase agreements continue to be recognised in balance sheet.  
 
The price difference of resale agreements and repurchase agreements is amortised over the 
period of the respective transaction using the effective interest method and is recognised as 
interest income (see Note 3(19)(a)) and interest expenses respectively. 
 

(7) Fixed assets and construction in progress 
 
Fixed assets represent the tangible assets held by the Group for administrative purposes with 
useful lives over one accounting year. 
 
Fixed assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses (see Note 3(14)). Construction in progress is stated in the balance sheet at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses (see Note 3(14)). 
 
The cost of a purchased fixed asset comprises the purchase price, related taxes, and any 
directly attributable expenditure for bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use. 
The cost of a self-constructed asset includes the cost of materials, direct labour, and any other 
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use. 
 
A self-constructed asset is classified as construction in progress and transferred to fixed asset 
when it is ready for its intended use. No depreciation is provided against construction in 
progress. 
 
Any subsequent costs including the cost of replacing part of an item of fixed assets are 
recognised as assets when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the costs 
will flow to the Group, and the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs 
of the day-to-day maintenance of fixed assets are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
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Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of fixed asset are determined 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and 
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. 
 
The cost of a fixed asset, less its estimated residual value and accumulated impairment losses, 
is depreciated using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life, unless the fixed 
asset is classified as held for sale. The useful lives, residual value rates and depreciation rates 
of each class of fixed assets are as follows: 
 

Class Useful life 
Residual  

value rate  
Depreciation  

rate  
    
Buildings 20 years 10% 4.50% 
Office equipment and furniture 5 years 10% 18.00% 
Computer equipment 5 years 10% 18.00% 
Vehicles 5 years 10% 18.00% 
Mechanical appliances 10 years 10% 9.00% 
 
Useful lives, estimated residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at least at each 
year-end. 
 

(8) Investment properties 
 
The Group classifies properties held which are either for rent or capital appreciation or both as 
investment properties. The Group uses fair value model to measure investment properties. 
Investment properties are initially measured at cost (including related transaction costs). After 
initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value. A gain or loss arising from 
a change in the fair value of investment properties shall be recognised in profit or loss for the 
period in which it arises. 
When an investment property measured using the fair value model is converted into personal 
use, the fair value at the date of conversion shall be taken as the book value of the real estate 
for self-use, and the difference between the fair value and the original book value shall be 
included in profit or loss. 
 

(9) Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated amortisation (where 
the useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see Note 3(14)).  
 
For an intangible asset with finite useful life, its cost less estimated residual value and 
accumulated impairment losses is amortised using the straight-line method over its estimated 
useful life, unless the intangible asset is classified as held for sale. The respective amortization 
periods for such intangible assets are as follows: 
 
  Amortisation period 
   
Computer software  1 to 10 years 
Land use right   50 years 
Core deposit  20 years 
 
Useful lives and amortisation methods of intangible assets with finite useful life are reviewed 
at least at each year-end. 
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(10) Goodwill 
 
The initial cost of goodwill represents the excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of 
acquirer’s interest in the identifiable net assets of the acquiree under business combination not 
involving entities under common control. 
 
Goodwill is not amortised and is stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses (see Note 3(14)). On disposal of an asset group or a set of asset groups, 
any attributable goodwill is written off and included in the calculation of the profit or loss. 
 

(11) Long-term deferred expenses  
 
Expenditure incurred with beneficial period over one year is recognised as long-term deferred 
expenses. Long-term deferred expenses are stated in the balance sheet at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (see Note 3(14)). 
 
Long-term deferred expenses are amortised over their benefit periods. The respective 
amortisation periods for the long-term deferred expenses are as follows: 
 
 Amortisation period 
  
Expenditure on improvement of fixed assets leased in under 

operating lease 1 - 20 years 
Development and maintenance cost of computer system 1 - 5 years 
Others 1 - 6 years 
 

(12) Leases 
 
A lease is classified as either a finance lease or an operating lease. A finance lease is a lease 
that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of a leased asset 
to the lessee, irrespective of whether the legal title to the asset is eventually transferred. An 
operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. 

 
(i) Assets leased in under operating leases 

 
Rental payments under operating leases are recognised as part of the cost of another 
related asset or as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent 
rental payments are expensed as incurred. 
 

(ii) Assets leased out under operating leases 
 
Income derived from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss using the straight-
line method over the lease term. If initial direct costs incurred in respect of the assets 
leased out are material, the costs are initially capitalised and subsequently amortised in 
profit or loss over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income. Otherwise, the 
costs are charged to profit or loss immediately. Contingent rentals are recognised as 
income as they are earned. 
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(13) Repossessed assets  
 
In the recovery of impaired loans and advances, the Group may take possession of assets 
held as collateral (except equity investment) through court proceedings or voluntary delivery 
of possession by the borrowers. Repossessed assets are recognised and reported in “other 
assets” in the balance sheet when the Group intends to achieve an orderly realisation of the 
assets and is no longer seeking repayment from the borrower. 
 
When the Group uses repossessed assets to compensate for the losses of loans and advances 
and interest receivables, the repossessed assets are initially recognised at fair value, plus any 
expenses incurred. Repossessed assets are recognised at the lower of carrying value and fair 
value net of disposal expenses. Repossessed assets are not depreciated or amortised. 
Impairment losses from initial recognition or subsequent re-evaluation will be recognised in 
profit or loss (see Note 3(14)). 
 

(14) Impairment of other assets 
 
Except for the impairment of assets mentioned in Note 3(5) and 3(17), the impairment of other 
assets is treated as follows: 

 
The carrying amounts of the following assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date 
based on internal and external sources of information to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment: 
 
- Long-term equity investments 
- Fixed assets 
- Construction in progress 
- Intangible assets 
- Long-term deferred expenses  
- Repossessed assets  
- Goodwill 
 
The Group conducts impairment test on assets with signs of impairment and estimates 
the recoverable amount of assets. In addition, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amounts of goodwill at each year-end, irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment. Book value of goodwill is allocated to each asset group or set of asset groups 
which is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Goodwill impairment 
test is conducted on this basis. 
 
An asset group is composed of related assets which generate cash inflow and is the 
smallest identifiable group of assets whose cash inflows are largely independent of other 
assets or asset groups. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset (or asset group, set of asset groups) is the higher 
of its fair value (see Note 3(15)) less costs to disposal and its present value of expected 
future cash flows.  
 
The present value of expected future cash flows of an asset is determined by discounting 
the future cash flows derived from continuing use and ultimate disposal to the present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when the recoverable amount of an 
asset is less than its carrying amount. A provision for impairment of the asset is 
recognised accordingly. Impairment losses related to an asset group or a set of asset 
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groups are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of other assets on a pro rata basis. 
However, such allocation would not reduce the carrying amount of an asset below the 
highest of its fair value less disposal costs (if measurable), its present value of expected 
future cash flows (if determinable) and zero. 
 
Once an impairment loss is recognised, it is not reversed in subsequent period. 
 

(15) Fair value measurement 
 
Unless otherwise specified, the Group measures fair value as follows: 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
When measuring fair value, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the particular 
asset or liability (including the condition and location of the asset and restrictions, if any, on the 
sale or use of the asset) that market participants would consider when pricing the asset or 
liability at the measurement date, and uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the 
circumstances and for which sufficient data and other information are available to measure fair 
value. Valuation techniques mainly include the market approach, the income approach and the 
cost approach. 
 

(16) Employee benefits 
 
(a) Short-term employee benefits 

 
Employee wages or salaries, bonuses, social security contributions such as medical 
insurance, work injury insurance, maternity insurance and housing fund, measured at 
the amount incurred or accrued at the applicable benchmarks and rates, are recognised 
as a liability as the employee provides services, with a corresponding charge to profit or 
loss or included in the cost of assets where appropriate. 
 

(b) Post-employment benefits - Defined contribution plans 
 
The set up plan of the Group includes the government mandated defined contribution 
retirement schemes and unemployment insurance in the social security system which 
are set up by the government agencies in accordance with the relevant regulations of 
the state, Annuity scheme, supplementary medical insurance, supplementary housing 
fund and Xingfu fund set up in accordance with the approval of the internal decision-
making body of the Group.  
 
The amount of the government mandated defined contribution retirement schemes and 
unemployment insurance payment of the Group is calculated according to the 
benchmark and proportion stipulated by the state. During the accounting period of 
service provided, the Group recognised the amount payable as liabilities and included it 
in the current profit or loss or related asset costs. 
 
The annuity scheme, supplementary medical insurance, supplementary housing fund 
and Xingfu fund are based on government mandated defined contribution retirement 
schemes and unemployment insurance of the group. According to the relevant system 
and measures of the Group and collective contract, the Group set up defined contribution 
plan according to the basic wages of the employees. A certain proportion of basic salary 
+ position salary + position performance is calculated and the corresponding expenditure 
is included in the current profit and loss. 
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The enterprise annuity is established, operated and administrated according to the state 
laws and regulations and the related system of the Group; supplementary medical 
insurance, housing fund and Xingfu fund are entrusted to independent trusts and 
commercial insurance companies to operate and manage according to the related 
system of the Group. 
 
The relevant rights and interests of the enterprise annuity, supplementary medical 
insurance, the housing fund and the Xingfu fund are owned by the employees, and the 
group shall not be withdrawn unilaterally. As for actual payment, according to the relevant 
management methods of the Group, labor union and the staff representative committee, 
enterprise annuity administrative agencies, the trust institutions and the commercial 
insurance institutions pay in accordance with the provisions. 
 

(c) Termination benefits 
 
When the Group terminates the employment with employees before the employment 
contracts expire, or provides compensation under an offer to encourage employees to 
accept voluntary layoff, a liability is recognised with a corresponding expense in profit or 
loss at the earlier of the following dates:  
 
- When the Group cannot unilaterally withdraw the offer of termination benefits because 

of an employee termination plan or a layoff proposal; 
 
- When the Group has a formal detailed restructuring plan involving the payment of 

termination benefits and the restructuring plan has begun implementation, or the 
Group has raised a valid expectation in those affected by announcing main features 
of the plan to those affected. 

 
(d) Other long-term employee benefits 

 
Other long-term employee benefits mainly include staff incentive plan. The payable 
obligation of the Group for its staff incentive plan, measured with reference to the net 
asset value per share of the Group, is recorded as “employee benefits payable” with the 
changes in value recorded in the current profit and loss. Staff incentive plan can only pay 
the incentive payment after completing the services within the vesting period and 
meeting the specified performance conditions. On the balance sheet date of the vesting 
period, the best estimate of the incentive payment is made to determine the amount of 
the staff incentive payable at the end of the year, and the changes are included in the 
"operating and administrative expenses". Since December 2010, the staff incentive plan 
has begun to apportion the corresponding cost, with a validity period of 10 years and a 
lock-in period of 3 years, which has expired in December 2020. 
 

(17) Income tax 
 
Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except those arised from events 
and transactions related to business combination or items recognised directly in equity 
(including other comprehensive income). 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable calculated at the applicable tax rate on taxable income 
for the year, plus any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
 
At the balance sheet date, if the group has the legal right to settle at a net amount and intends 
to settle at a net amount or acquire assets and pay off liabilities at the same time, then the 



Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 

39 

current income tax assets and current income tax liabilities are presented at the net amount 
after offset. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary 
differences respectively. Temporary differences are the differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets or liabilities and their tax bases, which includes the deductible losses and 
tax credits carried forward to subsequent periods. The recognition of deferred tax assets is 
limited to the taxable income that is likely to be obtained to offset the deductible temporary 
differences. 
 
Deferred tax is not recognised for the temporary differences arising from the initial recognition 
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit (or deductible loss). Deferred tax is not recognised for 
temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of goodwill. 
 
At the balance sheet date, the Group measures the book value of the deferred tax assets and 
liabilities according to the applicable tax rate during the period when the assets and liabilities 
are expected to be recovered or paid off, in accordance with the expected recovery or 
settlement method of the deferred tax assets and liabilities and tax laws and regulations. 
 
The book value of deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date. If it is likely that 
sufficient taxable income will not be obtained in the future to offset the benefits of the deferred 
tax assets, the book value of the deferred tax assets shall be written down. Such reduction is 
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable income will be available. 
 
At the balance sheet date, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if all of the 
following conditions are met: 
 
- The taxable entity has legal right to offset current tax liabilities and current tax assets on a 

net basis; 
 
- Deferred tax assets and liabilities are related to the income tax levied by the same tax 

collection and management department on the same taxpayer or different taxpayers. 
However, in the future, during the period of each significant deferred tax assets and liabilities 
reversal, the taxpayers involved intend to settle the current tax assets and liabilities with net 
amount or obtain assets and pay off liabilities at the same time. 

 
(18) Contingent liabilities 

 
If the obligation related to contingent liabilities is the current obligation undertaken by the 
Group, and the performance of the obligation is likely to cause economic benefits to flow out 
of the Group, and the relevant amount can be reliably measured, the Group will recognise the 
contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities shall be determined by the discounted amount of the 
estimated future cash flow when time value of money has a significant impact. 
 

(19) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits arising in the course of the Group’s ordinary 
activities when the inflows result in increase in shareholders’ equity, other than increase 
relating to contributions from shareholders. Revenue is recognised when its amount and 
related costs can be reliably measured, relevant economic benefits are likely to flow into the 
group, and other recognition conditions of the following different types of revenue are met at 
the same time. 
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(a) Interest income 
 

Interest income is recognised in the income statement on the accrual basis according to 
the actual interest rate of the financial instrument or the applicable floating interest rate. 
Interest income includes the amortisation of any discount or premium or other differences 
between the initial carrying amount of an interest-bearing instrument and its recoverable 
amount at maturity calculated at the effective interest rate. 
 
When a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets is impaired, interest on the 
impaired financial assets is recognised using the interest rate used as discounted rate to 
discount future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the related impairment loss. 
 

(b) Fee and commission income 
 
The Group collects fees and commissions by providing various types of services to 
customers. Among them, the fees and commissions received by providing services 
within a certain period are recognised on an average basis during the corresponding 
period. Other fees and commissions are recognised when the relevant transactions are 
completed. 
 

(c) Dividend income 
 
Dividend income from unlisted equity investments is recognised in the income statement 
on the date when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. 
 

(20) Government grants 
 
Government grants are non-reciprocal transfers of monetary or non-monetary assets from the 
government to the Group except for capital contributions from the government in the capacity 
as an investor in the Group. 
 
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to the grant. 
 
If a government grant is in the form of a transfer of a monetary asset, it is measured at the 
amount received or receivables. If a government grant is in the form of a transfer of a non-
monetary asset, it is measured at fair value. 
 
A government grant related to an asset is recognised as deferred income and amortised over 
the useful life of the related asset on a reasonable and systematic manner as other income or 
non-operating income. If the government grant related to income is used to compensate the 
related cost or loss of the Group in the future, the Group will recognise it as deferred income, 
and include it in other income or non-operating income during the period when the relevant 
cost or loss is recognised; otherwise, it will be directly included in other income or non-
operating income. 
 

(21) Profit distributions 
 
Profit distributions proposed in the profit appropriation plan, which will be approved after the 
balance sheet date, are not recognised as a liability at the balance sheet date but are disclosed 
in the notes separately.   
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(22) Related parties 
 
If one party controls or jointly controls the other party or exerts significant influence on the other 
party, and two or more parties are controlled or jointly controlled by the same party, they 
constitute related parties. Related parties may be individuals or enterprises. An enterprise that 
is only controlled by the state and does not have any other related party relationship does not 
constitute a related party. 
 

(23) Segment reporting 
 
The Group determines business segments based on internal organisational structure, 
management requirements and internal reporting system. Two or more operating segments 
may be aggregated into a single operating segment if the segments have the similar economic 
characteristics and are same or similar in respect of the nature of each segment’s products 
and services, the nature of production processes, the types of customers for the products and 
services, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature 
of the regulatory environment. The Group determines the reporting segment based on the 
importance principle of the operating segment. 
 
Inter-segment revenues are measured based on the actual transaction prices for such 
transactions for segment reporting. Segment accounting policies are consistent with those 
adopted in the preparation of consolidated financial statements. 
 
According to geographic regions, the Group’s operating segments mainly include Beijing, 
Shanghai, Xiamen, Fuzhou, Zhuhai, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (including 
Hong Kong head office and all branches in mainland China of Chiyu Banking Corporation 
Limited), Macau Special Administrative Region (including Macau head office and all branches 
in mainland China of Luso International Banking Limited) and others (including Ningde, 
Longyan, Quanzhou, Zhangzhou, Putian, Sanming, Nanping). 
 

(24) Contingent liabilities and acceptance 
 
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence 
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events and the performance of the 
obligation is not likely to cause outflow of economic benefits or the amount of the obligation 
cannot be reliably measured. 
 
A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
When it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required and the amount of 
obligation can be measured reliably, it will then be recognised as estimated liabilities. 
 
Acceptance refers to the payment commitment made by the Group to the bill issued by the 
customer. The Group expects most acceptances to be settled simultaneously with the 
reimbursements from the customers. Acceptances are accounted for as off-balance sheet 
transactions and are disclosed as contingent liabilities and commitments in Note 61. 
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(25) Entrustment business 
 
The entrusted business undertaken by the group is mainly entrusted loans. 
 
Entrusted loans refer to the provision of funds by the entrusting party, and the Group issues, 
supervises, and assists the collection of loans based on loan targets, purposes, terms and 
interest rate determined by the entrusting party. 
 
The risks and rewards of all entrusted businesses are borne by the principal, and the Group 
only charges commissions. 
 

(26) Significant accounting estimates and judgements 
 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Key 
assumptions as well as uncertainties involved are reviewed on an ongoing basis by 
management of the Group. The impact of changes in accounting estimates shall be recognised 
in the current and future periods of changes.  
 
Except for accounting estimates relating to depreciation and amortisation of assets such as 
fixed assets, intangible assets and long-term deferred expenses (see Notes 3(7), 3(9) and 
3(11)) and provision for impairment of various types of assets (see Notes 8, 9, 11, 12, 14, 15, 
18, 19, 20, 21, 23, 24, 25, 26 and 29), other significant accounting estimates are as follows: 
 
(a) Fair value of financial instruments 

 
The Group uses valuation techniques to estimate the fair value of financial instruments 
which are not quoted in an active market. These valuation techniques include the use of 
recent transaction prices of the same or similar instruments, discounted cash flow 
analysis and option pricing models. Market observable inputs and data, such as interest 
rate yield curves, foreign currency rates and so on, are used when estimating fair value 
through valuation techniques. When market observable inputs are not available, they are 
estimated by using assumptions that are calibrated as closely as possible to market 
observable data. However, factors such as the credit risk of the Group and the 
counterparty, volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. 
Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the fair value of financial 
instruments. 
 
The Group reviews the estimates and assumptions used in the valuation model on a 
regular basis and makes adjustment if necessary. 
 

(b) Income tax 
 
Determining income tax involves judgement on the future tax treatment of certain 
transactions. The Group carefully assesses the tax impact of each transaction and 
accrues the corresponding income tax. The Group regularly reassesses the tax impact 
of these transactions in accordance with updated tax regulations. Deferred tax assets 
are recognised for deductible tax losses and temporary deductible differences. As those 
deferred tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable income will be available against temporary differences, management’s 
judgement is required to assess the probability of future taxable income. The Group 
continues to review the judgment on deferred tax, and if it is expected that the taxable 
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income that can be utilized is likely to be obtained in the future, the corresponding 
deferred tax assets will be recognised.  
 

(c) Measurement of liability resulting from staff incentive plan 
 
The Group has set up a staff incentive plan. At each balance sheet date, the Group re-
measures the liability relating to the staff incentive plan, with changes recognised in profit 
or loss. Management makes estimates to assess the related liability, including the 
number of expected staff incentive rights that would fulfil the vesting conditions, payment 
under special circumstances (such as significant equity change or early termination due 
to regulatory requirements) and the duration of vesting period. 
 

(d) Control over structured entity 
 
Control means the Group has power over investee. The Group receives variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the investee. When assessing whether the Group has power over the 
investee, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered. 
 
Securitisation instruments 
 
The Group issues securitisation instruments which are operated in accordance with the 
established agreements contained in the contracts. The Group obtains variable return 
from the bonds issued through the securitisation instruments held by the Group, and 
from the day-to-day management of the assets under the securitisation instruments 
pursuant to agreements in the loan service contracts. Generally, other parties will not be 
involved in the decision-making process until the assets default. As a result, the Group 
will determine whether it has control over these securitisation instruments, by considering 
whether it has the ability to use its power over such securitisation instruments to affect 
its variable return. 
 
The Group acts as manager to a number of non-principal guaranteed wealth 
management products, trust investment plans and asset management plans. When the 
Group determines whether it has control over structured entities, the Group determines 
whether it exercises decision-making power as the principal responsible person or agent 
and evaluates its overall economic benefits (including income generated by direct 
holding and expected management fees) and the scope of decision-making power over 
such structured entities. When other parties have decision-making power, it is also 
necessary to determine whether other parties act as their agents.  
 
As described in Note 68, the Group has right to or sets up the non-principal guaranteed 
wealth management products, trust investment plans and asset management plans, but 
has not consolidated these structured entities. 
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(27) Changes in accounting policies 
 
(a) Description and reasons of changes in accounting policies 

 
In 2020, the Group implemented for the first time the following revised accounting 
standards for business enterprises issued by the Ministry of Finance in recent years: 

 
- CAS Bulletin No.13 (Cai Kuai [2019] No.21) 

 
- The Accounting Treatment of COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (Cai Kuai [2020] 

No.10) 
 
- CAS No.22 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (Revised), CAS 

No.23 - Transfer of Financial Assets (Revised), CAS No.24 - Hedge Accounting 
(Revised) and CAS No.37 - Presentation and Disclosures of Financial Instruments 
(Revised) (collectively “new financial instruments standards”) 

 
- Notice on Revision of the 2018 Illustrative Financial Statement of Financial Entities 

(Cai Kuai [2018] No.36) 
 
(b) Major impact of changes in accounting policies 

 
(i) CAS Bulletin No.13 

 
CAS Bulletin No.13 revised the three elements of business composition and 
refined the judgement conditions for business. When an acquirer of business 
combinations not under common control determines whether the acquired 
operating activities or combination of assets constitute a business, the option of 
“concentration test” is introduced. 
 
In addition, CAS Bulletin No.13 further clarifies that the related parties of an 
enterprise include joint ventures or associates of another member in the group of 
which the enterprise is a member (including the parents and subsidiaries), and 
other joint ventures or associates of an investor who exercise joint control over the 
enterprise. 
 
CAS Bulletin No.13 came into effect on 1 January 2020. The Group applies the 
changes in the accounting policies prospectively. The adoption of CAS Bulletin 
No.13 has no material impact on the Group’s financial position, operating results 
and related party disclosures. 
 

(ii) Caikuai [2020] No.10 
 
Cai Kuai [2020] No.10 provides a practical expedient for rent concessions that arise 
as a direct consequence of COVID-19 and meet the qualifying criteria. When an 
enterprise adopts the practical expedient, it does not need to assess whether a 
change in the lease has occurred or reassess the lease classification 
 
Cai Kuai [2020] No.10 came into effect on 24 June 2020. The entity is allowed to 
adjust the related rent concessions that occurred between 1 January 2020 and the 
implementation date. The adoption of Caikuai [2020] No.10 has no material impact 
on the Group’s financial position and operating results. 
 

(iii) New financial instruments standards 
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CAS No.22 - Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement, CAS No.23 - 
Transfer of Financial assets and CAS No.24 - Hedging issued by the MOF in 2006 
and CAS No.37 - Presentation and Disclosures of Financial Instruments (collecting 
“previous financial instruments standards”) have been revised as new financial 
instruments standards. 
 
New financial instruments standards contain three principal classification 
categories for financial assets: measured at (1) amortised cost, (2) fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and (3) fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL). The classification of financial assets under new financial instruments 
standards is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is 
managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. New financial instruments 
standards cancel the previous three categories of held-to-maturity investments, 
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets under previous 
financial instruments standards. Under new financial instruments standards, 
derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset are never 
separated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument as a whole is assessed for 
classification. 
 
The adoption of new financial instruments standards has no significant effect on 
the Group’s accounting policies for financial liabilities. 
 
The Group did not designate or de-designate any financial asset or financial liability 
at FVPL at 1 January 2020. 
 
New financial instruments standards replace the “incurred loss” model in previous 
financial instruments standards with the ECL model. The ECL model requires an 
ongoing measurement of credit risk associated with a financial asset and therefore 
recognises ECLs earlier than under the “incurred loss” accounting model in 
previous financial instruments standards. 
 
The Group applies the new ECL model to the following items: 
 
- financial assets measured at amortised cost; 
- loans and advances to customers and debt investments measured at FVOCI; 
- financial guarantee contracts issued, etc. 
 
The new ECL model does not apply to investments in equity instruments. 
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Set out below is the impact of adopting New Financial Instrument Standards on the 
Group’s balance sheet items at 1 January 2020: 
 

 

Under 
the old financial 

instrument 
standards 

1 January 2020 Reclassification Remeasurement 

Under 
the new financial 

instrument 
standards 

1 January 2020 
     
Financial assets at 

amortised cost     
Deposits with banks and 

other financial institutions 39,921,807,874 - (23,127,782) 39,898,680,092 
Deposits with supervisory 

authority outside Mainland 
China 4,383,155,990 - (659,225) 4,382,496,765 

Placements with banks and 
other financial institutions 13,729,542,042 - (998,504) 13,728,543,538 

Financial assets held under 
resale agreements 12,363,298,489 - (1,132,969) 12,362,165,520 

Loans and advances to 
customers 456,032,904,123 (2,650,590,519)  (20,312,786) 453,362,000,818  

Financial investments 72,245,735,896 (6,758,159,969) (196,010,506) 65,291,565,421 
 

        

Sub-total 598,676,444,414 (9,408,750,488) (242,241,772) 589,025,452,154 
 

        

Financial assets at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive income     

Loans and advances to 
customers - 2,650,590,519  4,499,591 2,655,090,110  

Financial investments 225,013,985,882 (49,726,083,879) 61,824,679 175,349,726,682 
 

        

Sub-total 225,013,985,882 (47,075,493,360)  66,324,270 178,004,816,792  
 

        

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss     

Financial investments 3,380,280,463 56,681,770,836 2,565,639 60,064,616,938 
 

        

     
Deferred tax assets 2,036,042,982 - 83,823,741 2,119,866,723 
 

        

     
Other liabilities 1,799,533,446 - 308,541,991 2,108,075,437 
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Set out below is the impact of adopting New Financial Instrument Standards on the 
Bank’s balance sheet items at 1 January 2020: 
 

 

Under 
the old financial 

instrument 
standards 

1 January 2020 Reclassification Remeasurement 

Under 
the new financial 

instrument 
standards 

1 January 2020 
     
Financial assets at 

amortised cost     
Deposits with banks and 

other financial institutions 31,370,133,184 - (22,387,089) 31,347,746,095 
Placements with banks and 

other financial institutions 2,047,260,805 - (112,543) 2,047,148,262 
Financial assets held under 

resale agreements 11,370,216,000 - (1,019,318) 11,369,196,682 
Loans and advances to 

customers 285,227,040,628 (179,804,737) (57,408,120) 284,989,827,771 
Financial investments 52,406,984,042 (6,758,159,969) (167,880,912) 45,480,943,161 
 

        

Sub-total 382,421,634,659 (6,937,964,706) (248,807,982) 375,234,861,971 
 

        

Financial assets at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive income     

Loans and advances to 
customers - 179,804,737 4,499,591 184,304,328 

Financial investments 145,837,393,214 (46,655,425,306) 61,824,679 99,243,792,587 
 

        

Sub-total 145,837,393,214 (46,475,620,569) 66,324,270 99,428,096,915 
 

        

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss     

Financial investments 102,489,118 53,414,504,006 2,565,639 53,519,558,763 
 

        

     
Deferred tax assets 2,611,739,639 - 81,178,745 2,692,918,384 
 

        

     
Other liabilities 600,646,745 - 293,312,160 893,958,905 
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The following table reconciles the impairment allowance determined in accordance 
with old financial instruments standards as at 31 December 2019 with the 
impairment allowance determined in accordance with New Financial Instruments 
Standards as at 1 January 2020: 
 
 The Group The Bank 
   
Impairment allowance under  
    old financial instrument standards  
    at 31 December 2019 14,335,898,821 11,184,681,328 
Adjustment on initial application of  
    new financial instruments standards  
    on 1 January 2020   

- Deposits with banks and other 
financial institutions 23,127,782 22,387,089 

- Deposits with supervisory authority 
outside Mainland China 659,225 - 

- Placements with banks and other 
financial institutions 998,504 112,543 

- Financial assets held under resale 
agreements 1,132,969 1,019,318 

- Loans and advances to customers 16,845,252 53,940,586 
- Financial investments 183,417,234 118,437,420 
- Other liabilities 308,541,991 293,312,160 
 

    

Impairment allowance under  
    new financial instrument standards  
    at 1 January 2020 14,870,621,778 11,673,890,444 
 

    
 
The Group retrospectively adjusts the classification and measurement (including 
impairment) of financial instrument that are not derecognised on the date of 
implementation of new financial instrument standards (i.e. 1 January 2020) in 
accordance with the new financial instrument standards. The Group does not 
adjust the comparative financial statements, and the difference between the 
original carrying amount of the financial instrument and the new carrying amount 
on the date of implementation of new financial instrument standards is included in 
the retained earnings or other comprehensive income at the beginning of 2020. 
 

(iv) Impact of classification of financial instruments 
 
In accordance with Caikuai [2018] No.36, the interest receivables from financial 
instruments accrued based on the effective interest rate method as at 1 January 
2020 is reflected under the carrying amounts of corresponding financial 
instruments. Interest receivables due but not received from related financial 
instruments as at 1 January 2020 is presented under other assets. 
 
Certain loans and advances to customers held by the Group, and certain debt 
instruments originally classified as available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-
maturity investments whose objective on the transition date was to collect 
contractual cash flows and sell financial assets. In addition, their contractual cash 
flows were identified as solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. Therefore, these assets were classified as financial assets at 
FVOCI under the new financial instrument standards. 
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss held by the Group, and certain 
financial investments originally classified as held-to-maturity investments or 
available-for-sale financial assets, their contractual cash flows were not identified 
as solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. Therefore, 
these assets were classified as financial assets at FVTPL under the new financial 
instrument standards. Certain debt instruments originally classified as available-
for-sale financial assets whose objective on the transition date was to sell financial 
assets. Therefore, these assets were also classified as financial assets at FVTPL 
under the new financial instrument standards. 
 
Investments classified as receivables held by the Group, and certain investments 
originally classified as held-to-maturity investments whose objective on the 
standards transition date was to collect contractual cash flows. In addition, their 
contractual cash flows were identified as solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal outstanding. Therefore, these assets were classified as financial 
assets measured at amortised cost under the new financial instrument standards. 
 
On the standards transition date the Group chose irrevocably to designate certain 
non-trading equity investments as financial assets at FVOCI. 
 

(v) Presentation of financial statements 
 
The group prepared the financial statements of 2020 in accordance with the 
financial statement format specified in Caikuai [2018] No.36, and changed the 
presentation of relevant financial statements by using the retrospective adjustment 
method. 
 
The presentation and adjustment of relevant financial statements have no 
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements. 
 

4 Taxation 
 

(1) The types of taxes applicable to the Group’s rendering of services include value added tax, 
city maintenance and construction tax, educational surcharge and local education surcharge.  
 
 Tax Name   Tax basis and applicable rate  
  
Value-added tax (VAT) The 6% of the revenue for financial services shall be 

calculated as the output tax. Revenue from sales of some 
goods and taxable services is calculated at 13%. The basis 
for VAT payable is to deduct input VAT from the output VAT 
for the period. 

City maintenance and 
construction tax 

7% of the VAT actually paid in accordance with the tax law 

Educational surcharge 3% of the VAT actually paid in accordance with the tax law 
Local education surcharge 2% of the VAT actually paid in accordance with the tax law 
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(2) Income tax 
 
The income tax rate applicable to the Bank and subsidiary’s branches in mainland China for 
the year is 25% (2019: 25%). 
 
The income tax rate applicable to the subsidiary Xiamen International Investment Limited for 
the year is 16.5% (2019: 16.5%). 
 
The income tax rate applicable to the subsidiary Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited for the 
year is 16.5% (2019: 16.5%). 
 
The income tax rate applicable to the subsidiary Luso International Banking Limited for the 
year is 12% (2019: 12%). 
 
The Bank and its subsidiaries are subject to the statutory tax rate in year 2020. 
 

(3) Tax payable 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 

     
Income tax payable 1,006,011,640 1,162,887,615 845,836,914 811,179,769 
VAT payable 488,571,407 238,855,207 454,310,459 205,330,688 
Others 101,786,143 107,607,033 50,546,180 52,973,622 
 

        

Total 1,596,369,190 1,509,349,855 1,350,693,553 1,069,484,079 
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5 Business combinations and consolidated financial statements 
 

(1) As at 31 December 2020, subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements are as 
follows: 
 

Name 
Place of 

incorporation Registered capital 
Place of 

 operation Nature of business 

Proportion of 
shares held by 
the group (%) 

      
Xiamen International Investment 

Limited 
Hong Kong, 

China HKD6,419,525,528 
Hong Kong, 

China Investment holding 100% 
Chiyu Banking Corporation 

Limited* 
Hong Kong, 

China HKD6,577,870,520 
Hong Kong, 

China Banking 69.63% 
Luso International Banking 

Limited* 
Macau,  

China MOP2,610,000,000 
Macau,  

China Banking 49.04% 

Fast Rise Investments Limited * 
Hong Kong, 

China HKD2 
Hong Kong, 

China 
Business not yet 

commenced 100% 

Silver Win Development Limited * 
Hong Kong, 

China HKD2 
Hong Kong, 

China Property investment 100% 
Rich Capital Development 

Limited* 
Hong Kong, 

China HKD2 
Hong Kong, 

China Nominee services 100% 

XIB (Nominees) Limited* 
Hong Kong, 

China HKD2 
Hong Kong, 

China Nominee services 100% 

Fuxing Park Development Limited* 
Hong Kong, 

China HKD2 
Hong Kong, 

China Nominee services 100% 

Pretty Won Company Limited* 
Hong Kong, 

China HKD2 
Hong Kong, 

China Nominee services 100% 
Chiyu International Financial 

Holdings Limited* 
Hong Kong, 

China HKD12,839,010,658 
Hong Kong, 

China Investment holding 100% 
Chiyu Banking Corporation 

(Nominees) Limited ** 
Hong Kong, 

China HKD100,000 
Hong Kong, 

China 
Nominee service and 

investment holding 100% 

Seng Sun Development Company, 
Limited** 

Hong Kong, 
China HKD2,800,000 

Hong Kong, 
China 

Investment holding and 
leasing of properties to 

group companies 100% 

Grace Charter Limited** 
Hong Kong, 

China HKD2 
Hong Kong, 

China Investment holding 100% 
Chiyu International Capital 

Limited** 
Hong Kong, 

China HKD5,000,000 
Hong Kong, 

China 
Advisor of institutional 

financing 100% 
Chiyu Asset Management 

Limited** 
Hong Kong, 

China HKD356,800,000 
Hong Kong, 

China Asset management 100% 

Sun King Limited** 
Hong Kong, 

China HKD1 
Hong Kong, 

China Holding property 100% 
Chiyu Fund Segregated Portfolio 

Company ** Cayman Islands USD100 Cayman Islands Fund investment 100% 
Chiyu Equity Investment 

Management (Shenzhen) 
Corporation Limited** 

Shenzhen, 
China RMB2,000,000 

Shenzhen,  
China 

Equity investment 
management 100% 

Chiyu Technology Innovation 
(Shenzhen) Corporation 
Limited** 

Shenzhen, 
China RMB1,000,000 

Shenzhen,  
China 

Technology development, 
consulting, service and 

transfer 100% 

 
* These companies are subsidiaries of Xiamen International Investment Limited. The Bank 

indirectly owns the rights of these companies through Xiamen International Investment 
Limited. 

 
** These companies are subsidiaries of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited. The Bank 

indirectly owns the rights of these companies through Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited. 
 
On 27 March 2017, Xiamen International Investment Limited, a subsidiary of the Bank, 
acquired 64.31% of the total issued shares of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited for a total 
consideration of HKD7.685 billion (approximately RMB6.798 billion). As at 31 December 2020, 
the Bank continued to have the right to determine the operation and financial decisions of 
Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited, the Bank continued to include it in the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
On 28 December 2018, Xiamen International Investment Limited, a subsidiary of the Bank, 
increased the capital of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited by HKD964,684,000 
(approximately RMB853,702,655). On 25 January 2019, Xiamen International Investment 
Limited increased the capital of its subsidiary Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited by 
HKD964,684,000, approximately RMB853,300,582. On 25 September 2020, Xiamen 
International Investment Limited increased the capital of its subsidiary Chiyu Banking 
Corporation Limited by HKD1,934,791,488, approximately RMB1,701,120,017. On 28 
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December 2020, Xiamen International Investment Limited increased the capital of its 
subsidiary Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited by HKD1,289,860,040, approximately 
RMB1,090,698,495. As at 31 December 2020, the Bank holds 69.63% of equity interest of 
Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited through its subsidiary Xiamen International Investment 
Limited. 
 

Luso International Banking Limited, a subsidiary of the Bank, issued its ordinary shares to 
third-party shareholders on 28 December 2015. The introduction of third-party shareholders 
resulted in the reduction of the Bank’s shareholding proportion from 100% to 49.04%. The 
Bank is the largest shareholder of Luso International Banking Limited. As at 31 December 
2020, the Bank continued to have the right to determine the operation and financial decisions 
of the Luso International Banking Limited, the Bank continued to include it in the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 

(2) Material non-controlling interests 
 

The following table sets out the relevant information on the non-controlling shareholders of the 
Group’s important subsidiaries: 
 

2020 
 

Name of the Subsidiaries 

Proportion of 
ownership 

interest held by 
non-controlling 

interests 

Profit or loss 
allocated to  

non-controlling 
interests during 

the year 

Dividend  
paid to  

non-controlling 
shareholders 

during the year* 

Balance of non-
controlling 

interests at the 
end of the year 

     

Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited 30.37% 365,998,804 215,443,940 5,798,137,570 
Luso International Banking Limited 50.96% 848,525,580 387,655,065 6,567,725,025 
 

2019 
 

Name of the Subsidiaries 

Proportion of 
ownership 

interest held by 
non-controlling 

interests 

Profit or loss 
allocated to  

non-controlling 
interests during 

the year 

Dividend  
paid to  

non-controlling 
shareholders 

during the year* 

Balance of non-
controlling 

interests at the 
end of the year 

     

Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited 35.46% 415,303,844 184,794,155 5,537,412,972 
Luso International Banking Limited 50.96% 747,266,590 346,584,560 6,240,035,094  
 

(i) Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders during the year 2020 includes cash 
dividend and profits allocated to the owner of other equity instruments. 

 

The following table sets out the key financial information of the above subsidiaries without 
offsetting internal transactions, but with adjustments made for the fair value adjustment at the 
acquisition date and any differences in accounting policies: 
 
  Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited   Luso International Banking Limited  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     

Total assets 137,410,914,432 133,810,343,075 182,590,601,543 180,671,812,271 
Total liabilities 122,394,704,718 121,366,850,261 171,628,723,914 170,325,174,757 

 
  Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited   Luso International Banking Limited  
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
     

Operating income 2,476,277,147 2,452,271,066 2,847,981,593 2,570,350,444 
Net profit 879,217,881 1,004,736,250 1,513,149,780 1,312,654,152 
Total comprehensive income 122,435,399 1,439,364,149 1,022,891,430 1,854,665,754 
Cash flows from operating activities 5,912,150,678 1,440,466,108 8,489,899,389 20,394,903,491 
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6 Cash on hand and deposits with the Central Bank 
 

  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020  
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     

Cash on hand 754,011,728 1,011,883,891 109,795,639 107,333,203 
  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 
Deposits with the Central Bank     

- Mandatory deposits reserve (i) 44,728,489,350 37,892,608,333 40,233,047,718  33,933,597,545 
- Surplus deposits reserve (ii) 9,169,867,663 32,359,138,870 7,867,824,382 30,639,509,202 
- RMB deposits reserve with 

overseas banks (iii) 79,152 55,797 79,152 55,797 
 

        

Sub-total of deposits with the Central 
Bank 53,898,436,165 70,251,803,000 48,100,951,252 64,573,162,544 

 
 -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

Interest accrued 21,191,399 N/A 19,337,362 N/A 
 

        

Total 54,673,639,292 71,263,686,891 48,230,084,253 64,680,495,747 
 

        

 

(i) The Group places statutory deposit reserve funds with the PBOC. The statutory deposit 
reserve funds are not available for the Group’s daily operation. 
 

As at 31 December 2020, the mandatory deposits reserve ratios were as follows: 
 

 31 December 2020  31 December 2019 
   

RMB deposit reserve ratio 10.5% 9.5% 
Foreign currency deposit reserve ratio 5% 5% 
 

The subsidiaries located in mainland China of the Group apply statutory deposit reserves ratio 
in accordance with relevant requirements of the People's Bank of China. The ratio of deposit 
reserve with Hong Kong Monetary Authority and Macau Monetary Authority is determined by 
local regulatory authorities. 
 

(ii) The surplus deposit reserve placed with the PBOC is mainly for the purpose of funds clearing 
and position allocation. 
 

(iii) Pursuant to the “Notice of the People's Bank of China on the Implementation of the Deposit 
Reserve Ratio of the Overseas RMB Business Participating Banks in the Domestic Agent 
Banks (Yin Fa [2016] No.11)” issued by the People’s Bank of China, as the domestic agency 
for overseas RMB business, the Bank separately maintains an overseas RMB deposit reserve 
account, with the appropriation rate of 10.5% (31 December 2019: 9.5%).   
 

7 Deposits with supervisory authority outside Mainland China 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 

     
Deposit reserves placed with the 

Monetary Authority  2,807,295,329 4,383,155,990 - - 
 

        

Total 2,807,295,329 4,383,155,990 - - 
 

        

 
The amount comprises deposit reserves placed with the Monetary Authority by subsidiaries 
of the Group in accordance with the statutory requirements. 



Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 

54 

8 Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 
 
Analysis by type and location of counterparties 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Domestic     

- Banks 16,096,695,439 33,442,095,304 14,796,519,257 30,940,971,400 
- Other financial institutions 178,849,872 19,618,527 178,849,872 19,618,527 

Overseas     
- Banks 16,026,542,067 5,381,796,667 8,300,916,064 1,404,904,804 
- Other financial institutions 307,838,126 2,108,261,811 - - 
     

Interest accrued 8,188,822 N/A 5,318,810 N/A 
 

        

Sub-total 32,618,114,326 40,951,772,309 23,281,604,003 32,365,494,731 
  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 
Less: allowance for impairment  
              losses  (i) (4,296,439,548) (1,029,964,435) (4,163,522,204) (995,361,547) 
 

        

Total 28,321,674,778 39,921,807,874 19,118,081,799 31,370,133,184 
 

        

 
(i) As at 31 December 2020, changes in allowance for impairment losses on deposits with banks 

and other financial institutions are as follows: 
 
  Allowance for impairment losses  
 The Group The Bank 
   
31 December 2019 1,029,964,435 995,361,547 
Changes in accounting policies 23,127,782 22,387,089 
 

    

1 January 2020 1,053,092,217 1,017,748,636 
 

    

 
  The Group  

  2020  

 12-month ECL 
Lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired 
Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired Total 
     
1 January 2020 7,703,160 - 1,045,389,057 1,053,092,217 
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired (18,688) - 18,688 - 
Charge 29,484,299 - 3,213,866,991 3,243,351,290 
Exchange differences (3,959) - - (3,959) 
 

        

31 December 2020 37,164,812 - 4,259,274,736 4,296,439,548 
 

        

 
  The Bank  
  2020  

 12-month ECL 
Lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired 
Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired Total 
     
1 January 2020 7,342,691 - 1,010,405,945 1,017,748,636 
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired (18,688) - 18,688 - 
Charge 28,045,108 - 3,117,728,460 3,145,773,568 
 

        

31 December 2020 35,369,111 - 4,128,153,093 4,163,522,204 
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9 Placements with banks and other financial institutions 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Placements with domestic banks and 

other financial institutions 19,005,892,827 11,044,159,877 - - 
Placements with overseas banks  and 

other financial institutions 4,001,862,239 2,685,382,165 1,400,000,000 2,047,260,805 
     
Interest accrued 8,232,997 N/A 398,361 N/A 
 

        

Sub-total  23,015,988,063 13,729,542,042 1,400,398,361 2,047,260,805 
     
Less: allowance for impairment 
  losses (1,983,164) - (252,072) - 
 

        

Total 23,014,004,899 13,729,542,042 1,400,146,289 2,047,260,805 
 

        

 
The Group believes that there are no significant restrictions on the realisation of the above 
financial assets. 
 

10 Derivative financial assets and liabilities 
 
The Group has the following derivative instruments held for trading purpose: 
 

(1) Interest rate option transaction means that the buyer of an option contract obtains the right (or 
option) to sell or purchase a certain basic product or index at an agreed price at a certain time 
or before in the future after paying the option fee. This kind of contract, of which the main risk 
feature lies in interest rate risk, is related to interest bearing financial instruments, or the 
contract whose cashflow depends on the reference interest rate or other interest rate contracts. 
 

(2) Exchange rate option transaction means that the buyer of the option contract has the right (or 
option) to sell or purchase a certain basic product or index at an agreed price at a certain time 
or before in the future after paying the option fee. This kind of contract, of which the main risk 
feature lies in exchange rate risk, refers to the contract in which the cashflow of foreign 
exchange trading depends on the reference foreign currency. 
 

(3) Currency forward transaction refers to the transaction that the group has promised to buy or 
sell foreign exchange at a certain time in the future. 
 

(4) Foreign exchange swap refers to two currency exchanges with opposite directions on two 
different value dates. In the first currency exchange, one party exchanges currency A for 
currency B at an agreed exchange rate; in the second currency exchange, the other party 
exchanges currency B for currency A at another agreed exchange rate. 

 
(5) Currency option transaction refers to the transaction in which the group has the right to buy 

and sell foreign exchange at a certain time in the future. 
 

(6) Interest rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. The result 
of swaps is an economic exchange of interest rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate), 
instead of exchange of principal. 
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(7) Credit risk mitigation voucher refers to a negotiable voucher created by an organization other 
than the underlying entity to provide credit risk protection for the holder of the voucher on the 
underlying debt. 
The contractual / nominal amount of various derivative financial instruments on the balance 
sheet date only provides a basis for comparison with the recognised fair value assets or 
liabilities, and does not represent the future cashflow or current fair value involved, so it can 
not reflect the credit risk or market risk faced by the group. With the fluctuation of foreign 
exchange rate, market exchange rate and the price of stock and futures related to the contract 
terms of derivative financial products, the valuation of derivative financial products may have 
favorable (assets) or unfavorable (liabilities) effects on banks, which may fluctuate greatly in 
different periods. 
 
For financial instruments without active trading market, the group determines their fair value 
by valuation method, which is discounted cashflow model. To the extent permitted by actual 
operation, various valuation models only use observable data, such as interest rate and 
exchange rate. In addition, when determining the fair value, the group needs to estimate other 
parameters, such as its own and its counterparties' credit risk, market volatility and correlation. 
These observable data and changes in relevant assumptions will have an impact on the fair 
value of financial instruments. 
 
The amounts and fair values of unsettled derivative instruments held by the Group are set out 
in the following tables: 
 

 
Nominal /  

contractual  Fair value  
 amount Assets amount 
31 December 2020    
    

Exchange rate derivatives    
- Foreign exchange swap 63,779,078,382 80,303,105 (420,423,145) 
- Exchange rate options 20,001,701,000 341,168,235 (341,168,235) 
- Currency forward 808,830,942 81,889,607 (12,744,106) 
- Currency Options 15,403,180 21,656 (23,058) 
    

Interest rate derivatives    
- Interest rate options 46,239,708,000 820,856,075 (861,405,348) 
- Interest rate swap 30,392,852,042 58,944,583 (93,211,490) 
    

Credit derivatives    
- Credit risk mitigation voucher 10,000,000 17,700 - 

 
      

Total 161,247,573,546 1,383,200,961 (1,728,975,382) 
 

      

 

 
Nominal/ 

contractual  Fair value  
 amount Assets Liabilities 
31 December 2019    
    

Foreign exchange derivatives    
- Foreign exchange swap 50,243,313,771 253,115 (268,167,792) 
- Currency swap 24,424,011,170 77,592,143 (30,019,802) 
- Currency forward 1,048,721,497 79,315,617 (6,652,925) 
- Currency option 5,507,470 105,452 (8,705) 

    

Interest rate derivatives    
- Interest rate swaps 21,179,887,069 21,774,893 (27,934,913) 
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Total 96,901,440,977 179,041,220 (332,784,137) 
 

      

The amounts and fair values of unsettled derivative instruments held by the Bank are set out 
in the following tables: 
 

 
Nominal /  

contractual  Fair value  
 amount Assets amount 
31 December 2020    
    

Exchange rate derivatives    

- Foreign exchange swap 43,133,639,606 3,134,374 (216,383,807)  

- Exchange rate options 20,001,701,000 341,168,235 (341,168,235) 
    

Interest rate derivatives    
- Interest rate options 46,239,708,000 820,856,075 (861,405,348) 
- Interest rate swap 28,980,000,000 41,237,780 (70,065,802) 

    

Credit derivatives    
- Credit risk mitigation voucher 10,000,000 17,700 - 

       

Total 138,365,048,606 1,206,414,164 (1,489,023,192) 
       

 

 
Nominal /  

contractual  Fair value  
 amount Assets Liabilities 
31 December 2019    
    

Foreign exchange derivatives    
- Foreign exchange swap 50,243,313,771 253,115 (268,167,792) 

    

Interest rate derivatives     
- Interest rate swaps 19,260,000,000 14,410,184 (17,528,832) 

 
      

Total 69,503,313,771 14,663,299 (285,696,624) 
 

      

 
11 Financial assets held under resale agreements 

 
Analysis by collateral 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     

Financial bonds 8,940,420,000 10,622,324,489 8,940,420,000 9,629,242,000 
Government bonds 1,334,152,000 - 1,334,152,000 - 
Interbank certificates of deposit - 1,740,974,000 - 1,740,974,000 
     

Interest accrued 1,893,159 N/A 1,893,159 N/A 
 

        

Sub-total 10,276,465,159 12,363,298,489 10,276,465,159 11,370,216,000 
     

Less: allowance for impairment losses (958,967) - (958,967) - 
 

        

Total 10,275,506,192 12,363,298,489 10,275,506,192 11,370,216,000 
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12 Loans and advances to customers 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Loans and advances to customers 

measured at amortised cost     
     
Corporate loans and advances     

- Loans 417,995,694,075 393,510,935,461 287,583,428,949 251,112,721,121 
- Discounted bills N/A 2,650,590,519 N/A 179,804,737 

 
        

Sub-total 417,995,694,075 396,161,525,980 287,583,428,949 251,292,525,858 

 
 -----------------
-  -----------------

-  -----------------
-  -----------------

- 

Individual loans and advances     
- Individual business loans 47,493,338,733 29,602,157,544 44,236,043,489 26,611,023,751 
- Individual consumer loans 35,959,717,487 23,865,898,245 23,217,902,891 11,704,082,091 
- Residential mortgage loans 15,955,161,673 12,709,927,448 2,459,605,504 1,653,077,748 
- Credit card overdraft 1,277,449,074 1,702,499,651 - - 
- Vehicle mortgage loans 1,421,995,026 1,879,928,926 1,419,820,684 1,878,037,374 
- Others 834,849,478 892,043,262 - - 

 
        

Sub-total 102,942,511,471 70,652,455,076 71,333,372,568 41,846,220,964 

 
 -----------------
-  -----------------

-  -----------------
-  -----------------

- 

Loans and advances to customers 
measured at amortised cost, total 520,938,205,546 466,813,981,056 358,916,801,517 293,138,746,822 

 
 -----------------
-  -----------------

-  -----------------
-  -----------------

- 

Interest accrued 1,828,757,610 N/A 1,049,682,954 N/A 

 
        

Less: Allowance for impairment 
losses on loans and advances 
to customers measured at 
amortised cost     

- Individually assessed N/A (2,566,738,462) N/A (2,167,881,010) 
- Collectively assessed N/A (8,214,338,471) N/A (5,743,825,184) 

 
        

Allowance for impairment losses on 
loans and advances to customers 
measured at amortised cost, total (11,412,313,961) (10,781,076,933) (8,485,285,697) (7,911,706,194) 

 
 -----------------
-  -----------------

-  -----------------
-  -----------------

- 

     
Carrying amount of loans and 

advances to customers measured at 
amortised cost 511,354,649,195 456,032,904,123 351,481,198,774 285,227,040,628 

 
 -----------------
-  -----------------

-  -----------------
-  -----------------

- 

Loans and advances to customers 
measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income     

     
Corporate loans and advances     

- Forfeiting 140,970,500 N/A 140,970,500 N/A 
- Discounted bills 5,125,327,379 N/A 1,977,774,087 N/A 

Carrying amount of loans and 
advances to customers measured at 
fair value through other 
comprehensive income  5,266,297,879 N/A 2,118,744,587 N/A 

 
 -----------------
-  -----------------

-  -----------------
-  -----------------

- 

Net balance of loans and advances to 
customers 516,620,947,074 456,032,904,123 353,599,943,361 285,227,040,628 
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(1) Total loans and advances categorised by guarantee type: 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  

 Carrying values Percentage Carrying values Percentage 
  %  % 
     
Unsecured loans 124,633,651,108 23.68% 93,078,846,876 19.94% 
Guaranteed loans 89,819,501,649 17.07% 90,562,659,682 19.40% 
Collateralised loans 160,159,660,001 30.44% 112,342,593,161 24.07% 
Pledged loans 151,591,690,667 28.81% 170,829,881,337 36.59% 
 

        

Total 526,204,503,425 100.00% 466,813,981,056 100.00% 
 

        

 
The Bank 
 
  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  
 Carrying values Percentage Carrying values Percentage 

  %  % 
     
Unsecured loans 52,875,899,655 14.65% 29,416,200,854 10.03% 
Guaranteed loans 75,895,189,833 21.02% 63,655,429,325 21.72% 
Collateralised loans 139,209,625,583 38.56% 93,298,024,550 31.83% 
Pledged loans 93,054,831,033 25.77% 106,769,092,093 36.42% 
 

        

Total 361,035,546,104 100.00% 293,138,746,822 100.00% 
 

        

 
(2) Overdue loans categorised by guarantee type and overdue periods: 

 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2020  

 

Overdue no more 
than 90 days 
(inclusive of  

90 days) 

Overdue from  
90 days to 1 year 

(inclusive of  
1 year) 

Overdue from  
1 year to 3 years 

(inclusive of  
3 years) 

Overdue  
more than  

3 years Total 
      
Unsecured loans 798,578,812 385,945,581 387,570,765 62,072,186 1,634,167,344 
Guaranteed loans 1,890,094,659 87,693,877 302,260,283 104,481 2,280,153,300 
Collateralised loans 1,474,354,098 607,717,470 1,052,114,552 129,545,726 3,263,731,846 
Pledged loans 2,514,855,275 466,429,975 681,047,603 5,114,594 3,667,447,447 
 

          

Total 6,677,882,844 1,547,786,903 2,422,993,203 196,836,987 10,845,499,937 
 

          

 
  31 December 2019  

 

Overdue no more 
than 90 days 

(inclusive of  
90 days) 

Overdue from  
90 days to 1 year 

(inclusive of  
1 year) 

Overdue from  
1 year to 3 years 

(inclusive of  
3 years) 

Overdue  

more than  
3 years Total 

      
Unsecured loans 488,816,217 95,849,090 105,419,712 74,362,814 764,447,833 
Guaranteed loans 5,851,060,776 49,963,453 473,215,604 47,661,648 6,421,901,481 
Collateralised loans 2,054,400,888 398,321,759 243,673,843 206,223,056 2,902,619,546 
Pledged loans 2,451,288,417 413,861,328 37,362,939 17,412,433 2,919,925,117 
 

          

Total 10,845,566,298 957,995,630 859,672,098 345,659,951 13,008,893,977 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2020  

 

Overdue no more 
than 90 days 
(inclusive of  

90 days) 

Overdue from  
90 days to 1 year 

(inclusive of  
1 year) 

Overdue from  
1 year to 3 years 

(inclusive of  
3 years) 

Overdue  
more than  

3 years Total 
      
Unsecured loans 473,167,200 304,078,487 130,776,075 69,477 908,091,239 
Guaranteed loans 178,580,497 87,693,877 245,739,114 104,481 512,117,969 
Collateralised loans 1,186,382,453 606,378,049 1,044,086,393 15,409,472 2,852,256,367 
Pledged loans 1,184,122,217 466,429,975 674,417,215 - 2,324,969,407 
 

          

Total 3,022,252,367 1,464,580,388 2,095,018,797 15,583,430 6,597,434,982 
 

          

 
  31 December 2019  

 

Overdue no more 
than 90 days 
(inclusive of  

90 days) 

Overdue from  
90 days to 1 year 

(inclusive of  
1 year) 

Overdue from  
1 year to 3 years 

(inclusive of  
3 years) 

Overdue  
more than  

3 years Total 
      
Unsecured loans 212,127,066 24,054,072 2,577,080 9,026,475 247,784,693 
Guaranteed loans 1,087,000 48,334,698 428,093,688 47,661,648 525,177,034 
Collateralised loans 2,000,770,401 370,947,612 133,641,108 131,700,707 2,637,059,828 
Pledged loans 1,831,684,091 413,861,328 23,833,897 17,412,433 2,286,791,749 
 

          

Total 4,045,668,558 857,197,710 588,145,773 205,801,263 5,696,813,304 
 

          

 
Overdue loans refer to all or part of the principal or interest which has been overdue for 1 day 
or more. 
 

(3) Assessment of allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances to customers 
 
The Group 
 
  2020  

 12-month ECL 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired Total 

         

Loans and advances to customers 
measured at amortised cost 508,024,810,468 8,422,891,641 4,490,503,437 520,938,205,546 

Interest accrued 1,746,539,774 76,142,424 6,075,412 1,828,757,610 
 

        

Less: Allowance for impairment losses 
on loans and advances to 
customers measured at amortised 
cost (6,978,777,862) (1,350,461,226) (3,083,074,873) (11,412,313,961) 

 
        

Carrying amount of loans and 
advances to customers measured 
at amortised cost 502,792,572,380 7,148,572,839 1,413,503,976 511,354,649,195 

Carrying amount of loans and 
advances to customers measured 
at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 5,266,297,879 - - 5,266,297,879 

 
 ----------------

-  ----------------
-  ----------------

-  ----------------
- 

     
Carrying amount of loans and advances 

to customers 508,058,870,259 7,148,572,839 1,413,503,976 516,620,947,074 
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The Bank 
 
  2020  

 12-month ECL 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired Total 

         

Loans and advances to customers 
measured at amortised cost 348,157,098,891 6,958,973,897 3,800,728,729 358,916,801,517 

Interest accrued 968,578,484 75,033,066 6,071,404 1,049,682,954 
 

        

Less: Allowance for impairment losses 
on loans and advances to 
customers measured at amortised 
cost (4,615,826,302) (1,302,097,699) (2,567,361,696) (8,485,285,697) 

 
        

Carrying amount of loans and 
advances to customers measured 
at amortised cost 344,509,851,073 5,731,909,264 1,239,438,437 351,481,198,774 

Carrying amount of loans and 
advances to customers measured 
at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 2,118,744,587 - - 2,118,744,587 

 
 ----------------

-  ----------------
-  ----------------

-  ----------------
- 

     

Carrying amount of loans and advances 
to customers 346,628,595,660 5,731,909,264 1,239,438,437 353,599,943,361 

 
        

 
(4) The changes in allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances to customers 

 
The Group 
 

  
Allowance for 

impairment losses 
   

Loans and advances to customers measured at 
amortised cost   

31 December 2019  10,777,573,861 
Changes in accounting policies  20,312,786 
 

   

1 January 2020  10,797,886,647 
    

 
  2020  

 12-month ECL 
Lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired 
Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired Total 
     
Loans and advances to customers 

measured at amortised cost     
1 January 2020 6,875,620,892  1,591,236,709  2,331,029,046  10,797,886,647 
Transfer to 12-months ECL 79,415,237 (79,415,237) - - 
Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-

impaired (47,381,444) 48,797,453 (1,416,009) - 
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired (23,633,820) (512,163,504) 535,797,324 - 
Charge 103,370,515 320,585,728 1,028,330,271 1,452,286,514 
Recoveries of amounts previously 

written off - - 102,985,167 102,985,167 
Write-offs - - (1,054,212,702) (1,054,212,702) 
Exchange difference and other 

adjustments (8,613,518) (18,579,923) 140,561,776 113,368,335 
 

        

31 December 2020 6,978,777,862 1,350,461,226 3,083,074,873 11,412,313,961 
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Allowance for 

impairment losses 
   
Loans and advances to customers measured at FVOCI   
31 December 2019  3,503,072 
Changes in accounting policies  (3,467,534) 

 

   

1 January 2020  35,538 
    

 
The Group 
 
  2020  

 12-month ECL 
Lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired 
Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired Total 
     
Loans and advances to customers 

measured at FVOCI     
1 January 2020 35,538 - - 35,538 
Charge 3,954,993 - - 3,954,993 
 

        

31 December 2020 3,990,531 - - 3,990,531 
 

        

 
  2019  

  Corporate loans and advances   Individual loans and advances   

 
Individual 

assessment 
Collective 

assessment 
Individual 

assessment 
Collective 

assessment Total 
      
1 January 2019 2,157,048,892 5,401,191,832 79,356,802 483,586,062 8,121,183,588 
Charge 704,678,555 1,993,720,776 107,864,431 323,308,472 3,129,572,234 
Recoveries of loans previously written off 254,275,626 - - - 254,275,626 
Written-off (809,238,195) - (1,270,463) - (810,508,658) 
Unwinding of discount on allowance (16,748,804) - (7,218,094) - (23,966,898) 
Exchange difference and other 

adjustments 97,783,237 12,183,657 206,475 347,672 110,521,041 
 

          

31 December 2019 2,387,799,311 7,407,096,265 178,939,151 807,242,206 10,781,076,933 
 

          

 
The Bank 
 

  
Allowance for 

impairment losses 
   
Loans and advances to customers measured at amortised 
cost   
31 December 2019  7,908,203,122 
Changes in accounting policies  57,408,120 
 

   

1 January 2020  7,965,611,242 
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  2020  

 12-month ECL 
Lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired 
Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired Total 
     
Loans and advances to customers 

measured at amortised cost     
1 January 2020 4,694,606,111 1,526,679,218 1,744,325,913 7,965,611,242 
Transfer to 12-months ECL 78,557,327 (78,557,327) - - 
Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-

impaired (35,165,068) 36,581,077 (1,416,009) - 
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired (8,016,785) (512,159,225) 520,176,010 - 
(Reversal) / Charge (114,155,283) 329,553,956 832,552,015 1,047,950,688 
Recoveries of amounts previously 

written off - - 102,985,167 102,985,167 
Write-offs - - (829,976,734) (829,976,734) 
Exchange difference and other 

adjustments - - 198,715,334 198,715,334 
 

        

31 December 2020 4,615,826,302 1,302,097,699 2,567,361,696 8,485,285,697 
 

        

 

  
Allowance for 

impairment losses 
   
Loans and advances to customers measured at FVOCI   
31 December 2019  3,503,072 
Changes in accounting policies  (3,467,534) 
 

   

1 January 2020  35,538 

    

 
  2020  

 12-month ECL 
Lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired 
Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired Total 
     
Loans and advances to customers 

measured at FVOCI     
1 January 2020 35,538 - - 35,538 
Charge 3,205,608 - - 3,205,608 
 

        

31 December 2020 3,241,146 - - 3,241,146 
 

        

 
  2019  
  Corporate loans and advances   Individual loans and advances   

 
Individual 

assessment 
Collective 

assessment 
Individual 

assessment 
Collective 

assessment Total 
      
1 January 2019 1,944,728,396 3,644,796,917 78,226,553 340,991,811 6,008,743,677 
Charge 524,694,647 1,600,657,656 108,358,061 157,378,800 2,391,089,164 
Recoveries of loans previously written off 254,165,593 - - - 254,165,593 
Written-off (730,037,836) - (812,000) - (730,849,836) 
Unwinding of discount on allowance (4,248,070) - (7,194,334) - (11,442,404) 
 

          

31 December 2019 1,989,302,730 5,245,454,573 178,578,280 498,370,611 7,911,706,194 
 

          

 
The Group tests and accrues allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances to 
customers in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 3(14).   
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13 Financial investments - Trading financial assets 
 
  The Group The Bank 

   
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2020 
    
Bond investments    

- Corporate bonds  5,827,814,564 162,634,854 
- Financial bonds  950,899,270 526,158,222 

  

    

Sub-total  6,778,713,834 688,793,076 

  
 ----------------------  ---------------------- 

    
Fund investments  26,873,392,102 21,285,912,531 
Asset management plans  10,145,362,022 10,145,362,022 
Beneficiary rights plans  951,267,816 951,267,816 
Equity investments    

- Unlisted  877,212,755 877,212,755 
- Listed  60,879,984 60,879,984 

Wealth management products  
issued by financial institutions  103,339,011 103,339,011 

Perpetual bonds  52,685,759 - 
Structured bills  16,961,675 - 

  

    

Total  45,859,814,958 34,112,767,195 
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14 Financial investments - Debt investments 
 
  The Group The Bank 

  
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2020 
    
Debt investments    

- Government bonds (1) 15,240,966,908 12,398,610,080 
- Corporate bonds   6,908,564,728 585,731,700 
- Bills issued by Autoridade Monetaria   
     de Macau  8,567,164,423 - 
- Financial bonds  2,236,795,786 1,565,623,013 

  

    

Sub-total  32,953,491,845 14,549,964,793 

  
 ----------------------  ---------------------- 

    
Debt financing plans  24,258,675,035 23,265,298,253 
Beneficiary rights plans  15,676,529,769 15,676,529,769 
Guaranteed fixed income certificates  470,870,411 470,870,411 
    
Interest accrued  803,958,832 642,775,410 
    
Less: allowance for impairment losses (2) (2,838,161,967) (2,816,703,870) 

  

    

Total  71,325,363,925 51,788,734,766 

  

    

 
(1) At the end of each reporting period, part of financial investments measured at amortised cost 

are taken as the collateral for selling under repurchase agreements and treasury time deposits 
(see note 62). 
 

(2) As at 31 December 2020, changes in allowance for impairment losses on financial investments 
measured at amortised cost are as follows: 
 

   Allowance for impairment losses  

   The Group The Bank 

    
31 December 2019  1,758,665,882 1,757,054,932 
Changes in accounting policies  196,010,506 167,880,912 

  

    

1 January 2020  1,954,676,388 1,924,935,844 
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  The Group  
  2020  

 12-month ECL 
Lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired 
Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired Total 
     
1 January 2020 984,553,247 27,461,471 942,661,670 1,954,676,388 
Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-

impaired (384,390) 384,390 - - 
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired (409,855,609) - 409,855,609 - 
Charge 63,675,969 87,187,860 917,392,650 1,068,256,479 
Write-offs - - (182,842,075) (182,842,075) 
Exchange difference (1,021,062) (907,763) - (1,928,825) 
 

        

31 December 2020 636,968,155 114,125,958 2,087,067,854 2,838,161,967 
 

        

 
  The Bank  
  2020  

 12-month ECL 
Lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired 
Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired Total 
     
1 January 2020 982,272,588 1,586 942,661,670 1,924,935,844 
Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-

impaired (384,390) 384,390 - - 
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired (409,855,609) - 409,855,609 - 
Charge 57,602,961 99,614,490 917,392,650 1,074,610,101 
Write-offs - - (182,842,075) (182,842,075) 
 

        

31 December 2020 629,635,550 100,000,466 2,087,067,854 2,816,703,870 
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15 Financial investments - Other debt investments 
 
  The Group The Bank 

   
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2020 
    
Bonds investments    

- Government bonds (1) 112,795,807,750 76,738,088,084 
- Financial bonds (1) 35,619,453,611 13,862,551,190 
- Corporate bonds  21,389,917,917 2,031,467,190 
- Corporate bills  3,685,777,244 3,685,777,244 
- Interbank certificates of deposits  2,591,306,503 2,591,306,503 

  

    

Sub-total  176,082,263,025 98,909,190,211 

  
 ----------------------  ---------------------- 

    
Interest accrued  2,332,202,711 1,299,105,779 

  

    

Total  178,414,465,736 100,208,295,990 

  

    

    
Allowance for impairment losses 

recognised in other comprehensive 
income (3) (877,529,787) (365,309,753) 

  

    

 
(1) At the end of each reporting period, part of financial investments measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income are taken as the collateral for selling under repurchase 
agreements (see note 62). 
 

(2) Changes in fair value 
 

   2020  
   The Group The Bank 
    
Initial recognition cost  179,976,056,275 101,580,607,988 
Fair value  178,414,465,736 100,208,295,990 
Accumulate amount recognised in other 

comprehensive income  (1,561,590,539) (1,372,311,998) 
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(3) As at 31 December 2020, changes in allowance for impairment losses on financial 
investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are as follows: 
 

   Allowance for impairment losses  
   The Group The Bank 
    
31 December 2019  474,983,893 254,726,937 
Changes in accounting policies  (12,593,272) (49,443,492) 

  

    

1 January 2020  462,390,621 205,283,445 

  

    

 
  The Group  
  2020  

 12-month ECL 
Lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired 
Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired Total 
     
1 January 2020 31,117,639 29,860,889 401,412,093 462,390,621 
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired (6,994,284) (98,073) 7,092,357 - 

Charge / (Reverse) 15,328,967 (620,631) 443,626,953 458,335,289 
Exchange differences (5,684,521) (2,222,693) (35,288,909) (43,196,123) 

 

        

31 December 2020 33,767,801 26,919,492 816,842,494 877,529,787 

 

        

 
  The Bank  
  2020  

 12-month ECL 
Lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired 
Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired Total 
     
1 January 2020 2,783,445 - 202,500,000 205,283,445 
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired (118,708) - 118,708 - 

(Reverse) / Charge (234,849) - 160,261,157 160,026,308 
 

        

31 December 2020 2,429,888 - 362,879,865 365,309,753 
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16 Financial investments - Investments in other equity instruments 
 
  The Group The Bank 

   
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2020 
Equity investments designated at fair value 

through other comprehensive income  22,290,807 - 
  

    

 
The Group designates non-trading equity investments as financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income. As at 31 December 2020, the fair value of the equity investments 
is RMB22,290,807. During the reporting period, dividend income of RMB1,956,743 recognised 
for such equity investments was included in the profit or loss. 
 

(1) Changes in fair value 
 

   2020  
   The Group The Bank 
    
Initial recognition cost  12,633,367 - 
Fair value  22,290,807 - 
Accumulate amount recognised in other 

comprehensive income  9,657,440 - 
  

    

 
17 Financial investments - Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 
 The Group The Bank 

 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2019 
   
Corporate bonds 3,008,377,728 - 
Financial bonds 253,217,634 - 
Fund investments 102,489,118 102,489,118 
Structured bills 16,195,983 - 
 

    

Total 3,380,280,463 102,489,118 
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18 Financial investments - Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
 The Group The Bank 

 
31 December  

2019 
31 December  

2019 
   
Bond investments    

- Government bonds 109,329,314,810 75,939,781,215 
- Financial bonds 35,304,424,237 16,442,846,427 
- Corporate bonds 20,517,428,826 1,789,863,846 
- Corporate bills 5,143,611,843 47,644,300 
- Interbank certificate of deposits 798,098,133 798,098,133 
- Financial bills 25,549,514 25,549,514 

 
    

Sub-total 171,118,427,363 95,043,783,435 
   
Fund investments 26,661,135,043 23,393,868,213 
Beneficiary rights plans 16,115,711,720 16,115,711,720 
Wealth management products  

issued by financial institutions  10,622,443,493 10,622,443,493 
Equity investments   

- Listed 51,571,842 51,571,842 
- Unlisted 896,031,615 864,741,448 

 
    

Total available-for-sale financial assets 225,465,321,076 146,092,120,151 
   
Less: allowance for impairment losses (ii) (451,335,194) (254,726,937) 
 

    

Available-for-sale financial assets, net 225,013,985,882 145,837,393,214 
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(i) The cost (amortised cost), fair value, change in fair value recognised in other 
comprehensive income, and allowance for impairment losses of available-for-sale 
financial assets measured at fair value are described as below: 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2019  

 
Available-for-sale 

debt instrument 
Available-for-sale 
equity instrument Total 

    
Cost / Amortised cost 223,827,851,019 651,273,676 224,479,124,695 
Changes in fair value 

recognised in other 
comprehensive income 689,866,600 296,329,781 986,196,381 

Allowance for impairment 
losses (435,259,797) (16,075,397) (451,335,194) 

 
      

Fair value 224,082,457,822 931,528,060 225,013,985,882 
 

      

 
The Bank 
 
  31 December 2019  

 
Available-for-sale 

debt instrument 
Available-for-sale 
equity instrument 

Available-for-sale 
debt instrument 

    
Cost / Amortised cost 144,587,539,329 637,827,646 145,225,366,975 
Change in fair value 

recognised in other 
comprehensive income 588,267,532 278,485,644 866,753,176 

Allowance for impairment 
losses (238,651,540) (16,075,397) (254,726,937) 

 
      

Fair value 144,937,155,321 900,237,893 145,837,393,214 
 

      

 
(ii) Related analysis about allowance for impairment losses on available-for-sale financial 

assets: 
 
  The Group The Bank 

   
31 December  

2019 
31 December  

2019 
    
1 January 2019  212,501,900 114,513,654 
Charge  252,421,459 153,801,448 
Reversal  (13,588,165) (13,588,165) 
  

    

31 December 2019  451,335,194 254,726,937 
  

    



Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 

72 

19 Financial investments - Held-to-maturity investments 
 
 The Group The Bank 

 
31 December  

2019 
31 December  

2019 
   
Corporate bonds 8,353,576,093 - 

Bills issued by Autoridade Monetaria 
 de Macau 8,282,338,106 - 
Financial bonds 7,785,176,595 6,970,506,040 
Government bonds 6,340,263,437 3,952,096,337 

 
    

Total 30,761,354,231 10,922,602,377 
 

    

 
As at 31 December 2019, no impairment provision for financial investments - held-to-maturity 
investments was recognised. 
 

20 Financial investments - Investments classified as receivables 
 
The Group and the Bank 
 
  31 December 2019 
   
Beneficiary rights plans  27,898,774,679 
Debt financing plans  13,463,000,000 
Guaranteed fixed income certificates  1,879,661,918 
  

  

Sub-total  43,241,436,597 
   
Less: allowance for impairment losses (i)  (1,757,054,932) 
  

  

Investments classified as receivables, net  41,484,381,665 
  

  

 
The Group’s beneficiary rights plans are trusts and asset management plans with fixed term 
and recoverable amounts that can be determined. 
 
(i) Changes in allowance for impairment losses on investments classified as receivables : 

 
The Group and the Bank 
 
 31 December 2019 
  
1 January 2019 1,310,940,367 
Charge  

- Individual assessment 356,464,129 
- Collective assessment 130,231,635 

Write-offs (351,147,333) 
Recoveries of amounts previously written off 310,566,134 
 

  

31 December 2019 1,757,054,932 
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21 Long-term equity investments 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Investments in subsidiaries - - 5,634,344,616 4,259,755,384 
 

        

 
The Bank does not have significant restrictions on the realisation of long-term equity 
investments. 
 
As at 31 December 2020, no impairment provision for long-term equity investments was 
recognised (31 December 2019: Nil). 
 
Detailed information of the major subsidiaries that have been consolidated in the financial 
statements of the Group, see Note 5. 
 

22 Investment property 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 

     
Buildings 100,161,405 179,097,040 - - 
 

        

 
Detailed information regarding disclosure of fair value, see Note 66. 
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23 Fixed assets 
 
The Group 
 

 Buildings 
Office equipment 

and furniture 
Computer 

equipment Vehicles Total 
      
Cost      

1 January 2019 1,900,528,919 23,342,427 341,673,724 50,503,027 2,316,048,097 
Additions 49,957,006 8,588,365 139,204,771 4,976,071 202,726,213 
Transfers from construction  

in progress 1,252,075,572 - - - 1,252,075,572 
Disposals (14,075,368) (1,426,191) (13,848,500) (1,171,377) (30,521,436) 
Translation differences 48,235,845 897,843 1,851,299 223,850 51,208,837 
 

          

31 December 2019 3,236,721,974 31,402,444 468,881,294 54,531,571 3,791,537,283 
Additions 86,754,948 14,519,819 143,327,966 4,293,568 248,896,301 
Transfers from investment 

property 64,132,968 - - - 64,132,968 
Transfers from construction  

in progress 91,729,652 - - - 91,729,652 
Disposals (337,083) (3,149,338) (41,773,349) (2,000,056) (47,259,826) 
Translation differences (117,380,633) (1,526,624) (5,439,563) (567,735) (124,914,555) 
 

          

31 December 2020 3,361,621,826 41,246,301 564,996,348 56,257,348 4,024,121,823 
  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 

Less: Accumulated depreciation      
1 January 2019 (284,198,793) (14,489,510) (186,748,050) (30,478,384) (515,914,737) 
Additions (76,844,698) (2,769,692) (59,902,686) (6,275,790) (145,792,866) 
Disposals 14,052,522 1,267,607 11,158,565 1,053,052 27,531,746 
Translation differences (3,821,522) (463,461) (1,299,095) (144,530) (5,728,608) 
 

          

31 December 2019 (350,812,491) (16,455,056) (236,791,266) (35,845,652) (639,904,465) 
Additions (102,752,050) (4,375,615) (74,700,481) (5,409,201) (187,237,347) 
Disposals 317,925 2,877,166 36,869,122 1,800,050 41,864,263 
Translation differences 18,852,310 1,139,276 3,210,377 399,456 23,601,419 
 

          

31 December 2020 (434,394,306) (16,814,229) (271,412,248) (39,055,347) (761,676,130) 

 
 ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 

Net book value      
31 December 2020 2,927,227,520 24,432,072 293,584,100 17,202,001 3,262,445,693 
 

          

31 December 2019 2,885,909,483 14,947,388 232,090,028 18,685,919 3,151,632,818 
 

          

 
As at 31 December 2020, no impairment provision for fixed assets was recognised (2019: Nil). 
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The Bank 
 

 Buildings 
Office equipment 

and furniture 
Computer 

equipment Vehicles Total 
      
Cost      

1 January 2019 104,328,057 10,006,640 268,013,929 40,806,843 423,155,469 
Additions 23,296,557 3,536,566 120,287,940 2,703,818 149,824,881 
Transfers from construction  

in progress 1,249,976,959 - - - 1,249,976,959 
Disposals - (541,291) (11,767,065) (1,171,377) (13,479,733) 
 

          

31 December 2019 1,377,601,573 13,001,915 376,534,804 42,339,284 1,809,477,576 
Additions 49,514 10,424,183 117,905,740 1,609,720 129,989,157 
Transfers from construction  

in progress 73,408,512 - - - 73,408,512 
Disposals - (999,131)  (37,339,290)  (1,672,531) (40,010,952) 
 

          

31 December 2020 1,451,059,599 22,426,967 457,101,254 42,276,473 1,972,864,293 
  ---------------  --------------- ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 

Less: Accumulated depreciation      
1 January 2019 (76,259,558) (6,438,464) (144,508,289) (25,493,861) (252,700,172) 
Additions (37,286,854) (1,314,037) (48,501,493) (4,893,105) (91,995,489) 
Disposals - 416,137 9,237,637 1,053,052 10,706,826 
 

          

31 December 2019 (113,546,412) (7,336,364) (183,772,145) (29,333,914) (333,988,835) 
Additions (62,107,011) (2,202,095) (59,810,835) (3,863,197) (127,983,138) 
Disposals - 873,006 31,286,683 1,505,278 33,664,967 
 

          

31 December 2020 (175,653,423) (8,665,453) (212,296,297) (31,691,833) (428,307,006) 

 
 ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 

Net book value      
31 December 2020 1,275,406,176 13,761,514 244,804,957 10,584,640  1,544,557,287 
 

          

31 December 2019 1,264,055,161 5,665,551 192,762,659 13,005,370 1,475,488,741 
 

          

 
 

24 Construction in progress 
 
The Group 
 

 

1 January  
2020 Additions Disposals 

31 December 
2020 

     
Shanghai Star Bund project 970,981,435 - - 970,981,435 
Research center project 214,056,060 70,935,819 (73,408,512) 211,583,367 
Decoration project 5,927,521 12,756,193 (18,321,140) 362,574 
 

        

Total 1,190,965,016 83,692,012 (91,729,652) 1,182,927,376 
 

        

 

 
1 January 

2019 Additions Disposals 
31 December 

2019 
     
Shanghai Star Bund project 1,030,328,540 1,178,930,144 (1,238,277,249) 970,981,435 
Research center project 186,691,107 46,791,313 (19,426,360) 214,056,060 
Decoration project 2,287,634 5,738,500 (2,098,613) 5,927,521 
 

        

Total 1,219,307,281 1,231,459,957 (1,259,802,222) 1,190,965,016 
 

        

 
As at 31 December 2020, no impairment provision for construction in progress was recognised 
(31 December 2019: Nil). 
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The Bank 
 

 

1 January  
2020 Additions Disposals 

31 December 
2020 

     
Shanghai Star Bund project 970,981,435 - - 970,981,435 
Research centre project 214,056,060 70,935,819  (73,408,512) 211,583,367 
 

        

Total 1,185,037,495 70,935,819  (73,408,512) 1,182,564,802 
 

        

 

 
1 January  

2019 Additions Disposals 
31 December 

2019 
     
Shanghai Star Bund project 1,030,328,540 1,178,930,144 (1,238,277,249) 970,981,435 
Research centre project 186,691,107 46,791,313 (19,426,360) 214,056,060 
 

        

Total 1,217,019,647 1,225,721,457 (1,257,703,609) 1,185,037,495 
 

        

 
 

25 Intangible assets 
 
The Group 
 

 
Computer 

software Land use right Core deposit * Total 

Cost     
1 January 2019 147,699,735 200,653,292 114,414,828 462,767,855 
Additions 16,759,673 - - 16,759,673 
Disposals 1,505 - - 1,505 
 

        

31 December 2019 164,460,913 200,653,292 114,414,828 479,529,033 
Additions 37,156,997 - - 37,156,997 
Translation differences 3,290 - - 3,290 
 

        

31 December 2020 201,621,200 200,653,292 114,414,828 516,689,320 
 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 

Less: Accumulated amortisation     
1 January 2019 (85,920,751) (14,036,980) (11,441,482) (111,399,213) 
Additions (23,399,908) (4,518,221) (5,720,741) (33,638,870) 
 

        

31 December 2019 (109,320,659) (18,555,201) (17,162,223) (145,038,083) 
Additions (30,082,878) (4,518,221) (5,720,741) (40,321,840) 
 

        

31 December 2020 (139,403,537) (23,073,422) (22,882,964) (185,359,923) 

 
----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 

Net book value     
31 December 2020 62,217,663 177,579,870 91,531,864 331,329,397 
 

        

31 December 2019 55,140,254 182,098,091 97,252,605 334,490,950 
 

        

 
* Core deposit is an account which is expected to preserve in the next period, due to steady 

business relationship between the bank and clients. The value of core deposit reflected the 
present value of extra cashflows generated from using deposits in the account at a lower 
cost as an alternative financing method. Core deposit arises from the acquisition of Chiyu 
Banking Corporation Limited by Xiamen International Investment Limited, a subsidiary of 
the Bank at 27 March 2017. 
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As at 31 December 2020, no impairment provision for intangible assets was recognised (31 
December 2019: Nil). 
 
The Bank 
 

 
Computer 

software Land use right Total 
    
Cost    

1 January 2019 146,760,442 200,653,292 347,413,734 
Additions 16,759,673 - 16,759,673 
 

      

31 December 2019 163,520,115 200,653,292 364,173,407 
Additions 37,156,997  37,156,997 
 

      

31 December 2020 200,677,112 200,653,292 401,330,404 

 
 -------------------

- 
 -------------------

- 
 -------------------

- 
Less: Accumulated amortisation    

1 January 2019 (85,819,021) (14,036,980) (99,856,001) 
Additions (23,305,662) (4,518,221) (27,823,883) 
 

      

31 December 2019 (109,124,683) (18,555,201) (127,679,884) 
Additions (29,987,781) (4,518,221) (34,506,002) 
 

      

31 December 2020 (139,112,464) (23,073,422) (162,185,886) 

 
 -------------------

- 
 -------------------

- 
 -------------------

- 

Net book value    
31 December 2020 61,564,648 177,579,870 239,144,518 
 

      

31 December 2019 54,395,432 182,098,091 236,493,523 
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26 Goodwill 
 
The Group 
 

 
31 December  

2020 
31 December  

2019 
   
1 January 2020 2,753,649,201 2,753,649,201 
Additions through acquisition of subsidiaries - - 
 

    

Sub-total 2,753,649,201 2,753,649,201 
   
Less: Allowance for impairment losses - - 
 

    

31 December 2020 2,753,649,201 2,753,649,201 
 

    

 
The Bank purchased 64.31% of the total issued shares of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited 
for a total consideration of HKD7,685,000,000 (equivalent to RMB6,797,843,600) in cash. The 
difference of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited 
obtained by proportionate, which less than the combined cost of RMB2,753,649,201 was 
recognised as goodwill. 
 
Goodwill is allocated to the Group's asset group, which is Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited 
acquired in 2017.   
 
Goodwill, arising from the business combination has been allocated to an asset group on a 
reasonable basis and assessed for impairment. The asset group is no greater than any 
reporting segment of the Group. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset group is determined by its present value of expected 
future cash flows based on a five-year financial projection authorised by the management of 
Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited. The average growth rate is calculated as a similar growth 
rate no greater than the industry’s long-term growth rate in which the asset group operates. 
Future cash flows are discounted using pre-tax discounted rate considering specific risk of the 
asset group. 
 
At the end of the period, after performed impairment tests on goodwill, no impairment was 
recognised on goodwill arising from the business combination. (31 December 2019: Nil). 
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27 Long-term deferred expenses 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Expenditure on improvement of fixed 

assets leased in under operating 
lease 41,405,143 40,107,359 30,694,032 30,673,257 

Development and maintenance cost of 
computer system 5,677,516 3,329,942 7,956 28,329 

Others 9,828,365 6,647,883 - 25,034 
 

        

Total 56,911,024 50,085,184 30,701,988 30,726,620 
 

        

 
28 Deferred tax assets / liabilities 

 
(1) Deferred tax assets without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances are as 

follows: 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  

 

Deductible 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred 
 tax assets 

Deductible 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred 
 tax assets 

     
Impairment losses on assets 13,902,106,704 3,316,586,437 9,674,250,044 2,250,325,976 
Fair value changes of financial 

instruments 1,961,632,098 464,777,764 479,492,696 93,451,339 
Untaxed write-off loans 2,432,772,440 608,193,110 1,546,739,060 386,684,765 
Accelerated depreciation of fixed 

assets 42,022,050 5,042,646 44,129,181 5,295,502 
Employee benefits payable 413,280,104 97,962,129 1,100,072,124 275,018,031 
Government grants related to assets 66,237,248 16,559,312 59,804,744 14,951,186 
Others 468,803,125 100,239,076 531,029,109 126,660,774 
 

        

Total 19,286,853,769 4,609,360,474 13,435,516,958 3,152,387,574 
 

        

 
The Bank 
 
  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  

 

Deductible 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred 
 tax assets 

Deductible 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred 
 tax assets 

     
Impairment losses on assets 12,282,420,636 3,070,605,159 8,248,293,860 2,062,073,465 
Fair value changes of financial 

instruments 1,614,595,584 403,648,896 271,033,324 67,758,331 
Untaxed write-off loans 2,432,772,440 608,193,110 1,546,739,060 386,684,765 
Employee benefits payable 369,698,516 92,424,629 1,100,072,124 275,018,031 
Government grants related to assets 66,237,248 16,559,312 59,804,744 14,951,186 
Others 127,029,128 31,757,282 87,768,620 21,942,155 
 

        

Total 16,892,753,552 4,223,188,388 11,313,711,732 2,828,427,933 
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(2) Deferred tax liabilities without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances are as 
follows: 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  

 

Taxable 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred 
 tax liabilities 

Taxable 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred 
 tax liabilities 

     
Fair value changes of financial 

instruments (569,157,651) (102,079,817) (1,066,310,762) (256,973,730) 
Accelerated depreciation of fixed 

assets (277,767,312) (45,831,606) (268,601,491) (44,319,246) 
Impact of income tax rate difference of 

overseas subsidiaries (5,768,355,025) (753,020,803) (4,887,992,467) (630,908,401) 
Fair value measurement of investment 

properties (1,096,973,281) (181,000,592) (1,116,019,482) (184,143,215) 
 

        

Total (7,712,253,269) (1,081,932,818) (7,338,924,202) (1,116,344,592) 
 

        

 
The Bank 
 
  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  

 

Taxable 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred 
 tax liabilities 

Taxable 
temporary 
difference 

Deferred 
 tax liabilities 

     
Fair value changes of financial 

instruments (259,853,068) (64,963,267) (866,753,176) (216,688,294) 
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(3) The net balance of deferred tax assets / liabilities after offsetting is as follows: 
 
The Group 
 
  2020  

 

 
31 December 

2019 

Changes in 
accounting 

policies 
1 January  

2020 

Deferred tax 
charged to profit 

and loss 

Deferred 
tax charged 

to equity 
31 December 

2020 
       
Deferred tax assets / liabilities, 

net       
- Impairment losses on assets 2,250,325,976 73,617,529 2,323,943,505 1,026,252,789 (33,609,857) 3,316,586,437 
- Fair value changes of 

financial instruments (163,522,390) 10,206,212 (153,316,178) 93,298,941 422,715,184 362,697,947 
- Accelerated depreciation of 

fixed assets (39,023,744) - (39,023,744) (3,360,596) 1,595,380 (40,788,960) 
- Untaxed write-off loans 386,684,765 - 386,684,765 221,508,345 - 608,193,110 
- Employee benefits payable 275,018,031 - 275,018,031 (177,055,902) - 97,962,129 
- Government grants 14,951,186 - 14,951,186 1,608,126 - 16,559,312 
- Impact of income tax rate 

difference of overseas 
subsidiaries (630,908,401) - (630,908,401) (132,363,004) 10,250,602 (753,020,803) 

- Fair value measurement of 
investment properties (184,143,215) - (184,143,215) (6,989,399) 10,132,022 (181,000,592) 

- Others 126,660,774 - 126,660,774 (24,963,498) (1,458,200) 100,239,076 
 

            

Total 2,036,042,982 83,823,741 2,119,866,723 997,935,802 409,625,131 3,527,427,656 
 

            

 
The Bank 
 
  2020  

 

 
31 December 

2019 

Changes in 
accounting 

policies 
1 January  

2020 

Deferred tax 
charged to profit 

and losst 

Deferred 
tax charged 

to equity 
31 December 

2020 
       
Deferred tax assets / liabilities, 

net       
- Impairment losses on 

assets 2,062,073,465 70,972,533 2,133,045,998 978,367,152 (40,807,991) 3,070,605,159 
- Fair value changes of 

financial instruments (148,929,963) 10,206,212 (138,723,751) 74,367,640 403,041,740 338,685,629 
- Untaxed write-off loans 386,684,765 - 386,684,765 221,508,345 - 608,193,110 
- Employee benefits payable 275,018,031 - 275,018,031 (182,593,402) - 92,424,629 
- Government grants 14,951,186 - 14,951,186 1,608,126 - 16,559,312 
- Others 21,942,155 - 21,942,155 9,815,127 - 31,757,282 

 
            

Total 2,611,739,639 81,178,745 2,692,918,384 1,103,072,988 362,233,749 4,158,225,121 
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The Group 
 
  2019  

 

Balance at 
the beginning 

of the year 

Deferred tax 
charged to profit 

and loss 

Deferred 
tax charged 

to equity 

Balance at 
the end 

of the year 
     

Deferred tax assets / liabilities, net     
- Impairment losses on assets 1,425,269,967 825,056,009 - 2,250,325,976 
- Fair value changes of financial 

instruments (72,187,294) 74,157,836 (165,492,932) (163,522,390) 
- Untaxed write-off loans 265,788,745 120,896,020 - 386,684,765 
- Accelerated depreciation of fixed 

assets (36,465,234) (2,558,510) - (39,023,744) 
- Employee benefits payable 295,374,115 (20,356,084) - 275,018,031 
- Impact of income tax rate difference 

of overseas subsidiaries (468,823,904) (162,084,497) - (630,908,401) 
- Fair value measurement of 

investment properties (181,961,898) (2,181,317) - (184,143,215) 
- Government grants related to 

assets 14,243,804 707,382 - 14,951,186 
- Others 98,075,044 28,585,730 - 126,660,774 

 
        

Total 1,339,313,345 862,222,569 (165,492,932) 2,036,042,982 
 

        

 
The Bank 
 
  2019  

 

Balance at 
the beginning 

of the year 

Deferred tax 
charged to profit 

and loss 

Deferred 
tax charged 

to equity 

Balance at 
the end 

of the year 
     
Deferred tax assets / liabilities, net     

- Impairment losses on assets 1,330,454,862 731,618,603 - 2,062,073,465 
- Fair value changes of financial 

instruments (139,200,102) 60,058,091 (69,787,952) (148,929,963) 
- Untaxed write-off loans 265,788,745 120,896,020 - 386,684,765 
- Employee benefits payable 295,374,115 (20,356,084) - 275,018,031 
- Government grants related to 

assets 14,243,804 707,382 - 14,951,186 
- Others 14,440,072 7,502,083 - 21,942,155 

 
        

Total 1,781,101,496 900,426,095 (69,787,952) 2,611,739,639 
 

        

 
The above deferred tax assets are the tax impact of the differences between the pre-tax 
accounting profits and the taxable income of the Group, which the management estimate to 
bring tax benefits to the Group in the future. When making the estimation and recognizing 
deferred income tax assets, the management of the Group not only considers the relevant 
provisions and actual conditions of the current tax laws and regulations, but also takes the 
principle of prudence into account. 
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29 Other assets 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Receivable of Xiamen International 

Investment Limited  - - 225,312,953 239,818,009 
Temporary payments and receivables 2,285,493,332 1,035,114,820 493,478,824 263,574,403 
Prepaid expenses (i) 1,618,182,138 409,669,369 1,554,858,025 342,725,796 
Option fee receivables 1,248,471,465 - 1,248,471,465 - 
Interest receivables (ii) 530,244,741 5,457,272,108 394,033,738 3,410,301,995 
Repossessed assets (iv) 189,985,584 129,207,056 87,032,672 - 
Assets transferred with continuing 

involvement (iii) 113,361,938 137,688,976 113,361,938 137,688,976 
Pledge deposits 42,889,970 28,081,494 - - 
Others 405,030,543 306,018,956 346,580,342 255,676,514 
 

        

Sub-total 6,433,659,711 7,503,052,779 4,463,129,957 4,649,785,693 
     
Less: allowances for impairment 

losses (v) (220,302,800) (187,687,058) (216,358,857)  (187,687,058) 
 

        

Total 6,213,356,911 7,315,365,721 4,246,771,100 4,462,098,635 
 

        

 
(i) Prepaid expenses are mainly provision for joint loans. 

 

(ii) Interest receivables： 

 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 

     
Loans and advances to 

customers 264,572,105 1,877,544,836 141,941,935 821,762,543 
Financial investments 214,440,267 2,853,554,792 200,859,434 1,903,355,851 
Deposits with banks and  

other financial institutions 51,232,369 678,104,596 51,232,369 662,096,791 
Deposits with the Central Bank  - 20,013,339 - 18,316,300 
Financial assets held under 

resale agreements  - 4,608,681 - 4,514,543 
Placements with banks and 

other financial institutions - 23,445,864 - 255,967 
 

        

Total 530,244,741 5,457,272,108 394,033,738 3,410,301,995 
 

        

 
(iii) For Hua’neng trust Jinli No.1 property right trust issued by the group in 2019, the Group 

has neither retained nor transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, 
and the Group has not relinquished control of the asset. The relevant financial assets 
shall be recognised to the extent to which the Group has a continuing involvement in the 
asset, and the relevant liabilities shall be recognised accordingly. As at 31 December 
2020, the Group's balance of assets and liabilities transferred with continuing 
involvement was RMB113,361,938 (31 December 2019: RMB137,688,976). 

 
(iv) Repossessed assets are buildings and obligatory rights. 
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(v) As at 31 December 2020, changes in allowance for impairment losses on other assets 
are as follows: 
 

   Allowance for impairment losses  
   The Group The Bank 
    
31 December 2019  187,687,058 187,687,058 
Changes in accounting policies  876,287 - 

  

    

1 January 2020  188,563,345 187,687,058 

  

    

 
  The Group  
  2020  

 12-month ECL 
Lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired 
Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired Total 
     
1 January 2020 644,726 - 187,918,619 188,563,345 
Charge 3,334,101 - 28,421,944 31,756,045 
Write-offs -  (8,134) (8,134) 
Exchange differences (42,746) - 34,290 (8,456) 

 

        

31 December 2020 3,936,081 - 216,366,719 220,302,800 

 

        

 
  The Bank  
  2020  

 12-month ECL 
Lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired 
Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired Total 
     
1 January 2020 387,460 - 187,299,598 187,687,058 
Charge (69,595) - 28,741,394 28,671,799 
 

        

31 December 2020 317,865 - 216,040,992 216,358,857 
 

        

 
30 Borrowing from the Central Bank 

 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

     
Refinancing 7,163,630,000 - 7,163,630,000 - 
Special purpose vehicle loans 221,260,000 - 221,260,000 - 
Interest accrued 4,080,227 N/A 4,080,227 N/A 
 

        

Total 7,388,970,227 - 7,388,970,227 - 
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31 Deposits from banks and other financial institutions 
 
Analysis of the category and location of the counterparty 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Domestic     

- Banks 22,550,318,687 24,790,906,506 13,469,661,390 11,750,006,647 
- Other financial institutions 42,939,610,309 30,293,126,732 35,890,979,736 30,293,126,732 

     
Overseas     

- Banks 8,023,096,941 8,793,892,023  2,745,958 343,641,691 
- Other financial institutions 56,062,186 9,252,242 - - 
     
Interest accrued 386,228,598 N/A 271,221,001 N/A 

 
        

Total 73,955,316,721 63,887,177,503 49,634,608,085 42,386,775,070 
 

        

 
32 Placements from banks and other financial institutions 

 
Analysis of the category and location of the counterparty 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

     
     
Domestic Banks 11,272,336,866 6,573,913,897 9,412,661,181 4,059,299,083 

Including: gold lease payables (i) 7,876,615,372 2,035,440,000 7,876,615,372 2,035,440,000 
Overseas banks 11,933,147,359 13,124,021,256 86,971,682 1,248,918,061 
Interest accrued 101,423,353 N/A 80,764,876 N/A 
 

        

Total 23,306,907,578 19,697,935,153 9,580,397,739 5,308,217,144 
 

        

 
(i) The spot sale and forward purchase transactions of gold between the Group and the 

same counterparty with the same transaction type and quantity and matching period are 
essentially financing activities. The Group will comprehensively account for related 
transactions with other liabilities and carry out subsequent measurement with amortized 
cost. At the same time, leased gold for this purpose matches the above-mentioned gold 
financing transactions in terms of transaction type, quantity and lease period. The value 
of the leased gold and the arrangement of repaying physical gold are recorded off the 
balance sheet. The Group only considers whether the relevant gold financing liabilities 
are sufficient to fulfill the obligation of repaying physical gold when the above-mentioned 
gold financing counterparties fail to perform. There is no non- performance of any 
financing counterparties in the Group's historical period, so the Group believes that the 
possibility of failing to fulfill its obligation to repay physical gold is extremely low. 
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33 Trading financial liabilities 
 
 The Group The Bank 

 
31 December  

2020 
31 December  

2020 
   
Equity-linked deposits 17,006,643 - 
Currency-linked deposits 1,340,451 - 
 

    

Total 18,347,094 - 
 

    

 
34 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

 
 The Group The Bank 

 
31 December  

2019 
31 December  

2019 
   
Equity-linked deposits 18,930,214 - 
Currency-linked deposits 23,222 - 
 

    

Total 18,953,436 - 
 

    

 
35 Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements 

 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Bonds     

- Government bonds 19,528,802,173 30,475,348,524 6,755,850,000 22,636,390,000 
- Financial bonds  3,211,158,484 2,788,319,981 997,500,000 2,193,350,000 
     

Bills 1,992,177,028 1,728,711,610 1,454,458,269 - 
     
Interest accrued 39,465,101 N/A 3,176,628 N/A 
 

        

Total 24,771,602,786 34,992,380,115 9,210,984,897 24,829,740,000 
 

        

 
Book values of the relevant collaterals for financial assets sold under repurchase agreements 
stated above are disclosed in Note 62(2). 
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36 Deposits from customers 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Current deposits     

- Corporate customers 77,395,007,049 77,395,514,412 49,585,098,912 56,697,879,169 
- Individual customers 30,279,120,814 22,485,991,119 4,236,305,070 3,261,171,666 

Time deposits     
- Corporate customers 409,089,777,514 400,559,815,933 317,542,164,879 301,407,103,463 
- Individual customers 132,799,728,192 134,033,406,400 43,398,474,968 34,616,422,878 

Others 68,185,903 206,842,949 68,185,903 206,842,949 
Interest accrued 5,779,656,455 N/A 4,766,677,662 N/A 
 

        

Total 655,411,475,927 634,681,570,813 419,596,907,394 396,189,420,125 
 

        

 
Deposits from customers stated above include: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
(1) Pledged deposits     

- Current deposits 3,110,917,514 2,485,653,527 2,893,543,056 2,122,153,609 
- Time deposits 4,770,312,677 18,765,687,358 4,401,494,929 18,658,604,065 
 

        

Total 7,881,230,191 21,251,340,885 7,295,037,985 20,780,757,674 
 

        

 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

     
(2) Others     

- Temporary deposits 27,912 27,841 27,912 27,841 
- Others 68,157,991 206,815,108 68,157,991 206,815,108 
 

        

Total 68,185,903 206,842,949 68,185,903 206,842,949 
 

        

 
37 Employee benefits payable 

 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Short-term employee benefits 

payable (i) 1,290,800,436 1,074,058,516 1,060,736,278 884,063,045 
Defined contribution plans payable (ii) 2,519,460 4,761,432 2,519,460 4,355,612 
Other long-term employee benefits 

payable (iii) 129,910,736 702,986,857 108,031,133 702,986,857 
 

        

Total 1,423,230,632 1,781,806,805 1,171,286,871 1,591,405,514 
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(i) Short-term employee benefits payable 
 
The Group 
 

 

1 January 
2020 Accruals Paid 

31 December 
2020 

     

Salaries and bonuses 1,072,912,927 3,112,828,252 (2,897,052,275) 1,288,688,904 

Staff welfare 391,132 43,149,245 (43,540,377) - 

Social insurance 288,820 54,257,184 (54,399,206) 146,798 

Medical insurance 253,128 49,316,343 (49,422,673) 146,798 

Work injury insurance * 5,918 128,396 (134,314) - 

Maternity insurance 29,774 4,812,445 (4,842,219) - 

Housing funds 341,082 99,269,491 (99,438,648) 171,925 
Labor union funds and  

employee education funds 124,555 46,424,584 (44,756,330) 1,792,809 
 

        

Total 1,074,058,516 3,355,928,756 (3,139,186,836) 1,290,800,436 
 

        

 
The Bank 
 

 
1 January 

2020 Accruals Paid 
31 December 

2020 
     
Salaries and bonuses 884,063,045 1,952,527,719 (1,777,630,484) 1,058,960,280 
Staff welfare - 40,295,706 (40,295,706) - 
Social insurance - 49,081,891 (49,081,891) - 

Medical insurance - 44,726,725 (44,726,725) - 
Work injury insurance * - 120,583 (120,583) - 
Maternity insurance - 4,234,583 (4,234,583) - 

Housing funds - 89,251,317 (89,251,317) - 
Labor union funds and  

employee education funds - 42,923,267 (41,147,269) 1,775,998 
 

        

Total 884,063,045 2,174,079,900 (1,997,406,667) 1,060,736,278 
 

        

 
The Group 
 

 
1 January 

2019 Accruals Paid 
31 December 

2019 
     
Salaries and bonuses 754,764,963 2,628,658,108 (2,310,510,144) 1,072,912,927 
Staff welfare - 30,182,006 (29,790,874) 391,132 
Social insurance 1,947 53,391,940 (53,105,067) 288,820 

Medical insurance 1,761 47,826,879 (47,575,512) 253,128 
Work injury insurance 36 834,526 (828,644) 5,918 
Maternity insurance 150 4,730,535 (4,700,911) 29,774 

Housing funds 2,221 78,730,965 (78,392,104) 341,082 
Labor union funds and 

employee education funds 7,900 41,288,615 (41,171,960) 124,555 
 

        

Total 754,777,031 2,832,251,634 (2,512,970,149) 1,074,058,516 
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The Bank 
 

 

1 January  
2019 Accruals Paid 

31 December 
2019 

     
Salaries and bonuses 611,809,822 1,638,648,034 (1,366,394,811) 884,063,045 
Staff welfare - 28,376,557 (28,376,557) - 
Social insurance - 50,222,371 (50,222,371) - 

Medical insurance - 45,099,936 (45,099,936) - 
Work injury insurance - 775,495 (775,495) - 
Maternity insurance - 4,346,940 (4,346,940) - 

Housing funds - 73,472,461 (73,472,461) - 
Labor union funds and  

employee education funds - 39,481,847 (39,481,847) - 
 

        

Total 611,809,822 1,830,201,270 (1,557,948,047) 884,063,045 
 

        

 (ii) Post-employment benefits - Defined contribution plans 
 
The Group 
 

 
1 January  

2020 Accruals Paid 
31 December 

2020 
     
Government mandated defined 

contribution retirement 
insurance * 391,525 11,370,913 (11,762,438) - 

Unemployment insurance * 14,295 455,197 (469,492) - 
Annuity scheme - 39,136,528 (39,136,528) - 
Supplementary medical 

insurance - 18,128,529 (18,128,529) - 
Supplementary housing funds - 10,682,749 (10,682,749) - 
Xingfu funds 4,355,612 72,314,419 (74,150,571) 2,519,460 
 

        

Total 4,761,432 152,088,335 (154,330,307) 2,519,460 
 

        

 
The Bank 
 

 
1 January  

2020 Accruals Paid 
31 December 

2020 
     
Government mandated defined 

contribution retirement 
insurance * - 10,680,559 (10,680,559) - 

Unemployment insurance * - 428,476 (428,476) - 
Annuity scheme - 39,136,528 (39,128,992) - 
Supplementary medical 

insurance - 18,128,529 (18,128,529) - 
Supplementary housing funds - 10,682,749 (10,682,749) - 
Xingfu funds 4,355,612 72,314,419 (74,150,571) 2,519,460  
 

        

Total 4,355,612 151,371,260 (153,207,412) 2,519,460 
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The Group 
 

 

1 January  
2019 Accruals Paid 

31 December 
2019 

     
Government mandated defined 

contribution retirement 
insurance 8,278 92,687,365 (92,304,118) 391,525 

Unemployment insurance 139 3,603,560 (3,589,404) 14,295 
Annuity scheme - 31,462,137 (31,462,137) - 
Supplementary medical 

insurance - 16,334,441 (16,334,441) - 
Supplementary housing funds - 11,975,396 (11,975,396) - 
Xingfu funds 4,114,023 65,025,776 (64,784,187) 4,355,612 
 

        

Total 4,122,440 221,088,675 (220,449,683) 4,761,432 
 

        

 
The Bank 
 

 

1 January  
2019 Accruals Paid 

31 December 
2019 

     
Government mandated defined  

contribution retirement insurance - 87,119,159 (87,119,159) - 
Unemployment insurance - 3,351,247 (3,351,247) - 
Annuity scheme - 31,462,137 (31,462,137) - 
Supplementary medical 

insurance - 16,334,441 (16,334,441) - 
Supplementary housing funds - 11,975,396 (11,975,396) - 
Xingfu funds 4,114,023 65,025,776 (64,784,187) 4,355,612 
 

        

Total 4,114,023 215,268,156 (215,026,567) 4,355,612 
 

        

 
* In order to mitigate COVID-19’s impact on enterprises, the Ministry of Human 

Resources and Social Security, the Ministry of Finance and the State Taxation 
Administration issued the Notice on the Phased Reduction of Enterprise Social 
Insurance Premiums in 20 February 2020 (Ren She Bu Fa [2020] No.11)  and Notice 
on Extending the Implementation Period of the Policy of Phased Reduction of 
Enterprise Social Insurance Premiums (Ren She Bu Fa [2020] No.49) in 22 June 
2020, from February 2020 to the end of December 2020, government mandated 
defined contribution retirement insurance, unemployment insurance and work injury 
insurance of small and medium-sized enterprises are reduced from the payment by 
the enterprises. 

 
(iii) Other long-term employee benefits payable 

 
The Group and the Bank 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Balance at the beginning of the 

year 702,986,857 942,228,848 702,986,857 942,228,848 
Reversal (239,371,199) (144,000,000) (261,250,802) (144,000,000) 
Paid (333,704,922) (95,241,991) (333,704,922) (95,241,991) 
 

        

Balance at the end of the year 129,910,736 702,986,857 108,031,133 702,986,857 
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Other long-term employee benefits payable of the Group is mainly staff incentive plan. 
The Group has applied the best estimate to determine the payable obligation for staff 
incentive plan and recognised in expenses (Note 3(16)(d)). Since December 2010, the 
staff incentive plan has begun to apportion the corresponding cost, with a validity period 
of 10 years and a lock-in period of 3 years, which has expired in December 2020. In 
2020, the Group pays the number of incentive shares that meet the payment conditions 
in accordance with administrative measures regarding staff incentive plan. 
 

38 Debt securities issued 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

     
Tier 2 capital bonds (i) 6,996,060,431 6,995,532,480 6,996,060,431 6,995,532,480 
Fixed-rate subordinated bond (ii) 3,136,564,994 3,346,003,880 - - 
Financial bonds (iii) 10,798,754,140 9,700,000,000 11,000,000,000 10,000,000,000 
Interbank certificate of deposits (iv) 64,289,518,790 68,215,938,994 64,289,518,790 68,215,938,994 
 

        

Interest accrued 263,109,494 N/A 252,692,876 N/A 
 

        

Total 85,484,007,849 88,257,475,354 82,538,272,097 85,211,471,474 
 

        

 
(i) Pursuant to the official documents Yin Shi Chang Xu Zhun Yu Zi [2016] No.28 issued by PBOC 

and Xia Yin Jian Fu [2015] No.142 issued by CBRC Xiamen Banking Regulatory Bureau, the 
secondary capital bonds issued by the Group in 2016 are set out as below: 
 
On 15 March 2016, the Group issued tier 2 capital bonds with a face value of RMB 7 billion 
and a maturity of 10 years. The bonds have a fixed coupon rate at 4.18% per annum payable 
annually during the first 5 years’ period. The Group has an option to redeem all the bonds at  
face value on 17 March 2021 either partially or in entirely. If the Group does not exercise this 
redemption option, the coupon rate of the bonds for the remaining period shall still be the 
issuing rate which remains fixed until the maturity date. 
 
The tier 2 capital bonds rank senior in right of payments to equity holders but junior in right of 
payment to other indebtedness and other liabilities. Moreover, bond holders are not allowed to 
request for accelerated repayment of bond principal and interest unless the Group is in 
bankruptcy, closure or liquidation. The bonds are qualified as tier 2 capital in the calculation of 
capital adequacy ratio. 
 
There was no violation of contracts relating to tier 2 capital bonds as at 31 December 2020 
(2019: Nil). The tier 2 capital bonds do not involve any guarantees. 
 

(ii) On 30 October 2018, the Group issued HKD fixed-rate subordinated bonds with an aggregate 
amount of HKD1.22 billion, with a fixed coupon rate of 6% per annum payable semi-annually. 
On 28 December 2017 and 8 March 2018, the Group issued USD fixed-rate subordinated 
bonds amounting to USD0.34 billion, with a fixed coupon rate of 5.375%, interest paid semi-
annually. 
 

(iii) On 12 December 2018, the Group issued financial bonds with an aggregate amount of RMB10 
billion, with a maturity of 3 years and with a fixed coupon rate of 3.88% per annum payable 
annually. 
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On 17 December 2020, the Group issued first special financial bonds for small and micro 
enterprise loans with an aggregate amount of RMB1 billion, with a maturity of 3 years and with 
a fixed coupon rate of 3.59% per annum payable annually. 
 

(iv) In 2020, the Group issued a total of 181 interbank certificates of deposits to the national 
interbank bond market with a deposit value of RMB81.63 billion, which were zero-interest-
bearing with a term of 1 month to 12 months. In 2019, the Group issued a total of 283 interbank 
certificates of deposits, with a deposit value of RMB167.66 billion, which were zero-interest-
bearing with a term of 1 month to 12 months. As at 31 December 2020, a total of 141 periods 
of interbank certificates that have not yet expired amounted to RMB64.29 billion. 

 
39 Other liabilities 

 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 

     
Temporary receipts and payables 3,192,678,905 1,049,992,083 1,399,767,483 321,456,998 
Option fee payables 1,207,922,192 - 1,207,922,192 - 
Allowance for impairment losses on 

off-balance sheet credit assets 270,924,678 94,577,845 223,694,429 78,144,658 
Bank promissory notes 140,429,322 211,438,536 - - 
Liabilities transferred with continuing 

involvement (Note29 (ii)) 113,361,938 137,688,976 113,361,938 137,688,976 
Deferred income 108,053,981 93,271,937 66,237,248 59,804,744 
Interest payable (i) - 6,503,084,133 - 4,793,922,579 
Others 215,681,465 213,767,425 11,197,899 3,551,369 
 

        

Total 5,249,052,481 8,303,820,935 3,022,181,189 5,394,569,324 
 

        

 
(i) Interest payable 

 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Deposits from customers - 5,644,247,789 - 4,162,531,957 
Deposits from banks and other 

financial institutions - 498,256,118 - 310,182,652 
Debt securities issued  287,196,114  251,610,959 
Placements from banks and other 

financial institutions - 56,235,122 - 55,081,809 
Financial assets sold under 

repurchase agreements - 15,360,816 - 14,515,202 
Others - 1,788,174 - - 
 

        

Total - 6,503,084,133 - 4,793,922,579 
 

        

 
40 Share capital 

 
The Group and the Bank 
 
  Domestic investors   Foreign investors  Total 
 Share Capital % Share Capital %  

      
31 December 2019 7,246,782,400 86.41% 1,139,477,600 13.59% 8,386,260,000 
Contribution from shareholders 861,137,400 100.00% - 0.00% 861,137,400 
31 December 2020 8,107,919,800 87.68% 1,139,477,600 12.32% 9,247,397,400 
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In accordance with the resolution of the third extraordinary shareholders meeting on 29 
November 2020 and the amended articles of association approved by the extraordinary 
shareholders meeting, the Bank increased its share capital. As at 20 December 2020, the Bank 
has received a total of RMB4,874,037,684 from 32 investors, including RMB861,137,400 of 
new registered capital and RMB4,012,900,284 of new equity premium in capital reserve. The 
registered capital after the capital increase is RMB9,247,397,400. The above capital injection 
was verified by KPMG Huazhen LLP with a capital verification report (KPMG Huazhen Yan Zi 
No.2000885) on 21 December 2020. 
 

41 Non-controlling interests 
 
As at 31 December 2020, the non-controlling interests include the equity attributable to non-
controlling equity holders of additional equity instruments equivalent to RMB3,604,520,329 (31 
December 2019: RMB3,604,520,329). The equity instruments include perpetual non-
cumulative subordinated additional tier 1 capital securities (other equity instruments) with face 
value of USD250 million (equivalent to HKD1.938 billion net of related issuance costs) issued 
by the Group’s subsidiary Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited on 29 November 2017 and 
perpetual non-cumulative subordinated additional tier 1 capital securities (other equity 
instruments) with face value of HKD1,668 million (the first batch) and HKD582 million (the 
second batch) issued by the Group’s subsidiary Luso International Banking Limited on 7 
December 2018 and 21 December 2018, respectively.  
 
Other equity instruments issued by the Group’s subsidiary Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited 
 
The other equity instruments are perpetual and bear a 5.25% coupon rate until the first call 
date on 29 November 2022. The coupon will be reset every five years if the other equity 
instruments are not redeemed to a fixed rate equivalent to the five-year US treasury rate at the 
time plus a fixed initial spread. 
 
The coupon shall be payable semi-annually. The Group’s subsidiary Chiyu Banking 
Corporation Limited has the right to cancel coupon payment subjected to the requirement as 
set out in the terms and conditions of the other equity instruments, and the coupon cancelled 
shall not be cumulative. 
 
The principal of the other equity instruments will be written down to the amount as directed or 
agreed with the Hong Kong Monetary Authority if the Hong Kong Monetary Authority notifies 
the Group’s subsidiary Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited that it would become non-viable if 
there is no written down of the principal. The principal of the other equity instruments will be 
written down to the amount as directed or agreed with the Bank’s supervisory authority if the 
Bank’s supervisory authority notifies the Group’s subsidiary Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited 
or the Bank that either one of them would become non-viable if there is no written down of the 
principal. 
 
On 29 November 2022 or any subsequent dividend date, the Group’s subsidiary Chiyu Banking 
Corporation Limited has the rights to redeem all outstanding additional capital instruments 
subject to the terms and conditions that have been set out. 
 
The first coupon date of the other equity instruments was 29 May 2018. 
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Other equity instruments issued by the Group’s subsidiary Luso Banking Corporation Limited 
 
The other equity instruments are perpetual and bear an 8% coupon rate per annum until the 
first call date on 7 December 2023 (for the first batch, and 21 December 2023 for the second 
batch). The coupon will be reset every five years if the other equity instruments are not 
redeemed to a fixed rate equivalent to the then-previling five-year US treasury rate plus a fixed 
initial spread. 
 
The principal of the other equity instruments will be written down to the amount as directed or 
agreed with the Monetary Authority of Macao if the Monetary Authority of Macao notifies the 
Group’s subsidiary Luso Banking Corporation Limited that it would become non-viable if there 
is no written down of the principal. The principal of the other equity instruments will be written 
down to the amount as directed or agreed with the Bank’s supervisory authority if the Bank’s 
supervisory authority notifies the Bank that the Bank would become non-viable if there is no 
written down of the principal. 
 
On 7 December 2023 (for the first batch, and 21 December 2023 for the second batch) or any 
subsequent dividend date, the Group’s subsidiary Luso Banking Corporation Limited has the 
rights to redeem all outstanding additional capital instruments subject to the terms and 
conditions that have been set out. 
 
The first dividend date for other equity instruments is 11 June 2019 (for the first batch, and 28 
June 2019 for the second batch). 
 

42 Capital reserve 
 
The Group 
 

 
1 January  

2020 Increase Decrease 
31 December 

2020 

     
Capital premium 16,537,454,793 4,012,900,284 - 20,550,355,077 
Other capital reserve 1,263,195,950 - (245,173,735) 1,018,022,215 
 

        

Total 17,800,650,743 4,012,900,284 (245,173,735) 21,568,377,292 
 

        

 

 

1 January  
2019 Increase Decrease 

31 December 
2019 

     
Capital premium 16,537,454,793 - - 16,537,454,793 
Other capital reserve 1,278,108,518 - (14,912,568) 1,263,195,950 
 

        

Total 17,815,563,311 - (14,912,568) 17,800,650,743 
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The Bank 
 

 

1 January  
2020 Increase Decrease 

31 December 
2020 

     
Capital premium 16,435,486,000 4,012,900,284 - 20,448,386,284 
Other capital reserve 1,267,335,059 - - 1,267,335,059 

 
        

Total 17,702,821,059 4,012,900,284 - 21,715,721,343 

 
        

 
 

 

1 January  
2019 Increase Decrease 

31 December 
2019 

     
Capital premium 16,435,486,000 - - 16,435,486,000 
Other capital reserve 1,267,335,059 - - 1,267,335,059 
 

        

Total 17,702,821,059 - - 17,702,821,059 
 

        

 
43 Other comprehensive income 

 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Balance at the beginning of the year 736,935,270 89,265,065 650,064,882 440,701,026 
Add: Changes in accounting policies (199,536,636) N/A (331,729,678) N/A 

Adjusted balance at the 
beginning of the year 537,398,634 89,265,065 318,335,204 440,701,026 

Fair value changes of available-
for-sale financial assets N/A 817,895,048 N/A 486,482,738 

Fair value changes of financial 
investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income (578,525,253) N/A (608,766,225) N/A 

Credit losses on financial 
investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income 344,270,355 N/A 163,231,964 N/A 

Other comprehensive income 
previously recognised 
transferred to profit or loss (1,401,706,355) (126,271,948) (1,003,400,734) (207,330,930) 

Influence of deferred tax 392,621,738 (122,582,886) 362,233,749 (69,787,952) 
Translation differences of 

financial statements 
denominated in foreign 
currencies (350,452,565) 78,629,991 - - 

 
        

Balance at the end of the year (1,056,393,446) 736,935,270 (768,366,042) 650,064,882 
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44 Surplus reserve 
 
The Group and the Bank 
 

 Note 
Statutory surplus 

reserve 
   
1 January 2019  2,048,954,030 
Profit Distribution 46 515,248,581 
  

  

31 December 2019  2,564,202,611 
Profit Distribution  451,342,842 
  

  

31 December 2020  3,015,545,453 
 

   

 
In accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and other related 
supplementary regulations promulgated by MOF, the Group is required to transfer 10% of the 
net profit attributable to statutory surplus reserve. Appropriation to the statutory surplus reserve 
may cease when the balance of this reserve has reached 50% of share capital.  
 
The surplus reserve can be used to make up for the loss or increase the capital after the 
approval of shareholders meeting. 
 

45 General risk reserve 
 
  The Group and the Bank  
 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
   
Balance at the beginning of the year 5,549,525,381 5,549,525,381 
Additions - - 
 

    

Balance at the end of the year 5,549,525,381 5,549,525,381 
 

    

 
Pursuant to the regulations and implementation guide of Administrative Measures on Provision 
for Loan Losses of Financial Institutions (Cai Jin [2012] No.20) issued by the MOF, the Bank 
is required to set up general risk reserve to cover the unidentified potential loss from risk-
bearing assets in addition to asset impairment provision. The general risk reserve is accounted 
as profit distribution which constitutes a component of shareholders’ equity. In principle, the 
balance should not be less than 1.5% of the closing balance of risk-bearing assets. If it is 
difficult to reach 1.5% at one time, it can be completed in different years. In principle, it must 
not exceed 5 years. 
 
By the end of 2020 and 2019, the Group has made general risk reserve according to 1.5% of 
the year-end balance of risk-bearing assets. 
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46 Profit distribution 
 
Profit distribution in respect of profit for 2019 was approved by the shareholders’ meeting held 
on 15 May 2020: 
 

(1) Appropriate 10% of consolidated statement net profit attributable to the parent company of 
2019 to statutory reserve with RMB515,248,581. 
 

(2) As at 31 December 2018, the balance of the Group's general risk reserve amounted to 
RMB5,549,525,381, there was no need to appropriate the general risk reserve in 2019 and 
2020. 
 

47 Net interest income 
 
The Group 
 
 2020 2019 
   
Interest income   

Loans and advances to customers 26,781,918,669 22,391,685,903 
Financial investments 8,064,006,588 10,817,652,056 
Deposits with the Central Bank 663,930,797 608,886,059 
Deposits with banks and other financial 

institutions  452,116,655 1,972,405,326 
Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 311,189,273 395,798,285 
Placements with banks and other financial 

institutions 58,006,741 244,895,965 
Others 12,539 30,001 
 

    

Sub-total 36,331,181,262 36,431,353,595 
  --------------------------  -------------------------- 

Interest expense   
Deposits from customers (16,818,883,365) (16,112,234,296) 
Debt securities issued (2,871,395,878) (3,568,864,127) 
Deposits from banks and other financial 

institutions  (1,528,265,468) (2,434,646,798) 
Financial assets sold under repurchase 

agreements  (526,654,136) (632,721,921) 
Placements from banks and other financial 

institutions  (525,549,264) (643,353,881) 
Borrowings from the Central Bank (30,733,516) (203,194) 
Others (2,151,411) (4,348,090) 
 

    

Sub-total (22,303,633,038) (23,396,372,307) 

 
 -------------------------

-  -------------------------
- 

Net interest income 14,027,548,224 13,034,981,288 
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The Bank 
 
 2020 2019 
   
Interest income   

Loans and advances to customers 20,784,416,256 15,917,369,456 
Financial investments 5,268,530,579 8,188,283,167 
Deposits with the Central Bank 596,024,225 563,375,822 
Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 308,592,472 391,788,442 
Deposits with banks and other financial 

institutions 225,086,512 1,669,407,699 
Placements with banks and other financial 

institutions 21,465,474 118,656,423 
Others 12,539 30,001 
 

    

Sub-total 27,204,128,057 26,848,911,010 

 
 -------------------------

-  -------------------------
- 

Interest expense   
Deposits from customers (12,414,738,505)  (11,497,423,545) 
Debt securities issued (2,688,021,276)  (3,376,629,427) 
Deposits from banks and other financial 

institutions  (1,016,870,118)  (1,968,036,642) 
Financial assets sold under repurchase 

agreements (335,979,646)  (414,963,235) 
Placements from banks and other financial 

institutions (215,533,207)  (165,827,435) 
Borrowings from the Central Bank (30,733,516)  (203,194) 
Others (199,595)  (2,404,406) 
 

    

Sub-total (16,702,075,863)  (17,425,487,884) 

 
 -------------------------

-  -------------------------
- 

Net interest income 10,502,052,194 9,423,423,126 
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48 Net fee and commission income 
 
The Group 
 
 2020 2019 
Fee and commission income   

Agency fees 575,014,207 649,163,790 
Advisory and consultancy fees 530,612,654 490,206,991 
Settlement fees 173,506,464 168,653,651 
Bond underwriting fees 155,104,903 85,160,827 
Wealth management service fees 83,074,120 181,697,057 
Receipt business fees 72,067,223 63,462,257 
Acquiring business fees 71,233,500 66,981,617 
Guarantee fees 61,474,149 22,451,116 
Securities lending fees 38,348,480 9,057,540 
Asset management service fees 32,651,463 64,419,127 
Others 389,340,286 268,516,414 
 

    

Sub-total 2,182,427,449 2,069,770,387 

 
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------

- 
Fee and commission expense   

Joint loans fees (480,864,357) (84,903,126) 
Receipt business fees (42,883,736) (23,615,219) 
Agency fees (15,282,690) (11,274,880) 
Settlement and clearing fees (12,764,627) (16,418,334) 
Interbank service fees (9,240,623) (19,238,209) 
Bank card fees (7,474,003) (27,248,426) 
Others (94,752,536) (54,009,339) 
 

    

Sub-total (663,262,572) (236,707,533) 

 
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------

- 

Net fee and commission income 1,519,164,877 1,833,062,854 
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The Bank 
 
 2020 2019 
Fee and commission income   

Agency fees 228,533,419 333,487,442 
Advisory and consultancy fees 171,080,883 213,416,243 
Bond underwriting fees 152,119,880 80,199,380 
Settlement fees 133,481,243 134,417,976 
Wealth management service fees 83,074,120 181,697,057 
Receipt business fees 68,682,369 59,917,332 
Acquiring business fees 45,757,984 20,349,925 
Guarantee fees 40,597,218 6,427,986 
Securities lending fees 37,698,391 8,507,030 
Asset management service fees 32,651,463 64,419,127 
Others 5,616,640 1,360,818 
 

    

Sub-total 999,293,610 1,104,200,316 

 
 -------------------------

- 
 -------------------------

- 

Fee and commission expense   
Joint loans fees (480,864,357)   (84,903,126) 
Receipt business fees (41,458,324)   (21,860,633) 
Settlement and clearing fees (8,262,613)   (11,005,900) 
Interbank service fees (6,263,427)   (16,474,945) 
Others (64,576,218) (32,015,070) 
 

    

Sub-total (601,424,939)   (166,259,674) 

 
 -------------------------

-  -------------------------
- 

Net fee and commission income 397,868,671 937,940,642 
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49 Investment income 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 2020 2019 2020 2019 
     
Income from holding financial 

instruments     
- Financial investments - trading 

financial assets 1,575,802,311 N/A 1,575,802,311 N/A 
- Dividends income 41,729,184 42,747,072 39,769,928 38,900,771 
- Financial investments - financial 

assets at fair value through 
profit or loss N/A 57,878,996 N/A 48,874,460 

- Financial investments - available-
for-sale financial assets N/A 996,505,618 N/A 996,505,618 

     
Gains / (losses) on disposal of financial 

instruments     
- Derivative financial instruments (9,550,149) (1,788,398) (6,728,273) (1,620,515) 
- Financial investments - trading 

financial assets (236,642,607) N/A (274,149,254) N/A 
- Financial investments - debt 

investments 5,065,043 N/A 5,918,260 N/A 
- Financial investments - other debt 

investments 1,740,851,865 N/A 996,874,624 N/A 

- Trading financial liabilities (1,478,528) N/A (1,478,528) N/A 
- Financial investments - available-

for-sale financial assets N/A 1,068,835,636 N/A 630,826,031 
- Financial investments - financial 

assets at fair value through 
profit or loss N/A (764,849) N/A (597,701) 

 
        

Total 3,115,777,119 2,163,414,075 2,336,009,068 1,712,888,664 
 

        

 
50 Losses from changes in fair value 

 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
     
Financial investments - trading financial 

assets 415,169,187 N/A 326,222,212 N/A 
Financial investments - financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss N/A (23,280,712) N/A - 
Derivative financial instruments 133,529,094 184,187,632 (28,751,652) 237,098,418 
Investment properties 4,320,571 (2,857,742) - - 
 

        

Total 553,018,852 158,049,178 297,470,560 237,098,418 
 

        

 
51 Other income 

 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2020 2019 2020 2019 

     
Return of taxes and fees 5,192,122 2,494,581 5,025,859 2,494,581 
Government grants related to income (i) 13,467,612 6,106,116 12,507,812 2,440,993 
 

        

Total 18,659,734 8,600,697 17,533,671 4,935,574 
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(i) The government grants related to income and corresponding government grants documents 
in 2020 mainly include: 
 

Type of 
government 
grants related 
to income 

Corresponding government grants documents 

Subsidy for job 
stabilization 

Notice of Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security and the Ministry of 
Finance on Implementation of Special Support Plans for Stabilizing and Expanding 
the Posts of Enterprises (Ren She Bu Fa [2020] No.30)  
 
Notice of the People's Government of Guangzhou Tianhe District on Issuing Fifteen 
Policies and Measures to Support the Healthy Development of Enterprises Against 
Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia (Sui Tian Fu Gui [2020] No.1) 

Subsidy for loan 
discount 

Notice on Relieving Loan of Special Fund for Medium, Small and Micro Enterprises 
(Min Cai Jin [2020] No.20) 
 
Notice of Fujian Province Department of Finance on Pre-issuing Fund of Discount 
Loan Interest for Enterprises Seriously Affected by the Novel Coronavirus 
Pneumonia (Min Cai Jin Zhi [2020] No.13) 

Subsidy for risk 
compensation 

Notice on Issuing "First Loan" Risk Compensation and Reward Fund for Private 
Enterprises and Small and Micro Enterprises and Credit Risk Compensation and 
Reward Fund for Banking Institutions in Longyan City in 2020 (Long Cai Wai Zhi 
[2020] No.51) 

Subsidy for 
social insurance 
premiums 

Notice of Fujian Provincial Department of Human Resources and Social Security, 

Fujian Province Department of Finance, Fujian Provincial Tax Service, State 
Taxation Administration on the Implementation of Phased Reduction of Enterprise 
Social Insurance Premiums (Min Ren She Wen [2020] No.36) 

Subsidy for 
reward 

Notice of Fujian Province Department of Finance on Arranging Awards for Banks 
Providing Outstanding Contributions to Private Enterprises Service in 2019 (Min 
Cai Zhi [2020] No.553) 
 
Notice On Printing and Distributing Assessment Methods for Credit Incentive to 
Small and Micro Enterprises in Shanghai from 2019 to 2021 (Hu Cai Fa [2020] 
No.6) 
 
Notice of the People's Government of Ningde City on Printing and Distributing 
Incentive Methods for Financial Services to Develop Real Economy with High 
Quality in Ningde City (Ning Zheng [2019] No.19) 
 
Notice on Cashing the Reward and Subsidy Funds for Financial Assessment 
Financial Institutions and Municipal Key State-owned Enterprises in Zhangzhou 
City in Financial Assessment of 2019 (Zhang Cai Jin [2020] No.20) 
 
Notice of the Bureau of Commerce and Finance of Guangzhou Tianhe District on 
Allocating Special Funds for Tianhe District to Support the Development of High-
end Service Industry in 2020 
 
Measures of Special Funds Management for Shenzhen Financial Development 
 
Notice of Shenzhen Finance Office on Printing and Distributing the Operation 
Guidelines for Applying for Some Financial Support in the Development of Financial 
Industry (Shen Jin Gui [2018] No.1) 
 
Notice on Printing and Distributing Series of Policies for Special Funds for Industrial 
Development of Shenzhen Futian District (Fu Fu Ban Gui [2019] No.2) 

Subsidy for rent Project Agreement of Financial Development Office of Foshan Nanhai District 

 



Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 

103 

52 Taxes and surcharges 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 2020 2019 2020 2019 
     
City maintenance and construction tax 106,726,246 75,018,984 96,017,951 66,683,876 
Educational surcharge 74,221,018 53,384,329 68,700,048 45,814,276 
Others 92,544,232 70,295,732 38,012,137 23,398,502 
 

        

Total 273,491,496 198,699,045 202,730,136 135,896,654 
 

        

 
53 Operating and administrative expenses 

 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
     
Employee benefits 3,268,645,892 2,909,340,309 2,064,200,358 1,901,469,426 
Office lease expenses 350,486,973 323,107,073 245,771,045 245,173,090 
Depreciation and amortisation 254,194,187 200,452,103 174,833,903 136,814,160 
Promotion expenses 211,988,053 157,541,181 136,514,092  89,098,830 
Consultancy expenses 102,910,961 92,462,277 62,276,909 54,312,464 
Travelling expenses 45,016,265 71,294,042 30,313,224 51,311,312 
Security expenses 54,734,688 44,963,437 43,231,502 34,548,726 
Others 531,438,699 501,173,123 317,652,959 304,803,451 
 

        

Total 4,819,415,718 4,300,333,545 3,074,793,992 2,817,531,459 
 

        

 

54 Credit impairment losses 
 
 The Group The Bank 

 
31 December  

2020 
31 December  

2020 
   

Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 3,243,351,290 3,145,773,568 
Debt investments 1,068,256,479 1,074,610,101 
Loans and advances to customers 1,456,241,507 1,051,156,296 
Other debt investments 458,335,289 160,026,308 
Off-balance sheet credit assets (130,025,775) (140,829,598) 
Others 37,851,698 28,750,977 
 

    

Total 6,134,010,488 5,319,487,652 
 

    

 
55 Impairment losses on assets 

 
 The Group The Bank 

 
31 December  

2019 
31 December  

2019 
   

Loans and advances to customers 3,129,572,234 2,391,089,164 
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 1,018,492,778 983,954,733 
Investments classified as receivables 486,695,764 486,695,764 
Available-for-sale financial assets 238,833,294 140,213,283 
Off-balance sheet credit assets 38,643,477 22,198,148 
Others 194,552,043 187,633,909 
 

    

Total 5,106,789,590 4,211,785,001 
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56 Non-operating income / (expenses) 
 

(1) Non-operating income 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 2020 2019 2020 2019 
     
Debt compensation income 25,535,335 - 25,535,335 - 
Income of dormant account 990,105 3,358,351 990,105 3,358,351 
Recovery of bad debt 437,961 - - - 
Income from liquidation of fixed assets 115,743 - 115,743 - 
Others 8,216,879 6,231,089 7,623,044 530,682 
 

        

Total 35,296,023 9,589,440 34,264,227 3,889,033 
 

        

 
(2) Non-operating expenses 

 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2020 2019 2020 2019 

     
Fines 4,387,322 3,782,381 4,381,236 3,487,670 
Loss from damaged and scrapped 

non-current assets 2,315,473 7,726,650 1,960,712 7,726,650 
Others 2,345,450 4,567,501 460,183 1,286,001 
 

        

Total 9,048,245 16,076,532 6,802,131 12,500,321 
 

        

 
57 Income tax expenses 

 
(1) The composition of income tax expenses for the current year: 

 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
     
Current income tax 1,520,511,876 1,778,685,280 1,246,568,321 1,391,586,746 
Deferred income tax (Note 28) (997,935,802) (862,222,569) (1,103,072,988) (900,426,095) 
 

        

Total 522,576,074 916,462,711 143,495,333 491,160,651 
 

        

 
(2) Reconciliation between income tax expenses and accounting profit: 

 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
     
Profit before income tax 6,250,528,874 7,231,518,954 3,769,666,117 4,811,171,592 
 

        

     
Tax calculated at applicable statutory 

tax rate 1,387,322,357 1,647,930,092 942,416,529 1,202,792,898 
Tax effect of non-deductible 

expenses (i) 96,080,664 53,276,705 39,027,393 37,658,709 
Tax effect of non-taxable income (ii) (1,109,139,408) (976,270,817) (836,935,781) (755,127,518) 
Tax adjustments for prior years (3,820,685) 3,367,584 (1,012,808) 5,836,562 
Impact of income tax rate difference of 

overseas subsidiaries 152,133,146 188,159,147 - - 
 

        

Income tax expense 522,576,074 916,462,711 143,495,333 491,160,651 
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(i) The non-deductible expenses are mainly business hospitality expenses that are not 
deductible before tax according to the tax law, provision for unpaid employee protection 
funds and labor union funds without obtaining special invoices. 

 
(ii) The non-taxable income is mainly the interest income from national bonds and local 

government bonds, equity investment gains generated between qualified resident 
enterprises and income from securities investment funds. 

 
58 Other comprehensive income, net of tax 

 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
Other comprehensive income that 

may be subsequently reclassified to 
profit or loss     
- Fair value changes of financial 

investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income (578,525,253) N/A (608,766,225) N/A 

- Credit losses on financial 
investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income 344,270,355 N/A 163,231,964 N/A 

- Fair value changes of available-
for-sale financial assets N/A 817,895,048 N/A 486,482,738 

- Other comprehensive income 
previously recognised 
transferred to profit or loss (1,401,706,355) (126,271,948) (1,003,400,734) (207,330,930) 

- Influence of Income tax 392,621,738 (122,582,886) 362,233,749 (69,787,952) 
- Translation differences of financial 

statements denominated in 
foreign currencies (350,452,565) 78,629,991 - - 

 
        

Other comprehensive income after 
tax attributable to parent company (1,593,792,080) 647,670,205 (1,086,701,246) 209,363,856 

Other comprehensive income after 
tax attributable to non-controlling 
interests (479,659,976) 430,316,536 - - 

 
        

Total (2,073,452,056) 1,077,986,741 (1,086,701,246) 209,363,856 
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59 Supplementary information to the cash flow statement 
 

(1) Reconciliation of net profit to cash flows from operating activities 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 2020 2019 2020 2019 
     
Net profit for the year 5,727,952,800 6,315,056,243 3,626,170,784 4,320,010,941 
Add: Credit impairment losses 6,134,010,488 N/A 5,319,487,652 N/A 

Impairment losses on assets - 5,106,789,590 - 4,211,785,001 
Depreciation of fixed assets  187,237,347 145,792,866 127,983,138 91,995,489 
Amortisation of intangible assets 40,321,840 33,638,870 34,506,002 27,823,883 
Amortisation of long-term 

deferred expenses 26,635,000 21,020,367 12,344,763 16,994,788 
Losses / (gains) from disposal of 

fixed assets, intangible assets 
and other long-term assets 7,293 913,155 (115,743) 700,886 

Losses from changes in fair 
value 553,018,852 158,049,178 297,470,560 237,098,418 

Investment income (3,115,777,119) (2,163,414,075) (2,336,009,068) (1,712,888,664) 
Interest expense for debt 

securities issued 2,871,395,878 3,568,864,127 2,688,021,276 3,376,629,427 
Change in deferred tax assets (997,935,802) (862,222,569) (1,103,072,988) (900,426,095) 
Increase in receivables of 

operating activities (44,348,815,356) (86,642,047,102) (54,854,073,409) (51,866,669,632) 
Increase in payables of 

operating activities 27,555,099,888 121,972,721,285 24,187,834,828 51,940,750,892 
 

        

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from 
operating activities (5,366,848,891) 47,655,161,935 (21,999,452,205) 9,743,805,334 

 
        

 
(2) Net increase / (decrease) of cash and cash equivalents: 

 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2020 2019 2020 2019 

     
Closing balance of Cash 754,011,728 1,011,883,891 109,795,639 107,333,203 
Less: opening balance of cash (1,011,883,891) (716,963,436) (107,333,203) (112,498,293) 
Add: closing balance of Cash 

equivalents 95,269,602,763 80,288,782,134 44,985,641,756 47,706,249,092 
Less: opening balance of cash 

equivalents  (80,288,782,134) (62,680,296,105) (47,706,249,092) (39,153,242,709) 
 

        

Net increase / (decrease) of cash and 
cash equivalents 14,722,948,466 17,903,406,484 (2,718,144,900) 8,547,841,293 
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(3) Composition of cash and cash equivalents 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Cash on hand 754,011,728 1,011,883,891 109,795,639 107,333,203 
Surplus deposits reserve with the 

Central Bank 9,169,867,663 32,359,138,870 7,867,824,382 30,639,509,202 
Cash equivalents with original 

maturities less than 3 months:     
- Deposits with supervisory authority 

outside Mainland China 1,391,350,426 2,981,440,316 - - 
- Deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions 24,873,006,746 12,142,772,497 13,526,779,798 3,257,846,552 
- Trading financial assets 13,452,148,830 N/A 9,564,419,701 N/A 
- Debt investments 2,532,534,764 N/A - N/A 
- Other debt investments 12,582,823,205 N/A 2,352,045,875 N/A 
- Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions 20,993,299,129 11,703,405,589 1,400,000,000 500,000,000 
- Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss N/A 1,649,215,624 N/A 102,489,118 
- Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 10,274,572,000 12,363,298,489 10,274,572,000 11,370,216,000 
- Available-for-sale financial assets N/A 4,658,054,754 N/A 1,836,188,220 
- Held-to-maturity investments N/A 2,431,455,995 N/A - 

 
        

Total 96,023,614,491 81,300,666,025 45,095,437,395 47,813,582,295 
 

        

 
60 Segmental reporting 

 
The Group 
 
The Group's operating income, segment assets and non-current assets classified by regions 
are as follows. Operating income is divided based on the location of the branch or subsidiary 
generating the income. Segment assets and non-current assets are classified according to 
the location of relevant assets. 
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The Group 
 
2020 
 
 Xiamen Fuzhou Zhuhai Shanghai Beijing Hong Kong (i) Macau (ii) Others Elimination Total 
           
Interest income 44,960,978,490 4,564,498,074 5,679,119,959 8,402,699,078 8,948,478,808 3,441,626,054 5,687,479,487 1,732,094,008 (47,085,792,696) 36,331,181,262 
Interest expense (39,447,898,429) (3,460,452,139) (4,807,256,054) (7,274,927,241) (7,448,151,312) (2,029,581,838) (3,574,027,673) (1,347,131,048) 47,085,792,696 (22,303,633,038) 

 
                    

Net interest income 5,513,080,061 1,104,045,935 871,863,905 1,127,771,837 1,500,327,496 1,412,044,216 2,113,451,814 384,962,960 - 14,027,548,224 
  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  ------------- 
Net interest income among 

segments 284,045,506 (634,824,691) 51,222,728 (778,804,004) 1,368,421,043 - - (290,060,582) - - 
           
Fee and commission income 491,285,176 68,936,115 84,742,575 209,903,977 115,609,228 708,068,055 475,065,784 28,816,539 - 2,182,427,449 
Fee and commission expense (504,871,825) (52,608,692) (984,761) (12,663,339) (29,283,119) (39,929,783) (21,907,850) (1,013,203) - (663,262,572) 

 
                    

Net fee and commission income (13,586,649) 16,327,423 83,757,814 197,240,638 86,326,109 668,138,272 453,157,934 27,803,336 - 1,519,164,877 
  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  ------------- 
Investment income 2,336,009,068 - - - - 715,084,415 501,381,034 - (436,697,398) 3,115,777,119 
(Losses) / gains from changes in 

fair values (288,560,841) - (8,909,719) - - 4,147,692 (259,695,984) - - (553,018,852) 
(Losses) / gains on foreign 

exchange (356,907,323) 6,436,478 (11,048,741) (21,858,397) (62,299,500) (48,894,807) 35,123,942 5,494,478 - (453,953,870) 
Other operating net income (177,248,853) 117,724 77,553 506,927 (234,864) 35,403,911 (7,730,277) 187,275 (74,050,537) (222,971,141) 
Taxes and surcharges (61,586,803) (23,856,996) (23,792,394) (54,768,158) (30,251,185) (14,785,448) (55,975,912) (8,474,600) - (273,491,496) 
Credit impairment losses (4,319,238,298) (373,714,768) (306,481,180) (218,015,654) (7,343,934) (427,541,979) (390,195,932) (94,693,818) 3,215,075 (6,134,010,488) 
Losses from asset disposals - - - - - (7,293) - - - (7,293) 
Other income 7,079,336 7,907,770 203,972 424,347 579,976 645,084 480,979 1,338,270 - 18,659,734 
Depreciation and amortisation (90,816,810) (4,425,724) (3,138,855) (63,276,559) (8,524,845) (41,728,098) (37,632,186) (4,651,110) - (254,194,187) 
Operating expense (1,112,961,891) (227,178,836) (232,609,906) (538,739,903) (616,869,102) (964,502,404) (774,710,292) (171,600,451) 73,951,254 (4,565,221,531) 
Non-operating net profit  24,362,900 (276,427) 35,166 7,127,292 (3,645,740) 474,009 (1,688,327) (141,095) - 26,247,778 

  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  ------------- 
Profit before income tax 1,459,623,897 505,382,579 369,957,615 436,412,370 858,064,411 1,338,477,570 1,575,966,793 140,225,245 (433,581,606) 6,250,528,874 

 
                   

Income tax expenses          (522,576,074) 

 
         

  

Net profit for the year          5,727,952,800 

 
         

  

31 December 2020           
Total assets 380,206,138,978 59,430,461,452 66,229,717,179 91,019,544,019 128,008,657,443 149,956,846,325 182,590,601,543 25,233,711,152 (132,529,265,477) 950,146,412,614 
Total liabilities (330,340,588,124) (59,031,046,658) (65,927,623,410) (90,677,203,581) (127,075,425,018) (128,038,837,420) (171,628,723,914) (25,121,171,575) 117,468,237,887 (880,372,381,813) 
Capital expenditure commitments 293,825,389 264,091 559,439 1,514,320 2,811,400 19,390,167 22,060,526 561,678 - 340,987,010 

 
(i) According to the business layout of the Group, the Hong Kong region represents Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited, including Hong Kong 

head office and all its branches in mainland China. 
 
(ii) According to the business layout of the Group, the Macau region represents Luso International Banking Limited, including Macau head 

office and all its branches in mainland China. 
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2019 
 
 Xiamen Fuzhou Zhuhai Shanghai Beijing Hong Kong(i) Macau(ii) Others Elimination Total 

           
Interest income 47,106,558,407 3,712,655,863 4,619,184,060 7,271,340,621 8,732,912,106 3,725,693,350 5,929,261,353 1,453,143,808 (46,119,395,973) 36,431,353,595 
Interest expense (42,450,574,327) (2,888,532,517) (3,874,679,005) (6,070,050,578) (7,106,409,756) (2,078,224,974) (3,965,171,567) (1,082,125,556) 46,119,395,973 (23,396,372,307) 

 
                    

Net interest income 4,655,984,080 824,123,346 744,505,055 1,201,290,043 1,626,502,350 1,647,468,376 1,964,089,786 371,018,252 - 13,034,981,288 
  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  ------------- 

           
Net interest income among segments (1,077,770,838) (64,055,017) 411,585,083 (1,019,067,447) 1,762,200,489 - - (12,892,270) - - 
           
Fee and commission income 365,683,962 165,762,038 165,513,053 229,241,406 138,910,248 557,945,293 407,624,778 39,089,609 - 2,069,770,387 
Fee and commission expense (148,979,850) (3,734,614) (643,730) (8,376,945) (3,722,648) (36,390,230) (34,057,629) (801,887) - (236,707,533) 

 
                    

Net fee and commission income 216,704,112 162,027,424 164,869,323 220,864,461 135,187,600 521,555,063 373,567,149 38,287,722 - 1,833,062,854 
  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  -------------  ------------- 

           
Investment income 1,712,888,664 - - - - 423,177,014 385,539,579 - (358,191,182) 2,163,414,075 
(Losses) / gains from changes in fair values (237,098,418) - - - - (4,039,121) 83,088,361 - - (158,049,178) 
Gains / (losses) on foreign exchange 138,397,919 6,767,630 2,067,140 2,917,077 13,294,298 37,810,411 (241,782,706) 2,731,869 - (37,796,362) 
Other operating net income (24,448,606) 166,910 200,551 202,537 1,161,575 41,587,571 (8,139,082) 148,392 (10,351,841) 528,007 
Taxes and surcharges (39,987,753) (17,280,006) (17,490,684) (27,101,867) (27,753,889) (13,472,751) (49,329,640) (6,282,455) - (198,699,045) 
Impairment losses on assets (3,069,297,675) (264,538,599) (294,662,100) (401,562,550) (68,921,649) (440,683,495) (454,321,094) (112,802,428) - (5,106,789,590) 
(Losses) / gains from asset disposals (455,087) (84,708) 8,932 (27,441) (105,115) (62,767) (149,502) (37,467) - (913,155) 
Other income 3,285,604 672,511 - 477,965 61,201 - 3,665,123 438,293 - 8,600,697 
Depreciation and amortisation (85,826,235) (3,405,492) (2,371,740)  (38,116,130) (3,800,783) (37,700,687) (25,937,256) (3,293,780) - (200,452,103) 
Operating expense (1,041,382,574) (189,647,364) (210,908,652) (510,077,146) (545,783,136) (799,920,642) (622,027,843) (182,918,427) 2,784,342 (4,099,881,442) 
Non-operating net profit 1,424,851 (790,354) 143,291 (9,373,699) 377,752 5,207,102 (3,082,906) (393,129) - (6,487,092) 

 ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- 
Profit before income tax 2,230,188,882 518,011,298 386,361,116 439,493,250 1,130,220,204 1,380,926,074 1,405,179,969 106,896,842 (365,758,681) 7,231,518,954 

 
                   

Income tax expenses          (916,462,711) 

          
  

Net profit for the year          6,315,056,243 

          
  

31 December 2019           
Total assets 383,181,755,088 46,248,040,359 64,107,991,341 87,740,677,599 121,390,554,860 143,371,362,612 180,671,812,271 19,719,099,173 (130,906,525,521) 915,524,767,782 
Total liabilities (340,091,322,147) (45,859,647,332) (63,820,263,745) (87,416,839,969) (120,546,003,429) (125,933,316,438) (170,325,174,757) (19,640,591,418) 120,131,757,338 (853,501,401,897) 
Capital expenditure commitments 277,259,542  264,091 559,439 1,152,515 2,829,896 28,650,653 15,785,298 362,020  - 326,863,454  

 
(i) According to the business layout of the Group, the Hong Kong region represents Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited, including Hong Kong 

head office and all its branches in mainland China. 
 
(ii) According to the business layout of the Group, the Macau region represents Luso International Banking Limited, including Macau head 

office and all its branches in mainland China. 
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The Bank 
 
2020 
 
 Xiamen Fuzhou Zhuhai Shanghai Beijing Others Elimination Total  
         
Interest income 44,960,978,490 4,564,498,074 5,679,119,959 8,402,699,078 8,948,478,808 1,732,094,008 (47,083,740,360) 27,204,128,057 
Interest expense (39,447,898,429) (3,460,452,139) (4,807,256,054) (7,274,927,241) (7,448,151,312) (1,347,131,048) 47,083,740,360 (16,702,075,863) 

 
                

Net interest income 5,513,080,061 1,104,045,935 871,863,905 1,127,771,837 1,500,327,496 384,962,960 - 10,502,052,194 

  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Net interest income among segments 284,045,506 (634,824,691) 51,222,728 (778,804,004) 1,368,421,043 (290,060,582) - - 
         

Fee and commission income 491,285,176 68,936,115 84,742,575 209,903,977 115,609,228 28,816,539  - 999,293,610 

Fee and commission expense (504,871,825) (52,608,692) (984,761) (12,663,339) (29,283,119) (1,013,203)  - (601,424,939) 

 
                

Net fee and commission income (13,586,649)  16,327,423 83,757,814 197,240,638 86,326,109 27,803,336  - 397,868,671 

  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Investment income 2,336,009,068 - - - - - - 2,336,009,068 

Losses from changes in fair values (288,560,841) - (8,909,719) - - -  - (297,470,560) 

(Losses) / gains on foreign exchange (356,907,323) 6,436,478 (11,048,741) (21,858,397) (62,299,500) 5,494,478  - (440,183,005) 

Other operating net income (177,248,853) 117,724 77,553 506,927 (234,864) 187,275  - (176,594,238) 

Taxes and surcharges (61,586,803) (23,856,996) (23,792,394) (54,768,158) (30,251,185) (8,474,600)  - (202,730,136) 

Credit impairment losses (4,319,238,298) (373,714,768) (306,481,180) (218,015,654) (7,343,934) (94,693,818)  - (5,319,487,652) 

Other income 7,079,336 7,907,770 203,972 424,347 579,976 1,338,270  - 17,533,671 

Depreciation and amortisation (90,816,810) (4,425,724) (3,138,855) (63,276,559) (8,524,845) (4,651,110)  - (174,833,903) 

Operating expense (1,112,961,891) (227,178,836) (232,609,906) (538,739,903) (616,869,102) (171,600,451)  - (2,899,960,089) 

Non-operating net profit 24,362,900 (276,427) 35,166 7,127,292 (3,645,740) (141,095)  - 27,462,096 

  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Profit before income tax 1,459,623,897 505,382,579 369,957,615 436,412,370 858,064,411 140,225,245 - 3,769,666,117 

 
               

Income tax expenses        (143,495,333) 

          

Net profit for the year        3,626,170,784 

          

31 December 2020         
Total assets 380,206,138,978 59,430,461,452 66,229,717,179 91,019,544,019 128,008,657,443 25,233,711,152 (113,151,946,782) 636,976,283,441 
Total liabilities (330,340,588,124) (59,031,046,658) (65,927,623,410) (90,677,203,581) (127,075,425,018) (25,121,171,575) 113,151,946,782 (585,021,111,584) 
Capital expenditure commitments 293,825,389 264,091 559,439 1,514,320 2,811,400 561,678 - 299,536,317 
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2019 
 
 Xiamen Fuzhou Zhuhai Shanghai Beijing Others Elimination Total  
         
Interest income 47,106,558,407 3,712,655,863 4,619,184,060 7,271,340,621 8,732,912,106 1,453,143,808 (46,046,883,855) 26,848,911,010 
Interest expense (42,450,574,327) (2,888,532,517) (3,874,679,005) (6,070,050,578) (7,106,409,756) (1,082,125,556) 46,046,883,855 (17,425,487,884) 

 
                

Net interest income 4,655,984,080 824,123,346 744,505,055 1,201,290,043 1,626,502,350 371,018,252 - 9,423,423,126 

 --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- 

         
Net interest income among segments (1,077,770,838) (64,055,017) 411,585,083 (1,019,067,447) 1,762,200,489 (12,892,270) - - 
         
Fee and commission income 365,683,962 165,762,038 165,513,053 229,241,406 138,910,248 39,089,609 - 1,104,200,316 
Fee and commission expense (148,979,850) (3,734,614) (643,730) (8,376,945) (3,722,648) (801,887) - (166,259,674) 

 
                

Net fee and commission income 216,704,112 162,027,424 164,869,323 220,864,461 135,187,600 38,287,722 - 937,940,642 

 --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- 

         
Investment income 1,712,888,664 - - - - - - 1,712,888,664 
Losses from changes in fair values (237,098,418) - - - - - - (237,098,418) 
Gains on foreign exchange 138,397,919 6,767,630 2,067,140 2,917,077 13,294,298 2,731,869 - 166,175,933 
Other operating net income (24,448,606) 166,910 200,551 202,537 1,161,575 148,392 - (22,568,641) 
Taxes and surcharges (39,987,753) (17,280,006) (17,490,684) (27,101,867) (27,753,889) (6,282,455) - (135,896,654) 
Impairment losses on assets (3,069,297,675) (264,538,599) (294,662,100) (401,562,550) (68,921,649) (112,802,428) - (4,211,785,001) 
(Losses) / gains from asset disposals (455,087) (84,708) 8,932 (27,441) (105,115) (37,467) - (700,886) 
Other income 3,285,604 672,511 - 477,965 61,201 438,293 - 4,935,574 
Depreciation and amortisation (85,826,235) (3,405,492) (2,371,740) (38,116,130) (3,800,783) (3,293,780) - (136,814,160) 
Operating expense (1,041,382,574) (189,647,364) (210,908,652) (510,077,146) (545,783,136) (182,918,427) - (2,680,717,299) 
Non-operating net profit 1,424,851 (790,354) 143,291 (9,373,699) 377,752 (393,129) - (8,611,288) 

 
--------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- 

Profit before income tax 2,230,188,882 518,011,298 386,361,116 439,493,250 1,130,220,204 106,896,842 - 4,811,171,592 

 
               

Income tax expenses        (491,160,651) 

        
  

Net profit for the year        4,320,010,941 

        
  

31 December 2019         
Total assets 383,181,755,088 46,248,040,359 64,107,991,341 87,740,677,599 121,390,554,860 19,719,099,173 (115,070,102,346) 607,318,016,074 
Total liabilities (340,091,322,147) (45,859,647,332) (63,820,263,745) (87,416,839,969) (120,546,003,429) (19,640,591,418) 115,070,102,346 (562,304,565,694) 
Capital expenditure commitments 277,259,542 264,091 559,439 1,152,515 2,829,896 362,020 - 282,427,503 
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The Group’s revenue from external customers located domestically and in other countries or 
areas for the year 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  
 2020 2019 2020 2019 
     
Mainland China 14,462,359,052 14,058,737,195 12,271,067,904 11,605,812,698 
Hong Kong, China / Macau, China 2,912,814,779 2,434,279,690 218,692,445 319,991,923 
Other countries / areas 336,932,693 390,867,242 98,551,027 88,775,538 
 

        

Total 17,712,106,524 16,883,884,127 12,588,311,376 12,014,580,159 
 

        

 
The total non-current assets other than financial assets and deferred tax assets located 
domestically and in other countries or areas for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 
are as follows: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

     
Mainland China 3,166,653,355 2,961,443,425 3,084,001,267 2,927,746,379 
Hong Kong, China / Macau, China 1,957,107,124 2,074,034,639 5,634,344,616 4,259,755,384 
 

        

Total 5,123,760,479 5,035,478,064 8,718,345,883 7,187,501,763 
 

        

 
61 Contingent liabilities and commitments 

 
(1) Credit commitments 

 
The Group is required to provide loan commitments in any specific period, including the 
approval of credit limits and credit card overdrafts. 
 
The Group provides financial guarantees and letter of credit services to ensure that customers 
perform contracts with third parties. Acceptance refers to the redemption commitments made 
by the Group to the bills issued by the customers. The Group expects that most of the 
acceptance will be settled with the customer's repayment at the same time. 
 
The classification of contractual amounts of commitments and contingent liabilities is set out 
in the table below. The amounts of commitment shown in the table below refer to the total 
amounts of the loan amounts. The amounts of guarantees and letters of credit reflected in the 
table below refer to the maximum possible losses that will be recognised on the balance sheet 
date if the other party to the transaction failed to fully perform the contract. 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December  
2020 

31 December  
2019 

31 December  
2020 

31 December 
2019 

     
Loan commitments 2,652,508,492 4,161,639,522 - - 
  ------------------  ------------------  ------------------  ------------------ 

     
Acceptances 102,526,371,812 122,619,286,140 102,360,717,256 122,001,074,415 
Letters of guarantee 11,723,550,955 22,935,104,886 10,396,230,262 21,639,295,333 
Letters of credit 38,400,413,186 13,429,089,010 34,571,294,276 11,963,337,066 
 

        

Sub-total 152,650,335,953 158,983,480,036 147,328,241,794 155,603,706,814 

 
 ------------------
- 

 ------------------  ------------------  ------------------ 

Total 155,302,844,445 163,145,119,558  147,328,241,794 155,603,706,814 
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(2) Capital commitments 
 
On the balance sheet date, authorised capital commitments are as follows: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     

Contracted but unpaid 316,044,840 286,632,034 279,978,917 247,194,093 
Approved but not contracted 24,942,170 40,231,420 19,557,400 35,233,410 
 

        

Total 340,987,010 326,863,454 299,536,317 282,427,503 
 

        

 

(3) Operating lease commitments 
 

According to the irrevocable operating lease contracts, the required minimum rent payable by 
the Group in the future is as follows: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

     

Within 1 year 339,910,617 324,646,067 224,987,675 211,611,728 
1 to 2 years 291,385,768 258,727,515 202,090,281 167,877,817 
2 to 3 years 247,844,604 235,823,342 180,354,814 165,050,115 
Over 3 years 555,455,394 513,420,163 431,096,761 351,106,777 
 

        

Total 1,434,596,383 1,332,617,087 1,038,529,531 895,646,437 
 

        

 

(4) Outstanding litigations 
 

As at 31 December 2020, there are several outstanding litigations arisen from the ordinary 
business of the Group. The Group's management considers that those outstanding litigations 
would not have any significant impact on the Group’s financial position. 

 

62 Assets pledged 
 
Some of the Group’s assets are pledged as collaterals under the repurchase agreements, 
treasury time deposits, standing lending facilities and rediscount with other financial 
institutions. As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, bills or bonds accepted by banks 
and other financial institutions as pledge under the borrowings or repurchase agreements can’t 
be sold or re-pledged, the corresponding book value of collateral is as follows: 
 

(1) Analysis by category of collateral 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     

Government bonds 21,510,111,640 39,969,454,360 7,639,190,900 31,311,823,681 
Financial bonds 2,924,989,162 2,268,086,675 1,085,413,075 2,268,086,675 
Bills 1,979,813,035 395,681,048 1,442,094,276 - 
Corporate bonds - 99,944,697 - - 
 

        

Total 26,414,913,837 42,733,166,780 10,166,698,251 33,579,910,356 
 

        

 
Beside the assets pledged above, the Group’s mandatory deposits with supervisory authorities 
are not available for the Group’s day-to-day operations (Note 6).  

(2) The book value of collateral classified according to asset item 
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  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

     
Other debt investments 22,618,399,563 N/A 8,153,555,103 N/A 
Debt investments 1,816,701,239 N/A 571,048,872 N/A 
Available-for-sale financial assets N/A 41,389,901,839 N/A 32,632,326,463 
Held-to-maturity investments N/A 947,583,893 N/A 947,583,893 
Loans and advances to customers 

- Discounted bills 1,979,813,035 395,681,048 1,442,094,276 - 
 

        

Total 26,414,913,837 42,733,166,780 10,166,698,251 33,579,910,356 
 

        

 
(3) Collateral of financial assets held under resale agreements 

 
In accordance with the standard terms, the group carries on the resale agreements and holds 
the collateral under the transaction. The Group is not allowed to sell or re-pledge the pledge 
accepted in the relevant resale agreements. As at 31 December 2020, there is no collateral 
held by the Group that can be directly disposed or re-pledged without the default of the 
counterparty (31 December 2019: nil). The Group is obliged to return the collateral on the 
agreed resale date.   
 

63 Franchise Business 
 

(1) Entrusted loans 
 

The Group's entrusted loan business refers to the provision of funds by government, 
enterprises, institutions and individuals, and the Group issues, supervises, and assists the 
collection of loans based on loan targets and terms determined by the entrusting party. The 
Group’s entrusted loan business does not require the Group to bear any credit risk. The Group 
only acts as an agent, holds and manages these assets and liabilities according to the 
instructions of the entrusting party, and charges processing fees for the services provided. 
 
Since the entrusted loan is not part of the assets of the Group, it is not recognised in the 
balance sheet. The income for the services is recognised in the fee and commission income 
of the income statement. 
 
  The Group and the Bank  
 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
   
Entrusted loans 13,879,413,472 13,839,721,479 
 

    

Entrusted loans funds (13,959,174,592)  (13,882,249,124) 
 

    

 
This financial information does not include the entrusted assets and income generated that the 
Group as trustee, custodian, agent obliges to return to the clients. 
 

(2) Wealth Management Services 
 
The Group's wealth management services mainly refer to the Group’s sales of wealth 
management products to enterprises, individuals, raising funds to invest in state bonds, Central 
Bank bills, policy bank bonds, corporate short-term financing bills, trust loans and other 
investment products. Investment risks related to wealth management products are borne by 
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investors. The Group’s revenue from this business mainly includes fee income from sales, and 
investment management of wealth management products. Revenue is recognised in the 
income statement as fee and commission income. 
 
The investment in wealth management products and the funds raised are not the assets and 
liabilities of the Group and therefore are not recognised in the balance sheet. 
 
The non-principal guaranteed wealth management products funds on each balance sheet date 
are as follows: 
 
  The Group and the Bank  
 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
   
Wealth management funds 4,161,282,000 5,355,892,000 
 

    

 
64 Risk Management 

 
The operating activities expose the Group to a variety of financial risks. The Group 
continuously identifies, evaluates and monitors the risks. The most important financial risks 
are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. Market risk includes exchange rate risk, interest 
rate risk and other price risk. The Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance 
between risk and return, as well as minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance. 
 
The Board of Directors provides strategy for overall risk management. The Group established 
related risk management policies and procedures under the strategy approved by the Board, 
including written policies covering specific areas, such as exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, 
credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non - derivative financial instruments. 
Such risk management policies and procedures are enforced by related departments after 
Board’s approval. In addition, internal auditing division is responsible for the independent 
review of risk management and the control environment. 
 

(1) Credit risks 
 
Credit risk refers to the potential loss that may arise from the failure of counterparty to meet its 
contractual obligations or commitments to the Group. Credit risk is one of the main risks that 
the Group faces in operation. Management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit 
risk. Credit risk mainly arises from loans, investment, trade finance, guarantees, derivative 
instrument and other payment acceptance.  
 
The Group sets up the multi-levels organisations for credit risk management as below: overall 
credit risk is controlled by the Board of Directors, Risk Management Committee, Management 
of the head office, Risk Management Department, Legal Affairs and Compliance Department 
and Risk Evaluation Department. The Group has set up the hierarchy of “Approval Officers 
with different authorisation limits”. The branch shall only exercise the credit approval authority 
within the scope authorized by the head office. In case of exceeding the scope of authorization, 
the branch shall conduct hierarchical approval in accordance with the authorisation limits of 
provision. The Approval Officers comprise management personnel and professionals from 
different business departments taking the responsibilities of approval of loans and investments 
within authorisation limits. Each loan should be approved by two Approval Officers and the 
approval is confirmed by Chief Approval Officer. For loan proposals and high-risk investment 
proposals that require higher level of authorisation other than that from the Approval Officers, 
or medium risk investment proposals within the authorisation of the President Office, the 
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proposals are submitted to authorised approval after being reviewed by Credit Management 
Committee. Besides, the Group has set up Risk Control Department in branches to implement 
credit risk management under its own jurisdictions. 
 
The Group’s credit approval policies and procedures are standardised. Risk Management 
Department together with other relevant departments reviews and updates the policies and 
procedures periodically. Credit rating, credit measurement, economic capital, various post-
lending management, indicator control, collective assessment, risk warning and risk reporting 
are measures for managing credit risks. 
 
(a) Loans and advances to customers 

 
The risk management department of the branch preliminarily classifies the outstanding 
loans according to the repayment ability of the borrower, considering factors such as 
guarantee, mortgage or pledge, overdue period, etc., and confirms the final classification 
through different approval authority. Loans and advances which requires branch level 
authority should be approved by the risk management department of the branch and 
then submitted to the leader who is responsible for branch risk management to determine 
the final loan classification. Loans and advances which requires head office level 
authority should be further approved by the head office for final classification and stage 
division after being approved by risk management department of the branch. Commonly, 
the bank carries out quarterly classification, monthly dynamic adjustment of loan 
classification and stage division, and determines stage division and impairment 
adjustment on a quarterly basis. 
 

(b) Bond investments and derivative financial instruments 
 
For bond investments, other than those issued by PRC MOF, PBOC and state policy 
banks, external ratings (such as Standard and Poor’s) and non-credit asset classification 
are used by the Group for managing credit risk exposures. 
 
The Group refers to “the Guiding Principles on the Classification of Non-credit Assets 
Risk” issued by CBRC Xiamen Banking Regulatory Bureau and develops its non-credit 
asset management policy which is used to evaluate and manage credit exposure relating 
to non-credit asset. The Group classifies its non-credit assets into ten categories: pass 
I, pass II, pass III, special mention I, special mention II, special mention III, substandard 
I and substandard II, doubtful and loss. The classification of bond investments and 
derivative financial instruments are assessed based on the repayment ability of issuers 
of bonds and the fair value fluctuation of financial instruments. 
 
The Group maintains strict control limits on net open derivative positions based on 
notional amount and term. The derivative credit risk exposure is managed as part of the 
overall lending limits set for borrowers. 
 

(2) Credit risk limit control and mitigation policies 
 
(a) Loans and advances to customers 
 

In order to manage and monitor the exposure to credit risk, the Group adopts three major 
types of control, including pre-lending investigation, loan review and post-lending 
inspection. The group has formulated a systematic and prudent credit risk management 
policy and related systems, including all kinds of business operation authority, credit 
examination and approval system, credit management regulations and operation rules, 
etc., which stipulate the requirements for pre-loan investigation, the main points for loan 
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review and the post-loan inspection standards. The Group strictly observes and carries 
out those policies in the credit decision-making process. Post-lending inspection includes 
daily post-lending inspection, internal post-lending cross inspection of branches, on-site 
visit of key loans by the Risk Management Department of the head office, and irregular 
inspection of branches by the head office, etc. Approved credit limits are input into the 
“compact” module of the minicomputer system, which are connected with the centralised 
systems, through which, the Group can get access to the credit limit and monitor the 
granting and utilisation of credit. Meanwhile, obtaining collateral, pledge and other valid 
security are also effective measures for the Group to mitigate the credit risk. 
 
The Group has developed guidance on control procedures over credit limit specifying 
the limit on the amount of risk accepted in relation to single borrower, single group 
borrower, geographical and industrial segments, and identification of the departments 
responsible for monitoring and management. 
 
The Risk Management Department of the Group assesses the implementation of the 
credit limits control with reference to the regulating indicator and credit policies on 
concentrations of credit risk on a regular basis. The Risk Management Department 
reports to senior management regularly and reports to Risk Management Committee and 
regulatory authorities on a quarterly basis. Besides, the Risk Management Department 
discloses the relevant information to the public in accordance with the information 
disclosure requirements of the Group and the regulatory authorities. 

 
(b) Bond investments and derivative financial instruments 
 

The Group has established the structural limit such as limit for bond portfolio, limit for 
issuers and limit for each issuance to manage the credit risk of bond investments. 
 
Risk mitigation measures include: 

 
(i) Collateral and guarantees 
 

The Group deploys a range of policies and measures to mitigate credit risk. The 
most common practice is to require collaterals, pledges and guarantees from 
borrowers. The collaterals and pledges accepted by the Group generally include 
deposits, securities, equities, real estate, land use rights, machinery & equipment 
and transport facilities. 

 
The Group appoints professional valuation agencies to appraise the collaterals. 
After having been assessed and approved by the Risk Evaluation Department, the 
valuation report is regarded as one of the decision-making references in the credit 
assessment process. The approver will make final decision on the collateral or 
pledge rate. 
 
For loans guaranteed by a third-party, the Group will assess the guarantor’s 
financial condition, credit history and ability to carry out obligations in accordance 
with the same procedures and standards as the principle borrower. 
 
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances is 
determined by the nature of the instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other 
eligible bills are generally unsecured, except for certain asset-backed securities 
and similar instruments, which are secured by portfolios of financial instruments. 

 
(ii) Netting arrangements 
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The Group further restricts its exposure to credit losses by entering into netting 
arrangements with counterparties with which it undertakes a significant volume of 
transactions. Netting arrangements do not generally result in an offset of assets 
and liabilities in balance sheet, as transactions are usually settled on a gross basis. 
However, if a default occurs, all transactions with the customer are terminated and 
settled on a net basis and the credit risk associated with relevant contracts is 
reduced by a netting arrangement. The Group’s overall exposure to credit risk on 
derivative instruments subject to netting arrangements can change substantially 
within a short period, as it is affected by each transaction subject to the 
arrangement. 

 
(3) Impairment and provision policy of credit assets 

 
The following credit risk management methods are applicable on and before December 31, 
2019: 
 
The Group adopts the loan risk classification method to manage the loan portfolio risk. 
According to the degree of risk, loans can be divided into five categories: pass, special 
mention, substandard, doubtful and loss. The latter three types are regarded as impaired loans 
and advances. When one or more events indicate the existence of objective evidence of 
impairment and may cause losses, the loans are defined as impaired loans and advances. 
Impairment losses will be assessed collectively or individually as appropriate. 
 
The following credit risk management methods are applicable in 2020: 
 
Measurement of ECLs 
 
According to whether there is a significant increase in credit risk and whether there is an 
impairment of assets, the Group measures the impairment loss for different financial assets 
according to its current risk stage with ECL of 12 months or the entire lifetime respectively. 
 
The Group measures loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL for the following 
financial instruments, and at an amount equal to lifetime ECL for all other financial instruments: 
 
- If the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the balance sheet date; or 
- If the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial 

recognition. 
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(a) Significant increase in credit risk 
 
When one or more quantitative, qualitative criteria or upper limit indicators are triggered, 
the Group believes that the credit risk of financial instruments has increased significantly. 
 
If the counterparty is listed in the watch list and one or more of the following criteria are 
met: 
- The credit spread increases significantly; 
- Significant changes with an adverse effect that have taken place in the counterparty’s 
business, financial and economic status; 
- Application of a grace period or debt-restructuring; 
- Significant changes with an adverse effect in the counterparty’s operating conditions; 
- Less value of the collaterals (for the collateralized loans and pledged loans only) 
- Early indicators of problems of cashflow/liquidity, such as late payment of accounts 
payable/repayment of loans; 
- The payment is more than 30 days past due. 
 
The Group uses watch lists to monitor credit risk of financial instruments related to loans 
and treasury operations, and conducts regular assessments at the counterparty level. 
The standards used in determining whether credit risk increases significantly are 
regularly monitored and reviewed by the management for the appropriateness. 
 
As at 31 December, 2020, the Group has not considered that any of its financial 
instruments has lower credit risk and no longer compared the credit risk at the balance 
sheet date with that at the initial recognition to identify whether there was a significant 
increase in the credit risk. 
 

(b) Notes to the parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques 
 
The ECL is the result of the discounted product of probability of default (PD), exposure 
at default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD). The definitions of these terms are as 
follows: 
 
- PD refers to the likelihood that a counterparty will be unable to meet his repayment 

obligations over the next 12 months or the remaining lifetime of the loan; 
 
- EAD is the amount that the Group should be reimbursed upon default of an obligor 

over the next 12 months or the remaining lifetime of the loan; 
 
- LGD refers to the expected degree of loss arising from the exposure at default which 

is predicted by the Group. LGD varies according to different types of counterparties, 
methods and priority of recovering debts, and the availability of collaterals or other 
credit support. 
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The Group determines the expected credit losses by estimating the PD, LGD and EAD 
of individual exposure or asset portfolios in the future months. The Group multiplies these 
three parameters and makes adjustment according to the probability of their continuance 
(i.e. there is no prepayment or default at an earlier period). By adopting this approach, 
the Group can calculate the expected credit losses for the future months.  The results of 
calculation for each month are then discounted to the balance sheet date and added up. 
The discount rate used in the calculation of ECL is the initial effective interest rate or its 
approximate value. 
 
The lifetime PD is deduced from using the maturity model or 12-month probability of 
default. The maturity model describes the development rule of the defaults of the asset 
portfolio over its lifetime. The model is developed based on historical observational data 
and applicable to all assets in the same portfolio with the same credit rating. The above 
method is supported by empirical analysis.  
 
The Group quarterly monitors and reviews assumptions related to the calculation of 
expected credit losses, including the changes in PD and the value of collaterals under 
the different time limits. 
 
Both the assessment of the significant increase in credit risk and the measurement of 
expected credit losses involve forward-looking information.  Based on the analysis on 
historical data, the Group identified critical economic indicators that affect the credit risk 
and expected credit losses of all asset portfolios. 
 
There have been no significant changes in the valuation techniques and key 
assumptions during the reporting period. 
 

(4) Maximum exposure to credit risk 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk of the Group is represented by the carrying amount of 
each financial asset in the balance sheet. Except for the financial guarantees given by the 
Group and the Bank as set out in Note 61(1), the Group and the Bank does not provide any 
other guarantees which would expose the Group or the Bank to credit risk.   
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(5) Analysis of credit quality of financial assets 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2020  

 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 

Deposits with 
banks and other 

financial institutions 

Placements with 
banks and other 

financial institutions 

Financial assets 
held under resale 

agreements Debt investments 
Other debt 

investments 
Other financial 

assets 

                

Assessment of 12-months ECL               

- Overdue nor credit impaired 2,730,740,634 -  -  -  -   -  169,131 
- Neither overdue nor credit impaired 512,308,015,029 27,739,806,074 23,015,988,063 10,276,465,159 62,709,132,049 172,640,032,478 4,291,275,448 
 

              

Sub-total 515,038,755,663 27,739,806,074 23,015,988,063 10,276,465,159 62,709,132,049 172,640,032,478 4,291,444,579 
 ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- 

Assessment of Lifetime ECL not credit-impaired               

- Overdue nor credit impaired 3,697,414,302 - - - - - 3,084,447 
- Neither overdue nor credit impaired 4,800,761,676 - - - 6,428,226,679 5,097,774,220 - 
 

              

Sub-total 8,498,175,978 - - - 6,428,226,679 5,097,774,220 3,084,447 

 
---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------

  
  ---------------

- 
----------------

  
---------------- 

Assessment of Lifetime ECL credit-impaired               

- Overdue and credit impaired 4,423,354,896 207,642,684 - - 4,032,515,957 634,457,418 72,049,491 
- Nor overdue and credit impaired 72,974,498 4,670,665,568 - - 993,651,207 42,201,620 199,231,495 
 

              

Sub-total 4,496,329,394 4,878,308,252 - - 5,026,167,164 676,659,038 271,280,986 
 ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- 
        
Less: allowance for impairment losses (11,412,313,961) (4,296,439,548) (1,983,164) (958,967) (2,838,161,967) N/A (220,302,800) 

 
---------------- ----------------

  
----------------

  
----------------

  
---------------- ---------------- ---------------- 

Net value 516,620,947,074 28,321,674,778 23,014,004,899 10,275,506,192 71,325,363,925 178,414,465,736 4,345,507,212 
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  31 December 2019  

 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 

Deposits with 
banks and other 

financial 
institutions 

Placements with 
banks and other 

financial 
institutions 

Financial assets 
held under resale 

agreements 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
Held-to-maturity 

investments 

Investments 
classified as 
receivables 

Other financial 
assets 

         
Impaired          
         
Individual assessment         

Total  3,196,398,283 4,533,307,989 - - 574,140,481  - 1,745,892,074 187,299,598 
Provision (1,696,858,387) (1,024,303,290) - - (450,416,463)  - (1,159,183,191) (187,299,598) 

 
                

Net 1,499,539,896 3,509,004,699 - - 123,724,018  - 586,708,883 - 
  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Overdue but not impaired         
         
Overdue within 30 days 7,540,990,708 - - - - - 965,000,000 - 
Overdue from 30 to 90 days 2,062,985,953 - - - 236,354,949 - - - 
Overdue more than 90 days 212,406,771 207,642,684 - - - - - - 
 

                

Total 9,816,383,432 207,642,684 - - 236,354,949 - 965,000,000 - 
         
Provision (508,043,732) - - - - - (118,847,924) - 
 

                

Net 9,308,339,700 207,642,684 - - 236,354,949 - 846,152,076 - 
  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Neither overdue nor impaired         
         
Total 453,801,199,341 36,210,821,636 13,729,542,042 12,363,298,489 224,654,825,646  30,761,354,231 40,530,544,523 1,515,755,277 
Provision (8,576,174,814) (5,661,145) - - (918,731) - (479,023,817) (387,460) 
 

                

Net 445,225,024,527 36,205,160,491 13,729,542,042 12,363,298,489 224,653,906,915  30,761,354,231 40,051,520,706 1,515,367,817 

 
--------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- 

Total net value 456,032,904,123 39,921,807,874 13,729,542,042 12,363,298,489 225,013,985,882 30,761,354,231 41,484,381,665 1,515,367,817 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2020  

 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 

Deposits with 
banks and other 

financial institutions 

Placements with 
banks and other 

financial institutions 

Financial assets 
held under resale 

agreements Debt investments 
Other debt 

investments 
Other financial 

assets 
                
Assessment of 12-months ECL               

- Overdue nor credit impaired -  -  -  -  -   -  -  
- Neither overdue nor credit impaired 351,244,421,962  18,340,950,155 1,400,398,361  10,276,465,159  48,554,161,883 99,768,296,290 2,228,324,291 
 

              

Sub-total 351,244,421,962  18,340,950,155 1,400,398,361  10,276,465,159  48,554,161,883 99,768,296,290 2,228,324,291 

 
---------------- ----------------

  
----------------

  
----------------

  
----------------

  
---------------- ----------------

  
Assessment of Lifetime ECL not credit-impaired               

- Overdue nor credit impaired 2,869,680,730  -  -  -  -   -  -  
- Neither overdue nor credit impaired 4,164,326,233  -  -  -  1,025,109,589 -  -  
 

                 

Sub-total 7,034,006,963  -  -  -  1,025,109,589  -  -  
 ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- 
Assessment of Lifetime ECL credit-impaired               

- Overdue and credit impaired 3,733,825,656  407,642,684 -  -  4,032,515,957 439,999,700  17,161,322 
- Nor overdue and credit impaired 72,974,477  4,533,011,164 -  -  993,651,207 -   198,881,231 
 

                 

Sub-total 3,806,800,133  4,940,653,848 -  -  5,026,167,164 439,999,700  216,042,553 
 ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- 
Less: allowance for impairment losses (8,485,285,697)  (4,163,522,204) (252,072)  (958,967)  (2,816,703,870)  N/A (216,358,857) 

 
---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- 

Net value 353,599,943,361  19,118,081,799 1,400,146,289  10,275,506,192  51,788,734,766 100,208,295,990 2,228,007,987 
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  31 December 2019  

 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 

Deposits with 
banks and other 

financial 
institutions 

Placements with 
banks and other 

financial 
institutions 

Financial assets 
held under resale 

agreements 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
Held-to-maturity 

investments 

Investments 
classified as 
receivables 

Other financial 
assets 

         
Impaired         
Individual assessment         

Total  2,720,981,138 4,397,610,390 - - 382,526,360 - 1,745,892,074 187,299,598 
Provision (1,297,919,408) (989,700,402) - - (253,808,206) - (1,159,183,191) (187,299,598) 

 
                

Net 1,423,061,730 3,407,909,988 - - 128,718,154 - 586,708,883 - 
 --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- 
Overdue but not impaired         
         
Overdue within 30 days  2,010,393,095 - - - - - 965,000,000 - 
Overdue from 30 to 90 days  969,327,126 - - - 236,354,949 - - - 
Overdue more than 90 days  - 207,642,684 - - - - - - 
 

                

Total 2,979,720,221 207,642,684 - - 236,354,949 - 965,000,000 - 
         
Provision (387,182,191) - - - - - (118,847,924) - 
 

                

Net 2,592,538,030 207,642,684 - - 236,354,949 - 846,152,076 - 
 --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- 
Neither overdue nor impaired         
Total 287,438,045,463 27,760,241,657 2,047,260,805 11,370,216,000 145,473,238,842 10,922,602,377 40,530,544,523 709,458,304 
Provision (6,226,604,595) (5,661,145) - - (918,731) - (479,023,817) (387,460) 
 

                

Net 281,211,440,868 27,754,580,512 2,047,260,805 11,370,216,000 145,472,320,111 10,922,602,377 40,051,520,706 709,070,844 

 
--------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- 

Total net value 285,227,040,628 31,370,133,184 2,047,260,805 11,370,216,000 145,837,393,214 10,922,602,377 41,484,381,665 709,070,844 
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(a) Restructured loans and advances 
 
Restructured loans refer to those that have their contract terms restructured due to the 
deterioration of the borrowers’ financial position or their inability to make repayment when 
due. As at 31 December 2020, the balance of restructured loans was RMB812,490 (31 
December 2019: RMB22,517,297). 
 

(b) Collateral 
 
The fair value of the collateral for impaired financial assets is as follows:  
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

     
Fair value of the collateral for 

credit impaired / impaired 
loans and advances 1,350,299,269 1,352,528,843 1,049,275,428 1,340,873,495 

 
        

 
The fair value of the collateral for overdue but not impaired financial assets is as 
follows: 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Fair value of the collateral for 

overdue nor credit impaired / 
impaired loans and advances 2,420,595,650 2,935,906,198 1,855,055,349 2,388,171,341 

 
        

 
(6) Credit risk rating of bond investments 

 
The Group adopts a credit rating method to monitor the credit risk profile of bond portfolios it 
holds. The credit rating refers to Bloomberg comprehensive rating or rating of major rating 
agencies in the country where the bond issuer is located. The book value of bond investments 
on each balance sheet date are set as follows: 
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The Group 
 

31 December 2020 
Trading  

financial assets 
Debt 

investments 
Other debt 

investments Total 
         

Ratings by domestic rating agencies     
     

Bonds     
AAA - 12,759,061,954 32,453,852,151 45,212,914,105 
AA- to AA+ 50,702,250 - 191,638,286 242,340,536 

      

ABS     
AAA 280,521,844 1,942,782,876 315,168,102 2,538,472,822 
AA- to AA+ 194,934,128 100,832,102 - 295,766,230 

      

Ratings by foreign rating agencies     
     

Bonds     
AAA - - 2,950,314,239 2,950,314,239 
AA- to AA+ - 101,731,126 7,819,195,064 7,920,926,190 
A- to A+ 272,703,976 746,518,075 29,112,343,203 30,131,565,254 
Lower than A- 863,013,004 6,058,189,576 11,983,954,455 18,905,157,035 

     

Unrated     
- Bills issued by Central Bank 4,461,028,244 8,567,164,423 6,144,211,026 19,172,403,693 
- Government bonds - 2,842,356,828 63,504,191,143 66,346,547,971 
- PRC policy bank bonds - - 18,271,334,466 18,271,334,466 
- Other financial institution bonds 16,625,415 50,615,177 1,445,014,742 1,512,255,334 
- Interbank certificate of deposits 99,999,420 - - 99,999,420 
- Corporate bills - - 823,543,801 823,543,801 
- Corporate bonds 556,147,228 - 3,399,705,058 3,955,852,286 

  
        

Total 6,795,675,509 33,169,252,137 178,414,465,736 218,379,393,382 
 

        

 

31 December 2019 

Financial assets 
at fair value 

through profit or 
loss 

Available-for-
sale financial 

assets 
Held-to-maturity 

investments Total 
     

Ratings by domestic rating agencies     
     

Bonds     
AAA - 6,332,157,156 1,039,967,397 7,372,124,553 
AA- to AA+ - 250,816,570 - 250,816,570 
Lower than A- - 67,500,000 - 67,500,000 
     

ABS     
AAA - 359,128,300 3,094,150,000 3,453,278,300 
AA- to AA+ - 438,759,132 487,578,800 926,337,932 
A- to A+ - 160,000,000 177,000,000 337,000,000 
Lower than A- - 176,219,001 201,270,000 377,489,001 
     

Ratings by foreign rating agencies     
     

Bonds     
AAA 1,394,562,340 9,821,008,283 - 11,215,570,623 
AA- to AA+ 84,120,224 11,210,984,500 100,187,130 11,395,291,854 
A- to A+ 444,604,895 24,272,668,511 973,835,633 25,691,109,039 
Lower than A- 925,632,685 15,224,878,327 7,846,366,725 23,996,877,737 
     

Unrated     
- Bills issued by Central Bank - - 8,282,338,106 8,282,338,106 
- Government bonds 99,904,719 83,161,417,189 5,401,294,439 88,662,616,347   
- PRC policy bank bonds - 15,461,594,899 3,010,507,240 18,472,102,139 
- Other financial institution bonds 41,087,751 797,155,920 - 838,243,671 
- Corporate bills - 1,040,843,249 - 1,040,843,249 
- Corporate bonds 287,878,731 1,917,719,824 146,858,761 2,352,457,316 

 
        

Total 3,277,791,345 170,692,850,861 30,761,354,231 204,731,996,437 
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The Bank 
 

31 December 2020 
Trading  

financial assets 
Debt 

investments 
Other debt 

investments Total 
     
Ratings by domestic rating agencies     
     

Bonds     
AAA - 12,658,319,593 31,288,362,094 43,946,681,687 
AA- to AA+ 50,702,250 - 191,638,286 242,340,536 

     
ABS     
AAA 280,521,844 1,942,782,876 315,168,102 2,538,472,822 
AA- to AA+ 194,934,128 100,832,102 - 295,766,230 

     
Ratings by foreign rating agencies     
     

Bonds     
Lower than A- - - 82,464,818 82,464,818 

     
Unrated     

- Government bonds - - 53,235,500,366 53,235,500,366 
- PRC policy bank bonds - - 14,103,726,288 14,103,726,288 
- Other financial institution bonds - 50,615,177 - 50,615,177 
- Corporate bonds 162,634,854 - 991,436,036 1,154,070,890 

 
        

Total 688,793,076 14,752,549,748 100,208,295,990 115,649,638,814 
 

        

 

31 December 2019 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
Held-to-maturity 

investments Total 
    
Ratings by domestic rating agencies    
    
Bonds    

AAA 1,816,115,494 - 1,816,115,494 
AA- to AA+ 250,816,570 - 250,816,570 
Lower than A- 67,500,000 - 67,500,000 

    
ABS    

AAA 359,128,300 3,094,150,000 3,453,278,300 
AA- to AA+ 438,759,132 487,578,800 926,337,932 
A- to A+ 160,000,000 177,000,000 337,000,000 
Lower than A- 176,219,001 201,270,000 377,489,001 

    
Ratings by foreign rating agencies    
    
Bonds    

AAA 293,471,331 - 293,471,331 
    
Unrated    

- Government bonds 75,939,781,215 3,952,096,337 79,891,877,552 
- PRC policy bank bonds 15,008,416,220 3,010,507,240 18,018,923,460 
- Other financial institution bonds 137,688,976  - 137,688,976 
- Corporate bonds 166,918,951 - 166,918,951 

 
      

Total 94,814,815,190 10,922,602,377 105,737,417,567 
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(7) Repossessed assets  
 
Please refer to Note 29(iv) for detailed information of repossessed assets acquired for the 
debtor’s breach of the contract. 
 

(8) Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure 
 
Industrial concentration 
 
As at 31 December 2020, financial assets held by the Group mainly consisted of loans and 
advances to customers, as well as investments in securities (including trading financial asset, 
debt investments, other debt investments and Investments in other equity instruments). As at 
31 December 2019, financial assets held by the Group mainly consisted of loans and advances 
to customers, as well as investments in securities (including available-for-sale financial assets, 
held-to-maturity investments and investments classified as receivables). The following table 
breaks down the Group’s loans and advances to customers at their carrying amount, as 
categorised by industry sectors of its counterparties: 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  
 Carrying values Percentage  Carrying values Percentage  
  %  % 
Corporate loans and advances     

- Wholesale and retail trade 140,969,868,949 26.79% 124,460,043,117 26.64% 
- Water, environment and public facilities 64,215,479,638 12.20% 52,842,062,362 11.32% 
- Real estate 53,115,086,977 10.09% 44,628,981,308 9.56% 
- Leasing and commercial service  40,032,268,841 7.61% 37,117,758,856 7.95% 
- Financial sector 31,100,774,815 5.91% 34,899,490,343 7.48% 
- Construction 27,590,934,467 5.24% 34,178,909,579 7.32% 
- Manufacturing 24,834,900,872 4.72% 25,621,183,841 5.49% 
- Community service, repairing and other 

service industry 7,248,335,351 1.38% 10,024,290,668 2.15% 
- Lodging and catering business 6,413,992,660 1.22% 6,199,971,835 1.33% 
- Information dissemination, software and 

information technology service  4,611,452,364 0.88% 5,323,897,891 1.14% 
- Electricity, heat, gas, and water 

production and supply 4,535,547,574 0.86% 8,085,907,923 1.73% 
- Transportation, storage and postal service 4,117,115,603 0.78% 3,957,881,752 0.85% 
- Scientific research and technology service 3,454,859,772 0.66% 2,871,239,099 0.62% 
- Culture, sport and entertainment 2,043,820,715 0.39% 729,575,210 0.16% 
- Agriculture, forestry, farming, fishing  1,359,028,134 0.26% 672,234,847 0.14% 
- Mining 1,184,755,336 0.23% 588,213,052 0.13% 
- Health, social security and social welfare 1,111,822,452 0.21% 1,134,423,669 0.24% 
- Education 196,620,055 0.04% 174,870,109 0.04% 

Discounted bills  5,125,327,379 0.97% 2,650,590,519 0.57% 
 

        

Corporate loans and advance, sub-total 423,261,991,954 80.44% 396,161,525,980 84.86% 
     
Individual loans and advances 102,942,511,471 19.56% 70,652,455,076 15.14% 
 

        

Total 526,204,503,425 100.00% 466,813,981,056 100.00% 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  

 Carrying values Percentage  Carrying values Percentage  
  %  % 
     
Corporate loans and advances     

- Wholesale and retail trade 114,657,272,308  31.75% 89,384,632,965 30.48% 
- Water, environment and public facilities  55,953,742,686  15.50% 50,252,395,326 17.14% 
- Real estate  34,980,494,394  9.69% 30,895,739,719 10.54% 
- Leasing and commercial service  25,461,784,748  7.06% 24,378,119,987 8.32% 
- Construction 19,902,385,145  5.51% 20,933,072,411 7.14% 
- Manufacturing  17,893,769,339  4.96% 17,021,138,243 5.81% 
- Lodging and catering business  5,690,055,759  1.58% 5,349,531,942 1.82% 
- Information dissemination, software and 

information technology service  2,692,056,969  0.75% 2,935,289,866 1.00% 
- Scientific research and technology service  2,831,103,500  0.78% 2,837,463,404 0.97% 
- Financial sector  2,169,632,010  0.60% 375,500,000 0.13% 
- Transportation, storage and postal service  1,675,927,816  0.46% 1,649,110,518 0.56% 
- Electricity, heat, gas, and water 

production and supply  849,696,000  0.24% 2,127,341,000 0.73% 
- Mining  785,715,720  0.22% 588,213,052 0.20% 
- Agriculture, forestry, farming, fishing 625,388,469  0.17% 374,010,000 0.13% 
- Health, social security and social welfare  595,385,840  0.16% 522,131,666 0.18% 
- Community service, repairing and other 

service industry 486,322,568  0.13% 997,503,324 0.34% 
- Culture, sport and entertainment  425,611,000  0.12% 370,790,000 0.13% 
- Education  48,055,178  0.01% 120,737,698 0.04% 

Discounted bills  1,977,774,087 0.55% 179,804,737 0.06% 
 

        

Corporate loans and advance, sub-total 289,702,173,536 80.24% 251,292,525,858 85.72% 
     
Individual loans and advances 71,333,372,568  19.76% 41,846,220,964 14.28% 
 

        

Total 361,035,546,104 100.00% 293,138,746,822 100.00% 
 

        

 
Regional concentration 
 
As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the majority of the financial assets held by 
the Group were located in mainland China. The following table breaks down the Group’s main 
credit exposure of regional concentration of loans and advances: 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  

 Carrying values Percentage  Carrying values Percentage  
  %  % 
     
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan 97,736,594,848 18.57% 101,871,714,746 21.82% 
Zhejiang and Jiangsu 85,498,106,065 16.25% 83,254,733,803 17.83% 
Fujian 113,699,786,086 21.61% 75,630,108,663 16.21% 
Beijing, Tianjin and Hebei 61,690,676,803 11.72% 53,529,763,919 11.47% 
Guangdong 66,080,059,492 12.56% 44,851,688,772 9.61% 
Sichuan and Chongqing 28,178,864,310 5.36% 22,961,964,091 4.92% 
Yunnan, Guangxi and Guizhou 8,794,612,161 1.67% 10,757,464,249 2.30% 
Northeast China 2,375,624,578 0.45% 2,955,257,530 0.63% 
Others 62,150,179,082 11.81% 71,001,285,283 15.21% 
 

        

Total 526,204,503,425 100.00% 466,813,981,056 100.00% 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  

 Carrying values Percentage  Carrying values Percentage  
  %  % 
Fujian  110,307,989,997  30.54% 70,986,633,455 24.22% 
Zhejiang and Jiangsu 70,783,158,644  19.61% 68,044,470,631 23.21% 
Beijing, Tianjin and Hebei 60,116,012,447  16.65% 51,247,148,680 17.48% 
Guangdong 50,678,943,512  14.04% 32,619,008,748 11.13% 
Sichuan and Chongqing  21,500,383,748  5.96% 17,090,296,853 5.83% 
Yunnan, Guangxi and Guizhou  7,324,974,672  2.03% 8,789,924,747 3.00% 
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan 3,207,423,361  0.89% 7,069,530,628 2.41% 
Northeast China 2,155,957,303  0.60% 2,699,553,655 0.92% 
Others 34,960,702,420  9.68% 34,592,179,425 11.80% 
 

        

Total 361,035,546,104 100.00% 293,138,746,822 100.00% 
 

        

 
(9) Market risk 

 
The Group is exposed to market risks that may cause losses to the Group as a result of adverse 
movements in market prices (interest rate, exchange rate and stock price). Market risk arises 
from open positions in the trading and banking books. Both the Bank’s trading book and 
banking book face market risks. The trading book consists of financial instruments that are free 
of any restrictive covenants on their tradability and held with trading intent, and in order to or 
for the purpose of hedging market risk of the trading book. The banking book consists of 
financial instruments not included in the trading book (including those financial instruments 
purchased with surplus funds and managed in the investment book). 
 
The Group’s Board of Directors, the Risk Management Committee under Board of Directors 
and senior management of the Bank approve the overall market risk policies and procedures. 
The Group has set up market risk management team to monitors the Group’s market risk 
exposure and reports the risk exposures and interest rate sensitivity to senior management on 
a regular basis. The senior management of the Group approves the limits over the foreign 
currency exposures and the limits for trading book in accordance with market risk management 
policies established by the Board of Directors. 
 
The Group has established structural system of limit controls including regulatory limit, position 
limit, risk limit and stop-loss limit to identify, monitor and control market risks. The Group is 
establishing for its trading book, based on the market condition and technical condition, Value 
at Risk (VaR) method which applies to normal market condition and stress testing of market 
risk in case of extremely adverse circumstance when there are significant changes of the 
market. 
 
The Group performs sensitivity analysis to assess the interest rate risk and exchange rate risk 
of its trading book and bank book. That is to calculate regularly the difference (exposure) 
between interest-bearing assets and liabilities which would mature in a certain period or need 
to be re-priced, and then using the exposure information to perform sensitivity analysis under 
changing prime rate, market interest rate and exchange rate. The sensitivity analysis provides 
guidance to the adjustment of re-pricing and maturity structure of interest-bearing assets and 
liabilities. The Group has established reporting system for sensitivity analysis and reports the 
result of sensitivity analysis regularly to Group Executive Meeting, Risk Management 
Committee and Boards for review. 
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(a) Exchange-rate risks 
 
The majority of the Group’s business is the Renminbi business. In addition, it also has 
foreign currency business. The changes in exchange rates mainly affect the Group's 
financial position and cashflow. The Group manages exchange rate risk by controlling 
the net currency exposure. 
 
The following table summarises the foreign currency exchange rate risk exposure profile 
of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities. The book value of each original 
currency asset, liability and credit commitment has been converted into RMB amount. 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2020  

 RMB 

USD equivalent to 
RMB 

HKD equivalent to 
RMB 

Other currencies 
equivalent to RMB Total 

      

Financial assets      
      
Cash on hand and deposits with the 

Central Bank 50,067,403,144 3,772,130,468 637,937,123 196,168,557 54,673,639,292 
Deposits with supervisory authority 

outside Mainland China - - 810,978,861 1,996,316,468 2,807,295,329 
Deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions 9,358,206,453 11,645,959,223 6,492,226,795 825,282,307 28,321,674,778 
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions 1,490,431,640 5,664,291,493 15,272,177,797 587,103,969 23,014,004,899 
Derivative financial assets 1,253,651,219 - 118,837,960 10,711,782 1,383,200,961 
Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 10,275,506,192 - - - 10,275,506,192 
Loans and advances to customers 393,597,338,218 31,265,390,200 78,685,327,846 13,072,890,810 516,620,947,074 
Trading financial assets 39,770,474,253 1,362,999,858 4,602,166,264 124,174,583 45,859,814,958 
Debt investments 56,088,915,070 6,669,313,376 - 8,567,135,479 71,325,363,925 
Other debt investments 133,901,083,264 25,334,372,053 17,986,970,563 1,192,039,856 178,414,465,736 
Investments in other equity  
instruments - - 21,900,935 389,872 22,290,807 
Other financial assets 2,302,443,297 849,277,365 1,076,978,600 116,807,950 4,345,507,212 

 
          

Total assets 698,105,452,750 86,563,734,036 125,705,502,744 26,689,021,633 937,063,711,163 
  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------- 
Financial liabilities      
      
Borrowing from the Central Bank (7,388,970,227) - - - (7,388,970,227) 
Deposits from banks and other 

financial institutions (65,713,864,722) (2,307,049,335) (5,933,585,683) (816,981) (73,955,316,721) 
Placements from banks and other 

financial institutions (14,649,427,787) (3,190,948,379) (5,466,531,412) - (23,306,907,578) 
Trading financial liabilities - - (18,347,094) - (18,347,094) 
Derivative financial liabilities (1,534,264,255) (61,684,895) (133,026,232) - (1,728,975,382) 
Financial assets sold under 

repurchase agreements (24,098,290,786) - (673,312,000) - (24,771,602,786) 
Deposits from customers (410,817,301,310) (100,865,551,238) (125,775,254,694) (17,953,368,685) (655,411,475,927) 
Debt securities issued (82,211,206,209) (2,234,937,679) (1,037,863,961) - (85,484,007,849) 
Other financial liabilities (2,150,104,278) (992,541,539) (1,514,505,059) (234,633,890) (4,891,784,766) 

 
          

Total liabilities (608,563,429,574) (109,652,713,065) (140,552,426,135) (18,188,819,556) (876,957,388,330) 

  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------- 

Net position of assets and liabilities 89,542,023,176 (23,088,979,029) (14,846,923,391) 8,500,202,077 60,106,322,833 

 
          

      

Net nominal amount of derivative 
financial instruments (20,366,250,895)  29,412,962,116 17,264,499,273 20,528,629 26,331,739,123  

 
          

      

Credit commitments 143,849,281,771 6,659,830,493 3,423,970,838 1,369,761,343 155,302,844,445 
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  31 December 2019  

 RMB 
USD equivalent to 

RMB 
HKD equivalent to 

RMB 
Other currencies 

equivalent to RMB Total 
Financial assets      
      
Cash on hand and deposits with 

the Central Bank 67,070,681,954 3,244,431,323 698,786,451 249,787,163 71,263,686,891 
Deposits with supervisory authority 

outside Mainland China - - 2,111,893,886 2,271,262,104 4,383,155,990 
Deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions 30,568,090,686 5,444,184,031 2,565,153,472 1,344,379,685 39,921,807,874 
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions 680,350,572 3,445,910,482 9,195,033,938 408,247,050 13,729,542,042 
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 326,178,905 3,033,841,365 20,260,193 - 3,380,280,463 
Derivative financial assets 14,798,488 - 109,404,383 54,838,349  179,041,220 
Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 12,363,298,489 - - - 12,363,298,489 
Interest receivable 3,965,629,885 581,849,473 827,002,891 82,789,859 5,457,272,108 
Loans and advances 315,990,333,707 33,696,990,211 98,636,770,450 7,708,809,755 456,032,904,123 
Available-for-sale financial assets 172,781,605,908 37,050,074,549 12,794,161,142 2,388,144,283 225,013,985,882 
Held-to-maturity investments 13,693,203,911 8,785,812,213 - 8,282,338,107 30,761,354,231 
Investments classified as 

receivables 41,484,381,665 - - - 41,484,381,665 
Other financial assets 109,118,893 523,757,269 864,211,891 18,279,764 1,515,367,817 
 

          

Total assets 659,047,673,063 95,806,850,916 127,822,678,697 22,808,876,119 905,486,078,795 
  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Financial liabilities      
      
Deposits from banks and other 

financial institutions (55,280,933,821) (3,545,405,248) (5,059,968,745) (869,689) (63,887,177,503) 
Placements from banks and other 

financial institutions (2,985,941,667) (13,863,015,861) (2,158,378,857) (690,598,768) (19,697,935,153) 
Financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss - - (16,416,537) (2,536,899) (18,953,436) 
Derivative financial liabilities (291,220,255) - (36,154,376) (5,409,506) (332,784,137)  
Financial assets sold under 

repurchase agreements (33,021,664,115) - (1,970,716,000) - (34,992,380,115) 
Deposits from customers (386,239,764,996) (105,199,888,814) (125,633,390,985) (17,608,526,018) (634,681,570,813) 
Interest payable (4,821,807,329) (782,852,808) (842,374,956) (56,049,040) (6,503,084,133) 
Debt securities issued (84,911,471,474) (2,387,519,280) (958,484,600) - (88,257,475,354) 
Other financial liabilities (212,013,980) (417,846,172) (870,919,876) (156,849,183) (1,657,629,211) 
 

          

Total liabilities (567,764,817,637) (126,196,528,183) (137,546,804,932) (18,520,839,103) (850,028,989,855) 

  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 

Net position of assets and liabilities 91,282,855,426 (30,389,677,267) (9,724,126,235) 4,288,037,016 55,457,088,940 
 

          

Net nominal amount of derivative 
financial instruments (31,933,249,468) 30,995,828,359 18,502,329,567 243,218,338 17,808,126,796 

 
          

Credit commitments 148,876,989,959 8,837,110,194 4,137,725,645 1,293,293,760 163,145,119,558 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2020  

 RMB 

USD equivalent to 
RMB 

HKD equivalent to 
RMB 

Other currencies 
equivalent to RMB Total 

      

Financial assets      
      
Cash on hand and deposits with the 

Central Bank 44,974,570,536 3,121,049,616  128,895,593  5,568,508  48,230,084,253 
Deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions 9,222,748,878 9,435,703,566 294,285,407  165,343,948  19,118,081,799 
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions 1,400,146,289 -  -  -  1,400,146,289  
Derivative financial assets 1,206,414,164 -  -  -  1,206,414,164 
Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 10,275,506,192 -  -  -  10,275,506,192  
Loans and advances to customers 350,067,497,147 2,347,071,514  1,185,374,700  -  353,599,943,361  
Trading financial assets 34,085,867,205 26,899,990 -  -  34,112,767,195 
Debt investments 51,788,734,766 -  -  -  51,788,734,766 
Other debt investments 99,991,796,506 216,499,484  -  -  100,208,295,990  

Other financial assets  1,998,829,042 3,585,566  225,593,379  -  2,228,007,987 

 
          

Total assets 605,012,110,725 15,150,809,736  1,834,149,079  170,912,456  622,167,981,996 
  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------- 
Financial liabilities      
      
Borrowing from the Central Bank (7,388,970,227) -   -  - (7,388,970,227)  
Deposits from banks and other 

financial institutions (49,632,361,746) (1,338,050)  (908,289) -  (49,634,608,085)  
Placements from banks and other 

financial institutions (9,390,519,696) (189,878,043)  -  -  (9,580,397,739)  
Derivative financial liabilities (1,489,023,192) -  -  -  (1,489,023,192) 
Financial assets sold under 

repurchase agreements (9,210,984,897) -  -  -  (9,210,984,897)  
Deposits from customers (360,223,297,736) (57,172,597,258)  (1,695,139,829)  (505,872,571)  (419,596,907,394) 
Debt securities issued (82,538,272,097)  - -  -  (82,538,272,097)  
Other financial liabilities (2,033,100,784) (686,361,111)  (9,471,781)  7,882,063   (2,721,051,613) 

 
          

Total liabilities (521,906,530,375) (58,050,174,462)  (1,705,519,899)  (497,990,508)  (582,160,215,244) 

  --------------  --------------  --------------  --------------  -------------- 

Net position of assets and liabilities 83,105,580,350 (42,899,364,726) 128,629,180  (327,078,052)  40,007,766,752 

 
          

      

Net nominal amount of derivative 
financial instruments (16,157,825,434) 41,997,069,607  235,648,000 337,050,000  26,411,942,173 

 
          

      

Credit commitments 140,267,155,885  5,718,555,991  1,111,123,425  231,406,493  147,328,241,794  
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  31 December 2019  

 RMB 
USD equivalent to 

RMB 
HKD equivalent to 

RMB 
Other currencies 

equivalent to RMB Total 
Financial assets      
      
Cash on hand and deposits with 

the Central Bank 61,790,240,149 2,844,553,063 40,335,489 5,367,046 64,680,495,747 
Deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions 29,946,083,470 951,126,504 238,756,592 234,166,618 31,370,133,184 
Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions 500,000,000 1,345,290,408 201,970,397 - 2,047,260,805 
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 102,489,118 - - - 102,489,118 
Derivative financial assets 14,663,299 - - - 14,663,299 
Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 11,370,216,000 - - - 11,370,216,000 
Interest receivable 3,402,759,901 6,100,027 1,442,040 27 3,410,301,995 
Loans and advances, net 279,261,211,019 5,324,209,391 641,620,218 - 285,227,040,628 
Available-for-sale financial assets 145,514,158,636 323,234,578 - - 145,837,393,214 
Held-to-maturity investments 10,922,602,377 - - - 10,922,602,377 
Investments classified as 

receivables 41,484,381,665 - - - 41,484,381,665 
Other financial assets 467,278,178 539,779 241,252,887 - 709,070,844 
 

          

Total assets 584,776,083,812 10,795,053,750 1,365,377,623 239,533,691 597,176,048,876 
  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 
Financial liabilities      
      
Deposits from banks and other 

financial institutions (42,043,422,270) (342,386,534) (966,266) - (42,386,775,070) 
Placements from banks and other 

financial institutions (2,535,440,000) (2,772,777,144) - - (5,308,217,144) 
Derivative financial liabilities (285,696,624) - - - (285,696,624) 
Financial assets sold under 

repurchase agreements (24,829,740,000) - - - (24,829,740,000) 
Deposits from customers (336,891,795,750) (57,862,173,861) (914,088,747) (521,361,767) (396,189,420,125) 
Interest payable (4,262,243,829) (528,307,219) (3,315,941) (55,590) (4,793,922,579) 
Debt securities issued (85,211,471,474) - - - (85,211,471,474) 
Other financial liabilities (428,632,510) (105,195,650) 72,419,339 2,262,847 (459,145,974) 
 

          

Total liabilities (496,488,442,457) (61,610,840,408) (845,951,615) (519,154,510) (559,464,388,990) 

  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  ---------------  --------------- 

Net position of assets and liabilities 88,287,641,355 (50,815,786,658) 519,426,008 (279,620,819) 37,711,659,886 
 

          

Net nominal amount of derivative 
financial instruments (30,720,989,389) 49,438,391,371  (35,831,200) 304,804,500 18,986,375,282 

 
          

Credit commitments 147,111,352,060 7,393,036,437 1,063,767,387 35,550,930 155,603,706,814 
 

          

 
The Group uses sensitivity analysis to measure the possible impact of exchange rate 
changes on the Group's net profit. The following table shows the impact of possible 
changes in the exchange rates of various currencies on the profit before tax of the Group 
when other items remain unchanged. 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
 profit before tax   
 increase/(decrease)  

 profit before tax   
 increase/(decrease)  

 1% appreciation 1% depreciation 1% appreciation 1% depreciation 
 RMB RMB RMB RMB 

     
31 December 2020 172,622,897 (172,622,897) (5,280,460) 5,280,460 
 

        

31 December 2019 139,156,098 (139,156,098) (8,686,168) 8,686,168 
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In determining the exchange rate sensitivity analysis, the Group makes the general 
assumptions in defining business condition and financial parameters, but has not 
considered the following: 
 
(i) Changes after the balance sheet date, as the analysis is performed based on the 

static gap at the time of the balance sheet date; 
(ii) Impact of exchange rate fluctuations on the customers’ behaviours; 
(iii) Impact of exchange rate movements on the market prices; and 
(iv) Impact of foreign exchange movements on fair value change in derivatives 

financial instruments. 
 

(b) Interest rate risk 
 
Banking book interest rate risk is the risk that the banking book assets, revenue and 
economic value suffer loss or have the risk of contingent losses due to fluctuations of 
interest rates and changes of interest structure, mainly including gap risk, benchmark 
risk and option risk. Gap risk is the main form of bank book interest rate risk, which refers 
to the risk caused by different repricing periods of different financial instruments while 
interest rates change. The change of interest rate includes not only the parallel upward 
or downward movement of the yield curve, but also the change of the shape of the yield 
curve. Due to the different repricing periods of financial instruments, when the interest 
rate rises and the debt interest rate is repricing earlier than the asset interest rate, or 
when the interest rate falls and the asset interest rate is repricing earlier than the debt 
interest rate, the bank will face the interest margin reduction or even negative interest 
margin in a certain period of time, which will result in losses. 
 
The Group mainly manages its exposure to the risks arising from fluctuations in the 
prevailing levels of market interest rates on re-pricing, fair value and cashflows. The 
Group’s business in Mainland China is operated under the interest rate scheme 
regulated by the PBOC. RMB loans are mainly priced with reference to the loan market 
quoted rate (LPR), while deposits are priced with reference to the benchmark interest 
rate of the Central Bank. Based on experience, it is normal practice for the interest rates 
of both interest-bearing assets and liabilities to move in the same direction (but the extent 
of changes is not necessarily the same). The Group controls its interest rate risk primarily 
through controlling the distribution of the maturity date or re-pricing date of loans and 
deposits and the asset-liability re-pricing gap etc. 
 
According to the PBOC regulations, the lower limit of 0.7 of the interest rates on loans 
offered by financial institutions was cancelled in July 2013 and the interest rate for RMB 
discounted bills is determined by the market. The interest rate of RMB deposit was 
allowed to float above the prime rate in October 2015. In August 2019, new loans should 
be priced mainly by reference to the quoted interest rate of the loan market, and the 
quoted interest rate of the loan market should be used as the pricing benchmark in the 
floating rate loan contract. From 1 January 2020, financial institutions shall not sign the 
floating rate loan contract priced by reference to the benchmark interest rate of the loan. 
And from March 2020, financial institutions shall carry out the conversion of the pricing 
benchmark of the stock floating rate loan. The interest rate pricing method agreed in the 
original contract is converted to the LPR based pricing method. 
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On each balance sheet date, the repricing date or maturity date (the earlier of them) of the Group’s interest-earning assets and interest-
bearing liabilities is as follows: 
 

The Group 
 
  31 December 2020  

 
Non-interest 

bearing Within 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
  (including overdue)     
       
Financial assets       

Cash on hand and deposits with the Central Bank 4,517,753,000 50,155,886,292 - - - 54,673,639,292 
Deposits with supervisory authority outside Mainland China 810,978,861 1,996,316,468 - - - 2,807,295,329 
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 1,100,101,057 21,761,836,341 638,974,671 4,820,762,709 - 28,321,674,778 
Placements with banks and other financial institutions 8,235,573 23,005,769,326 - - - 23,014,004,899 
Derivative financial assets 118,254,730 158,392,392 1,068,315,229 38,234,243 4,367 1,383,200,961 
Financial assets held under resale agreements 1,893,159 10,273,613,033 - - - 10,275,506,192 
Loans and advances to customers (i) 1,828,757,611 224,301,031,643 173,983,228,362 103,515,195,352 12,992,734,106 516,620,947,074 
Trading financial assets (ii) 10,573,808,036 27,924,640,600 4,994,210,705 1,178,494,470 1,188,661,147 45,859,814,958 
Debt investments 834,644,600 11,331,354,804 26,142,450,424 29,777,841,210 3,239,072,887 71,325,363,925 
Other debt investments 2,381,431,814 38,965,660,300 34,611,981,162 88,102,945,971 14,352,446,489 178,414,465,736 
Investments in other equity  
instruments 22,290,807 - - - - 22,290,807 
Other financial assets 2,903,067,331 192,906,974 1,249,532,907 - - 4,345,507,212 

 
            

Total financial assets 25,101,216,579 410,067,408,173 242,688,693,460 227,433,473,955 31,772,918,996 937,063,711,163 
  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ---------------- 
Financial liabilities       

Borrowing from the Central Bank (225,340,227) - (7,163,630,000) - - (7,388,970,227) 
Deposits from banks and other financial institutions (548,229,846) (17,115,638,585) (50,888,536,943) (5,402,911,347) - (73,955,316,721) 
Placements from banks and other financial institutions (862,640,452) (9,517,797,216) (12,926,469,910) - - (23,306,907,578) 
Trading financial liabilities - (18,347,094) - - - (18,347,094) 
Derivative financial liabilities (63,456,568) (502,998,836) (1,100,658,557) (61,842,161) (19,260) (1,728,975,382) 
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements (712,777,100) (23,378,008,480) (680,817,206) - - (24,771,602,786) 
Deposits from customers (13,398,680,602) (294,466,034,293) (229,227,744,611) (105,519,016,421) (12,800,000,000) (655,411,475,927) 
Debt securities issued (263,109,494) (14,826,985,078) (59,261,287,852) (4,136,564,994) (6,996,060,431) (85,484,007,849) 
Other financial liabilities (3,570,500,636) (99,711,941) (1,221,572,189) - - (4,891,784,766) 

 
            

Total financial liabilities (19,644,734,925) (359,925,521,523) (362,470,717,268) (115,120,334,923) (19,796,079,691) (876,957,388,330) 
  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ---------------- 
Total interest sensitivity gap 5,456,481,654 50,141,886,650 (119,782,023,808) 112,313,139,032 11,976,839,305 60,106,322,833 
 

            

 

Note: 
 
(i) As at 31 December 2020, the loans and advances listed above as “within 3 months (including overdue)” include overdue loan 

(deducting impairment provision). Overdue amount refers to all or part of the overdue principal or interest of loans and advances. 
 

(ii) “Non-interest bearing” in trading financial assets includes equity investment and money market fund investment. 
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  31 December 2019  

 
Non-interest 

bearing Within 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
  (including overdue)     
       
Financial assets       

Cash on hand and deposits with the Central Bank 4,143,981,001 67,119,705,890 - - - 71,263,686,891 
Deposits with supervisory authority outside Mainland China 2,111,893,886 2,271,262,104 - - - 4,383,155,990 
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 7,585,746,263 19,870,925,545 11,157,965,251 1,307,170,815  39,921,807,874 
Placements with banks and other financial institutions - 12,906,963,726 822,578,316 - - 13,729,542,042 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (i) 102,489,118 1,535,008,814 25,832,520 1,452,070,493 264,879,518 3,380,280,463 
Derivative financial assets 109,404,383 30,962,279 27,723,416 10,951,142 - 179,041,220 
Financial assets held under resale agreements - 12,363,298,489 - - - 12,363,298,489 
Interest receivable 5,457,272,108 - - - - 5,457,272,108 
Loans and advances, net (ii) - 210,700,191,955 185,025,035,340 55,305,092,788 5,002,584,040 456,032,904,123 
Available-for-sale financial assets (iii) 2,238,712,090 47,244,537,121 37,605,053,500 126,763,361,348 11,162,321,823 225,013,985,882 
Held-to-maturity investments - 4,453,670,561 7,934,871,797 17,083,649,256 1,289,162,617 30,761,354,231 
Investments classified as receivables - 7,639,263,890 10,789,266,069 20,733,636,569 2,322,215,137 41,484,381,665 
Other financial assets 834,801,408 542,877,433 - 137,688,976 - 1,515,367,817 

 
            

Total financial assets 22,584,300,257 386,678,667,807 253,388,326,209 222,793,621,387 20,041,163,135 905,486,078,795 
  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ---------------- 
Financial liabilities       

Deposits from banks and other financial institutions (4,054,307,481) (21,855,972,617) (33,162,020,121) (4,814,877,284) - (63,887,177,503) 
Placements from banks and other financial institutions (3,980,678) (9,721,182,075) (9,972,772,400) - - (19,697,935,153) 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - (14,926,526) (4,026,910) - - (18,953,436) 
Derivative financial liabilities (36,154,376) (277,232,189) (6,180,339) (13,217,233) - (332,784,137) 
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements (1,970,716,000) (31,976,279,161) (1,045,384,954) - - (34,992,380,115) 
Deposits from customers (3,639,191,205) (301,455,050,211) (242,087,070,504) (83,466,154,687) (4,034,104,206) (634,681,570,813) 
Interest payable (6,503,084,133) - - - - (6,503,084,133) 
Debt securities issued - (20,057,349,323) (48,158,589,671) (13,180,370,880) (6,861,165,480) (88,257,475,354) 
Other financial liabilities (1,519,940,235) - - (137,688,976) - (1,657,629,211) 

 
            

Total financial liabilities (17,727,374,108) (385,357,992,102) (334,436,044,899) (101,612,309,060) (10,895,269,686) (850,028,989,855) 

 
 ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ---------------- 

Total interest sensitivity gap 4,856,926,149 1,320,675,705 (81,047,718,690) 121,181,312,327 9,145,893,449 55,457,088,940 
 

            

 
Note: 
 
(i) “Non-interest bearing” in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes money market fund investments. 
 
(ii) As at 31 December 2019, the loans and advances listed above as “within 3 months (including overdue)” include overdue loan 

(deducting impairment provision). Overdue amount refers to all or part of the overdue principal or interest of loans and advances. 
 
(iii) “Non-interest bearing” in available-for-sale financial assets includes equity investment and money market fund investment. 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2020  

 
Non-interest 

bearing Within 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
  (including overdue)     
       
Financial assets       

Cash on hand and deposits with the Central Bank 3,365,947,322 44,864,136,931 - - - 48,230,084,253 
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 161,050,823 13,670,883,722 465,384,545 4,820,762,709 - 19,118,081,799 
Placements with banks and other financial institutions 398,361 1,399,747,928 - - - 1,400,146,289 
Derivative financial assets - 99,860,325 1,068,315,229 38,234,243 4,367 1,206,414,164 
Financial assets held under resale agreements 1,893,159 10,273,613,033 - - - 10,275,506,192 
Loans and advances to customers (i) 1,049,682,954 112,376,457,540 143,371,419,676 86,564,234,200 10,238,148,991 353,599,943,361 
Trading financial assets (ii) 10,514,512,440 21,958,193,863 475,455,972 213,337,104 951,267,816 34,112,767,195 
Debt investments 677,944,074 4,515,867,552 19,285,392,446 24,070,457,807 3,239,072,887 51,788,734,766 
Other debt investments 1,348,334,878 10,015,498,901 13,975,848,430 61,390,012,541 13,478,601,240 100,208,295,990 
Other financial assets 866,174,585 112,300,495 1,249,532,907 - - 2,228,007,987 

 
            

Total financial assets 17,985,938,596 219,286,560,290 179,891,349,205 177,097,038,604 27,907,095,301 622,167,981,996 
  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ---------------- 
Financial liabilities       

Borrowing from the Central Bank (225,340,227) - (7,163,630,000) - - (7,388,970,227) 
Deposits from banks and other financial institutions (271,221,001) (4,344,226,174) (45,019,160,910) - - (49,634,608,085) 
Placements from banks and other financial institutions (80,764,876) (1,603,898,043) (7,895,734,820) - - (9,580,397,739) 
Derivative financial liabilities - (326,532,676) (1,100,629,095) (61,842,161) (19,260) (1,489,023,192) 
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements (3,176,628) (8,677,432,170) (530,376,099) - - (9,210,984,897) 
Deposits from customers (4,766,677,662) (145,757,530,443) (155,811,461,049) (100,461,238,240) (12,800,000,000) (419,596,907,394) 
Debt securities issued (252,692,876) (14,826,985,078) (59,462,533,712) (1,000,000,000) (6,996,060,431) (82,538,272,097) 
Other financial liabilities (1,399,767,483) (99,711,941) (1,221,572,189) - - (2,721,051,613) 

 
            

Total financial liabilities (6,999,640,753) (175,636,316,525) (278,205,097,874) (101,523,080,401) (19,796,079,691) (582,160,215,244) 

 
 ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ---------------- 

Total interest sensitivity gap 10,986,297,843 43,650,243,765 (98,313,748,669) 75,573,958,203 8,111,015,610 40,007,766,752 
 

            

 
Note: 
 
(i) As at 31 December 2020, the loans and advances listed above as “within 3 months (including overdue)” include overdue loan 

(deducting impairment provision). Overdue amount refers to all or part of the overdue principal or interest of loans and advances. 
 

(ii) “Non-interest bearing” in trading financial assets includes equity investment and money market fund investment. 
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  31 December 2019  

 
Non-interest 

bearing Within 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
  (including overdue)     
       
Financial assets       

Cash on hand and deposits with the Central Bank 2,977,864,821 61,702,630,926 - - - 64,680,495,747 
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions - 19,328,507,892 10,734,454,477 1,307,170,815 - 31,370,133,184 
Placements with banks and other financial institutions - 500,000,000 1,547,260,805 - - 2,047,260,805 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (i) 102,489,118 - - - - 102,489,118 
Derivative financial assets - 22,244 3,689,913 10,951,142 - 14,663,299 
Financial assets held under resale agreements - 11,370,216,000 - - - 11,370,216,000 
Interest receivable 3,410,301,995 - - - - 3,410,301,995 
Loans and advances, net (ii) - 122,546,289,434 139,790,287,552 17,912,140,444 4,978,323,198 285,227,040,628 
Available-for-sale financial assets (iii)  2,207,421,923 31,468,915,758 26,074,856,045 79,278,043,713 6,808,155,775 145,837,393,214 
Held-to-maturity investments - 264,578,115 1,383,766,710 7,985,094,935 1,289,162,617 10,922,602,377 
Investments classified as receivables - 7,639,263,890 10,789,266,069 20,733,636,569 2,322,215,137 41,484,381,665 
Other financial assets 571,381,868 - - 137,688,976 - 709,070,844 

 
            

Total financial assets 9,269,459,725 254,820,424,259 190,323,581,571 127,364,726,594 15,397,856,727 597,176,048,876 
  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ---------------- 
Financial liabilities       

Deposits from banks and other financial institutions - (15,635,858,484) (26,242,218,586) (508,698,000) - (42,386,775,070) 
Placements from banks and other financial institutions - (597,845,061) (4,710,372,083) - - (5,308,217,144) 
Derivative financial liabilities - (267,786,710) (4,692,681) (13,217,233) - (285,696,624) 
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements - (24,829,740,000) - - - (24,829,740,000) 
Deposits from customers - (156,054,622,951) (155,780,461,298) (80,320,231,670) (4,034,104,206) (396,189,420,125) 
Interest payable (4,793,922,579) - - - - (4,793,922,579) 
Debt securities issued - (20,057,349,323) (48,158,589,671) (10,000,000,000) (6,995,532,480) (85,211,471,474) 
Other financial liabilities (321,456,998) - - (137,688,976) - (459,145,974) 

 
            

Total financial liabilities (5,115,379,577) (217,443,202,529) (234,896,334,319) (90,979,835,879) (11,029,636,686) (559,464,388,990) 

 
 ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ----------------  ---------------- 

Total interest sensitivity gap 4,154,080,148 37,377,221,730 (44,572,752,748) 36,384,890,715 4,368,220,041 37,711,659,886 
 

            
 

 
Note: 
 
(i) “Non-interest bearing” in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes money market fund investments. 
 
(ii) As at 31 December 2019, the loans and advances listed above as “within 3 months (including overdue)” include overdue loan 

(deducting impairment provision). Overdue amount refers to all or part of the overdue principal or interest of loans and advances. 
 
(iii) “Non-interest bearing” in available-for-sale financial assets includes equity investment and money market fund investment. 
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The table below illustrates the potential impact on the Group’s net interest income in the 
coming year of a parallel shift of 100 basis points in each currency’s yield curve.  
 
The Group 
 
 + 100 basis points - 100 basis points 

 

Effect on net 
interest income 

Increase/(decrease) 

Effect on net 
interest income 

Increase/(decrease) 
 RMB RMB 
   
31 December 2020 (10,441,081) 10,441,081 
 

    

31 December 2019 (292,373,033) 292,373,033 
 

    

 
The Bank 
 
 + 100 basis points - 100 basis points 

 

Effect on net 
interest income 

Increase/(decrease) 

Effect on net 
interest income 

Increase/(decrease) 
 RMB RMB 
   
31 December 2020 13,263,075 (13,263,075) 
 

    

31 December 2019 159,902,867 (159,902,867) 
 

    

 
In determining the interest rate sensitivity analysis, the Group makes the general 
assumptions in defining business condition and financial parameters but has not 
considered the following: 
 
(i) Changes after the balance sheet date, as the analysis is performed based on the 

static gap at the time of the balance sheet date; 
(ii) Impact of interest rate fluctuations on the customers’ behaviours; 
(iii) Impact of foreign exchange movements on fair value change in derivatives 

financial instruments; 
(iv) Impact of interest rate movements on market prices; and 
(v) Impact of interest rate fluctuation on off-balance sheet items. 
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(10) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk refers to the risk of being unable to timely acquire sufficient funds at a reasonable 
cost to settle amounts due, fulfil other payment obligations or fulfil other needs of funds to carry 
out ordinary business operation. The liquidity risk management of the Group aims to establish 
a scientific and comprehensive risk management system to effectively identify, measure, 
monitor and control the report liquidity risk at the level of Group, to ensure the liquidity fulfils 
the needs with timely and reasonable cost. 
 
The Group’s liquidity management is monitored by senior management of the Group, including: 
 
- Formulate, evaluate and monitor the implementation of the liquidity risk preference, liquidity 

risk management strategy and policies and procedures; 
 
- Determine the organisational structure of liquidity risk management, clearly define the 

liquidity management responsibilities of relevant professional committees, front, middle and 
back office departments and branches, as well as the path, frequency and content of 
liquidity risk reporting so that the Bank could independently and effectively carry out the 
liquidity risk management function with sufficient resources; 

 
- Ensure effective communication of the liquidity risk preference, risk management strategy 

and policies and procedures within the Group; 
 
- Establish a sound management information system and support the identification, 

measurement and control of the liquidity risk; 
 
- Fully understand and regularly assess the liquidity risk and its management status, monitor 

the significant changes in the liquidity risk and report to the Board of Directors regularly. 
 
Senior management of the Group establishes the strategy and policy of the Group’s liquidity 
management. The chief financial officer is responsible for taking the lead in determining the 
daily monitoring and management mode of liquidity of domestic and foreign branches, putting 
forward corresponding measures and suggestions, and supervising, inspecting and guiding 
the implementation of liquidity management policies of various branches. The Group sets up 
a series of liquidity index to assess and monitor the Group’s liquidity risk. Daily, monthly and 
quarterly liquidity reporting system has been set up to ensure the Group’s Risk Management 
Committee, senior management and Assets and Liabilities Committee, can review the liquidity 
condition on time. The Group also performs scenario analysis to evaluate the relevant impact 
of liquidity risk. 
 
(a) Non-derivative cash flows 

 
The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Group for financial liabilities 
based on remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the Group 
manages the inherent liquidity risk based on expected undiscounted cash inflows.  
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The Group 
 
The following tables provide an analysis of financial liabilities of the Group based on remaining contractual maturity at the balance sheet 
date: 
 
  31 December 2020  
 Undated On demand Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
         
Financial liabilities         

Borrowing from the Central Bank - - - - (7,546,071,675) - - (7,546,071,675) 
Deposits from banks and other financial institutions - (3,092,576,821) (3,880,662,996) (10,430,707,445) (51,932,287,683) (5,407,457,115) - (74,743,692,060) 
Placements from banks and other financial institutions - (761,217,099) (3,933,300,895) (5,607,377,177) (13,033,175,166) - - (23,335,070,337) 
Trading financial liabilities - - (15,706,364) (2,706,334) - - - (18,412,698) 
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements - - (20,999,590,506) (3,096,545,332) (681,213,299) - - (24,777,349,137) 
Deposits from customers - (119,244,804,475) (77,092,152,480) (129,346,070,188) (233,698,611,436) (124,549,915,989) (15,497,498,551) (699,429,053,119) 
Debt securities issued - - (3,260,000,000) (11,912,600,000) (60,619,917,074) (6,163,577,923) (7,292,600,000) (89,248,694,997) 
Other financial liabilities - - (2,277,525,328) (40,932,814) (2,581,286,055) - - (4,899,744,197) 

 
                

Total financial liabilities - (123,098,598,395) (111,458,938,569) (160,436,939,290) (370,092,562,388) (136,120,951,027) (22,790,098,551) (923,998,088,220) 

 
                

 
  31 December 2019  

 Undated On demand Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
Financial liabilities         

Deposits from banks and other financial institutions - (5,281,041,694) (5,691,393,224) (15,155,165,529) (34,013,400,634) (4,836,271,868) - (64,977,272,949) 
Placements from banks and other financial institutions - (3,980,678) (4,551,740,563) (5,173,930,834) (10,055,303,585) - - (19,784,955,660) 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  - (12,469,707) (2,512,487) (4,178,760) - - (19,160,954) 
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements - - (31,470,887,361) (2,496,459,266) (1,045,384,954) - - (35,012,731,581) 
Deposits from customers - (115,017,747,589) (64,663,660,233) (127,293,266,569) (248,334,387,696) (98,260,399,832) (4,894,908,260) (658,464,370,179) 
Debt securities issued - - (2,600,000,000) (17,852,600,000) (49,674,200,879) (15,655,954,227) (7,585,200,000) (93,367,955,106) 
Other financial liabilities - - (1,049,345,226) - (482,844,248) (137,688,976) - (1,669,878,450) 

 
                

Total financial liabilities - (120,302,769,961) (110,039,496,314) (167,973,934,685) (343,298,060,756) (118,890,314,903) (12,480,108,260) (872,984,684,879) 
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The Bank 
 
  31 December 2020  
 Undated On demand Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
         
Financial liabilities         

Deposits from banks and other financial institutions -  (145,026,173) (1,116,712,697)  (3,136,673,153)  (46,000,295,424)   -  - (50,398,707,447) 
Borrowing from the Central Bank -   - -  - (7,546,071,675)  -  - (7,546,071,675)  
Placements from banks and other financial institutions -   - (112,193,543)  (1,499,411,574) (7,983,381,184)  -  - (9,594,986,301)  
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements -   - (8,119,942,172) (562,971,163) (530,376,099) -  - (9,213,289,434) 
Deposits from customers -  (63,782,313,982) (20,669,564,263) (63,068,878,868) (159,286,913,336) (118,986,053,717) (15,497,498,551) (441,291,222,717) 
Debt securities issued -  -  (3,260,000,000)  (11,912,600,000)  (60,653,900,000)  (2,242,200,000)  (7,292,600,000)  (85,361,300,000)  
Other financial liabilities  -  - (1,458,546,610) (40,932,814) (1,221,572,189)  -  - (2,721,051,613) 

                 

Total financial liabilities  (63,927,340,155) (34,736,959,285) (80,221,467,572) (283,222,509,907) (121,228,253,717) (22,790,098,551) (606,126,629,187) 
                 

 
  31 December 2019  
 Undated On demand Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
         
Financial liabilities         

Deposits from banks and other financial institutions - (1,637,156,421) (3,861,579,303) (10,334,428,613) (26,956,604,419) (530,092,584) - (43,319,861,340) 
Placements from banks and other financial institutions - - (501,855,890) (98,424,090) (4,800,838,555) - - (5,401,118,535) 
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements - - (24,849,789,699) - - - - (24,849,789,699) 
Deposits from customers - (72,453,452,947) (23,607,915,971) (61,352,980,753) (160,590,609,691) (94,725,476,869) (4,894,908,260) (417,625,344,491) 
Debt securities issued - - (2,600,000,000) (17,852,600,000) (49,488,000,000) (11,558,400,000) (7,585,200,000) (89,084,200,000) 
Other financial liabilities - - (321,456,998) - - (137,688,976) - (459,145,974) 

 
                

Total financial liabilities - (74,090,609,368) (55,742,597,861) (89,638,433,456) (241,836,052,665) (106,951,658,429) (12,480,108,260) (580,739,460,039) 
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(b) Derivative cash flows 
 
Derivatives settled on a net basis 
 
The Group’s derivatives that will be settled on a net basis, includes interest rate 
derivatives (interest rate swaps) and exchange rate derivatives (currency forward). 
 
The table below analyses the Group’s derivatives held for trading that will be settled on 
a net basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining contractual period 
at the balance sheet. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. 
 
The Group 
 

 
Within 1 

month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
       
31 December 2020       

Interest rate derivatives (321,048) (1,605,109) (6,468,577) (25,595,494) (14,893) (34,005,121) 
Exchange rate derivatives 213,612,896 167,906 29,462 - - 213,810,264 

       
31 December 2019       

Interest rate derivatives (138,953) (1,083,830) (118,377) (4,631,938) - (5,973,098) 
Exchange rate derivatives 72,242,462 - - - - 72,242,462 

 
The Bank 
 

 
Within 1 

month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
       
31 December 2020       

Interest rate derivatives 7,713 (35,836) (5,177,088) (23,607,918) (14,893) (28,828,022) 
       
31 December 2019       

Interest rate derivatives - - (852,557) (2,266,091) - (3,118,648) 

 
Derivatives settled on a gross basis 
 
Derivatives of the Group settled on gross basis mainly are foreign exchange derivatives, 
including currency forward and currency swaps. 
 
The table below analyses the Group’s derivatives held for trading that will be settled on 
a gross basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining contractual period 
at the balance sheet. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. 
 
The Group 
 
 Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months Total 

     
31 December 2020     

Foreign exchange derivatives     
- Inflow 56,481,826,723 6,521,977,326 1,309,628,437 64,313,432,486 
- Outflow (56,851,355,348) (6,526,372,969) (1,315,204,411) (64,692,932,728) 

 
 Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months Total 
     
31 December 2019     

Foreign exchange derivatives     
- Inflow 59,230,491,508 4,322,430,783 11,452,819,117 75,005,741,408 
- Outflow (59,496,255,871)  (4,304,402,532) (11,401,919,159) (75,202,577,562)  
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The Bank 
 
 Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months Total 

     
31 December 2020     

Foreign exchange derivatives     
- Inflow 43,133,639,606  - - 43,133,639,606  
- Outflow (43,365,654,434)  - - (43,365,654,434)  

 
 Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months Total 

     
31 December 2019     

Foreign exchange derivatives     
- Inflow 50,227,325,319 - 39,935,686 50,267,261,005 
- Outflow (50,500,836,389) - (40,415,500) (50,541,251,889) 

 
(c) Liquidity risk analysis of off-balance sheet items 

 
The following table shows the cash flow distribution of the group's off-balance sheet 
items on the remaining maturity date. The remaining maturity date refers to the amount 
of off-balance sheet items listed in each period from the balance sheet date to the 
maturity date specified in the contract. The amount of off-balance sheet items included 
in each period is the undiscounted contract cash flow.  
The Group 
 
31 December 2020 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
     
Acceptance 102,526,371,812 - - 102,526,371,812 
Loan commitments 1,241,052,000 1,411,456,492 - 2,652,508,492 
Letters of guarantee 5,913,618,293 4,808,061,745 1,001,870,917 11,723,550,955 
Letters of credit 38,400,413,186 - - 38,400,413,186 
Operating lease commitments 339,910,617 865,710,527 228,975,239 1,434,596,383 
Capital expenditure commitments 293,461,942 46,150,611 1,374,457 340,987,010 
 

        

Total 148,714,827,850 7,131,379,375 1,232,220,613 157,078,427,838 
 

        

 
31 December 2019 Within1year 1to5years Over5years Total 
     
Acceptance 122,619,286,140 - - 122,619,286,140 
Loan commitments 754,308,805 3,407,330,717 - 4,161,639,522 
Letters of guarantee 17,548,764,713 4,153,747,959 1,232,592,214 22,935,104,886 
Letters of credit 13,429,089,010 - - 13,429,089,010 
Operating lease commitments 324,646,067 816,258,467 191,712,553 1,332,617,087 
Capital expenditure commitments 284,290,981 42,192,713 379,760 326,863,454 

 
        

Total 154,960,385,716 8,419,529,856 1,424,684,527 164,804,600,099 
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The Bank 
 
31 December 2020 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
     
Acceptance 102,360,717,256  -  -   102,360,717,256  
Letters of guarantee 5,809,723,370  4,486,506,892  100,000,000 10,396,230,262  
Letters of credit 34,571,294,276  -  -  34,571,294,276  
Operating lease commitments 224,987,675 639,207,290 174,334,566 1,038,529,531 
Capital expenditure commitments 252,011,249 46,150,611 1,374,457 299,536,317 

 
        

Total 143,218,733,826 5,171,864,793 275,709,023 148,666,307,642 

 
        

 
31 December 2019 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 
     
Acceptance 122,001,074,415 - - 122,001,074,415 
Letters of guarantee 17,415,770,049 4,123,525,284 100,000,000 21,639,295,333 
Letters of credit 11,963,337,066 - - 11,963,337,066 
Operating lease commitments 211,611,728 555,817,919 128,216,790 895,646,437 
Capital expenditure commitments 239,855,030 42,192,713 379,760 282,427,503 

 
        

Total 151,831,648,288 4,721,535,916 228,596,550 156,781,780,754 

 
        

 
(11) Capital management 

 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are: 
 

 To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the markets where the 
entities within the Group operate; 

 To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to 
provide returns for equity holders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 

 To establish capital supplementation mechanism to support the development of its 
business. 

 
CBRC promulgated a revised capital requirement “Capital Rules for Commercial Banks 
(Provisional)” in 2012 which was put into practice from 1 January 2013. The original capital 
requirement has been abandoned since then. 
 
According to the “Capital Rules for Commercial Banks (Provisional)” (the “CRCC”), the capital 
adequacy ratio requirements of commercial banks include: minimum capital requirement, 
additional capital surcharge on systemically important banks (SIBs), conservation capital buffer 
requirement, counter-cyclical capital requirement, as well as the capital requirement under 
Pillar II. Pursuant to the CRRC, the core tier-one capital adequacy ratio, tier-one capital 
adequacy ratio and capital adequacy ratio should be no less than 5%, 6% and 8%, 
respectively. Domestic SIBs should meet the additional capital surcharge of 1%, which would 
be fulfilled by core tier-one capital. At the same time, according to the CBRC’s “Notice of 
Transitional Arrangements for the Implementation of the ‘Capital Rules for Commercial Banks 
(Provisional)’”, conservation capital buffer will be introduced gradually during the transitional 
period, which will be fulfilled by core tier-one capital. In addition, if the counter-cyclical capital 
or the capital requirement under Pillar II is required by regulators, commercial bank should 
accomplish the target ratio by due date. 
 
The Group monitors the adequacy of capital and the use of capital in real time based on the 
regulatory requirement of the former CBRC. The required information is filed with the regulator 
(the former CBRC, China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission currently) on a 
quarterly basis. 
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The tables below summarise capital adequacy ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and 
31 December 2019, which was calculated according to “Capital Rules for Commercial Banks 
(Provisional)”. The Group complied with the capital requirements as required by CBRC. 
 
  The Group   The Bank  

 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
     
Core tier-one capital adequacy ratio 9.15% 9.04% 10.05% 10.12% 
Tier-one capital adequacy ratio 9.49% 9.41% 10.05% 10.12% 
Capital adequacy ratio 12.06% 12.26% 12.57% 13.04% 

 
        

     
Risk-weighted asset in total 652,673,446,936 586,704,828,333 463,518,321,394 400,828,388,541 

 
        

     
Net core tier-one capital 59,740,721,593 53,050,300,440 46,562,716,227  40,551,398,237 
Net tier-one capital 61,931,881,043 55,225,333,948 46,562,716,227  40,551,398,237 
Net capital 78,743,367,264 71,943,942,339 58,245,472,832  52,249,227,774 

 
        

 
65 Transfer of financial asset 

 

In the ordinary course of business, financial assets that have been recognised may be 

transferred to any third parties or special purpose trusts in some transactions entered by the 

Group. If the transfer of these financial assets partly or fully conforms to the criteria of 

derecognition, the relevant financial assets will be either fully derecognised or derecognised 

not in their entirety 
. When the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of the financial assets 
transferred, the financial assets will be recognised in the balance sheet, as the transfer of such 
assets does not meet the criteria of derecognition. When the Group has neither retained nor 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, and the group has not 
relinquished control of the asset. The relevant financial assets shall be recognised to the extent 
to which the Group has a continuing involvement in the asset, and the relevant liabilities shall 
be recognised accordingly. 
 
The Group sells the trust loans to special purpose trusts which then issues asset-backed 
securities to the investors. As at 31 December 2020, the Group has neither retained nor 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of beneficiary rights of trust assets of 
RMB113,361,938 (2019: RMB137,688,976). That is the Group has not fully relinquished 
control of the assets above. Therefore, the Group recognises the relevant assets and liabilities 
in accordance with the procedures for credit assets transferred with continuing involvement. 
 

66 Fair value  
 

(1) The methods to determine the fair value  
 
The Group’s financial assets and liabilities mainly include cash on hand and deposits with 
Central Bank, deposits with banks and other financial institutions, placements with banks and 
other financial institutions, derivative financial instruments, financial assets held under resale 
agreements, loans and advances to customers, financial investments, investment property, 
deposits from banks and other financial institutions, placements from banks and other financial 
institutions, financial assets sold under repurchase agreements, deposits from customers, 
bond payables and so on. 
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(a) The fair value of partial asset accounts and liability accounts is close to book value, 
because they are short term or floating rate instruments. Such asset accounts include 
cash on hand and deposits with central bank, deposits with banks and other financial 
institutions, placements with banks and other financial institutions, financial assets held 
under resale agreements, and liability accounts include deposits from banks and other 
financial institutions, placements from banks and other financial institutions, financial 
assets sold under repurchase agreements. 

 
(b) Trading financial assets and other debt investments are disclosed by fair value. The 

Group uses market price if the instruments have active markets. For such financial 
instruments without active market or market price, the Group uses discounted cash flow 
analysis or other valuation techniques to estimate the fair value of them. 

 
(c) The fair value of debt investments is based on market quoted price. For debt investments 

without relevant market information, the Group uses discounted cash flow analysis to 
estimate the fair value. If applicable, the fair value of the debt investments could be 
determined by reference to the valuation results of China Central Depository and 
Clearing Co., Ltd., China Securities Index Co., Ltd. or Bloomberg. 

 
(d) Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, derivative 

financial instruments and available-for-sale financial assets are disclosed by fair value 
(unless fair value is unable to measure). The Group uses market price or market interest 
if the instruments have active markets. For financial instruments without active market or 
market price or market interest rate, the Group uses discounted cash flow analysis or 
other valuation techniques to estimate the fair value of asset and liability accounts. 

 
(e) The fair value of held-to-maturity investments and debt securities issued usually base on 

open market bid or broker / dealer offer. If the relative information of fair value has no 
quote in the market, the Group adopts the rate of return of security products that have 
the same characteristics (such as credit risk and maturity date) as reference to estimate 
the fair value by pricing-model or discounted cashflow analysis. 

 
(f) The fair value of the benefit right investment and wealth management products issued 

by financial institutions classified as available-for-sale financial assets and investments 
classified as receivables are determined by the expiry cashflow, which is discounted on 
the yield to maturity of similar financial instruments in current market. Their book values 
are basically the same as their fair values. 

 
(g) Loans and advances to customers measured at amortised cost are disclosed after 

deduction of impairment. The majority of loans and advances are floating rate, and they 
are repriced if PBOC adjusts benchmark interest rate for loan. As a result, the book value 
of these loans and advances is close to fair value. Loans and advances to customers 
measured at fair value are mainly forfaiting and discounted bills, which are valued using 
the discounted cash flow model. 

 
(h) The fair value of investment property shall be determined by market comparison method 

or income capital method, and then the discount and premium adjustment shall be made 
according to the nature of the Group's houses and buildings relative to the comparable 
houses and buildings. 

 
(i) The majority of deposits from customers are current deposit or fixed time deposit expiring 

within one year, their interest rates are priced similarly equal to the Central Bank’s 
floating rate or short-term interest rate. Thereby, the book value of these deposits is 
similar to their fair value. 
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(2) Assets and liabilities measured at fair value  

 
(a) Fair value hierarchy 
 

The following table presents the fair value information and the fair value hierarchy, at the 
end of the current reporting period, of the Group’s assets and liabilities which are 
measured at fair value at each balance sheet date on a recurring basis. The level in 
which fair value measurement is categorised is determined by the level of the fair value 
hierarchy of the lowest level input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement. 
The levels of inputs are defined as follows: 
 
Level 1 inputs: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are observable at the 

measurement date for identical assets or liabilities; 
 
Level 2 inputs: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e., 

quoted prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). This category 
includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active 
markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are considered less active; or other valuation 
techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly 
observable from market data. 

 
Level 3 inputs: Valuation techniques based on important inputs that are unobservable. 

This category includes all instruments where the valuation technique 
includes inputs not based on observable data and unobservable inputs 
have a significant effect on the instruments’ valuation. This category 
includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar 
instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions 
are required to reflect differences between the instruments. 
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The Group 
 

 

Level 1 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 2 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 3 
fair value 

measurements Total 
31 December 2020     
     
Recurring fair value 

measurements     
Loans and advances to 

customers         

- Discounted bills - - 5,125,327,379 5,125,327,379 
- Forfeiting - - 140,970,500 140,970,500 

 
        

Sub-total - - 5,266,297,879 5,266,297,879 
  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 
Trading financial assets     

- Fund investments - 26,861,392,102 12,000,000 26,873,392,102 
- Asset management plans - 10,145,362,022 - 10,145,362,022 
- Corporate bonds - 5,665,179,710 162,634,854 5,827,814,564 
- Beneficiary rights plans - - 951,267,816 951,267,816 
- Financial bonds - 950,899,270 - 950,899,270 
- Non-listed equity 

investments - - 877,212,755 877,212,755 
- Wealth management 

products issued by 
financial institutions - - 103,339,011 103,339,011 

- Listed equity investments 60,879,984 - - 60,879,984 
- Perpetual bonds - 52,685,759 - 52,685,759 
- Structured bills - 16,961,675 - 16,961,675 

 
        

Sub-total 60,879,984 43,692,480,538 2,106,454,436 45,859,814,958 
  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

Other debt investments     
- Government bonds 1,737,266,277 112,519,244,996 - 114,256,511,273 
- Financial bonds - 36,031,585,927 - 36,031,585,927 
- Corporate bonds - 21,784,879,878 - 21,784,879,878 
- Corporate bills - 3,750,182,155 - 3,750,182,155 
- Interbank certificates of 

deposit - 2,591,306,503 - 2,591,306,503 
 

        

Sub-total 1,737,266,277 176,677,199,459 - 178,414,465,736 
  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

Investments in other equity 
instruments     
- Non-listed equity 

investments - - 22,290,807 22,290,807 
     

Derivative financial assets - 1,383,200,961 - 1,383,200,961 
Investment properties - - 100,161,405 100,161,405 
 

        

Total assets measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis 1,798,146,261 221,752,880,958 7,495,204,527 231,046,231,746 

 
        

Liabilities     
Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or 
loss     

Derivative financial 
liabilities - (1,728,975,382) - (1,728,975,382) 

Trading financial liabilities - (18,347,094) - (18,347,094) 
 

        

Total liabilities measured at 
fair value on a recurring 
basis - (1,747,322,476) - (1,747,322,476) 
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Level 1 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 2 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 3 
fair value 

measurements Total 
31 December 2019     
     
Recurring fair value 

measurements     
Assets     

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss     
- Corporate bonds - 3,008,377,728 - 3,008,377,728 
- Financial bonds - 253,217,634 - 253,217,634 
- Fund investments - 102,489,118 - 102,489,118 
- Structured bills - 16,195,983 - 16,195,983 

Available-for-sale financial 
assets     
- Government bonds 6,218,245,802 103,111,069,008 - 109,329,314,810 
- Financial bonds - 35,304,424,237 - 35,304,424,237 
- Fund investments - 26,661,135,043 - 26,661,135,043 
- Corporate bonds  - 19,950,482,886 166,918,952 20,117,401,838 
- Beneficiary rights plans - 14,910,819,630 1,195,208,795 16,106,028,425 
- Wealth management 

products issued by 
financial institutions - - 10,622,443,493 10,622,443,493 

- Corporate bills - 5,143,611,843 - 5,143,611,843 
- Interbank certificate of 

deposits - 798,098,133 - 798,098,133 
- Non-listed equity 

investments - - 765,351,535 765,351,535 
- Listed equity investments 35,496,445 - - 35,496,445 

     
Derivative financial assets - 179,041,220 - 179,041,220 
Investment properties - - 179,097,040 179,097,040 

 
        

Total assets measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis 6,253,742,247 209,438,962,463 12,929,019,815 228,621,724,525 

 
        

Liabilities     
Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss - (18,953,436) - (18,953,436) 
Derivative financial liabilities - (332,784,137) - (332,784,137) 

 
        

Total liabilities measured at fair  
value on a recurring basis - (351,737,573) - (351,737,573) 
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The Bank 
 

 

Level 1 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 2 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 3 
fair value 

measurements Total 
     
31 December 2020     
     
Recurring fair value 

measurements     
Loans and advances to 

customers         
- Discounted bills - - 1,977,774,087 1,977,774,087 
- Forfeiting - - 140,970,500 140,970,500 

 
        

Sub-total - - 2,118,744,587 2,118,744,587 

 

 -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

Trading financial assets     
- Fund investments  -  21,273,912,531  12,000,000  21,285,912,531  
- Asset management plans -  10,145,362,022  -  10,145,362,022   
- Beneficiary rights plans - - 951,267,816 951,267,816 
- Non-listed equity 

investments -  -  877,212,755  877,212,755  
- Financial bonds -  526,158,222  -  526,158,222  
- Corporate bonds -  -  162,634,854  162,634,854  
- Wealth management 

products issued by 
financial institutions - -  103,339,011 103,339,011 

- Listed equity investments 60,879,984  -  -  60,879,984  
 

        

Sub-total 60,879,984 31,945,432,775 2,106,454,436 34,112,767,195 

 

 -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

Other debt investments     
- Government bonds - 77,683,787,243 - 77,683,787,243 
- Financial bonds - 14,134,249,491 - 14,134,249,491 
- Corporate bills - 3,750,182,155 - 3,750,182,155 
- Interbank certificates of 

deposit - 2,591,306,503 - 2,591,306,503 
- Corporate bonds - 2,048,770,598 - 2,048,770,598 

 
        

Sub-total - 100,208,295,990 - 100,208,295,990 
  -----------------  -----------------  -----------------  ----------------- 

     
Derivative financial assets - 1,206,414,164 - 1,206,414,164 
 

        

Total assets measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis 60,879,984 133,360,142,929 4,225,199,023 137,646,221,936 

 
        

Liabilities     
Derivative financial liabilities - (1,489,023,192) - (1,489,023,192) 
 

        

Total liabilities measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis - (1,489,023,192) - (1,489,023,192) 
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Level 1 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 2 
fair value 

measurements 

Level 3 
fair value 

measurements Total 
31 December 2019     
     
Recurring fair value 

measurements     
Assets     
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss     
- Fund investments - 102,489,118 - 102,489,118 

Available-for-sale financial 
assets     

- Government bonds - 75,939,781,215 - 75,939,781,215 
- Fund investments - 23,393,868,213 - 23,393,868,213 
- Financial bonds - 16,442,846,427 - 16,442,846,427 
- Beneficiary rights plans - 14,910,819,630 1,195,208,795 16,106,028,425 
- Wealth management 

products issued by 
financial institutions - - 10,622,443,493 10,622,443,493 

- Corporate bonds - 1,419,526,163 166,918,952 1,586,445,115 
- Interbank certificate of 

deposits - 798,098,133 - 798,098,133 
- Non-listed equity 

investments - - 734,061,368 734,061,368 
- Corporate bills - 47,644,300 - 47,644,300 
- Listed equity investments 35,496,445 - - 35,496,445 
     

Derivative financial assets - 14,663,299 - 14,663,299 
 

        

Total assets measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis 35,496,445 133,069,736,498 12,718,632,608 145,823,865,551 

 
        

Liabilities     
Derivative financial liabilities - (285,696,624) - (285,696,624) 

 
        

Total liabilities measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis - (285,696,624) - (285,696,624) 

 
        

 
There is no significant conversion between the first level and the second level of the 
group's assets and liabilities measured at fair value. 
 

(b) Level 2 fair value measurement 
 
Bonds and certificate of deposit investments recognised as trading financial assets and 
other debt investments are determined by valuation results of China Central Depository 
and Clearing CO., LTD (hereafter CCDC). In the process of forming valuation, CCDC 
adopts observable inputs that reflect market conditions. 
 
Currency forward, currency swap, currency options and interest swap contracts adopt 
the discount of receivable/payable amounts and compute the contracts’ net present 
value to measure the fair values. The usage of discount rate matches currencies’ market 
interest rate curve, the quote price of exchange rate is from the relevant Exchange, In 
the process of producing quote prices, relevant institutions adopt observable inputs that 
reflect market conditions. 
 
During the year 2020 and 2019, there were no changes in valuation techniques for the 
recurring Level 2 fair value measurements. 
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(c) Level 3 fair value measurement 
 
The Group sets the processes to confirm the valuation techniques and inputs of the 
recurring Level 3 fair value measurements, and regularly review the processes and 
suitability of fair value measurement. 
 
Quantitative information about Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows: 
 
The Group 
 

 
Fair value at 31 
December 2020 

Valuation 
techniques 

Unobservable 
inputs Range 

     

Discounted bills 5,125,327,379 
Discounted  

cash flow 
Risk-adjusted 

discount rate 1.95% 

Beneficiary rights plans 951,267,816 
Discounted  

cash flow 
Average growth 

of land value  13.07% 

Non-listed equity investments 877,212,755 
Discounted  

cash flow 
Risk-adjusted 

discount rate 8.58% 

Corporate bonds 162,634,854  
Comparable 

company  
Liquidity  
discount 30.96% 

Forfeiting 140,970,500 
Discounted  

cash flow 
Risk-adjusted 
discount rate 3% 

Wealth management products 
issued by financial institutions 103,339,011 

Discounted  
cash flow 

Risk-adjusted 
discount rate 4.09% 

Investment properties 100,161,405 

Market 
comparison 

method or 
income capital 

method 

Premium /  
(discount) in 

nature relative to 
comparable 

property (5.37%) 

Non-listed equity investments 22,290,807 
Market 

approach 
Liquidity  
discount 17% 

Fund investments 12,000,000 
Net assets 

method 
Enterprise 

internal data N/A 

 

 
Fair value at 31 
December 2019 

Valuation 
techniques 

Unobservable 
inputs Range 

     
Wealth management products 

issued by financial institutions 10,622,443,493 
Discounted  

cash flow 
Risk-adjusted 
discount rate [4.00%, 4.80%] 

Beneficiary rights plans 1,195,208,795 
Discounted  

cash flow 
Average growth 

of land value  15.71% 

Non-listed equity investments 734,061,368  
Discounted  

cash flow 
Risk-adjusted 
discount rate 9.71% 

Corporate bonds 166,918,952 
Discounted  

cash flow 
Risk-adjusted 
discount rate 7.21% 

Non-listed equity investments 31,290,167 Market 
approach Liquidity discount [12%, 15%] 

Investment properties 179,097,040 

Market 
comparison 

method or 
income capital 

method 

Premium/ 
(discount) in 

nature relative to 
comparable 

property 5.10% 
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The Bank 
 

 

Fair value at 31 
December 2020 

Valuation 
techniques 

Unobservable 
inputs 

Range 
(weighted 
average) 

     

Discounted bills 1,977,774,087 

Discounted  
cash flow 

Risk-adjusted 
discount rate 1.95% 

Beneficiary rights plans 951,267,816 

Discounted  
cash flow 

Average growth 
of land value 13.07% 

Non-listed equity investments 877,212,755  
Discounted  

cash flow 

Risk-adjusted 
discount rate 8.58% 

Corporate bonds 162,634,854  
Comparable 

company  
Liquidity  
discount 30.96% 

Forfeiting 140,970,500 

Discounted  
cash flow 

Risk-adjusted 
discount rate 3% 

Wealth management products 
issued by financial institutions 103,339,011 

Discounted  
cash flow 

Risk-adjusted 
discount rate 4.09% 

Fund investments 12,000,000 

Net assets 
method 

Enterprise 
internal data N/A 

 

 
Fair value at 31 
December 2019 

Valuation 
techniques 

Unobservable 
inputs 

Range 
(weighted 
average) 

     

Wealth management products 
issued by financial institutions 10,622,443,493 

Discounted  
cash flow 

Risk-adjusted 
discount rate [4.00%, 4.80%]  

Beneficiary rights plans 1,195,208,795 
Discounted  

cash flow 
Average growth 

of land value 15.71% 

Non-listed equity investments 734,061,368 
Market  

approach 
Risk-adjusted 
discount rate 9.71% 

Corporate bonds 166,918,952 
Market  

approach 
Risk-adjusted 
discount rate 7.21% 

 

The Group uses valuation techniques including unobservable market data to value 
wealth management product issued by financial institutions, some beneficial rights plans 
and some corporate bonds. The valuation model adopted is the discounted cash flow 
model. The unobservable assumptions involved in the valuation model include risk 
adjusted discount rate, etc. The Group adopts market approach and discounted cash 
flow method to value unlisted equity investment, and the unobservable parameters 
involved mainly include risk adjusted discount rate and liquidity discount. 
 

The fair value of the Group's investment property is determined by market comparison 
method or income capital method, and then the discount and premium adjustment is 
made according to the nature of the Group's houses and buildings relative to comparable 
houses and buildings. The unobservable parameter is the premium / (discount) of the 
property relative to comparable property in nature. This parameter mainly refers to the 
difference of comparable property in different factors, such as market change after the 
transaction, location, convenience, building age, condition, floor, area and layout. 
 

In 2020, the Group has changed the valuation technology used for the above corporate 
bonds based on the new external information available. The measurement results 
obtained by using the changed valuation technology represent the fair value in current 
situation. In addition, in 2020 and 2019, the valuation techniques of fair value of assets 
and liabilities measured by the above-mentioned recurring and non-recurring level 3 fair 
value have not changed. 
 
Above hypotheses unite basis of computation for the Group’s asset and liabilities, 
however, other institutions probably use different methods and hypotheses, therefore, 
the disclosed fair values of different financial institutions probably are not comparable. 
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Reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of assets under the recurring Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows: 
 
The Group 
 
   Total gains or loss for the year   Purchases and settlements   

 
31 December 

2019 

Changes in 
accounting 

policies In profit or loss 

In other 
comprehensive 

income Purchases Settlements 
31 December 

2020 
   Notes     
Asset        

- Discounted bills 2,650,590,519 4,499,591 - (1,912) 5,125,329,291 (2,655,090,110) 5,125,327,379 
- Beneficiary rights plans 1,195,208,795 - (243,940,979) - - - 951,267,816 
- Non-listed equity investments 765,351,535 - 49,155,387 (8,999,360) 93,996,000 - 899,503,562 
- Corporate bonds 166,918,952 - (4,284,098) - - - 162,634,854 
- Forfeiting - - - - 140,970,500 - 140,970,500 
- Wealth management products 

issued by financial institutions 10,622,443,493 2,459,946 109,415,980 - - (10,630,980,408) 103,339,011 
- Investment properties 179,097,040 - (14,802,667) - - (64,132,968) 100,161,405 
- Fund investments - - - - 12,000,000 - 12,000,000 

 
              

 

 

1 January  
2019  Total gains or loss for the year   Purchases and settlements  

31 December 
2019 

  In profit or loss 

In other 
comprehensive 

income Purchases Settlements  
Asset       

- Wealth management products issued by 
financial institutions 29,035,080,225 1,114,688,221 - 15,580,000,000 (35,107,324,953) 10,622,443,493 

- Beneficiary rights plans 2,050,000,000 - - 1,195,208,795 (2,050,000,000) 1,195,208,795 
- Non-listed equity investments 307,626,622 - 5,801,489 451,923,424 - 765,351,535 
- Corporate bonds - - - 166,918,952 - 166,918,952 
- Investment properties 179,349,024 (251,984) - - - 179,097,040 
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The Bank 
 
   Total gains or loss for the year   Purchases and settlements   

 
31 December 

2019 

Changes in 
accounting 

policies In profit or loss 

In other 
comprehensive 

income Purchases Settlements 
31 December 

2020 
   Notes     
Asset        

- Discounted bills 179,804,737 4,499,591 - (1,912) 1,977,775,999 (184,304,328) 1,977,774,087 
- Beneficiary rights plans 1,195,208,795 - (243,940,979) - - - 951,267,816 
- Non-listed equity investments 734,061,368 - 49,155,387 - 93,996,000 - 877,212,755 
- Corporate bonds 166,918,952 - (4,284,098) - - - 162,634,854 
- Forfeiting - - - - 140,970,500 - 140,970,500 
- Wealth management products 

issued by financial institutions 10,622,443,493 2,459,946 109,415,980 - - (10,630,980,408) 103,339,011 
- Fund investments  - - - - 12,000,000 - 12,000,000 

 
              

 

 
1 January  

2019  Total gains or loss for the year   Purchases and settlements  
31 December 

2019 

  In profit or loss 

In other 
comprehensive 

income Purchases Settlements  
Asset       

- Wealth management products issued by 
financial institutions 29,035,080,225 1,114,688,221 - 15,580,000,000 (35,107,324,953) 10,622,443,493 

- Beneficiary rights plans 2,050,000,000 - - 1,195,208,795 (2,050,000,000) 1,195,208,795 
- Non-listed equity investments 283,230,000 - (1,092,056) 451,923,424 - 734,061,368 
- Corporate bonds - - - 166,918,952 - 166,918,952 

 
            

 
Notes: The Group’s items through profit or loss are interest income and changes in fair value. 
 
Sensitivity analysis of unobservable parameters of the recurring Level 3 fair value measurements: 
 
The fair value of the Group’s wealth management products and Beneficiary rights plan is measured by discounting the expected cashflow 
related to the above assets with the risk-adjusted discount rate. The discount rate used has been adjusted to the counterparties’ credit risks. 
Fair value measurement and risk-adjusted discount rate are negatively correlated. 
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(d) Conversion of items measured at fair value between different levels 
 
During the reporting period, the Group's assets and liabilities measured at fair value have 
not been converted between all levels. 
 

(e) Valuation techniques change and reasons 
 
In 2020, the Group has changed the valuation technology used for the above corporate 
bonds based on the new external information available. The measurement results 
obtained by using the changed valuation technology represent the fair value in current 
situation. In addition, during the reporting period, the valuation techniques used by the 
Group in fair value measurement have not changed. 
 

(3) Financial instruments not measured at fair value  
 
Financial assets and liabilities at non-fair value include: cash on hand and deposits with Central 
Bank, deposits with banks and other financial institutions, placements with financial institutions, 
financial assets held under resale agreements, loans and advances to customers, debt 
investments, borrowings from Central Bank, deposits from banks and other financial 
institutions, placements from banks and other financial institutions, financial assets sold under 
repurchase agreements, deposits from customers and bond payables. 
 
Excluding financial assets and liabilities below, the book values of other financial assets and 
liabilities have no material differences from their fair values. 
 
The Group 
 
  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  
 Book value Fair value Book value Fair value 
     
Financial assets     

Debt investments - bonds 33,096,896,767 33,029,128,731 N/A N/A 
Held-to-maturity investments N/A N/A 30,761,354,231 30,848,895,747 

Financial liabilities     
Bonds payable (85,484,007,849) (84,496,553,402) (88,257,475,354) (86,941,594,122) 

 
The Bank 
 
  31 December 2020   31 December 2019  
 Book value Fair value Book value Fair value 
     
Financial assets     

Debt investments - bonds 14,549,556,357 14,487,409,297 N/A N/A 
Held-to-maturity investments N/A N/A 10,922,602,377 10,992,991,760 

Financial liabilities     
Bonds payable (82,538,272,097)  (81,580,181,260)  (85,211,471,474) (84,729,989,360) 

 
We obtain the fair values of held-to-maturity investments and bonds payable from Wind 
Information’s public information. This approach is level 2. 
 



Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 

159 

67 Related Party and Significant Transactions 
 

(1) Major related parties of the Group 
 
If one party can control another party directly, indirectly or jointly, or to exercise significant 
influence to govern the financial and operating policies of another party; or the Group and 
another party or parties are subject to control or joint control, these parties are considered as 
related parties of the Group. 
 
(a) Since the Bank has no controlling shareholders, major shareholders of the Bank refer to 

the shareholders who hold more than 5% of the Bank's shares or appoint directors to the 
Bank. The main shareholders of the Bank are as follows: 
 
The Bank 
 

Company name 
Registered 

place 
Business  

nature 
Registered  

Capital 

Investment 
proportion 

in the Bank 

Proportion 
of voting right 
over the Bank 

      
Fujian Futou Investment  

Co., Ltd Fuzhou 
Commercial 

services RMB 62.00 million 12.05% 12.05% 

Min Xin Holdings Limited Hong Kong 
Investment 

holding HKD 1,715.38 million 8.85% 8.85% 

Industrial and Commercial 
Bank of China Limited Beijing 

Monetary and 
financial 
services RMB 356,406.26 million 4.33% 4.33% 

Fujian Investment Enterprise 
Group Co. Fuzhou 

Commercial 
services RMB 1,000.00 million 4.20% 4.20% 

Xiamen C&D Corporation 
Limited Xiamen Real estate RMB 6,750.00 million 3.90% 3.90% 

Shanghai Shang Shen 
Investment Co., Ltd. Shanghai 

Commercial 
services RMB 133.00 million 1.15% 1.15% 

 
(b) Subsidiaries 

 
The bank’s subsidiaries are shown in Note 5. 
 

(2) Related party transactions 
 
The transactions with related parties were conducted under normal commercial terms and 
normal business procedures and their pricing principle is consistent with the independent third-
party transaction. 
 
(a) The amounts of related party transactions: 

 
 2020 2019 
   
Interest income 41,939,424 22,532,710 
Interest expenses 52,782,521 44,761,032 
Fee and commission income 362,395 154,193 
Fee and commission expense 1,383,602 734,120 
Other operating income 75 588 
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(b) The balances of transactions with related parties as at 31 December: 
 
 2020 2019 
   
Deposits with banks and other financial 

institutions 1,911,423,068 168,976,912 
Interests receivables 312,539 265,779 
Other assets 2,494,186 2,570,655 
Placements from banks and other financial 

institutions 240,104,000 1,395,240,000 
Deposits from customers 1,497,821,382 40,526,842 
Interest payables 3,162,381 25,242,611 
Other liabilities 1,271,076 1,052,945 
 

68 Structured entities 
 

(1) The unconsolidated structured entities managed by the Group 
 
The unconsolidated structured entities managed by the Group consist primarily of collective 
investment vehicles (“WMP Vehicles”) formed to issue and sell wealth management products 
(“non-principal-guaranteed WMPs”), which are not subject to any guarantee by the Group of 
the principal invested or interest to be paid. The WMP Vehicles invest in a range of primarily 
fixed-rate assets, most typically money markets instruments, bonds and loan assets. As the 
manager of WMPs, the Group invests, on behalf of its customers, the funds raised in the assets 
as described in the investment plan related to each WMP and distributes income to investors 
according to product operation.  
 
As at 31 December 2020, the outstanding non-principal-guaranteed WMPs managed by the 
Group amounted to RMB4,161,282,000 (31 December 2019: RMB5,355,892,000). In 2020, 
income from non-principal-guaranteed WMPs mainly included service charge and commission 
fee amounting to RMB40,270,999 (2019: RMB50,390,130). 
 

(2) The unconsolidated structured entities invested by the Group 
 
In order to make good use of the capital for revenue, the Group invested in unconsolidated 
structured entities issued or managed by other institutions and recognised relative investment 
income and interest income. The Group has no control of the structured entities and therefore 
does not include the structured entities in the consolidation scope. Such investments are 
presented in the Group’s statements as trading financial assets and debt investments. The 
amounts of maximum loss risk exposure resulting from these unconsolidated structured 
entities invested by the Group are shown as below. 
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The Group 
 
  31 December 2020  

 
Trading  

financial assets 
Debt 

investments 
Other debt 

investments Total 
     

Fund investments 26,873,392,102 - - 26,873,392,102 
Beneficiary rights plans issued by other 

institutions 11,096,629,838 15,676,529,769 - 26,773,159,607 
Debt financing plans - 24,258,675,035 - 24,258,675,035 
Guaranteed fixed income certificates - 470,870,411 - 470,870,411 
Wealth management products issued by 

other financial institutions 103,339,011 - - 103,339,011 
 

        

Total 38,073,360,951 40,406,075,215 - 78,479,436,166 
 

        

 
  31 December 2019  

 

Financial assets 
at fair value 

through profit or 
loss  

Available-for-
sale financial 

assets 

Investments 
classified as 
receivables Total 

     

Beneficiary rights plans issued by other 
institutions - 16,115,711,720 27,898,774,679 44,014,486,399 

Fund investments 102,489,118 26,661,135,043 - 26,763,624,161 
Debt financing plans  - - 13,463,000,000 13,463,000,000 
Wealth management products issued by 

other financial institutions - 10,622,443,493 - 10,622,443,493 
Guaranteed fixed income certificates - - 1,879,661,918 1,879,661,918 
 

        

Total 102,489,118 53,399,290,256 43,241,436,597 96,743,215,971 
 

        

 
The Bank 
 

  31 December 2020  

 

Trading  
financial assets 

Debt 
investments 

Other debt 
investments Total 

     

Beneficiary rights plans issued by other 
institutions 11,096,629,838 15,676,529,769 - 26,773,159,607 

Debt financing plans - 23,265,298,253 - 23,265,298,253 
Fund investments 21,285,912,531 - - 21,285,912,531 
Guaranteed fixed income certificates - 470,870,411 - 470,870,411 
Wealth management products issued 

by other financial institutions 103,339,011 - - 103,339,011 
 

        

Total 32,485,881,380 39,412,698,433 - 71,898,579,813 
 

        

 
  31 December 2019  

 

Financial assets 
at fair value 

through profit or 
loss 

Available-for-
sale financial 

assets 

Investments 
classified as 
receivables Total 

     

Beneficiary rights plans issued by other 
institutions - 16,115,711,720 27,898,774,679 44,014,486,399 

Fund investments 102,489,118 23,393,868,213 - 23,496,357,331 
Debt financing plans - - 13,463,000,000 13,463,000,000 
Wealth management products issued by 

other financial institutions - 10,622,443,493 - 10,622,443,493 
Guaranteed fixed income certificates - - 1,879,661,918 1,879,661,918 
 

        

Total 102,489,118 50,132,023,426 43,241,436,597 93,475,949,141 
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(3) The consolidated structured entities 
 
Consolidated structured entities mainly consist of principal-guaranteed wealth management 
products issued by the Group. 
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